
 

Meeting: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) 
Date: Wednesday, December 20, 2023 
Time: 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.  
Place: Virtual meeting held via Zoom 
  video recording is available online within a week of meeting 
   Connect with Zoom  

Passcode:  863801 
  Phone: 877-853-5257 (Toll Free)  
9:00 a.m. Call meeting to order, Declaration of Quorum and Introductions  Chair Kehe  
   
9:10 a.m. Comments from the Chair and Committee Members 

• Updates from committee members around the Region (all) 
• 2024 Meeting Schedule (Chair Kehe) 
• Member poll on in-person MTAC meetings (Chair Kehe) 

 
9:20 a.m. Public communications on agenda items 
 
9:23 a.m. Consideration of MTAC minutes, November 15, 2023   Chair Kehe  
 (action item) Send edits/corrections to Marie Miller 
 
9:25 a.m. EPA Climate Pollution Reduction Grant     Eliot Rose, Metro 
 Purpose: Update MTAC on the EPA Climate Pollution Reduction grant  
 and discuss potential land use-related strategies. 
 
10:10 a.m. Draft Sherwood West Concept plan      Erika Palmer  
 Purpose: Sherwood has submitted a letter of interest for a UGB expansion  Eric Rutledge 
 in the 2024 urban growth management decision. The purpose of this   City of Sherwood 
 agenda item is to provide MTAC with a summary of Sherwood’s concept  
 plan for the Sherwood West urban reserve.        

              
10:45 a.m. Urban Growth Boundary discussion topic: Town and regional centers Glen Hamburg, Metro 
 and CFEC (Update to Title 6)        
 Purpose: Provide background to, and an overview of, a state requirement  
 to amend Title 6, Centers, Corridors, Station Communities, and Main Streets,  
 of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan in order to require  
 local adoption of boundaries for regional and town centers. 
 
11:15 a.m. Adjournment         Chair Kehe 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88551012873?pwd=YTJhVFpvMTVsSjZBejk1VWNKN1J0Zz09




1 
 

2024 Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) Work Program (includes Dec. 2023) 
As of 12/8/2023 

NOTE: Items in italics are tentative; bold denotes required items 
All meetings are scheduled from 9am – noon 

  
MTAC meeting, December 20, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

• 2024 Meeting Schedule (Chair Kehe) 
• Member poll on in-person MTAC meetings (Chair 

Kehe) 
 
Agenda Items 

• EPA Climate Pollution Reduction Grant (Eliot 
Rose, Metro; 45 min) 

• Draft Sherwood West Concept plan (Erika Palmer 
& Eric Rutledge, City of Sherwood; 35 min) 

• UGB discussion topic: Town and regional centers 
and CFEC (Update to Title 6) (Glen Hamburg, 
Metro; 30 min) 
 

 

MTAC meeting, January 17, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Economic conditions/trends 
 

MTAC meeting, February 21, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Historic development trends 
 

MTAC meeting, March 20, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Preliminary regional forecast methods and results 
 

MTAC meeting, April 17, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Preliminary UGB capacity estimates 
 

MTAC meeting, May 15, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• City UGB expansion proposals (city presentations) 
 

MTAC meeting, June 26, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Pending employment land expansion proposal, 
analysis of possible benefits of UGB expansion 
 



2 
 

MTAC meeting, July 17, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Draft UGR 
• Connecting First and Last Mile Study Introduction 

(Ally Holmqvist, Metro; 45 min) 
 

MTAC meeting, August 21, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Recommendations to MPAC (if requested) 

MTAC meeting, September 18, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 
 

MTAC meeting, October 16, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 
 

MTAC meeting, November 20, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 
 

MTAC meeting, December 18, 2024 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Follow up on process 
• Connecting First and Last Mile Study Policy 

Framework (Ally Holmqvist, Metro; 45 min) 
 

 
Parking Lot/Bike Rack: Future Topics (These may be scheduled at either MTAC meetings or combined MTAC/TPAC workshops) 

• Status report on equity goals for land use and transportation planning 
• Regional city reports on community engagement work/grants 
• Regional development changes reporting on employment/economic and housing as it relates to growth management 
• Update report on Travel Behavior Survey 
• Updates on grant funded projects such as Metro’s 2040 grants and DLCD/ODOT’s TGM grants.  Recipients of grants. 
• Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) annual report/project profiles report 
• Employment & industrial lands  
• 2040 grants highlights update 

 
For MTAC agenda and schedule information, e-mail marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov  
In case of inclement weather or cancellations, call 503-797-1700 for building closure announcements.  

mailto:marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov


 

Date: November 16, 2023 
To: MTAC Members, Alternate Members and interested parties 
From: Marie Miller, Metro 
Subject: 2024 Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) Meeting Schedule 

2024 MTAC Meeting Schedule 
 
Currently we are scheduling 2024 MTAC meetings online via Zoom. As Metro Regional Center opens with 
further hybrid capabilities, some meetings may be scheduled and offered as hybrid meetings. Notices for 
scheduled options will be posted/sent with details. MTAC members and alternate members will soon 
receive meeting series invites for accepting to their calendars, in addition to receiving the usual meeting 
notice the week before each meeting. 
 

 
MTAC Monthly Meetings held every 3rd Wednesday, unless otherwise noted  

Date Day Meeting Time Location 
Jan. 17 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
Feb. 21 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
March 20 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
April 17 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
May 15 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
June 26 4th Wed.* MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
July 17 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
August 21 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
Sept. 18 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
Oct. 16 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
Nov. 20 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 
Dec. 18 3rd Wed. MTAC 9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. Zoom 

*Schedule adjusted to accommodate legal holiday. 
   
 



 
 
 
 

MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 1 
 
 
 
 

Meeting: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) meeting  

Date/time: Wednesday, November 15, 2023 | 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 
Place: Virtual video meeting via Zoom 

Members Attending    Affiliate 
Eryn Kehe, Chair     Metro 
Joseph Edge     Clackamas County Community Member 
Carol Chesarek     Multnomah County Community Member 
Victor Saldanha     Washington County Community Member 
Anna Slatinsky     Second Largest City in Washington County, Beaverton 
Laura Terway     Clackamas County: Other Cities, City of Happy Valley 
Steve Koper     Washington County: Other Cities, City of Tualatin 
Katherine Kelly     City of Vancouver 
Jamie Stasny     Clackamas County 
Jessica Pelz     Washington County 
Gary Albrecht     Clark County 
Neelam Dorman     Oregon Department of Transportation 
Laura Kelly     Oregon Dept. of Land Conservation & Development  
Manuel Contreras, Jr.    Clackamas Water Environmental Services 
Gery Keck     Tualatin Hills Park & Recreation District 
Tara O’Brien     TriMet 
Bret Marchant     Greater Portland, Inc. 
Brett Morgan     1000 Friends of Oregon 
Nora Apter     Oregon Environmental Council 
Preston Korst     Home Builders Association of Metropolitan Portland 
Mike O’Brien     Green Infrastructure/Sustainability, Mayer/Reed, Inc. 
 
Alternate Members Attending   Affiliate 
Kamran Mesbah     Clackamas County Community Member 
Faun Hosey     Washington County Community Member 
Dan Rutzick     Largest City in Washington County: Hillsboro 
Jean Senechal Biggs    Second Largest City in Washington County: Beaverton 
Martha Fritzie     Clackamas County 
Kevin Cook     Multnomah County 
Kelly Reid     Oregon Dept. of Land Conservation & Development 
Cassera Phipps     Clean Water Services 
Jacqui Treiger     Oregon Environmental Council 
Craig Sheahan     David Evans & Associates, Inc. 
Brendon Haggerty    Public Health & Urban Forum, Multnomah Co. 
Ryan Ames     Public Health & Urban Forum, Washington Co. 
 
Guests Attending    Affiliate 
Ariel Kane     City of Portland 
Barbara Fryer     City of Cornelius 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 2 
 
 
 
 

Dakota Meyer     City of Troutdale 
Kevin Young   
Marc Farrar     Metropolitan Land Group, LLC 
Max Nonnamaker    Multnomah County Health Department 
MJ Andersen     Multnomah County 
Paul Comery     WSP 
Robert McCracken 
Sam Brookham     Portland Bureau of Transportation 
 
Metro Staff Attending 
Cindy Pederson, Clint Chiavarini, Dennis Yee, Eliot Rose, Eryn Kehe, Jake Lovell, Lake McTighe, Laura 
Combs, Marie Miller, Matt Bihn, Ted Reid, Tim Collins, Tom Kloster 
 
Call to Order, Quorum Declaration and Introductions 
Chair Eryn Kehe called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.  A quorum was declared.  Introductions were 
made.  Zoom logistics and meeting features were reviewed for online raised hands, renaming yourself, 
finding attendees and participants, and chat area for messaging and sharing links. An overview of the 
agenda was given. 
 
Comments from the Chair and Committee Members 

• Updates from committee members around the Region – none given. 
• Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Update (Chair Kehe) A report from Kim Ellis, RTP Project 

Manager was read. MPAC and TPAC recommendations were discussed at their recent meetings 
with both committees approving the RTP moving forward. MPAC’s action included a new 
recommendation concerning the Regional Mobility Policy project. If adopted by JPACT and 
Metro Council it would split the project into two phases and move the construction 
implementation stage to the strategic project list.  The preliminary engineering phases would 
stay in this constrained project list, allowing the project to move forward in the PE phase. 
 
TPAC had mixed support of the phasing and had a lot of questions about what the implication 
might be. TPAC used MPAC’s recommendation as a starting point for their recommendation to 
JPACT. Because of the political nature of the recommendation about the phasing, TPAC did not 
take a position on the MPAC recommendation but recommended that JPACT discuss and 
consider MPAC’s recommendation themselves. TPAC recommended that JPACT approve the 
overall RTP. ODOT voted no on the phasing recommendation with this expected to be a main 
discussion item at the JPACT meeting tomorrow morning. The JPACT packet was shared in chat: 
https://oregonmetro.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=E1&ID=1132749&GUID=1D35FBF7-FF1A-
42F2-8A38-F33C223A2024  
 

Public Communications on Agenda Items – none given. 
 
Consideration of MTAC minutes October 18, 2023 meeting 
Chair Kehe asked for a vote to approve MTAC minutes from October 18, 2023 meeting. 
ACTION: Motion passed with 16 votes in favor, 0 against, 3 abstentions: Jamie Stasny, Kevin Cook, 
Carol Chesarek 
 
 

https://oregonmetro.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=E1&ID=1132749&GUID=1D35FBF7-FF1A-42F2-8A38-F33C223A2024
https://oregonmetro.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=E1&ID=1132749&GUID=1D35FBF7-FF1A-42F2-8A38-F33C223A2024


MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 3 
 
 
 
 

Regional Transportation Safety Performance Report (Lake McTighe, Metro) The presentation began 
with the names of people killed in traffic crashes in the month of October in the 3-county areas of 
Metro, which is a practice shared at TPAC and JPACT. The purpose of the presentation was to provide 
an update on traffic deaths and serious injuries in the region and seek feedback on the DRAFT Safe 
Streets for All: Regional Transportation Safety Update to JPACT and the Metro Council before bringing it 
to the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council in December 
and January. 
 
With a goal of eliminating traffic deaths and life changing injuries by 2035, and using a data driven and 
Safe System approach, the Regional Safety Strategy provides strategies and actions to address serious 
traffic safety problems. An introduction to the Safe System Approach was provided. Notable Safety 
Actions Since 2021 (Table 1 in report) was shared. Actions since 2021 Safe People, Safe Roads, Safe 
Vehicles, Safe Speeds, and Post-Crash Care (Table 1) was shared.  
 
Updates on the Roadway Safety Problem indicate traffic deaths are increasing, and pedestrian deaths 
have risen disproportionately over the past decade. Across all the measures summarized in Table 2 
(Federal Safety Performance Measures), the region’s streets have gotten less safe since compared to 
baseline data established in 2015. While the total number of crashes has decreased since 2007, the 
number of deadly crashes has increased. This pattern points to the need to focus on the contributing 
factors of fatal traffic crashes, namely intoxication, speed, roadway design, pedestrian safety, and 
heavier vehicles. Taking Action – New Safety Strategies (Table 3 in report) was shared. Next steps with 
the program: 
• November 30, 2023 – Deadline to provide feedback 
• December 14, 2023 –JPACT 
• January 16, 2024 (tent.) –Metro Council work session 
• Spring 2024 – Convene regional SS4A safety work group 
• Fall 2024 –Provide status update on serious crashes and on the Safe Streets for All project to JPACT 
and Metro Council 
 
Comments from the committee: 
Carol Chesarek noted if I was reading the information correctly it looked like drug-based intoxication 
was the largest single contributing factor to accidents. But I didn’t see anything in the actions that was 
aimed at drug-based intoxication as opposed to alcohol. I wanted to make a suggestion and ask a 
question. The suggestion is to maybe go back and look at whether either the legalization of marijuana 
or measure 110 made any difference3 in the rates of crashes that might be related to those measures. 
The question is if there is anything we think we can do in that space because it’s disappointing not to 
see any potential actions there. 
 
Lake McTighe noted there are a few actions that are kind of molded together with alcohol but in terms 
of upstream public health types of actions, a great suggestion. There’s limited reports and some mixed 
results coming from looking at the legalization of marijuana and measure 110. In terms of the increase, 
I do think that’s an important thing to look at and to continue to see there were some recent legislation 
passed around driving under the influence of psilocybin and then also looking at DUI. Upstream care 
and intervention is one of the best things that we can do. This is an area we can look at in terms of 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 4 
 
 
 
 

vehicle detection. There is technology that can detect higher alcohol blood level. If they enter a car and 
touch the steering wheel or breath in the car it won’t start. There is effort at the Federal level to have 
those be implemented, added to all new vehicles by 2026. The data in the crash report is not perfect. 
But there’s a lot of different ways we can take a look at this and I’ll do more work on the report to 
highlight more work is needed to identify some of those potential strategies. 
 
Manny Contreras appreciated the work which appears pretty comprehensive. One thought is I’d like to 
see where the deaths are actually occurring on a per capita basis by county. Because the numbers in 
Portland will show huge numbers and priority of projects will always be directed there. Secondly, the 
policy recommendations you’re making make sense. 
 
Ms. McTighe noted one of our goals with the Safe Streets for All funding is going to increase our 
capacity to do some research and investigation, to develop a lot of the data that I just showed but at 
each city and county level. In the report as a start there is a per capita traffic deaths by city and county. 
I mentioned earlier that Washington County has the lowest county per capita of traffic deaths. It’s 
interesting to compare it some of those other counties and to the national level. Oregon has a higher 
traffic deaths per capita as does the US overall. The report also covers land use patterns, higher use of 
transit and less VMT overall per capita. 
 
Mr. Contreras asked where cyclists fit into the whole play of deaths. How do they compare to other 
forms of transportation? It was noted people cycling is one area where we are trending downwards 
and we need to better understand that. That mode share is decreasing, so is the decrease in dealths 
attributed to that? We need to do some regression analysis and look at some of the contributing 
factors. There has been an increase in better bicycle infrastructure, separation, green paint, bike boxes, 
bike signals and such which we need to understand for cyclist safety. 
 
Brendon Haggerty noted it’s great see Metro focusing so much on this issue. It’s a major public health 
concern. Unintentional injury is the third leading cause of death in Multnomah County and in Oregon, 
and the top one or two causes of death for children and youth. So this is very important for us. We also 
see the racial disparities and the trend going in the wrong direction. I like what I see in table 3 in that it 
tracks pretty closely with what we recommended in a county level report over the summer. I want o 
point out that one of those recommendations is to continue investments in behavioral health and harm 
prevention, which would be addressing the drug and alcohol piece of it. When we discussed that factor 
with our public health advisory board one of the things we heard loud and clear was to avoid blaming 
individuals and keep the focus on the systemic risks that we see to use that in our framing. I want to 
affirm and support that going forward. We need a system that can accommodate lot of human error 
without killing people. But that’s pretty expensive and it takes a really long time. So while we’re doing 
that we need harm reduction measures and automated enforcement is a good example of that. The 
Oregon Health Authority publishes a dashboard with injury rates (per capita) here: 
https://oregoninjurydata.shinyapps.io/transport/  
 
Michael O’Brien noted he was curious about providing some level of understanding of the actions in 
terms of impact or assumed impact to kind of start to prioritize the actions in a way that we’re 
spending the money that we have to put towards this in the most efficient and effective way. And then 

https://oregoninjurydata.shinyapps.io/transport/


MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 5 
 
 
 
 

one other comment would be related to size of vehicle and the relation to traffic deaths, pedestrian 
traffic deaths, and bicyclist traffic deaths. And understanding the correlation between a large truck 
versus a compact car. Understandably you’ve got a lot more mass and a lot less visibility in a large 
vehicle. Presumably that correlates to a higher rate of death per vehicle, or per thousand vehicles or 
however you want to put it. What can we do to either disincentive or create actions around that kind of 
thing. Ms. McTighe noted yes, to both of them. Those are things that we want to do in the coming 
couple years. 
 
Jamie Stasny appreciated the work given to the program. One question was how does what we’re 
looking at doing here regionally play with or pay into the consideration by ODOT, and what are they 
doing? I know they have a different system so how do these two systems work together? Are they a 
part of this safe systems approach? Are they trying to incorporate some of those things into their 
systems? For context, this was something that came up as we started to consider the I-205 toll project 
as we were looking at the rerouting that would be happening from trying to avoid tolls that would put 
more trips on the local systems. I came to understand that often the crashes that happen on the local 
systems end up as fatalities more so than the crashes that will happen on the interstate system. Is 
there an interplay there or coordination around that. 
 
Ms. McTighe noted she was familiar with the ODOT Transportation Safety Action Plan, so could provide 
some perspective. The plan does acknowledge the safe system approach per se. It’s a fairly new 
concept in the US. Federal Highway Administration has been starting to implement it over the last five 
year or so. We are still figuring out how we fit systems into existing concepts. There are a lot of factors 
that contribute to the safe travel of people in vehicles freeways versus on urban arterials. ODOT and 
others of us are learning more abut this and advocating for it for safer roadways. Ms. Stasny noted my 
questions is there an action that can require an elevated level of incorporation of the safe systems 
approach as we are considering pricing in the region, as we’re considering the impacts of rerouting and 
diversion? My suggestion is to think about how we might be able to encourage that state level of 
coordination or incorporation of that approach as we consider the impacts from that. 
 
Chair Kehe asked about details on the safety work group. Ms. McTighe noted this was just starting and 
would be very open like an ad hoc group. The group is planned to increase awareness and 
understanding of the safe street system, weighing in on details and how actions on phasing, highest 
impact, the coordination around legislative issues, and what data to develop. The agencies are working 
together and developing safety action plans now. Interest in participating with the group is welcome. 
 
Dan Rutzick noted, to Mr. O’Brien’s point about larger vehicle trucks and even SUVs causing 
exponentially more harm when there are crashes. To what extent does this work involve creating 
limitations to where larger trucks can go on local streets and other kinds of lower classification 
roadways? Ms. McTighe noted I don’t think Metro is going to get involved in that type of regulation but 
there’s new awareness now these are just like regular trucks. Cities and counties with this information 
want to have those types of restrictions. I know many places already do sort of have this for delivery 
trucks and semis. I think the purpose of the regional work will be to pull together information that’s 
happening at the national level. Researching some of the in-vehicle safety features can help prevent 
crashes. There are a lot of different things that could be championed more at a legislative level. We 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 6 
 
 
 
 

want to lobby for this. So it’s important about providing the information so that jurisdictions that have 
that oversight can make better decisions. 
 
2024 Urban Growth Management Decision: Buildable lands inventory update (Ted Reid and Clint 
Chiavarini, Metro) Ted Reid began the presentation on the 2024 urban growth management decision 
timeline. Capacity is one of the three main components of the analysis in the UGR. Factors to consider 
were described in how deciding how much land is buildable inside the UGB. Clint Chiavarini presented 
information on what the process was to evaluate a buildable land inventory. Completed in October 
were local reviews of buildable land inventories. Now through January 2024 the likelihood of 
development or redevelopment of land using the Pro Forma capacity model will be used. Other 
pending technical work was noted: 
• Residential and employment trends 
• Regional forecast (population, households, jobs) 
• Regional housing demand analysis 
• Employment land demand analysis 
• Demographic analysis of past UGB expansions 
 
Comments from the committee: 
Anna Slatinsky noted this is obviously a very general overview but when we look at the employment 
and population trends everyone understands we’re in a housing crisis with insufficient housing being 
produced. This is not an Oregon or Metro problem, but a national problem. One of the dynamics that 
we’re starting to hear from employers is they are having trouble recruiting employees due to the high 
cost of housing. As you’re kind of tweaking the model and looking at how to make the analysis valid 
both for the need for housing and the need for employment and, ow that feedback loop where a 
shortage of housing or the cost of housing actually has an impact works or how the results of the model 
are interpreted. It as noted this would be answered in the next presentation. 
 
Dan Rutzick noted earlier in the presentation was talk of capacity. There are areas at the edges of cities 
that were brought into the urban growth boundary. Some of them are in the process of urbanizing and 
some have the infrastructure for utilities a distance away. There are residential infill projects that may 
have sanitary sewer a distance from some of them, and that has to be expanded as well. Can you talk a 
little bit about when identifying capacity, what’s the coordination between Metro and local 
governments to get a sense of is this larger geography likely to be served in two years, assuming the 
markets there, or is it five years out? 
 
Mr. Reid noted we rely on local review for buildable land inventory I our capacity estimates. We have 
been getting this question about infrastructure availability pretty regularly as we’ve been presenting 
this work. So clearly it’s on everyone’s mind, the shortage of funding to support development of land. I 
think that the focus on land readiness and what it actually takes to take land and produce housing and 
jobs on it is an important one that we’ll have to keep working on as a region, in all our programs and 
partnerships because we can’t come up with a pot of money in this growth management decision. I 
think as with many topics, growth management sort of highlights what is on people’s minds, and I think 
infrastructure funding is one of those things. Chair Kehe added our charge at Metro is at the regional 
scale and for a 20-year outlook. So our job is to determine what the demand, the capacity for growth in 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 7 
 
 
 
 

the growth boundary for he next 20 years is. We’re coming up with a capacity number for 20 years. I 
think the work is really knowing what’s coming in the close term is going to be more associated with 
the local housing implementation strategies. We’re really looking long term. 
 
Mr. Rutzick noted that was my understanding when taking on this work. If local governments provided 
input to Mero for the BLI for both the residential and employment land, there hasn’t been that step 
that I’m aware of where Metro asked in an expansion area, is this entire expansion area to be served in 
20 years or is that step coming in the coming months as capacity? Chair Kehe added the state doesn’t 
ask us to look at an analysis of land inside the urban growth boundary in the expansion area. For lands 
that have been brought into the UGB we’ll certainly count that land as potential capacity over the next 
20 years. And as described, we look to city developed concept plans or comprehensive plans to figure 
out what kind of capacity those areas will provide. 
 
Bret Marchant asked will your analysis look at kinds of sizes of developable parcels? The size of acreage 
obviously impacts the work we do on industrial projects but could impact multi-family developments 
too. If all the developable parcels are of a smaller acreage size. Mr. Chiavarini noted the proforma 
model takes that into account. For instance, it’s a half-acre parcel and the best use may be a fourplex or 
something to that effect. Whereas a 10-acre parcel, depending on the cost and market conditions may 
be a four story apartment. So the model goes through a building selection of types and then applies 
that to parcel size, parcel valuation, the market in that particular area, that kind of thing. There is a 
bunch of levers that it looks at and trying to figure out. Then the capacity number comes out of that 
based on them. It’s based on what’s already there. More information was shared on the analysis of lot 
size distribution and probability or redevelopment. The link to the Metro site readiness toolkit 
published in 2020 was shared: https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/guides-and-tools/site-
readiness-toolkit  
 
Faun Hosey asked is most land outside the UGB generally regarded as potential expansion area?  Is 
there a meaningful way to give consideration to soils maps or values of current land uses (for example, 
needs of wildlife habitat and our agricultural industry)?  Anna Slatinsky noted areas for future UGB 
expansions have been formally identified as 'Urban Reserves'. Areas that do not have this designation 
would be difficult to propose for addition to the UGB at this point. Chair Kehe noted Metro Council only 
has authority to bring "urban reserves" into the growth boundary in their decision next year. You can 
find a map on this page that shows urban and rural reserve areas. 
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-concept Ms. Slatinsky noted I think the Urban Reserve 
and Rural Reserve designations are intended to be for a 50-year timeframe. Ms. Hosey added yes, 50-yr 
protection is intended, and Metro is bound by approved maps.  Meanwhile, legislation is proposed 
every year to impose changes, and county roads are planned across farmland outside UGBs. 
 
Joseph Edge noted there’s a lot of interest in townhouses. They may not be as efficient as developing 
residential lots with quadplexes. So when you’re looking at highest and best use or most likely 
development outcomes, given that there’s a lot of interest in townhouses right now, how does this 
factor in the likelihood of townhouses, and how they will actually use the land. The second question is 
with last week’s report from the Census Bureau about the US population projected to start declining by 
the end of this century. What is the relationship of that data with our own growth projection data used 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/guides-and-tools/site-readiness-toolkit
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/guides-and-tools/site-readiness-toolkit


MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 8 
 
 
 
 

to justify urban growth boundary expansion and understanding that obviously the US is a dynamic 
system and there will still be migration that is not proportionate to overall population. Mr. Chiavarini 
noted with the first question that gets into the complexities, the proforma. And I’m not entirely well 
versed on how that works. I do know that there are going to be limits so that it won’t simply throw 
fourplexes on every single lot, just because that happens to be the highest and best use. There’ll be 
some sort of saturation where after that you don’t just get all one type of building, that there ends up 
being some sort of mix that’s into the model. 
 
2024 Urban Growth Management Decision: Overview of approach to estimating housing demand 
(Ted Reid and Dennis Yee, Metro) Ted Reid began the presentation on the regional housing demand 
analysis. The housing demand analysis will include assessments of existing and future needs. The 
existing housing needs are for those experiencing houselessness and historic underproduction - what is 
the backlog of housing units to date? 
 
Dennis Yee explained the future needs with the 20-year forecast. This is a regional population forecast 
and household forecast with housing needs estimated by household size and presence of kids, income, 
and age/life stage. The housing demand modeling methodology combines forecasts of households by 
socioeconomic characteristics (from Metro) with factors impacting housing choice to estimate housing 
need by housing typology. These include household life stage, ability to pay, tenure split, and choice. 
Levers and scenarios testing will be included in the analysis, including Growth Scenarios, Tenure Split, 
Cost Burdening, Migration Leakage, and Isolate Household Types. 
 
Chair Kehe reminded the committee this look is just getting started. Staff was asked what is the 
timeframe we can expect to see some of the results. Mr. Reid noted our consultants are in the midst of 
getting this model up and running. We are hoping to come back to MTAC with some preliminary 
information next spring not only on the capacity side but what the housing demand side might look 
like. We’ll be describing both these as ranges because of the uncertainty that’s inherit in looking out 20 
years. As well some of the assumptions that we have to make to do this modeling. 
 
Comments from the committee: 
Joseph Edge again noted the US Census Bureau population projects with expected decline by 2100. It 
was asked what the relationship is between those kinds of projections and the projections we use for 
our own population modeling. Mr. Yee noted those relationships that you refer to are very strong 
because you are talking about mortality, statistics and neutrality statistics or assumptions going 
forward. As an urban region I would expect that our region would participate with the gross 
demographic trends that the Census Bureau sees. This is consistent with the PSU Population Center. 
Natural change in populations that we’ll participate in for this trend will include population aging with 
proportion of households with elderly or middle-aged outpacing the younger age population. I’m not 
forecasting this region declining in raw or total numbers because we have something called net 
migration. Migration around the region is at different paces for different states. We anticipate that net 
migration which has been faster than other areas in the US which include rural and farmland areas. 
 
Jamie Stasny wanted to thank everyone for all this work and thank you for your transparency. I think a 
lot has evolved over the years in the process as well as the partnerships that you’re building with 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 9 
 
 
 
 

community and bringing people in to help be apart of the conversation, and also the preemptive 
information sharing. I think there’s been a huge advance made in how you’re approaching this and how 
you’re partnering with communities.  
 
Adjournment 
There being no further business, meeting was adjourned by Chair Kehe at 11:13 a.m. 
Respectfully submitted, 
Marie Miller, MTAC Recorder 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from November 15, 2023 Page 10 
 
 
 
 

Attachments to the Public Record, MTAC meeting November 15, 2023 
 

 
Item 

DOCUMENT TYPE DOCUMENT  
DATE 

 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION 

 
DOCUMENT NO. 

1 Agenda 11/15/2023 11/15/2023 MTAC Meeting Agenda 111523M-01 

2 MTAC Work 
Program 11/7/2023 MTAC Work Program as of 11/7/2023 111523M-02 

3 Minutes 10/18/2023 Minutes from MTAC October 18, 2023 meeting 111523M-03 

4 Memo 11/1/2023 

TO: MTAC and interested parties 
From: Lake McTighe, Principal Planner 
RE: DRAFT SS4A Regional Transportation Safety Update to 
JPACT and the Metro Council 

111523M-04 

5 Report October 
2023 

Safe Streets for All 
Regional transportation safety update to JPACT and the 
Metro Council 

111523M-05 

6 Presentation 11/15/2023 
Draft Safe Streets for All: 
Regional transportation safety update to JPACT and the 
Metro Council 

111523M-06 

7 Presentation 11/15/2023 Land capacity for growth 111523M-07 

8 Presentation 11/15/2023 Regional housing demand analysis 111523M-08 

 



féf‘xii)
SCityofher WOOd

Oregon
[rm-tv ”i the "Miami RIR'V yumml (midlife Remy

RESOLUTION 2023-060

ACCEPTING THE SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN AS A FOUNDATIONAL TOOL TO BASE
FUTURE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY EXPANSION DISCUSSIONS THROUGH THE PLAN’S

VISION & IMPLEMENTATION

WHEREAS, the completion and acceptance of the Sherwood West Re-Look Project was a City Council
Goal for FY 2022-2023; and

WHEREAS, the City is required to prepare a concept plan for an urban reserve area prior to a request to
expand the Urban Growth Boundary can be made to Metro; and

WHEREAS, the City received a Community Development and Planning Grant from Metro to fund the
Sherwood West Re-look Project, and the City awarded a planning consultant contract to Angelo Planning
Group, now known as MlG/APG, to assist in the planning process to update the 2016 Sherwood West
Preliminary Concept Plan accepted by Council by Resolution 2016-009; and

WHEREAS, the community has had extensive input into the Plan, shaping many elements; and

WHEREAS, the development of the Plan was guided by a Public Involvement Plan that included both
Technical and Community Advisory Committees; and

WHEREAS, two widely advertised open houses (including on-line) were conducted as part of the project;
and

WHEREAS, the Sherwood Planning Commission and City Council have held work sessions on the
Sherwood West Concept Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on the Shenivood West Concept Plan
on June 27, 2023, affording all interested parties an opportunity to provide input and, following testimony,
deliberated, providing a recommendation to City Council to accept the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Sherwood West Concept Plan is attached as Exhibit 1, and the Plan’s Appendices is
attached as Exhibit 2.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Based on the staff report to the City Council dated July 11, 2023, the Planning
Commission’s recommendations to accept the plan, and subsequent public testimony

Resolution 2023—060
July 18, 2023
Page 1 of 2, with Exhibit 1 (80 pgs) & Exhibit 2 (205 pgs)



provided at the Council hearing on July 18, 2023, The City Council hereby accepts the
Sherwood West Concept Plan as a foundational tool on which to base future planning
decisions for future UGB expansion discussions through the Plan’s vision and
implementation.

Section 2. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage by the Council and
signature by the Mayor.

Duly passed by the City Council this 18'" day of July 2023.

Attest:

Sylvé
Murphy,

MM? Ciéeborder

Resolution 2023—060
July 18. 2023
Page 2 of 2, with Exhibit 1 (80 pgs) & Exhibit 2 (205 pgs)



DRAFT JULY 2023

CONCEPT PLAN
SHERWOOD WEST

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 1 of 80



 

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    ii DRAFT JULY 2023

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Mike Black, Resident
Emily Campbell, Resident
John Clifford, Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee
Brian Dorsey, Police Advisory Board 
Brian Fairbanks, Sherwood Chamber of Commerce
Angi Ford, Resident
Tamara Furst, Resident
Dave Grant, Resident
Kennedy Hawkins, Resident
Rodney Lyster, Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee
Norman Otterman, Resident
Jim Rose, Sherwood School District
Tim Rosener, Mayor / City Council
Doug Scott, City Council
Jean Simson, Planning Commission
Conrad Sproul, Resident

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Glen Bolen, ODOT
Bruce Coleman, City of Sherwood Economic Development
Matt Craigie, Washington County Economic Development
Ty Darby, Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue
Chris Faulkner, Clean Water Services
Gabriela Frask, Mackenzie / NAIOP Oregon Chapter
Bob Galati, City of Sherwood Engineering
Jeff Groth, City of Sherwood Police Department 
Glen Hamburg, Metro
Larry Klimek, Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge
Preston Korst, Home Building Association of Greater Portland
Eva Kristofik, Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge
Ryan Mackinster, Home Building Association of Greater Portland
Tom Mooney, Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue
Tim O’Brien, Metro 
Jessica Pelz, Washington County Transportation
Craig Sheldon, City of Sherwood Public Works
Rebecca Small, Metro
Kristen Switzer, City of Sherwood Community Services

Jason Waters, City of Sherwood Engineering

Mike Weston, City of King City 

CITY COUNCIL

Tim Rosener, Mayor
Keith Mays, Council President
Renee Brouse
Taylor Giles
Doug Scott
Dan Standke

PLANNING COMMISSION

Jean Simson, Chair
Rick Woidyla, Vice Chair 
Daniel Bantz
Tyler Barns
Cory Capko
Justin Kai
Teresa Montalvo

CITY STAFF

Erika Palmer, Planning Manager
Joy Chang, Senior Planner
Eric Rutledge, Community Development Director
Julia Hajduk, Former Community Development Director

PROJECT TEAM

Joe Dills, MIG|APG

Kate Rogers, MIG|APG

Darci Rudzinski, MIG|APG

Kyra Haggart, APG

Saumya Kini, Walker Macy

Betty Lou Poston, Walker Macy

Ken Pirie, Walker Macy

Chris Zahas, Leland Consulting Group

Ellen Bini, Leland Consulting Group

Carl Springer, DKS Associates

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSResolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 2 of 80



TAbLE OF CONTENTS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    iii DRAFT JULY 2023

I. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................... 8
Concept Plan Background and History....................................................................................................9
The Role of the Concept Plan ..................................................................................................................10

II. PLANNING & ENGAGEMENT PROCESS ............................................................... 11
Community Engagement .........................................................................................................................12

III. VISION, GOALS & EVALUATION CRITERIA ......................................................... 15
Vision Statement .....................................................................................................................................16
Goals and Evaluation Criteria .................................................................................................................17

IV. EXISTING CONDITIONS ...................................................................................... 19
Study Area  ..............................................................................................................................................20
Land Use and Zoning ..............................................................................................................................21
Economic Opportunities ..........................................................................................................................21
Transportation  ........................................................................................................................................23
Parks, Trails, and Open Spaces ..............................................................................................................25
Environment and Natural Resources ......................................................................................................26
Public Facilities .......................................................................................................................................29

V. LAND USE ALTERNATIVES .................................................................................. 31
Developing Alternatives...........................................................................................................................32
Land Use Alternatives .............................................................................................................................35
Alternatives Evaluation ...........................................................................................................................36
Preferred Alternative ...............................................................................................................................39

VI. CONCEPT PLAN ................................................................................................. 40
Land Use Plan .........................................................................................................................................42
Transportation Plan .................................................................................................................................50
Green Space Network .............................................................................................................................61
Utilities ....................................................................................................................................................64

VII. IMPLEMENTATION ............................................................................................ 66
UGB Expansion Request ..........................................................................................................................67
Infrastructure Funding Strategy ..............................................................................................................67
Future Zoning And Regulations ...............................................................................................................68
Planning for Housing ...............................................................................................................................71
Transportation and Infrastructure  ..........................................................................................................72
Continued Community Engagement ........................................................................................................74
Metro Title 11 Compliance ......................................................................................................................74
Future Development Timeline .................................................................................................................74

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 3 of 80



LIST OF APPENDICES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    iv DRAFT JULY 2023

A. Future Development Timeline  

B. Housing Policy Implications Memo

C. Public Engagement Plan

D. Open House #1 (Online) Summary

E. Open House #2 and Survey Summary

F. Development Trends and Implications Memo

G. Economic Opportunities Memo

H. Transportation Issues Memo

I. Plan Concepts

• Livable and Connected Streets 

• Elwert Road Design Concept 

• Active Transportation 

• Great Neighborhoods 

• Mixed Employment Areas

• Chicken Creek Greenway 

J. Alternatives Evaluation Memo

K. Developer Tour Summary

L. Transportation Impact Analysis

M. Housing Memo (Background on Housing Needs and Consistency with State/Metro Requirements)

N. Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis

O. Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy  

P. Metro Title 11 Compliance Findings [to be included following Concept Plan approval]

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 4 of 80



LIST OF FIGURES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    v DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 1. Concept Plan Process  ......................................................................................................................12

Figure 2. Sherwood West Study Area ..............................................................................................................20

Figure 3. Existing Street Network ....................................................................................................................23

Figure 4. Natural Resources Existing Conditions ............................................................................................ 27

Figure 5. Slope Analysis (from Preliminary Concept Plan) ..............................................................................28

Figure 6. Land Use Alternatives Maps .............................................................................................................35

Figure 7. Sherwood West Subdistricts .............................................................................................................36

Figure 8. Composite Concept Plan Map .......................................................................................................... 41

Figure 9. North District ....................................................................................................................................42

Figure 10. Far West District .............................................................................................................................42

Figure 11. West District ...................................................................................................................................43

Figure 12. North District ..................................................................................................................................43

Figure 13. Land Use Plan Map ........................................................................................................................44

Figure 14. Conceptual Street Framework for Sherwood West ......................................................................... 51

Figure 15. Contextual Design Concepts for Elwert Road  ................................................................................53

Figure 16. Realignment Option ........................................................................................................................54

Figure 17. Existing Alignment Option ...............................................................................................................54

Figure 18. Pedestrian Overcrossing Alignment ...............................................................................................55

Figure 19. OR 99W/Brookman-Chapman Alternative 2 ..................................................................................56

Figure 20. Conceptual Diagrams – Streets for Further Study ......................................................................... 57

Figure 21. Potential Future Transit Routes Connecting to Old Town (Source: Sherwood TSP) ........................59

Figure 22. Overall Transportation Framework for Sherwood West ..................................................................60

Figure 23. Elements of a Greenway ................................................................................................................ 61

Figure 24. Sherwood West Trails and Open Space Network............................................................................63

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 5 of 80



LIST OF TAbLES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    vi DRAFT JULY 2023

Table 1. Goals and Evaluation Criteria ............................................................................................................ 17

Table 2. Concept Plan Land Use Designations ................................................................................................33

Table 3. Alternatives Evaluation Summary ...................................................................................................... 37

Table 4. Sherwood West Housing Estimates ...................................................................................................46

Table 5. Sherwood West Employment Estimates ............................................................................................48

Table 6. Sherwood West Jobs-to-Housing Ratio ..............................................................................................48

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 6 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    1 DRAFT JULY 2023

Overview
The Sherwood West Concept Plan is a long-range planning document intended to guide Sherwood 
community members, decision makers, and staff as they make plans and decisions about future growth 
in Sherwood West. Sherwood West is a large Urban Reserve area located just to the west of Sherwood 
city limits, which the City of Sherwood has identified as an area for future growth. Future development 
in Sherwood West will require expansion of the Metro urban growth boundary (UGB).  

This Concept Plan is an update to the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan accepted by Sherwood 
Council on February 16, 2016 (Resolution 2016-009). Since that time, the city and surrounding areas 
have seen significant changes including:

• Shifting of City Council priorities focusing on employment and job growth to diversify the city’s 
tax base, 

• Construction of a new high school within the Sherwood West study area, 
• Adoption of the Sherwood 2040 Comprehensive Plan, and
• Recent changes to statewide and local housing regulations to plan for “missing middle housing” 

in residential areas. 
This updated plan better reflects these changing conditions, while carrying forward ideas from the 
Preliminary Plan that are still valid and supported by the Sherwood community. 

The Concept Plan provides a general framework for locating various land uses, transportation networks, 
open spaces, and public services. Once the area is brought into the UGB, the City will conduct 
additional analysis and undertake a comprehensive planning effort to refine the general concepts 
that are laid out in the Concept Plan – a necessary next step prior to land being eligible for future 
annexation and development.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 7 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    2 DRAFT JULY 2023

Planning and Engagement Process
The Sherwood West Concept Plan was developed between spring 2021 and spring 2023 through a 
collaborative planning process that engaged a multitude of Sherwood residents, business and property 
owners, local organizations, technical advisors, City staff, and consultants. The project timeline is 
depicted below.

Project Timeline

The City convened two stakeholder groups to help guide the project—the Community Advisory 
Committee (CAC) and the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)—which represented a broad range of 
interests. Together, these committees represented a broad range of interests and expertise that helped 
shape the direction and result of this process.

In addition, the City provided a wide range of engagement opportunities, including community open 
houses, online surveys, targeted outreach to high school students, meetings with neighborhood 
associations, stakeholder interviews, a project webpage, and periodic emails to interested parties. 

Every step of the way, Sherwood community members provided meaningful guidance and feedback. 
This guidance has been essential to the Sherwood West planning process and the design of the Concept 
Plan is a reflection of this work. 

Project Goals
The project vision, goals, and evaluation criteria were developed early in the planning process to guide 
Concept Plan development. The following six goals helped to develop and evaluate the concepts, 
alternatives and recommendations:

1. The area is designed as a natural extension of Sherwood and is integrated into the existing 
pattern of growth in order to preserve the community’s heritage and small-town feel.

2. The area attracts a variety of businesses and employment opportunities, which help satisfy the 
City’s need for an expanded tax base.

3. Transportation facilities serve to connect, rather than divide, neighborhoods.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 8 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    3 DRAFT JULY 2023

4. Residents have access to a variety of parks and natural areas, anchored by the Chicken Creek 
Greenway.

5. The area is served by a robust network of active transportation options that are integrated into 
Sherwood’s existing network.

6. Growth and development are well-planned and implementation of the area is pragmatic.

Concept Plan

Land Use
The Concept Plan identifies conceptual locations for future residential, commercial, employment, and 
open space areas. 

• Land Use Themes – Key land use themes are 
associated with four distinct subdistricts:

 › North District – Mixed Employment is the main 
focus of this area due to its flat topography and 
transportation access. The plan also locates a 
cluster of housing near SW Elwert Road and a 
community park near West Fork Chicken Creek.

 › Far West District – The plan designates this area 
for mostly low-density housing, due to existing 
rural homes and sloping terrain.

 › West District – This area surrounds the new 
Sherwood High School and has relatively good 
access to existing infrastructure. The plan 
includes a mix of medium and higher-density 
housing types near the high school and some 
mixed use land along Kruger Road. The plan 
also locates a community park nestled into the 
Chicken Creek Greenway.

 › Southwest District – The plan focuses mixed 
use development at the Kruger-Highway 99W 
intersection, with higher-density housing along 
Kruger Road. The southern end of the district 
is focused on being the “Gateway to Wine 
Country.” Sherwood has an opportunity to capitalize on visitors entering or leaving wine 
country on Highway 99W. Uses in this area can focus on the growing wine and specialty 
agriculture tourism industry and provide lodging, tasting rooms, restaurants, and small retail 
shops.  

Study Area and Subdistricts

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 9 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    4 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Housing – Planning for a variety of housing options that will meet the needs of a wide range of 
Sherwood West residents was a key objective of the concept planning process. Providing housing 
opportunities for first-time home buyers, seniors who may prefer to age in place or downsize 
their housing, and moderate-income households will require a wider range of housing types than 
has typically been provided in Sherwood. 
Housing types that have designated places in Sherwood West include single detached homes 
on smaller lots; cottage clusters; townhomes; duplexes, triplexes, and fourplexes; garden 
apartments; and mid-rise apartments. These types will be in addition to the standard single 
detached housing that has typified Sherwood’s development so far.

• Employment – Sherwood wants and needs more jobs. Expanding existing businesses and 
attracting new employment to Sherwood—particularly the right kind of jobs in the right places—
will provide opportunities for industrial and commercial development with higher wage jobs, 
help diversify and balance the City’s tax base, and build a self-sustaining and vibrant local 
economy. 
A key theme of the Sherwood West Concept Plan is to designate land for Mixed Employment, 
which includes a mix of office, light industrial, and flex space uses in the same development or 
area of the city. The plan identifies potential areas for future Mixed Employment development, 
intended to accommodate the type of job growth desired for Sherwood West. 

• Schools and Civic Facilities – Sherwood will eventually need new schools and other civic facilities, 
such as fire stations, library, and other public services to accommodate future households in 
Sherwood West. The Concept Plan anticipates an eventual need for two schools in the area—one 
middle school and one elementary school. Potential land needs have been factored into the plan 
for these facilities but, because they will not be needed until later stages of growth in the area, 
specific locations are not identified.

Transportation
As the City of Sherwood grows, a well-designed and connected network of streets, paths, and trails in 
Sherwood West should focus on safety, knitting the existing and new growth together, creating livable 
and walkable neighborhoods, and mitigating impacts of regional through-traffic. 

Key elements of the transportation plan for Sherwood West focus on north-south connectivity through 
the area and providing for active (non-vehicular) transportation. 

• SW Elwert Road – This key north-south arterial street is an important opportunity for providing 
access and defining urban design in Sherwood West. Design concepts for the roadway are 
aimed at making Elwert a livable and positive addition to the growth of Sherwood West and 
the adjacent neighborhoods on its east side. The concept is to create a safe, connected, and 
attractive boulevard inspired by SW Sunset Boulevard, that includes: buffered sidewalks, safe 
crossings, bike lanes, a planted median with canopy trees, and path connections to key sites and 
destinations.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 10 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    5 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Potential Elwert-Edy Realignment – The Concept Plan explores two options for future upgrades 
to SW Elwert Road and SW Edy Road: realigning the roads to reduce impacts to natural resources 
or maintaining the current intersection location. In either case, Elwert Road will need to be 
upgraded to current standards when development occurs in Sherwood West. The CAC and 
project team recommend the realignment option, although further analysis will be necessary 
before the decision about Elwert Road’s alignment is finalized.

• Active Transportation and Trails – Trails, cycling routes, transit, “micromobility,” and other ways 
of getting around without a car are designed into Sherwood West. These active transportation 
options will connect between local parks, green spaces, schools, neighborhoods, and 
employment areas to encourage walking, rolling, and biking. The Concept Plan trail framework 
identifies potential future trail connections between new growth in Sherwood West and existing 
areas of Sherwood; future safe routes to school; and opportunities to ensure future transit can 
be as successful as possible.

Green Space Network
The Concept Plan for parks and open space take advantage of the natural landscape in Sherwood 
West to enhance access to nature and outdoor recreation. Sherwood West’s green space network will 
include creek corridors and their habitat areas, trails and greenways, tree and tree canopy protected by 
Sherwood’s code, stormwater facilities, neighborhood parks, community parks, and school fields.

• Chicken Creek Greenway – The concept for 
a future Chicken Creek Greenway is an 
opportunity to preserve and enhance 
natural stream corridors, provide wildlife 
crossings, incorporate stormwater 
management practices, and provide access 
to nature through a network of connected 
walking trails.

• Neighborhood and Community Parks – 
Park spaces are integrated into Sherwood 
West’s overall trail and open space 
network. The Concept Plan identifies two 
possible locations for future community 
parks, which provide opportunities for 
active recreation and organized play where they can best accommodate anticipated increased 
demand. The plan also identifies conceptual locations for smaller, neighborhood parks to serve 
nearby residents.

• Natural Resources – Natural resource areas in Sherwood West will be preserved and integrated 
into the open space network. In addition to the Chicken Creek Greenway, regulations at the 
regional, state, and federal level will require protection of wetlands, habitat areas, and other 
natural resources as part of future development.

Chicken Creek Natural Area

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 11 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    6 DRAFT JULY 2023

Utilities
In addition to transportation infrastructure, future development in Sherwood West will require 
provision of water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater utilities. Below is a summary of opportunities and 
potential phasing of future utility extension. 

• Water – The area’s West and Southwest districts can be served with water infrastructure in the 
near future. Water infrastructure will need to be extended east to west to serve the hillsides. The 
Far West district can be served after water infrastructure improvements, such as an additional 
pump station, are constructed. The North district will need further study and significant water 
infrastructure improvements to be served.

• Sewer – The West and Southwest districts also can be served with sanitary sewer infrastructure 
in the near future, through connection to existing and planned sewer lines. Sanitary sewer 
infrastructure would need to be extended into the hillside area of the West and Southwest 
districts and Far West district as those areas develop. The North district needs further study on 
how to serve the area and if any significant infrastructure is necessary to serve sanitary sewers in 
this area.

• Stormwater – All areas within Sherwood West can handle stormwater with required 
infrastructure improvements as development occurs. The West and Southwest districts in 
Sherwood West may be the easiest to serve.

Implementation
The Concept Plan will need to be formally accepted by the Sherwood City Council. City Council 
adoption will enable the Concept Plan to serve as a resource for future discussion about expanding the 
UGB and more detailed planning for growth and development in Sherwood West. There are a range of 
identified potential strategies and considerations for implementing the concepts laid out in the plan, 
including:

• UGB Expansion Request – The City of Sherwood will have the ability to request expansion of the 
UGB to include Sherwood West in 2024.

• Infrastructure Funding Strategy – The Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy includes 
a high-level estimate of infrastructure costs, revenues, and potential tools for funding the 
development of priority districts in Sherwood West. Next steps involve continued refinement of 
projects and costs and financial modeling and discussions with developers on potential funding 
strategies.

• Future Comprehensive Planning – A detailed comprehensive planning process will assign land 
use designations and zoning, identify specific locations for major road connections, protect 
natural resources, and develop infrastructure plans.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 12 of 80



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    7 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Natural Resource Protection – For resource areas subject Metro Title 13 / Statewide Goal 5, the 
City will need to further analyze specific resources, make significance determinations; conduct 
an ESEE analysis; and adopt plans for resource protection through the Comprehensive Plan and 
Development Code

• Future Development Code Regulations
 › Custom Zoning – The land use plan recommends two residential designations (Cottage 

Cluster and Middle Housing) and a Hospitality designation that would be implemented 
through custom zoning strategies. 

 › Master Planning or “Village Planning” – Master planning for the entire area, or specifically 
focused on smaller “villages,” can help prepare this future UGB expansion area for 
annexation and development. A master plan approach would allow for more certainty for 
coordinating multiple developments into cohesive neighborhoods; ability to coordinate 
unique plan elements; and coordination of infrastructure phasing and funding.

 › Future Annexation – The City could consider requiring or allowing Annexation Agreements 
(binding contracts between the property owner and City) to ensure that proposed 
annexations are beneficial to the City and that key elements of the Sherwood West Concept 
Plan are implemented.

• Transportation and Infrastructure 
 › Future Alternatives/Feasibility Studies – The City will need to conduct several alternatives 

analyses and feasibility studies to determine the final location, alignment, and design of key 
transportation improvements.

 › Public Facility Plans – Updates to the Sherwood Transportation System Plan and 
Capital Improvement Plan will be necessary to incorporate street design standards and 
improvement projects for facilities within Sherwood West. The City’s water and sewer 
master plans should also be updated to incorporate future utility extension in Sherwood 
West.

 › Funding Tools – To establish detailed infrastructure funding plans, more detailed cost 
estimates, revenue projections, and infrastructure planning is needed.

• Continued Community Engagement – The City should continue engaging with property owners 
and the Sherwood community about Sherwood West. This should include outreach via periodic 
email updates, the project website, and neighborhood engagement.

Next Steps
There is more work to be done to prepare Sherwood West for future growth and development. The 
comprehensive planning and zoning process offers an opportunity for the City to reach out to affected 
property owners and the larger community to refine higher-level concepts. Robust community 
engagement, in addition to further evaluation of the topics addressed in this plan, will be an essential 
component of the City’s next steps in developing refined plans and future regulations for Sherwood 
West.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 13 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    8 DRAFT JUNE 2023

INTRODUCTION

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 14 of 80



INTRODUCTION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    9 DRAFT JULY 2023

Concept Plan Background and History
Sherwood West is a geographic area located west of the existing Sherwood city limits and adjacent to 
the Metro Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). Sherwood West is a designated Metro urban reserve (Urban 
Reserve Area 5b) and, at 1,291 total acres, is a large area for potential future growth. 

Urban reserves are designated by Metro in coordination with partner cities and counties and identify 
land that will be considered for addition to the region’s UGB for urbanization over a 50 year period. 
Given its size, and the location of existing infrastructure, Sherwood West is logically the best direction 
for the City to consider growth in the future.

Preliminary Concept Plan 
Starting in 2015, the City of Sherwood undertook a community process to develop a long-range 
planning tool that would help guide future community discussions and decisions about the city’s long-
term growth. The result was the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan, which was accepted by City 
Council in 2016. 

Re-Look Project
Significant changes in Sherwood and the surrounding areas since the adoption of the Preliminary 
Concept Plan spurred the City to reconsider growth options for Sherwood West and embark on the 
Sherwood West Concept Plan Re-look project. 

Shifting priorities…
 › Sherwood City Council has prioritized adding employment land and job growth as a major 

goal to create a more diversified tax base. Sherwood West is an opportunity to help achieve 
that goal.

 › The City adopted the Sherwood 2040 Comprehensive Plan in 2021, which updated the 
vision, goals, and policies for the city as a whole.  

 › The City updated plans for Brookman Road as a refinement of the Brookman Addition 
Concept Plan, the guiding planning document for the area just southeast of Sherwood West.

Changing conditions…
 › The Sherwood School District constructed the new 350,000 square foot Sherwood High 

School on 73 acres inside the Sherwood West area. 
 › The city continues to see rapid growth and development. Since 1990, Sherwood has added 

hundreds of residents every year, with annual growth rates between 3-8%. 
 › Washington County completed its Urban Reserve Transportation Study (URTS), which 

provides updated transportation information to help with future planning in urban reserve 
areas.

 › The State enacted new laws related to Climate Friendly and Equitable Communities, housing 
affordability, and other issues that will affect planning in Sherwood.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 15 of 80



INTRODUCTION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    10 DRAFT JULY 2023

Changing housing regulations…
 › The State of Oregon adopted House Bill 2001 in 2019, which directs cities to allow for 

“middle housing” (such as duplexes, townhomes, and cottage clusters) within areas zoned 
single-family residential. (Refer to Appendix Q, Housing Policy Implications Memo for more 
information.) The City adopted new Residential Design Standards in 2021 to ensure middle 
housing and other housing types fit into the City’s desired neighborhood character.  

While many of the ideas and concepts in the Preliminary Concept Plan continue to be valid and are 
reflected in this update, the current plan better reflects existing and expected conditions. Specifically, 
the Sherwood West Concept Plan builds off the earlier accepted plan by addressing new land use and 
growth patterns, transportation plans, housing regulations, and opportunities for employment and 
economic growth. 

The Role of the Concept Plan
The Concept Plan is a long-range planning tool intended to guide Sherwood community members, 
decision makers, and staff as they make plans and decisions about future growth in Sherwood West. 
Specifically, creating and adopting a concept plan is a required step prior to amending the UGB, which is 
a necessary precursor to development in Sherwood West. There are specific requirements for the types 
of information that must be included and what issues must be considered in a concept plan in order to 
inform UGB amendment decisions. Metro and the State ultimately make those decisions.

Concept planning also provides a foundation for the more detailed comprehensive planning work that 
will follow UGB expansion. The concept plan provides a general framework for locating various land 
uses, transportation networks, open spaces, and public services. While vitally important as a policy 
document to provide planning direction, a concept plan is not a regulatory document, and the City 
must take additional actions to govern future urbanization. Once an area is brought into the UGB, a 
city will conduct additional analysis and undertake a comprehensive planning effort to assign land 
use designations and zoning, identify specific locations for major road connections, protect natural 
resources, and develop infrastructure plans within Sherwood West. For Sherwood, that later process 
will refine the general concepts that are laid out in this plan – a necessary next step prior to land being 
eligible for annexation and development.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 16 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    11 DRAFT JUNE 2023

PLANNING &  
ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 17 of 80



PLANNING & ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    12 DRAFT JULY 2023

The Sherwood West Concept Plan was developed between spring 2021 and spring 2023 through a 
collaborative planning process that engaged a multitude of Sherwood residents, business and property 
owners, local organizations, technical advisors, City staff, and consultants. The diagram below provides 
an overview of the Concept Plan process. 

Community Engagement
Engaging with Sherwood residents and other stakeholders was considered essential for producing 
a plan that reflects community values with integrity and foresight. To help guide the project, two 
stakeholder committees were formed to include a broad range of interests: the Community Advisory 
Committee (CAC) and the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). Together, these committees worked to 
help shape the direction and result of this process.

• The CAC was made up of 16 community members who live or own property within the city 
as well as those in the study area, and representatives from the City’s Parks Board, Planning 
Commission, City Council, the Sherwood School District, and Sherwood Chamber of Commerce. 
They were charged with reviewing materials from the consultant team, providing broad 
perspectives to ensure the Sherwood West Concept Plan reflects diverse needs, participating in 
public outreach regarding the plan, and providing recommendations on plan alternatives. They 
were recruited and selected by the City Council through an open application process. Twenty-
three individuals applied to be on the CAC and 16 were selected.

• The TAC was comprised of essential public service provider representatives: City Public 
Works, Engineering, Community Services, Police Department, Clean Water Services, Tualatin 
River National Wildlife Refuge, Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue, the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT), Metro Oregon Home Builders, City of King City, Washington County Land 
Use & Transportation, and Metro. TAC members reviewed project deliverables for technical 
adequacy, policy, and regulatory compliance.

Figure 1. Concept Plan Process 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 18 of 80



PLANNING & ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    13 DRAFT JULY 2023

Every step of the way, Sherwood community members provided meaningful guidance and feedback, 
gathered through interviews, public events, CAC public testimonies, online surveys and open houses. 
In addition, high school students’ input was received through an online survey. This guidance has been 
essential to the Sherwood West planning process. The design of the Concept Plan is a reflection of this 
work. Together, we:

1. Refreshed the vision, goals and evaluation criteria that guided the Concept Plan. This work 
was informed by CAC and TAC input and background research into updated policies, regulations, 
transportation issues, and economic opportunities. 

2. Designed alternative concept plan scenarios. Based on community core values, vision, existing 
conditions and discussions with the CAC and TAC, three draft alternative concept plan scenarios 
were developed to explore a variety of ideas for comparison. 

3. Considered the relative merits of each scenario and the key features that best represent the 
goals and objectives of Sherwood West. Through a community open house and workshop 
and online surveys, the CAC, TAC, staff, and consultant team worked to identify preferences for 
individual and collective plan elements using the evaluation criteria they helped develop. 

4. Designed a Concept Plan that builds upon community feedback, technical guidance, and 
a landform analysis. The Concept Plan is a hybrid of the three alternatives, combining the 
preferred elements into a recommended draft “hybrid” Concept Plan.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 19 of 80



PLANNING & ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    14 DRAFT JULY 2023

Each step of the planning process incorporated a variety of community engagement activities, as listed 
below, designed to reach a broad spectrum of Sherwood residents. 

To learn more about engagement approaches and results, refer the appendices (Appendix C, 
Community Engagement Plan; Appendix D, Open House #1 (Online) Summary; and Appendix E, Open 
House #2 and Survey Summary).

Note: Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, prior to June 2022 all public engagement activities occurred 
virtually. Starting in June 2022, all CAC meetings and public events took place in person, with virtual 
participation options also made available. 

Community Engagement Activities
• Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Meetings - total of 14 meetings
• Public Testimony at CAC Meetings
• CAC Interested Parties Email Subscription
• Project Website
• Social Media (Facebook, Twitter, Next Door)
• Sherwood Utility Billing Email Listings Notices
• Sherwood Archer Newsletter
• Project Video
• Property Owner Mailing - Introduction to project (June 2021)
• Online Survey – Informational and Initial Concepts (October 2021)
• Coffee Klatches with Neighbors and Homeowners Associations (Summer 2021)
• Movies in the Park (August 2022)
• Cedar Creek Trail Grand Opening (September 2022)
• Community Open House with Property Owner Mailing (October 2022)
• Virtual Open House (October 2022)
• Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) Meetings – total of 12 meeting
• Metro Home Builders Association Presentation (August 2021)
• Sherwood West Economic Development Stakeholder Interviews (June 2021)
• Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) Presentation (July 2022)

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 20 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    15 DRAFT JUNE 2023

VISION, GOALS & 
EVALUATION CRITERIA

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 21 of 80



VISION, GOALS & EVALUATION CRITERIA

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    16 DRAFT JULY 2023

Vision Statement
The vision statement was developed early in the Concept Plan Re-Look process, updating the vision 
from the 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan. The vision describes the community’s desired future for 
the Sherwood West area. The vision and its associated goals were developed and revised through a 
visioning exercise and subsequent discussions with the Community Advisory Committee and reflect 
current community priorities for Sherwood West. 

Sherwood West is a walkable community with a balanced mix of employment, residential, commercial, and 
greenspace land uses—it is a place where families can safely live, work, shop, and play. Sherwood West is 
home to a variety of businesses that offer stable, high-paying jobs and those employment opportunities 
have helped satisfy the City’s need for an expanded tax base to protect and maintain Sherwood’s great 
quality of life. Sherwood West is attractive to employers and residents because of its well-planned 
infrastructure, well-connected streets, walkable neighborhoods, and variety of well-designed housing 
choices. The area feels like a natural extension of Sherwood’s existing neighborhoods, and it is integrated 
with other nearby urbanizing areas and regional destinations such as the Tualatin River National Wildlife 
Refuge. Sherwood West’s natural landscape is anchored by the Chicken Creek Greenway, which protects 
the creek corridor and connects the area’s neighborhoods through a network of natural areas, parks, and 
trails.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 22 of 80



VISION, GOALS & EVALUATION CRITERIA

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    17 DRAFT JULY 2023

Goals and Evaluation Criteria
Following are specific goals for various aspects of Sherwood West’s future and corresponding criteria 
for evaluating Concept Plan alternatives. Like the vision statement, the goals and criteria were updated 
from the 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan to reflect current community priorities and desires for 
Sherwood West.

Table 1. Goals and Evaluation Criteria

GOAL EVALUATION CRITERIA

1. The area is designed as a 
natural extension of Sherwood 
and is integrated into the 
existing pattern of growth 
in order to preserve the 
community’s heritage and 
small-town feel.

• There is a balanced mix of office, industrial, commercial, and residential land 
uses and open spaces

• A variety of housing options accommodates a diverse range of family 
structures, income levels, and lifestyles

• Neighborhood retail nodes provide residents with walkable access to goods 
and services

• Housing density and implementation is pragmatic

• View corridors and separation from other cities contribute to Sherwood’s 
unique identity

2. The area attracts a variety of 
businesses and employment 
opportunities, which help 
satisfy the City’s need for an 
expanded tax base.

• Infrastructure is well-planned to make Sherwood West attractive to 
developers and large employers

• There are large low-impact employment areas available for the growth of 
technology parks and other higher-wage jobs

• There are opportunities to leverage the area’s unique location for 
destination retail, hospitality, and visitor-related uses

3. Transportation facilities serve 
to connect, rather than divide, 
neighborhoods.

• A network of streets provides north-south connections to and through the 
area

• The Concept Plan helps realize the opportunity for a Highway 99 pedestrian 
crossing

• Streets are designed to balance accommodating vehicle traffic and parking 
while also being welcoming places for people

• Streets are designed with consideration for safety and emergency response 
vehicles

• Sherwood is “transit-ready” for future transit service

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 23 of 80



VISION, GOALS & EVALUATION CRITERIA

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    18 DRAFT JULY 2023

GOAL EVALUATION CRITERIA

4. Residents have access to a 
variety of parks and natural 
areas, anchored by the 
Chicken Creek Greenway.

• The Chicken Creek corridor is protected

• Creek connections to the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge are 
preserved and, where possible, enhanced

• Residents have access to nature through a network of multi-use and soft-
surface trails

• Parks and natural areas serve as places where families and community 
members can gather together

• Existing mature trees and areas of dense tree canopy are preserved where 
feasible

5. The area is served by a 
robust network of active 
transportation options that 
are integrated into Sherwood’s 
existing network.

• Residents can easily walk or bike to access local destinations such as schools, 
parks, employment areas, and shopping centers

• Active transportation facilities connect to existing Sherwood neighborhoods 
and nearby regional destinations

• Students have safe options to walk or bike to school

6.  Growth and development 
are well-planned and 
implementation of the area is 
pragmatic.

• The extension of public facilities and services are phased and coordinated 
with development

• Land uses serve Sherwood’s needs and are complementary to other 
expansion areas along the western Urban Growth Boundary

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 24 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    19 DRAFT JUNE 2023

EXISTING CONDITIONS

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 25 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    20 DRAFT JULY 2023

Study Area 
Sherwood West is a 1,291-acre area just west of the existing Sherwood city limits—see Figure 2. The 
area is bounded on the east by Highway 99W, SW Elwert Road, and SW Roy Rogers Road. The area’s 
southern boundary is SW Chapman Road; its northern extent is SW Lebeau Road and SW Scholls-
Sherwood Road. The western boundary is the outer edge of Metro’s Urban Reserves, with Rural 
Reserve land lying further to the west). Site topography generally slopes from west to east, with an 
elevation difference of approximately 150 to 200 feet.

Figure 2. Sherwood West Study Area

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 26 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    21 DRAFT JULY 2023

Land Use and Zoning
Existing land use in Sherwood West includes a mix of farmland, orchards, rural homes, and natural 
areas. The new Sherwood High School and the adjacent Countryside Community Church represent the 
few non-rural uses in the study area. Sherwood West is considered highly “parcelized” because it is 
divided up into numerous individual properties—126 tax lots in total. A majority of those properties (75 
percent) are under 10 acres in size.

The land inside Sherwood West is currently under Washington County’s jurisdiction and is zoned for 
agricultural and forest uses (except for the high school, which is inside city limits and is zoned for 
institutional/public use).

Nearby landmarks and developed neighborhoods inside Sherwood include Ridges Elementary School, 
the Oregon Trail neighborhood, Mandel Farms, and Middleton.

Economic Opportunities
One of the main goals for updating the Sherwood West Concept Plan is to plan for additional 
employment land and to prioritize job growth and expansion of the City’s tax base, as directed by the 
Sherwood City Council. A better future jobs-to-housing ratio will provide the opportunity for more 
Sherwood residents to work in the city, rather than having to commute elsewhere for work. This has 
benefits in terms of quality of life, traffic 
congestion, and lower emissions. 

To understand opportunities for economic 
development and job creation in Sherwood 
West, the project team (staff and consultants) 
studied economic opportunities and 
development trends, evaluated the area’s 
assets and constraints, and spoke with 
local developers, stakeholders, and leading 
economists. Key findings from these studies 
are summarized below. Full summaries can be 
found in Appendix F, Development Trends and 
Implications Memo, and Appendix G, Economic 
Opportunities Memo. 

Target Industries and Sectors 
The following sectors represent likely employment and development opportunities in Sherwood West:

• Employment/Industrial. There is strong potential for mixed employment and industrial 
development, considering the increasing demand for, and limited supply of, high-quality 
buildable employment land in the region, particularly large sites. 

Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA) 
The City’s 2023 EOA Update identifies a deficit of 
277 acres of industrial and commercial lands to 
meet Sherwood’s projected 20-year employment 
needs. Within the current city limits there is 
a shortage of appropriate sites for industrial 
development – particularly sites between 10 and 
50 acres in size or larger. The lack of buildable 
sites over 10-acres is notable, especially since 
this size of industrial land supports high tech 
manufacturing and traded-sector jobs. Sherwood 
West provides an opportunity to address some of 
the identified employment land deficit, including 
proposed employment land designations with 
parcels between 10 – 50 acres in size.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 27 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    22 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Tech Clusters. Sherwood is centrally located between existing tech clusters in Wilsonville and 
the Sunset Corridor, and developers are looking for opportunities elsewhere in the region. The 
Sherwood area is beginning to draw interest from existing tech companies in Hillsboro and 
elsewhere.

• Wine Businesses. The wine industry is an important part of the local and regional economy 
which may dovetail with industrial, retail, and hospitality uses in Sherwood.

• Hospitality. Hotels are in demand in the region, and Sherwood is well positioned with its 
proximity to wine country and Highway 99W. However, other cities to the south are better 
located for an immersive wine country experience. New hotels in Sherwood will likely be feasible 
as a follow-on use once employment growth occurs, and the market is proven.

• Retail. Sherwood should focus on convenience-based retail, such as grocery and health and 
personal care, as well as neighborhood-serving retail, such as foodservice and drinking places.

Strategies and Recommendations
The top recommendations related to planning for employment uses and positioning Sherwood West for 
successful economic development include:

• Plan for Mixed Employment. Most of the 
opportunities for long-term job creation will likely 
require a mixed employment approach—namely 
industrial, flex, and office. Mixed Employment 
in centers/parks of 20-100 acres is the strongest 
market.

• Reserve large, flat parcels with transportation 
access for employment uses. Land needs for 
mixed employment range from 40 to 50 acres per 
“center” or “park." The City should target areas 
of Sherwood West with the largest and flattest 
contiguous tracts of land for these developments, 
with slopes of less than 3.0 percent. 

• Target Highway 99W for transportation-
dependent uses. Considering the limited 
frontage, retain 99W for certain users that require 
access and visibility.

• Be Flexible. Maintain as much flexibility (zoning, 
land, tools, approach) as possible in planning 
for employment growth as market cycles and 
trends over the next 20 years are unclear. This 
means maintaining large, contiguous sites but not 
mandating large-lot sites. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 28 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    23 DRAFT JULY 2023

Transportation 
The summary in this section describes key features of the Sherwood West transportation network, as 
illustrated in Figure 3, and current plans for future improvements. Appendix H, Transportation Issues 
Memo, contains more detailed information on the existing and planned transportation system. 

Elwert Corridor 
Spanning the length of the Sherwood West 
area, from SW Scholls-Sherwood Road to SW 
Kruger Road, SW Elwert Road is a key north-
south route. Designed as a two-lane rural 
arterial under Washington County jurisdiction, 
it is now commonly used as an alternative route 
to Highway 99W for both local and commuter 
(through) travel.

Travel along Elwert Road is characterized by 
rolling hills that include acute vertical sags 
and crests, which result in poor vertical sight 
distances and intersection sight distances. While 
sidewalks have been constructed along portions 
of Elwert Road adjacent to developed land (on 
the east side), Elwert Road will eventually need 
to be upgraded to urban standards as more land 
develops and vehicular trips increase. 

Both the Washington County Transportation 
System Plan (TSP) and the City of Sherwood TSP 
identify the future build-out condition of Elwert 
Road as a 3-lane arterial which will include 
sidewalks and bike lanes on both sides of the 
road. It will be important to strike a balance 
between local connectivity and regional travel 
needs when developing the ultimate design of 
this facility. 

Figure 3. Existing Street Network

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 29 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    24 DRAFT JULY 2023

Regional Transportation Improvements
Highway 99W
Highway 99W is a state-designated freight 
corridor and limited-access highway. It is 
identified as a principal arterial in both the 
County and City TSPs. New access onto Highway 
99W must be coordinated with the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT). The 
intersections of SW Chapman, SW Brookman, 
and SW Elwert roads will all need to be 
studied and possibly reconfigured or signalized 
depending on the amount of traffic generated by 
future land uses within the area. 

Roy Rogers Road
The County plans to expand SW Roy Rogers 
Road to a five-lane roadway – two travel lanes in 
either direction plus a center turn lane – south 
into Sherwood and through to Highway 99W. 
The final southerly extent of this improvement 
will be from Chicken Creek to Borchers Drive. 
The estimated $14 million project is funded by 
the County’s MSTIP program, and it is planned 
for completion by Spring 2024. 

This regional corridor connects SW Scholls Ferry Road to Highway 99W and connects between job 
centers in Hillsboro, Beaverton and housing areas in Sherwood, Wilsonville, and western Clackamas 
County. Horizon year (2040) travel forecasts are roughly 40,000 vehicles on an average weekday, which 
is similar to levels observed today on Highway 99W between Tigard and Tualatin. This high level of 
travel demand may influence the type and location of potential development along the SW Roy Rogers 
Road corridor, specifically making it more attractive for retail and mixed use development.

Brookman Road
An extension of SW Brookman Road will ultimately define a new southern edge of Sherwood. When 
properties in the Brookman Addition area annex to the City, SW Brookman Road will be upgraded to 
a full urban arterial facility and its current intersection with Highway 99W will be upgraded to comply 
with Washington County and ODOT multi-modal standards to safely accommodate driving, bicycling, 
and walking. The recent update to the Brookman Addition Concept Plan recommends an interim 3-lane 
arterial cross-section on Brookman Road until such a time as a 5-lane section is required. 

The SW Brookman Road extension west of Highway 99W, via SW Chapman Road, will also serve as the 
southern edge of the greater Sherwood West planning area. The scope and character of its intersection 
with Highway 99W, and additional connectivity between the Brookman Addition and Sherwood 
West areas are still being planned. See the transportation recommendations in Section VI for further 
discussion.

Intersection of Elwert and Edy.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 30 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    25 DRAFT JULY 2023

Multimodal Transportation
A key component of the Sherwood West transportation network is the incorporation of safe and 
convenient walking and bicycling facilities into the higher classification street facilities. Planned 
improvements to arterial and collector class streets will include these elements. In addition, the natural 
areas and varied terrain in Sherwood West offer opportunities for a separate trail system to promote 
non-motorized travel away from the roadway network. 

Transit does not currently serve the immediate Sherwood West area. The closest TriMet service is 
Route 94 which connects to Portland along Highway 99W. The nearest stop is over a mile away. The 
Concept Plan explores how to make the area “transit-ready” with transit-supportive land use and 
sufficient connectivity of the street system. 

Parks, Trails, and Open Spaces
There are no formal multi-use trails or parks in Sherwood West. Chicken Creek forms a natural 
greenway flowing southwest to northeast through the study area, eventually draining to the Tualatin 
River via Cedar Creek. The Cedar Creek greenway through the city connects at Chicken Creek. West Fork 
Chicken Creek and Goose Creek form smaller natural greenways in the central and southeast portions 
of the study area, respectively. Upper Chicken Creek, a 38-acre Metro-owned natural area, is located 
just outside the study area and abuts its western edge south of Kruger Road. 

Sherwood’s updated Parks and Recreation Master Plan (2021), discusses recommendations for park, 
trail, and facility development throughout the City and within planned growth areas such as Sherwood 
West. Recommendations for parks and facilities within Sherwood West include the following:

• Provide parks or park amenities in natural areas and along trail corridors to meet the 10-minute 
walk goal.

• Provide a connected trail network throughout the concept plan area. Explore the potential of a 
trail in the powerline corridor and an off-street shared use path along the Elwert Road corridor. 

• Site a community park south of Edy Road, potentially adjacent to a natural area. 
• Consider a sports complex within Sherwood West to include rectangular fields with lighting and 

potentially a new fieldhouse. At least 10 acres of relatively level, developable land is needed to 
accommodate a complex of this type. Specific considerations for the use and siting of this type of 
facility are detailed in Chapter 4 of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan (PRMP). 

The PRMP also establishes minimum standards for parks and open space—including minimum sizes 
and levels of service for neighborhood parks, community parks, and other types of facilities (see PRMP 
Chapter 3).

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 31 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    26 DRAFT JULY 2023

Environment and Natural Resources

Floodplains
There is a defined 100-year floodplain for a portion of Chicken Creek and West Fork Chicken Creek 
within Sherwood West (Figure 4). The floodplain for Cedar Creek at its intersection with Chicken Creek 
is also defined. The upper reaches of Chicken Creek and Goose Creek do not have available flood study 
data.

Wetlands
Wetlands that are mapped by the National 
Wetland Inventory and Metro’s inventory 
comprise just over 31 acres within the study 
area. Most prominently, these are found 
along the riparian corridor of Chicken Creek, 
but also near the headwaters of Goose 
Creek. Additional wetland areas are also 
expected to exist within the study area, most 
likely along smaller tributaries of Chicken 
Creek, Cedar Creek, and Goose Creek. An 
inventory will be necessary to determine the 
likely extent of these wetlands.

Metro Title 13 Habitat
Metro Title 13 habitat areas are also depicted in Figure 4. Title 13 establishes baseline requirements 
to protect, conserve, and restore the region’s significant riparian corridors and wildlife habitat 
resources, collectively referred to as Habitat Conservation Areas. Habitat Conservation Areas include 
rivers, streams, wetlands, and adjacent resource areas, as well as upland wildlife habitat patches and 
habitats of concern. Riparian Habitat areas are classified as either Class I, II, or III and Upland Habitat 
areas are classified as Class A, B, or C. The mapping of Title 13 habitat areas will be further refined and 
protections will be established as part of the comprehensive planning for Sherwood West once it is 
brought into the UGB.

Steep Slopes
The Sherwood West area mostly consists of gently sloped terrain, but there are also areas of steep 
slopes (25% or greater). Such steep slopes are found along drainage corridors for Chicken Creek, West 
Fork Chicken Creek, Goose Creek, and their tributaries, as well as at a higher point in the southwest 
portion of the study area (Figure 5). These areas are generally considered unbuildable. 

Figure 5 depicts the range of slope conditions found in Sherwood West. Note that this map is from the 
Preliminary Concept Plan and predates the construction of Sherwood High School.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 32 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    27 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 4. Natural Resources Existing Conditions

Riparian Class I Habitat
Riparian Class II Habitat
Riparian Class III Habitat

Upland Class A Habitat
Upland Class B Habitat
Upland Class C Habitat

Areas where nearby 
activities have an 
impact on resources

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 33 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    28 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 5. Slope Analysis (from Preliminary Concept Plan)
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 34 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    29 DRAFT JULY 2023

Public Facilities
As properties in Sherwood West annex into the city boundary for future development opportunities, 
public facilities will need to be extended to support intended uses.   

Water
Existing Conditions 
The current Water System Master Plan was adopted in May 2015 and considers all areas within the city 
limits, the UGB, and the Sherwood West area. The City’s primary water supply is from the Wilsonville 
Water Treatment Plant, supplemented by groundwater wells. The City maintains an emergency 
connection and transmission piping to the Tualatin-Portland supply main. The City’s distribution 
system includes three service zones supplied by three storage reservoirs and two pumping stations. 
The majority of Sherwood customers are served from the 380 Pressure Zone which is supplied by 
gravity from the City’s Sunset Reservoirs. The 535 Pressure Zone, serving the area around the Sunset 
Reservoirs, is supplied with constant pressure by the Sunset Pump Station, and the 455 Pressure Zone 
serves higher elevation customers on the western edge of the City by gravity from the Kruger Reservoir. 

Opportunities and Constraints 
Initial anticipated growth in Sherwood West will be served by extending the existing 380 and 455-
Zone distribution mains. Future customers along the ridge north and south of the existing Kruger 
Reservoir will be served by constant pressure from the proposed Kruger Pump Station at the existing 
reservoir site. Some future customers in Sherwood West may need to be served through a Pressure 
Relief Valve (PRV)-controlled sub-zone or through individual PRVs on each service in order to maintain 
required service pressures. A small area on the western edge of the Sherwood West, along Edy Road 
near Eastview Road, is too high in elevation to receive adequate service pressure from the adjacent 
380 Zone. This area will be served by constant pressure from the proposed Edy Road Pump Station. 
An additional pump station would potentially be needed to serve this area. Extensive large-diameter 
mains will be needed to expand the City’s water service area to supply water to Sherwood West as 
development occurs.

Sanitary Sewer 
Existing Conditions 
The existing Sanitary Sewer Master Plan was completed in 2016 and considers all areas within the city 
limits and the UGB, but not Sherwood West. The City of Sherwood is served by two sanitary sewer 
trunk lines, the Sherwood Trunk Sewer (24-inch) which conveys sewage from the Cedar Creek sewage 
collection basin and the Rock Creek Trunk Sewer (18-inch) which conveys sewage from the Rock Creek 
sewage collection basin. Both trunk lines convey flows to the Sherwood Pump Station, owned by Clean 
Water Services (CWS), which sends sewage to the Durham Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant via 
the Upper Tualatin Interceptor, also owned by CWS.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 35 of 80



EXISTING CONDITIONS

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    30 DRAFT JULY 2023

Opportunities and Constraints 
Existing sanitary sewer facilities adjacent to or near Sherwood West are limited. The Sherwood 
Interceptor crosses the study area near the northeast corner of the area at Cedar and Chicken Creeks, 
and any sewer mainlines would need to cross these creeks to connect. The Brookman Addition is an 
area within the UGB on the south end of Sherwood between the city limits and SW Brookman Road. 
The City recently constructed a sewer mainline to the northern boundary of the Brookman area. 

Clean Water Services and the City of Sherwood are working together to extend necessary sewer 
services to the Brookman and Sherwood West areas. The Brookman sanitary project will connect the 
Brookman and Sherwood West areas to the existing lines in the Ladd Hill area.  

The sanitary sewer line is needed because the new Sherwood High School (annexed in 2018 as part of 
the West Sherwood planning area) was constructed in an area where there was no existing sanitary 
service. A short-term pump station provides service to the new Sherwood High School but long-term 
the school must be converted over to this new sewer extension.

Stormwater  
Existing Conditions 
The existing Stormwater Master Plan was completed in 2016 and considers all areas within the city 
limits and the UGB, but not Sherwood West. Sherwood West lies primarily within the Chicken Creek 
Drainage Basin. The basin flows north and northeast along Chicken Creek. Cedar Creek flows into 
Chicken Creek at the northeast corner of Sherwood West near SW Roy Rogers Road. West Fork Chicken 
Creek enters the Sherwood West area at the northwest boundary and flows east into Chicken Creek. 
A small portion of the Sherwood West area in the southeastern corner is part of the Cedar Creek 
Drainage Basin. On-site runoff enters Goose Creek, which flows from west to east, crosses under Hwy 
99W, and reaches Cedar Creek.

The Stormwater Master Plan notes that Chicken and Cedar Creeks have been identified by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as providing habitat for anadromous fish that are listed as 
threatened under the Federal Endangered Species Act. The area in the vicinity of Chicken and Cedar 
Creeks and their tributaries have been designated by Metro as riparian corridors, upland wildlife 
habitat, and aquatic impact areas. Some areas within the riparian corridors are also shown on the 
National Wetland Inventory Opportunities and Constraints. Beyond the natural streams, channels 
and roadside ditches, there is no developed stormwater infrastructure within the Sherwood West 
area except for the Sherwood High School site and the surrounding public roads that drain southeast 
through a large stormwater management pond and into a storm culvert under the highway and the 
east through the Woodhaven greenway over to Cedar Creek.

As development occurs in the future, stormwater would likely be discharged into the floodplains of the 
adjacent creeks and tributaries flowing to the north and south of the high school site that drains the 
middle part of the study area. The City of Sherwood requires that all stormwater facilities meet the 
requirements of Clean Water Services Design and Construction Standards for conveyance, water quality 
treatment, hydromodification, and water quantity treatment. The City has indicated that they prefer 
to use regional stormwater facilities where possible within Sherwood West, similar to the vegetated 
stormwater ponds near the roundabout, with Low Impact Development Approaches (LIDA), proprietary 
treatment, and underground storage preferred only private property only.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 36 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    31 DRAFT JUNE 2023

LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 37 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    32 DRAFT JULY 2023

Developing Alternatives
The project team developed three Concept Plan alternatives through an iterative process that involved 
close collaboration with the Community Advisory Committee. The alternatives were intended to 
explore and compare a variety of ideas and to solicit preferences for plan elements that would be 
advanced and combined into a single preferred alternative. 

The process of developing alternatives started with a series of baseline assumptions, based on 
consideration of existing conditions, ideas carried forward from the Preliminary Concept Plan, the 
vision statement and project goals, and recent regulatory changes (e.g., middle housing requirements 
under Oregon House Bill 2001). The team also developed a series Plan Concepts that addressed key 
topics for the Concept Plan—transportation, employment, open space, housing, etc. These concepts 
then fed into the assumptions and alternatives (see Appendix I. Plan Concepts). 

Themes and Assumptions
Several baseline assumptions and key themes factored into the three alternatives:

• Employment Focus – Mixed Employment uses, defined as a mix of office, light industrial, 
and flex space uses in the same development or area, emerged as a key driver of the land 
use alternatives. This focus was informed by the City Council prioritizing job creation and 
opportunities identified in the Economic Opportunities and Challenges memo (Appendix G). 
However, the amount of mixed employment land, as well as other commercial and employment 
lands, was not a constant between alternatives. 

• Community and Neighborhood Parks – The alternatives targeted 10-20 acres for one or more 
community parks in Sherwood West. In addition, neighborhood parks (average 2 acres) would be 
distributed throughout the neighborhoods. The location of parks varied across alternatives.

• Open Space – In every alternative, nearly 500 acres – approximately 40% of Sherwood West – 
would be reserved as open space, either in the form of natural resource lands, tree groves, parks, 
or open space set aside as part of development. 

• Schools – An estimated 35-40 acres would be needed for future schools in Sherwood West – 
25-30 acres for a middle school and 10 acres for an elementary school. While these land needs 
were factored into the alternatives, the City of Sherwood and the school district cannot identify 
specific locations for schools at this point.

• Transportation Network – Feedback received from the advisory committees and the online open 
house showed a clear preference for the Elwert-Edy realignment concept, which was studied in 
the Preliminary Plan (and described in Section VI, below). This alignment, as well as a general 
framework of local streets, was kept constant across the three alternatives. 

• Custom Land Use Designations for Middle Housing – The State’s middle housing requirements 
were a key consideration for developing land use concepts for Sherwood West. State law requires 
that Sherwood allow development of duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, cottage clusters, and 
townhouses in residential areas zoned for detached single-family homes. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 38 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    33 DRAFT JULY 2023

The CAC was interested in developing custom land use designations for the middle housing types that 
are most favored by the Sherwood community: duplexes, townhomes, and cottage clusters. Custom 
designations would provide areas for these middle housing types only, and would not allow single-
family detached dwellings, which would give the City more flexibility to customize their design and 
development standards.  See below for a description of the land use designations.

Land Use Designations for the Concept Plan
The following land use designations are included in the three alternatives maps (Figure 6). Note that, 
with the exception of Middle Housing and Cottage Cluster, the residential land use designations are 
based on the City’s existing residential zones and associated densities.

Table 2. Concept Plan Land Use Designations

DESIGNATION PURPOSE AND ATTRIBUTES
RESIDENTIAL

Multifamily • Purpose: To provide intentional locations for apartments and condominiums in Sherwood 
West.

• Housing Types: Apartments, condominiums, townhomes, triplexes, and quadplexes would 
be permitted in this designation.

• Density: 16.8-24 dwelling units/acre (based on High Density Residential [HDR] zone).
Middle Housing • Purpose: To provide intentional locations for specific middle housing choices of duplexes, 

townhomes, and cottage clusters. These middle housing types are most favored by the 
CAC and Sherwood community, and would provide different housing choices—including 
options for more affordable homeownership as compared to single detached dwellings.

• Housing Types: Duplexes, townhomes, and cottage clusters would be permitted in this 
designation.

• Density: 5.5-11 dwelling units/acre 
Cottage Cluster • Purpose: To provide intentional locations for cottage cluster housing.

• Housing Types: This designation would only allow cottage cluster housing. Cottage clusters 
are groupings of relatively small homes clustered around a shared courtyard or open 
space. Their smaller footprints and shared amenities can make cottage cluster housing 
appealing to many seniors, small households, and first-time homebuyers.

• Density: 12.8-16 dwelling units/acre
Neighborhood 
Designations

• Purpose: To provide land for a range of single and middle housing types, ensuring open 
space with each project.

• Housing Types: These are the designations for single detached homes; by law, the full 
range of middle housing (duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage 
clusters) must also be allowed (with design standards). 

• Densities: See below. (Note that state law limits how cities can regulate density for middle 
housing.)

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 39 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    34 DRAFT JULY 2023

DESIGNATION PURPOSE AND ATTRIBUTES
• Medium-

High Density 
Neighborhood

• 5.5-11 units/acre – This designation would likely be applied in flatter areas with larger 
sites where there would be more flexibility for creation of smaller lots. (Based on 
Medium Density Residential High [MDRH] zone.)

• Medium Density 
Neighborhood

• 5.6-8 units/acre – This designation is also likely to be applied in flatter areas with larger 
sites. (Based on Medium Density Residential [MDRL] zone.)

• Low Density 
Neighborhood

• 3.5-5 units/acre – This designation would likely be applied in hillside and hilltop areas, 
and in parcelized areas with existing homes, where lots would be larger and densities 
would be lower. This would better accommodate topography, utility access, partial 
development, and other features, which would typically require larger lots. (Based on 
Low Density Residential [LDR] zone.)

EMPLOYMENT, COMMERCIAL, AND MIXED USE
Mixed Employment Provide land that supports living-wage employment opportunities for Sherwood residents. 

Mixed Employment includes a mix of office, tech, healthcare, light industrial, warehouse, and 
limited retail uses. This type of development typically requires large sites (at least 40-50 acres), 
flat topography, and good access to transportation.

Commercial Provide opportunities for commercial businesses, including retail, dining, services, offices, and 
civic uses. These areas should have good visibility and access to transportation.

Mixed Use Provide opportunities for a mix of housing and commercial businesses. Residential and 
commercial uses could be in the same building (vertical mixed use) or on the same site 
(horizontal mixed use).

Hospitality This is a new concept for Sherwood, which emerged from discussions with the CAC. This zone 
would provide intentional locations for uses such as hotels/motels, restaurants, wineries, 
and similar uses that could capitalize on Sherwood West’s location as the “entrance to wine 
country.” These uses typically rely on strong visibility to the public—e.g., from Highway 99W.

PARKS
Community Parks Community parks are large parks (10 to 20 acres) that are intended to serve the broader 

community, and which may include amenities such as sports fields, picnic areas, pathways, and 
playgrounds. Community parks need relatively flat acreages and good transportation access for 
all modes of travel. The land use alternatives maps identify one or two locations for community 
parks.

Neighborhood Parks Neighborhood parks are smaller (2 to 5 acres) and provide recreation opportunities for nearby 
residents, who typically live within walking and bicycling distance. The maps identify very 
conceptual locations for neighborhood parks, spread among the various residential areas.

Process 
To create the three alternatives, the project team led the CAC through a hands-on exercise in which 
small groups developed the maps interactively. Each small group was given a base map and a set of 
land use “chips” that represented all the land uses listed in Table 2. The groups were then asked to 
place the chips on the map using their best judgment as to the appropriate location and overall layout 
of the land uses. Table facilitators helped organize the exercise and suggested parameters for placing 
the chips (e.g., certain uses, such as employment and schools, should not be placed on steeply sloped 
land).

The results of the chip exercise were then digitized and refined by the project team, with additional 
input from the CAC.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 40 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    35 DRAFT JULY 2023

Land Use Alternatives
The three land use alternatives in Figure 6 share several common themes:

• Focus on mixed employment in the northern, flat area
• Community park on the south side of the Chicken Creek corridor
• Commercial/mixed use and higher-density housing along Kruger Road
• Mix of housing types throughout
• Low density residential along western hilltop

Figure 6. Land Use Alternatives Maps

Alternative 1
• Largest amount of Neighborhood 

residential
• Moderate Mixed Employment land
• Community park northeast of Edy-

Elwert intersection
• Hospitality on western end of 

Chapman Road

Alternative 2
• Most multi-family
• Least Mixed Employment land 

Community park west of Goose 
Creek

• Largest hospitality area, whole 
southern portion of study area 

Alternative 3
• Mixed use residential focus west of 

high school
• Most Mixed Employment land
• Community park northwest of 

where Chicken Creek crosses 
Elwert Road

• Smallest hospitality area, at Kruger 
and Highway 99W

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 41 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    36 DRAFT JULY 2023

Alternatives Evaluation
The three alternatives were evaluated through a community open house and survey and through 
application of the evaluation criteria (Section III). The project team also confirmed employment 
concepts through additional stakeholder engagement, and evaluated transportation alternatives 
through a Traffic Impact Analysis. The outcomes of each of these steps are briefly summarized below. 
Refer to the Appendices for full summaries. 

Community Feedback

The Sherwood community had the opportunity 
to weigh in on the three land use alternatives, 
transportation concepts, and other plan concepts at 
an in-person open house and accompanying online 
survey in Fall 2022. 
For the purpose of assessing the alternatives, the 
maps were broken up into the four distinct districts 
identified in the Preliminary Plan: North, Far West, 
West, and Southwest. Participants were asked to 
rank the alternatives in order of preference. Overall, 
participants favored Alternative 1 for the North and 
Far West districts, and Alternative 2 for the West 
and Southwest districts. See Appendix E for a full 
summary of survey/open house results.

Qualitative Evaluation
The project team also evaluated the three land use 
alternatives using the qualitative evaluation criteria 
identified earlier in the concept planning process. 
Table 3 summarizes the extent to which each 
alternative meets each criterion. See Appendix I for 
the full evaluation memo.

Generally speaking, all three alternatives are 
supportive of the project goals. None of the 
alternatives were given a score of “does not support 
project objectives” for any of the criteria. However,  
Alternative 1 rated the highest, with Alternatives 2  
and 3 close behind, as shown in Table 3.

Figure 7. Sherwood West Subdistricts

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 42 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    37 DRAFT JULY 2023

Table 3. Alternatives Evaluation Summary

GOAL ALTERNATIVE 1 ALTERNATIVE 2 ALTERNATIVE 3
1. The area is designed as a natural extension of Sherwood and 

is integrated into the existing pattern of growth in order to 
preserve the community’s heritage and small-town feel. 

2. The area attracts a variety of businesses and employment 
opportunities, which help satisfy the City’s need for an 
expanded tax base.

3. Transportation facilities serve to connect, rather than divide, 
neighborhoods.

4. Residents have access to a variety of parks and natural 
areas, anchored by the Chicken Creek Greenway.

5. The area is served by a robust network of active 
transportation options that are integrated into Sherwood’s 
existing network.

6. Growth and development are well-planned and 
implementation of the area is pragmatic.

Supports Objectives Partially Supports Does Not Support

Developer Feedback
In Fall 2022, the City of Sherwood hosted a driving tour and discussion of the Sherwood West Concept 
Plan area with stakeholders from the development and brokerage community. The purpose was to 
gather insights about the draft plan concepts from development practitioners and to provide advice 
for future implementation. Some key takeaways from these discussions are provided below. A full 
summary of developer feedback, including recommendations for infrastructure and funding needs is 
included in Appendix J. 

Industrial/Employment Opportunities
• Industrial development at the north end of Sherwood West could be developed as soon as the 

land is brought into the UGB and utilities are available. The region is virtually out of industrial 
land today.

• Likely industrial uses would be multi-tenant buildings in the 50,000-70,000 square foot range.
• Sherwood’s Employment Industrial (EI) zone is an appropriate one for Sherwood West. It is 

flexible and does not restrict by tenant use unlike some zones in neighboring cities. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 43 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    38 DRAFT JULY 2023

Other Commercial Uses
• Office development is unlikely in Sherwood West.
• Some support retail would make sense near the industrial uses, but zoning should remain 

flexible.
• Sloped sites or sites at a higher grade than the adjacent street lend themselves better to housing 

than retail uses.

Hospitality
• The hospitality designation needs a destination use to make it viable if the area is not visible from 

or directly located on Highway 99W.
• A wine-themed destination would best be built off of an existing working winery, although offsite 

tasting rooms are becoming popular.
The development and brokerage participants also provided feedback on necessary conditions for 
development to occur in Sherwood West, including needed utilities and funding. These elements are 
discussed in more detail under Implementation (Section VII). 

Traffic Analysis
A traffic analysis evaluated the potential 
transportation impacts of the three land use 
alternatives and examined potential transportation 
network upgrades for the Concept Plan area. Below 
is a summary of the findings and recommendations. 
See Appendix L for the full Traffic Impact Analysis 
memo.

Findings
• Total Trips – All three land use alternatives 

have a comparable number of total proposed 
housing units, total jobs, and total vehicle 
trips. Overall estimated vehicle trips are 
also similar to the number estimated by 
Washington County as part of the Urban 
Reserve Transportation Study (URTS) for this 
area.

• Travel Patterns – Variations in land use and 
layout in the three alternatives would be 
expected to have a minimal impact on overall 
travel patterns, based on an examination of 
the origin and destination of trips.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 44 of 80



LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    39 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Traffic Operations – Initial findings indicate that Sherwood West growth will be served 
adequately with the planned street network, including planned street upgrades, as described 
in the Concept Plan. Further study is recommended to develop a more comprehensive list of 
improvements and associated cost estimates as this area is made ready for urban development.  

Recommendations
• Advance the Elwert Road re-alignment concept with the Sherwood West Concept Plan; conduct 

further study to determine the best alignment and intersection configurations. 
• Adopt design themes for the Elwert Road corridor consistent with the City’s vision, as 

represented by the Sunset Boulevard corridor.
• Upgrade Elwert Road to a 3-lane cross-section with bike lanes and sidewalks as development 

occurs.
• Upgrade the Elwert at Lebeau/Scholls-Sherwood intersection to adequately support traffic 

growth through to the 2040 horizon year. The intersection with Elwert Road will require 
additional study, reconfiguration, and eventual signalization or roundabout improvement as 
development occurs. 

• Make multimodal safety improvements to the Elwert-Edy intersection consistent with the 
Concept Plan. Other intersections should also be reviewed for possible multimodal safety 
upgrades as development occurs nearby, including the Elwert-Handley intersection, and the 
Elwert-Haide intersection.

• Upgrade Edy Road east of Elwert/Chicken Creek 3-lane collector with bike lanes and sidewalks, 
consistent with the Sherwood TSP. Keep Edy Road west of Chicken Creek as a two-lane collector 
road.

Preferred Alternative
The preferred alternative for the Sherwood West Concept Plan is described in the next section. The 
preferred land use map was developed by taking the most supported ideas from the three land use 
alternatives reviewed at the community open house and online survey. By comparing the districts 
(North, Far West, West, and Southwest) across alternatives, the best ideas from each could be 
incorporated into the final map. The CAC considered the community’s input and provided direction as 
to which alternative they preferred for each district. The preferred layout of the North and Far West 
districts is based primarily on Alternative 1, while the West and Southwest districts are based primarily 
on Alternative 2. The CAC and project team also suggested modifications and refinements to the land 
uses in a few areas, for consistency with earlier plan concepts. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 45 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    40 DRAFT JUNE 2023

CONCEPT PLAN

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 46 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    41 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 8. Composite Concept Plan Map
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 47 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    42 DRAFT JULY 2023

Overview
The map in Figure 8 illustrates the recommended land uses, street network, parks, and trails for the 
Sherwood West area. The map shows how all these components come together to form complete 
and connected neighborhoods in Sherwood West. The accompanying descriptions related to land use, 
transportation, green space, and utilities further explain how these elements are integrated into the 
Concept Plan.

Land Use Plan
Figure 13 depicts the preferred land use designations 
for Sherwood West, as well as key themes within each 
district – North, Far West, West, and Southwest. In 
Sherwood West, each of the four distinct subdistricts 
has unique qualities, shaped by the area’s creeks, hills, 
valleys, and major roads. The land use plan for each 
district is described below. 

North District
The North district is the employment center for 
Sherwood West. Located south of Scholls-Sherwood 
Road and north of Chicken Creek, this area features 
mostly flat terrain to the northeast, many large 
parcels, and good transportation access to SW 
Roy Rogers Road—all favorable qualities for Mixed 
Employment uses. 

The plan for this area also features a mix of housing 
types clustered near Elwert Road, just north of 
Chicken Creek. A community park of roughly 13 acres 
(net) takes advantage of access from Elwert and 
adjacency to a Chicken Creek tributary. 

Far West District
Located northwest of Chicken Creek with access to 
Sherwood via Edy Road, this area features mostly 
sloping terrain and has many existing parcels and rural 
residential homes. The plan for the Far West district 
includes low-density housing with a pocket of cottage 
cluster and medium-density residential near Edy Road 
and Chicken Creek. 

Figure 9. North District

Figure 10. Far West District

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 48 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    43 DRAFT JULY 2023

West District
Located in the middle of the planning area, directly 
west of Elwert Road, north of Kruger Road, and 
south of Chicken Creek, this area surrounds the new 
Sherwood High School and has relatively good access 
to existing infrastructure as compared to the other 
districts. The terrain features steeper slopes and 
higher elevations to the west.

The plan for the West district includes a mix of 
housing types west of the high school. Mixed use 
residential, cottage cluster, and middle housing are 
focused along Kruger Road. Medium-density and 
cottage cluster housing provide frontage along Elwert 
Road. The hilltop area to the west is designated for 
low-density residential.

A second, approximately 8-acre (net) community park 
is nestled into the Chicken Creek greenway. This area 
is relatively flat, with access to the future greenway 
trails, natural areas, and street access from the south. 

Southwest District
The Southwest district is located west of Highway 
99W, between Kruger Road and Chapman Road. The 
terrain features steeper slopes and higher elevations 
to the west, but mostly flat land along Kruger Road.

The plan focuses mixed use development at the 
Kruger-99W intersection, with higher-density housing 
along Kruger Road. The southern end of the district 
is focused on being the “Gateway to Wine Country.” 
Sherwood has an opportunity to capitalize on visitors 
entering or leaving wine country on Highway 99W. 
Uses in this area can focus on the growing wine and 
specialty agriculture tourism industry and provide 
lodging, tasting rooms, restaurants, and small retail 
shops. Another hospitality node is also located at the 
west end of Kruger Road, where the current property 
owner has plans for a wine-related business. 

A small commercial node along Highway 99W, a 
variety of housing, and a low-density area on the 
hilltop round out the remainder of the Southwest district.

Figure 11. West District

Figure 12. North District

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 49 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    44 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 13. Land Use Plan Map
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 50 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    45 DRAFT JULY 2023

Housing 
Planning for a variety of housing options that will meet the needs of a wide range of Sherwood West 
residents was a key objective of the concept planning process. Providing housing opportunities for first-
time home buyers, seniors who may prefer to age in place or downsize their housing, and moderate-
income households will require a wider range of housing types than has typically been provided in 
Sherwood. Examples of housing types that have designated places in Sherwood West include: single 
detached homes on smaller lots, cottage clusters, townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, garden 
apartments, and mid-rise apartments. These types will be in addition to the standard single detached 
housing that has typified Sherwood’s development so far.

Residential Design Standards
Design standards will shape the look and feel of housing in Sherwood West. The City adopted new 
Residential Design Standards in 2021 to ensure middle housing (plexes, townhomes, etc.) and single-
family housing fits into the City’s desired neighborhood character. The standards focus on entry 
location and orientation, design of garages and off-street parking areas, window coverage, minimum 
landscaping required in all residential zones, and other specific design details. These new standards will 
apply in Sherwood West to ensure that all new housing maintains design features that are within the 
context, scale, and compatibility with the Sherwood community. Additional design standards could also 
be customized for the Sherwood West area (see Section VII. Implementation for further discussion).

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 51 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    46 DRAFT JULY 2023

Custom Zoning
As described in Section V. Land Use Alternatives, custom land use designations were developed to 
plan for the middle housing types that are most favored for future development in Sherwood West: 
duplexes, townhomes, and cottage clusters. Sherwood West’s custom designations for Cottage Cluster 
housing and Middle Housing would not allow single-family detached development. This will not only 
help ensure middle housing is built in Sherwood West, but it will also give the City more flexibility to 
customize the design and development standards that apply in these zones.

Housing Metrics
Based on the Land Use Map depicted in Figure 13, the total estimated amount of future housing in 
Sherwood West could range from roughly 3,120 units up to 5,580 units, depending on how much 
middle housing is developed in the Neighborhood zones (see Table 4). The low end of the range 
represents no middle housing being developed in the Low-Density, Medium-Density, and Medium-High 
Density Neighborhood zones; the high end represents 50% of these areas being developed as middle 
housing at maximum allowable densities.

While middle housing will be permitted in the Neighborhood zones (as required by state law), it is 
unknown how much will actually be developed. Currently there is still a strong market for single-
family detached housing in the region. Based on current development trends and consultation with 
developers in the region and housing economists, a realistic estimate is that somewhere in the range of 
5-10% of single-family areas will be developed with middle housing. Because of the number of variables 
that can impact the actual percentage built, it was important to test a range of potential outcomes. 
Table 4 calculates total units based on a range of middle housing scenarios in the Neighborhood zones: 
0%, 10%, 20%, and 50%. 

This results in an estimated overall residential density of 9.2 to 10.6 units per acre (or up to 16.4 in the 
less likely 50% middle housing scenario). Average density is slightly lower factoring in the 15% open 
space that is required by the Sherwood Community Development Code. 

See Appendix M. Housing Memo for additional information about the Concept Plan’s consistency with 
state and regional requirements for housing.

Table 4. Sherwood West Housing Estimates

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 52 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    47 DRAFT JULY 2023

Employment
Sherwood wants and needs more jobs. Expanding existing businesses and attracting new employment 
to Sherwood—particularly the right kind of jobs in the right places—will provide opportunities for 
industrial and commercial development with higher wage jobs, help diversify and balance the City’s tax 
base, and build a self-sustaining and vibrant local economy. 

Key employment concepts for Sherwood West are described below. 

Mixed Employment
Mixed Employment, which involves a mix of office, light industrial, and flex space uses within the same 
development or area of the city, emerged as an important theme of the Concept Plan. The economic 
opportunities study (Appendix G) identified mixed employment as a key economic development and 
job creation opportunity for Sherwood West. The land use plan locates Mixed Employment areas in 
the North district based on favorable characteristics for siting this type of use: large sites (at least 40-
50 acres), flat topography (less than 3-5% slopes), larger ownerships, and easy access to major freight 
routes. 

Hospitality
The proposed hospitality-focused 
land use designation is intended to 
accommodate uses such as lodging, 
wine tasting rooms, restaurants, 
and small retail shops—which 
typically rely on strong visibility to 
the public, e.g., from Highway 99W. 
This informed the placement of the 
hospitality designation at Highway 
99W and Kruger Road—visible from 
the highway and closest to the 
vineyard areas to the southwest of 
Sherwood.

Section VII, Implementation 
includes potential approaches 
to implementing a hospitality 
designation, including a new base 
zone and an overlay zone. 

Precedent Example: The Allison Inn & Spa
A luxury hotel in Oregon’s wine country, The Allison 
Inn & Spa in Newberg, Oregon is an example of a 
type of destination resort that could distinguish 
Sherwood's own "Gateway to Wine Country.”

Image Source: The Allison

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 53 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    48 DRAFT JULY 2023

Employment Metrics
Table 5 presents estimated employment potential for Sherwood West, based on the Land Use Map 
depicted in Figure 13. Based on these estimates, the total employment potential in Sherwood West is 
roughly 4,500 jobs.

Table 5. Sherwood West Employment Estimates

Jobs-to-Housing Ratio
Sherwood’s current jobs-to-housing ratio is 0.9, meaning that for every 10 households in the city, 
there are 9 jobs.  The potential jobs-to-housing ratio for Sherwood West is calculated by comparing 
the total housing and employment estimates (see Table 6). The estimated ratio ranges from 0.8 
to 1.5, depending on how much additional housing results from middle housing being built in the 
Neighborhood zones. A reasonable “most likely” scenario is 1.3 jobs for each unit of housing.  

Table 6. Sherwood West Jobs-to-Housing Ratio

According to 2019 Census data, approximately 92% of local Sherwood residents work outside of the 
community.  This suggests that some residents are seeking employment outside Sherwood because the 
jobs available within the city do not match their needs. Adding more employment land in Sherwood 
West is intended to help balance the jobs-housing ratio in the city, help balance the types of jobs in the 
community, and allow more residents to live and work in Sherwood.

The jobs-per-acre estimates for each land use type are rough estimates gleaned from the Metro 2014 Urban Growth 
Report  and from the scenario planning software Urban Footprint. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 54 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    49 DRAFT JULY 2023

Community Services 
Schools
Given the opportunities for new 
households, as Sherwood West is built 
out there will be demand for additional 
school facilities. While potential 
locations for school sites were part of 
the discussion, the CAC recommended 
that specific school locations not be 
included in the updated Concept Plan. 
As conveyed by the School District 
representative, schools will be built 
in later development phases, and the 
District does not typically reserve land 
many years in advance of development. 

The Land Use Map (Figure 13) indicates 
the general land need for an elementary school and middle school and these school acreages also are 
factored into the housing and employment metrics in Table 4 and Table 5. Locating schools in Sherwood 
West will require trade-offs with less land available for other uses—this should be a consideration for 
future school siting. Pursuant to the City’s development code, schools are a Conditional Use within 
residential-zoned areas. School placement could also factor into infrastructure phasing and future 
transportation planning. 

Other Services
Sherwood West will need other community services and facilities in addition to schools. Existing 
services may need to expand, such as those provided by the City of Sherwood, Tualatin Valley Fire & 
Rescue, and Portland General Electric (PGE). PGE anticipates that a new substation in Sherwood West 
will be needed north of Edy Road to serve this area. Other facilities that may need to improve and 
expand to serve growing community needs include the Sherwood Library and the Field House. The 
Land Use Map (Figure 13) indicates the general estimated land need for future civic uses (roughly 2-5 
acres). The City of Sherwood will continue working with local service providers to ensure community 
services are being met through planned and orderly development. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 55 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    50 DRAFT JULY 2023

Transportation Plan

Streets
As the City of Sherwood grows, a well-designed 
and connected network of streets, paths, and 
trails in Sherwood West should focus on safety, 
knitting the existing and new growth together, 
creating livable and walkable neighborhoods, 
and mitigating impacts of regional through-
traffic.

Figure 14 shows a conceptual framework of 
livable and connected streets for Sherwood 
West. Locations and alignments of proposed 
new streets (dashed gray lines) are conceptual 
and approximate. Additional local streets 
will be built between the framework streets, 
depending on land uses.

Key features of the streets framework include: 

• North of Chicken Creek, the street framework is designed to serve Mixed Employment land uses. 
There are continuous parallel routes to SW Elwert Road so that local trips can move freely and 
turning movements Elwert are minimized. 

• The Elwert-Edy Road intersection is realigned as described below (and in the Preliminary Concept 
Plan). 

• A neighborhood street connects from SW Handley to SW Haide and south to SW Chapman Road. 
This street connects multiple neighborhoods and the central and southern employment areas. 

• A north-south hilltop route provides additional north-south access and a second continuous 
north-south route for emergency access and other services.

Transportation 
Principles for Sherwood West:

• Design for safety

• Integrate with existing Sherwood

• Connect all areas of Sherwood West

• Streets are places for people of all 
ages and abilities

• Provide for all modes of travel

SW Sunset Blvd

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 56 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    51 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 14. Conceptual Street Framework for Sherwood West
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 57 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    52 DRAFT JULY 2023

Elwert Road

Design Concept

SW Elwert Road is a key north-south arterial street, and an important opportunity for providing access 
and defining urban design in Sherwood West. Design concepts for the roadway are aimed at making 
Elwert a livable and positive addition to the growth of Sherwood West and the adjacent neighborhoods 
on its east side. The concept is to create a safe, connected, and attractive boulevard with buffered 
sidewalks, safe crossings, bike lanes, a planted median with canopy trees, and path connections to key 
sites and destinations. 

Design Ideas: Learning from SW Sunset Boulevard

Elwert Road connects to SW Sunset Boulevard at its southern end. The City can incorporate ideas from 
Sunset Boulevard into the design of Elwert Road. Desired roadway elements exemplified by Sunset 
Boulevard are illustrated at right. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 58 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    53 DRAFT JULY 2023

Design Ideas: A Distinctive, Context-Sensitive Elwert Road

The design of Elwert Road should respond to the varied landscape and land use contexts along 
its length. Ideas for potential design strategies are specific to the identified land uses along the 
roadway. Elwert is currently a County roadway and future design details will require further study and 
collaboration with Washington County. 

Figure 15. Contextual Design Concepts for Elwert Road 

Chicken C
reek

Goose Creek

Cedar Cr eek

West Fork Chicken Creek

SW CHAPMAN RD SW BROOKMAN RD

SW KRUGER RD

SW EDY RD

RO
Y 

RO
G

ER
SS

 R
D

SW
 ELW

ERT RD

SW
 E

AS
TV

IE
W

 R
D

SW LEBEAU RD

SW HANDLEY RD

SW HAIDE RD

SW SUNSET BLVD

SW SCHOLLS-SHERWOOD RD

99W

99W

99W

BPA TRANSMISSION LINE

Downtown
Sherwood

Sherwood
High

School

Tualatin River
National Wildlife

Refuge

0 0.50.25

Miles

Pedestrian 
Overcrossing

Employment Area Parkway

Residential Boulevard

Residential Boulevard

High School Edge/Gateway

Green Crossings

• Distinct street tree character
• Sherwood ‘visual corridor’ design
• Fewer curb cuts, continuous white fence
• Truck-turning considerations
• Large parcels with space for pathways linked 

to trails

• Consistent street tree canopy, median
• Consistent white fence
• Safe crosswalks
• Protected bike lanes 
• Access paths to residential areas 
• Adjacent homes with side ‘frontage’ 

• Street tree choices informed by natural area 
proximity

• Narrower ROW to reduce footprint in 
ecologically-sensitive areas

• Trails and wildlife passage underneath
• Bridges as public view points, with art, 

educational signage

See above, and...
• Between Haide and Handley, consider 

existing neighborhoods to east in design and 
ROW availability

• Continue multi-use path from High School
• Consider matching white fence on Sunset

• Recently-rebuilt
• Generous multi-use path on west edge 

should extend north
• Pedestrian overcrossing

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 59 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    54 DRAFT JULY 2023

Potential Elwert Realignment

The Concept Plan Re-Look project examined two options 
for the intersection of SW Elwert Road and SW Edy Road, 
which are described in detail in the Preliminary Concept 
Plan. In either case, Elwert Road will need to be upgraded 
to current standards when development occurs in 
Sherwood West.

Realignment (Figure 16)

This option would realign Elwert and Edy Roads and add 
two new intersections on either side of Chicken Creek. As 
described in the Preliminary Concept Plan, this option has 
several advantages:

• Crosses two Chicken Creek tributary streams at the 
narrowest points, thereby reducing or eliminate 
wetland mitigation issues.

• Eliminates the excessive fills within the Elwert-Edy 
intersection and follows the existing terrain.

• Likely discourages freight traffic usage of the road 
and enhances safety by reducing speeds while still 
allowing significant local residential and commuter 
traffic flow.

• Allows the existing Elwert-Edy alignments and 
intersection to remain in use until construction of 
the realigned roadway is nearly complete.

This option would require construction of structural 
bridging and acquisition of right-of-way to accommodate 
the realignment of SW Elwert Road.

Existing Alignment (Figure 17)

This option retains the current location of the Edy-
Elwert intersection, which would require correcting the 
intersection’s vertical alignment to meet safety standards. 
This means raising the road elevation approximately 
10-20 feet to flatten the rolling topography for safer 
stopping sight distances at intersections. In contrast 
to the realignment approach, this option has a few 
disadvantages:

Figure 16. Realignment Option

Figure 17. Existing Alignment Option

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 60 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    55 DRAFT JULY 2023

• By raising the road along this length, there would be impacts to the existing right-of-way and 
adjacent wetlands due to the need for additional fill. 

• An estimated 20 to 40 feet of additional right-of-way would be required to account for fill slope.
• The additional environmental impacts would require extensive wetlands mitigation. 
• Local and commuter traffic would be heavily impacted during construction. 

Because of these reasons, the CAC and project team recommend the realignment approach. However, 
further analysis, including more in-depth environmental, engineering, and cost analysis, will be 
necessary before the decision about Elwert Road’s alignment is finalized. 

Transportation Improvements Under Study

Pedestrian Overcrossing

A new Highway 99W pedestrian overcrossing is planned in the vicinity of Sherwood High School and is 
currently being designed (as of spring 2023). The new overcrossing will address the major barrier that 
the highway presents for pedestrians today. It would also help connect the high school, the YMCA, and 
the greater Sherwood West area with existing trails and destinations on the east side of the highway. 
The preferred alignment for the overcrossing is illustrated in Figure 18.

Figure 18. Pedestrian Overcrossing Alignment

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 61 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    56 DRAFT JULY 2023

Connection to Brookman Area

The City of Sherwood has been 
studying several alternatives for 
improving connectivity between 
the Brookman Area and Sherwood 
West. Sherwood City Council recently 
endorsed the alternative that would 
locate a new grade-separated crossing 
of Highway 99W to the north of SW 
Chapman Road (see Figure 19).  The 
crossing would serve local access (no 
interchanges from Highway 99W), and 
would connect to Old Highway 99W 
to the east and to the western side of 
Sherwood West via new local streets. 

The connectivity alternative also 
includes intersection improvements 
(signal or roundabout) at the 
intersection of SW Brookman Road/
SW Chapman Road and Highway 99W, 
which would provide access to and from the highway.

Other Transportation Concepts for Future Study
The existing transportation system in Sherwood West is limited to very few routes, is characterized 
by rural road conditions, and has almost no pedestrian and bicycle facilities. A key challenge to future 
development in the area is the current reliance on Oregon Highway 99W and SW Elwert Road for 
north-south travel, particularly for through-trips that do not have an origin or destination in Sherwood. 
Highway 99W is designed for this traffic; however, SW Elwert Road is not. Elwert’s future improvements 
should support Sherwood West as a livable, walkable part of Sherwood, not only as a conduit for 
through traffic.

The transportation network for Sherwood West will serve local travel, provide excellent walking and 
biking routes, and minimize trips through Sherwood’s neighborhoods. Toward this end, the strategies in 
the Concept Plan are to:

• Plan and develop a well-connected street network that connects existing and new 
neighborhoods;

• Plan and develop a robust, safe and inviting pedestrian and bike network – for all users;
• Implement the Chicken Creek Greenway with a regional trail that connects Sherwood West to the 

existing city and the Tualatin National Wildlife Refuge;

Figure 19. OR 99W/Brookman-Chapman Alternative 2

OR 99W Crossing

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 62 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    57 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Implement the Elwert Road Design Concept described and illustrated above, using Sunset 
Boulevard as inspiration;

• Build the Brookman separated-grade crossing;
• Build the Highway 99W pedestrian overpass; and
• Provide additional north-south connectivity that directs traffic away from neighborhoods rather 

than through them.

Streets For Further Study (North-South Connector & Elwert Realignment)
Figure 20 shows a conceptual street framework for further study. The diagram shows additional north-
south connectivity and the realignment of Elwert Road. The core idea of the north-south connectivity 
concept is to connect SW Chapman Road to the north end of Sherwood West, enhancing regional 
connectivity and providing an option away from neighborhoods. The route is conceptual and its specific 
alignment has not been identified. The City is aware of the challenges – topographic, environmental, 
conflicts with existing development – but seeks to continue to study this long range transportation 
corridor. The Elwert realignment concept is discussed on page 53.

Existing 
Network

Conceptual 
Future 
Network 
with Study 
Corridors

Figure 20. Conceptual Diagrams – Streets for Further Study

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 63 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    58 DRAFT JULY 2023

Active Transportation and Trails
Trails, cycling routes, transit, “micromobility,” and 
other ways of getting around without a car will be 
designed into Sherwood West. It is expected that 
active transportation options will connect between 
local parks, green spaces, schools, neighborhoods, 
and employment areas to encourage walking, 
rolling, and biking. This Concept Plan provides an 
opportunity to pre-plan key connections between 
new growth in Sherwood West and existing areas 
of Sherwood. There is also an opportunity through 
plan implementation to ensure future transit can be 
as successful as possible.

Sherwood West’s streets will be an important part of providing active transportation options, along 
with off-street trails and the location of parks, schools, and community gathering spaces. 

Trail Network
The maps in Figure 22 and Figure 24 illustrate a conceptual trail network for Sherwood West, ranging 
from larger regional trails to smaller community trails. Future trails in the Sherwood West area will 
prioritize connections to existing and planned trail networks. 

Chicken Creek will also form a key component of the future trail network. See the Green Space Network 
section, below, for a discussion of Chicken Creek Greenway concepts. 

Safe Routes to School
The Concept Plan illustrates the potential for 
a bicycle and pedestrian network that is safe, 
connected, and serves all ages and abilities. Key 
elements include: 

• Chicken Creek Regional Trail;
• Local trails serving every neighborhood and 

providing continuous routes throughout 
Sherwood West (north to south and east to 
west);

• Key connections to Sherwood at SW 
Edy Road, SW Chapman Road, and SW Elwert Road / SW Sunset Boulevard, with associated 
pedestrian and bicycle improvements;

• A pedestrian overcrossing of Highway 99W connecting to Sherwood High School; and
• Potential safe routes to Ridges Elementary School at SW Handley, SW Copper Terrace and via trail 

connections from SW Elwert and SW Edy. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 64 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    59 DRAFT JULY 2023

Future Transit, Micromobility, and the “First and Last Mile”
The Sherwood West lies directly adjacent 
to TriMet’s current service boundary but 
TriMet does not currently provide transit 
service to the area. The closest bus stops 
are about a mile away in Old Town, which 
is served by lines 93 and 94. The Concept 
Plan helps Sherwood West to be “transit-
ready” by planning land uses, key streets, 
and trails to accommodate and support 
future transit service. The diagram at right 
shows potential future transit routes in 
orange as conceptually noted in the TSP. 

In addition, the inclusion of 
“micromobility” services, like bike-
sharing and scooters, can help people 
to get around more easily without a car. 
Micromobility stations could be included 
at schools, employment and commercial 
areas, and near existing transit stops. 
Access to micromobility services can 
help people access transit and make the 
“first and last mile” of a trip and provides 
options for getting to and from school, 
work, and leisure activities.

Figure 21. Potential Future Transit Routes Connecting to Old 
Town (Source: Sherwood TSP)

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 65 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    60 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 22. Overall Transportation Framework for Sherwood West
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 66 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    61 DRAFT JULY 2023

Green Space Network
A vital component of Sherwood’s livability is its access to nature and open spaces. Sherwood’s 
landscape is defined by the creek corridors that flow through the city and drain to the Tualatin River 
at the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge. Parks and open space illustrated in the Concept Plan 
take advantage of the natural landscape in Sherwood West to enhance access to nature and outdoor 
recreation. Sherwood West’s green space network includes creek corridors and their habitat areas; 
trails and greenways; tree and tree canopy, as protected by Sherwood’s code; stormwater facilities; and 
neighborhood parks, community parks, and school fields.

Chicken Creek Greenway 
Chicken Creek forms a natural greenway through the area, flowing southwest to northeast and 
eventually draining into the Tualatin River. It is fed by several other waterways: Cedar Creek, Goose 
Creek, and West Fork Chicken Creek. The future Chicken Creek Greenway preserves and enhances these 
natural corridors by providing wildlife crossings, incorporating stormwater management practices, 
and providing access to nature through a network of connected walking trails. As conceptualized, the 
Chicken Creek Greenway will incorporate the creek corridor as well as the surrounding riparian and 
upland habitat areas (as shown in Figure 23). 

Figure 23. Elements of a Greenway

Creek Corridor Access to Nature

Neighborhood EdgeNature Trails

Multi-Use Paths

Stormwater ManagementWildlife Corridors

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 67 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    62 DRAFT JULY 2023

Neighborhood and Community Parks 

The map in Figure 24 identifies potential 
locations for future neighborhood and 
community parks. These spaces will ultimately be 
integrated into Sherwood West’s overall trail and 
open space network. 

Community Parks. Consistent with the Sherwood 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan, the Concept 
Plan locates two community parks with a 
minimum of 10 acres in Sherwood West. Specific 
future locations for community parks will depend 
on site suitability (e.g., topography, size, street 
access), phasing of development, and property 
acquisition opportunities. 

Neighborhood and Pocket Parks. The Concept Plan also identifies conceptual locations for smaller 
neighborhood parks. While the City may identify preferred locations and acquire land for neighborhood 
parks, typically greater than 1.5 acres, often these areas can be dedicated as a part of land 
development. In addition, pocket parks, typically smaller than 1.5 acres and maintained by Homeowner 
Associations, will be required as part of usable open space through the land development process. 

Natural Resources
Natural resource areas in Sherwood West will be preserved and integrated into the open space 
network. The Chicken Creek Greenway section, above, describes how creek corridors will form an 
essential component of the trail network and access to nature. In addition, regulations at the regional, 
state, and federal level require protection of wetlands, habitat areas, and other natural resources as 
part of future development. 

Once Sherwood West is brought into the UGB, 
the next steps for riparian and other habitat areas 
subject to Metro Title 13 and Statewide Planning 
Goal 5 will be to analyze specific resources; make 
determinations about their significance; conduct 
an Economic, Social, Environmental and Energy 
Consequences (ESEE) analysis; and adopt plans 
for resource protection through the Sherwood 
Comprehensive Plan and Development Code. 
The Concept Plan maps show mapped Title 13 
habitat areas; however, the extent of protected 
resources could change based on future analysis 
and planning.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 68 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    63 DRAFT JULY 2023

Figure 24. Sherwood West Trails and Open Space Network
Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 69 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    64 DRAFT JULY 2023

Utilities
In addition to transportation infrastructure, future development in Sherwood West will require 
provision of water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater utilities. This section briefly summarizes future 
planning, phasing, and future extension of utilities. Additional detail is provided in Appendix M, 
Infrastructure Costs, Planning, and Phasing Memo) and Appendix N, Preliminary Infrastructure Funding 
Strategy. 

Water
Existing water facilities in or near Sherwood West include a water reservoir, a supply line, and 
distribution lines. The Kruger Reservoir, which serves a portion of existing Sherwood, is located in 
Sherwood West, south of SW Kruger Road and approximately one-half mile west of Highway 99W. 
There is also an existing water main in SW Elwert Road between SW Kruger Road and SW Handley 
Street, and in the vicinity of Derby Terrace. This water main could be extended to serve Sherwood West 
development. 

Phasing: Development in Sherwood West’s 
West and Southwest districts can be served 
with water infrastructure in the near future. 
Water infrastructure will need to be extended 
east to west to serve the hillsides. The Far West 
district can be served after water infrastructure 
improvements, such as an additional pump 
station, are constructed. The North district 
will need further study and significant water 
infrastructure improvements to be served. The 
Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy 
(Appendix N) includes cost estimates for 
extending infrastructure to the North district; 
water and transportation projects have the 
highest projected costs for this district.

Sewer
Existing sanitary sewer facilities adjacent to or near Sherwood West are limited. To serve the area with 
sanitary sewer, a new pump station in the West district and a new sewer trunk line extension to the 
Sherwood High School from the Brookman Area are needed. 

Pump station
A sewer mainline was constructed in Copper Terrace as part of the Ridges Elementary School 
development. This mainline runs up Edy Road, down Copper Terrace, and ends at the north end of the 
school perimeter. To use this line, a new pump station is needed from the south to the crest of Handley 
Street. The line would need to cross private property or run to and down Edy Road to connect in. This 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 70 of 80



CONCEPT PLAN

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    65 DRAFT JULY 2023

line could serve the West, Far West and a portion of the North districts. An additional pump station and 
sanitary sewer planning are needed for the North district.

Trunk line extension
The Brookman sanitary trunk line extension will gravity flow across Highway 99W at the future 
Brookman Road intersection to a future gravity system that will serve a portion of the West and 
Southwest districts. The Brookman sanitary trunk line project ties into the existing Sherwood Trunk 
that runs north. A current CWS project is extending and constructing the Brookman trunk line to the 
boundary of the Brookman Addition and then north of Highway 99W to serve the new Sherwood High 
School. The extension project is anticipated to be completed in 2025.  

Phasing: The West and Southwest districts in Sherwood West can be served with sanitary sewer 
infrastructure in the short term. Sanitary sewer infrastructure would need to be extended into the 
hillside area of the West, Southwest, and Far West districts as those areas develop. The North district 
needs further study on how to best serve the area and if any significant infrastructure is necessary to 
serve sanitary sewers in this area.

Storm
Largely undeveloped today, Sherwood West 
has no existing stormwater infrastructure. As 
development occurs in the future, stormwater 
would likely be discharged onto the floodplain 
of the adjacent creeks and tributaries. All 
planned stormwater facilities must meet the 
requirements of Clean Water Services Design 
and Construction Standards for conveyance, 
water quality treatment, and water quantity 
treatment. Handling Sherwood West’s future 
needs through regional stormwater facilities 
within Sherwood West is the City's preferred 
approach.

Sherwood West also offers new opportunities 
to utilize low impact development approaches 
(LIDAs) such as rain gardens, vegetated swales, 
porous pavement, and other forms of green 
infrastructure. These types of facilities can 
provide visual amenities and habitat benefits in 
addition to managing stormwater and should 
be integrated into new transportation facilities, 
parks, and private development.

Phasing: All areas within Sherwood West can handle stormwater with required infrastructure 
improvements as development occurs. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 71 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    66 DRAFT JUNE 2023

IMPLEMENTATION

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 72 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    67 DRAFT JULY 2023

Once accepted by the Sherwood City Council, this Concept Plan will serve as a resource for future 
discussion about expanding the UGB and more detailed planning for growth and development in 
Sherwood West. The following strategies and considerations are suggested to implement the concepts 
laid out in this plan. 

UGB Expansion Request
City Council will decide whether to make a UGB expansion request in the next review cycle, and Metro 
will decide whether Sherwood West is an appropriate area for expansion. With local acceptance of the 
Sherwood West Concept Plan, the City will have the ability to request a UGB expansion to include all 
or part of Sherwood West in 2024. The Metro Council must review and report on the regional 20-year 
land supply UGB every six years and, if necessary, adjust the UGB to meet land needs for that 20-year 
period. Metro's next review of the land supply will occur in 2024. 

Possible timing for these decisions is included in the “Future Development Timeline” in Appendix A and 
the phasing strategy in Appendix O.

Infrastructure Funding Strategy
The City of Sherwood places a high priority on well-planned, efficient infrastructure to serve 
community goals. The Sherwood West Concept Plan’s Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy 
(Appendix N) is consistent with City priorities and implements Project Goal #6, which states “(g)rowth 
and development are well-planned and implementation of the area is pragmatic.” 

The Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy includes a high-level estimate of infrastructure 
costs, revenues, and potential tools for funding future development in Sherwood West. The strategy 
addresses water, sanitary sewer, storm water, transportation, and parks.

Key findings of the preliminary infrastructure funding strategy analysis include:

• Envisioned development includes employment uses in the North district and a mix of housing 
and employment uses along Highway 99W in the West and Southwest districts.

• Several infrastructure projects are catalytic to making development possible in these areas. For 
the North, West, and Southwest districts, transportation projects are projected as the highest-
cost, including the improvement of Elwert Road, Scholls-Sherwood Road in the North, and a 
new 2-lane collector in the West and Southwest districts. Additional catalytic projects include 
extending water and storm improvements along Elwert Road in the North and expanding water 
service in the West and Southwest districts.

• Preliminary analysis shows a revenue shortfall for water and storm and surplus for transportation, 
sewer, and parks when regional connection charge revenues to Clean Water Services and the 
Washington County Transportation Development Tax are included. NOTE: Cost and revenue 
estimates for this analysis are rough estimates and will be refined in subsequent planning phases.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 73 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    68 DRAFT JULY 2023

• Of all the potential funding strategies, a supplemental system development charge (SDC) would 
be easiest to implement to cover funding gaps, though the City should also aggressively seek 
outside funding from regional, state and federal programs to reduce the overall cost.

• Next steps involve continued refinement of projects and costs and financial modeling and 
discussions with developers on a potential supplemental fee.

Future Zoning And Regulations

Future Comprehensive Planning
The Sherwood West Concept Plan establishes the overall vision, goals, and framework plans for land 
use, transportation, parks, natural resources, and utility infrastructure. If Sherwood West is added to 
the UGB, the next phase is a more detailed comprehensive planning process. Outcomes of that process 
will include: 

• New or revised Comprehensive Plan policies that address issues in Sherwood West (if needed)
• Property-specific Comprehensive Plan and zone map designations (these could be existing Plan 

designations or new designations tailored to Sherwood West)
• Development Code regulations
• Specific locations for major road connections and updates to the Transportation System Plan 
• Detailed infrastructure plans
• Natural resource protection (see below)
• Other implementation strategies needed to set the stage for annexation and development

The comprehensive planning and zoning process is another opportunity for the City to reach out 
to affected property owners and the larger community to refine plans for Sherwood West. Robust 
community engagement will be an important component of developing detailed plans and regulations.

Natural Resource Protection
The Concept Plan identifies locations of Metro Title 13 / Statewide Goal 5 resources within Sherwood 
West. However, additional analysis and planning will be necessary to determine the level of 
significance of these resources and the extent to which they must be protected. As part of the future 
comprehensive planning process, the City will further analyze specific resources, make significance 
determinations; conduct an Economic, Social, Environmental and Energy Consequences (ESEE) analysis; 
and adopt plans for resource protection through updates to the Comprehensive Plan and Development 
Code.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 74 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    69 DRAFT JULY 2023

Future Development Code Regulations
Objectives
The regulatory implementation for the Sherwood West Concept Plan should: 

• Implement the Sherwood West vision and goals. 
• Create a system that can implement the vision over time, with incremental development. 

Because Sherwood West is highly parcelized, development is likely to happen incrementally, 
rather than large areas being developed all at once. 

• Design a zoning structure that will ideally work in the short- and long-term. Development in 
Sherwood West is expected to occur over several decades; therefore, regulations should be 
flexible and adaptable to changing conditions. 

• Adopt new base zones only if there is a compelling reason to do so. A simple approach to zoning 
that limits the amount of “new code” is easier for City staff and applicants to work with, which 
can lead to better outcomes. 

• Craft the fewest number of rules to get the job done while meeting the City’s expectations for 
quality development.

• Adopt and implement annexation code for the orderly and efficient transition of land uses from 
rural to urban.

Custom Residential Zoning
While the objective is to minimize new zoning and related requirements, the land use plan for 
Sherwood West recommends two residential designations that would be implemented through new, 
custom zones:

• Cottage Cluster – This zone would allow only cottage clusters, which are groupings of relatively 
small homes clustered around a shared courtyard or open space. Their smaller footprints and 
shared amenities make them an appealing alternative to typical single detached dwellings.

• Middle Housing – This zone would allow duplexes, townhomes (attached housing on individual 
lots), and cottage clusters. These are the middle housing types that have been most favored 
by the CAC and Sherwood community and would provide different housing choices—including 
options for more affordable homeownership, as compared to single detached dwellings. 

This strategy is recommended to help ensure that community-supported middle housing types are built 
in Sherwood West and to give the City flexibility to customize the design and development standards 
that apply in these zones.

In developing these zones, the City should evaluate how its current zones and recently-adopted 
Residential Design Standards are working as demonstrated by recent development. If different 
approaches to development and design would be beneficial in Sherwood West, those should be 
considered for the Cottage Cluster and Middle Housing zones. Care should be taken to ensure future 
regulations are not overly restrictive and discourage this type of development, especially given the 
limited housing types that will be permitted. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 75 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    70 DRAFT JULY 2023

Hospitality Zoning
Specific approaches for implementing a Hospitality Zone, unique to Sherwood West, will need to 
be developed as part of the comprehensive planning/zoning process. To successfully capitalize on 
this area’s ability to be the “Gateway to Wine Country,” additional economic study and outreach to 
developers is recommended to assess the feasibility of this concept and options for implementation. 

Potential approaches to accommodate hotels/motels, restaurants, wineries, destination tourism, and 
similar uses:

• New Hospitality base zone – Establish a new zone that would allow only those uses that are 
desired in this area. 

• Overlay zone – Apply standard base zones, with an overlay zone that implements the City’s 
hospitality objectives. The underlying zoning could be commercial zones that already allow 
lodging and restaurants, such as the City’s Retail Commercial (RC) or General Commercial (GC) 
zones, and/or could include employment or residential zones. The overlay zone could either 
restrict uses or add additional allowed uses, depending on what is allowed in the underlying 
zone(s). 

• Incentive zoning – Offer development incentives, such as increased building height or lot 
coverage, to desired hospitality uses. 

Master Planning or “Village Planning”
Master planning is an approach used by some Metro-area jurisdictions to prepare UGB expansion areas 
for annexation and development. It is expected that a master plan approach, led by the City in advance 
of development, would have the following benefits and characteristics:

• More certainty for coordinating multiple developments into cohesive neighborhoods.
• Ability to coordinate unique elements like views, trails, specific greenspaces, public uses, street 

trees, and streetscape design.
• More specific land planning to help coordinate infrastructure phasing and funding.
• Required public planning process, with an associated timeline, City staff time and costs, and 

community participation.
• Potential challenges if some property owners are ready/favorable toward development and 

others are not – this should be thoroughly assessed prior to initiation.
• Reduced flexibility for developers in subsequent development review.
• Phasing – Infrastructure planning to date has identified infrastructure phasing for the Sherwood 

West area. Sherwood could prepare master plans in phases that follow that same general 
sequence of development.

• Master planning may be superseded by regulatory compliance of House Bill 2001.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 76 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    71 DRAFT JULY 2023

The “Village Planning” concept involves planning for a mix of land uses, walkable community design, 
and open spaces that can result in quality new development that reflects Sherwood values. Villages 
are assumed to be created through master planning processes that are either City led or developer led 
prior to annexation into the city. Precedents for village planning are Villebois Village and Frog East & 
South in Wilsonville. 

A potential strategy for Sherwood West is to prepare master plans only for “village” portions of 
Sherwood West—such as the areas along SW Kruger Road and near Sherwood High School. These areas 
are primed for future development, offering locational and topographic features that lend themselves 
to a broader mix of uses and village-style development.

Note that if the City pursues a master planning approach, it should work with the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development (DLCD) to understand how state middle housing requirements would 
affect planning in Sherwood West. 

Future Annexation
Annexation is the process by which land inside the UGB will be brought into Sherwood city limits. 
Annexation may be initiated by property owners and is a necessary step before development can occur.  

The Sherwood Comprehensive Plan requires that annexations occur “in an orderly and coordinated 
manner, and services are provided to support urban growth consistent with the 2040 Vision” (Policy 
3.4). Criteria include that the property is contiguous to the existing City limits or separated from it only 
by a public right of way and that an adequate level of urban services and infrastructure are available or 
can be extended in a cost effective and efficient manner to the area.

Some cities require or allow Annexation Agreements, which are binding contracts between the 
property owner and City, to ensure that a proposed annexation is in the public interest. The City of 
Sherwood could use a such a strategy to ensure that applicants are aware of the key elements of the 
Sherwood West Concept Plan and aware of what their development obligations will be regarding 
utilities, dedication of open space and trails, and other requirements applicable to the subject property.

Planning for Housing
In the coming years, the City of Sherwood will undertake a planning process called a Housing 
Production Strategy (HPS) to identify actions that the City will take to increase housing production that 
meets community members’ needs. An HPS is required of Oregon cities under House Bill 2003 and OAR 
660-008. The law requires Sherwood and other cities to evaluate a broad range of solutions to meet 
local housing needs—which may include policies, programs, funding tools, incentives, partnerships, 
and more. The City will be required to adopt its first HPS by 2027. As part of that process, the City will 
consider various strategies to promote housing development in Sherwood West that provides a variety 
of housing choices and options and that is affordable to the full range of income levels, including low-
income households. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 77 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    72 DRAFT JULY 2023

Transportation and Infrastructure 

Future Alternatives/Feasibility Studies
The City will need to conduct several alternatives analyses and feasibility studies to determine the final 
location, alignment, and design of key transportation improvements. 

• SW Elwert Road - SW Edy Road Alignment – The City will need to conduct more in-depth 
environmental, engineering, and cost analysis before the decision about Elwert Road’s alignment 
is finalized. This should be undertaken as a separate feasibility study, which should be included in 
the scope of work for the comprehensive planning effort. The feasibility analysis should be robust 
and include coordination with Division of State Lands, an engineering feasibility analysis with a 
preliminary 5-10% roadway and intersection design, and a high-level cost estimate, among other 
analyses required for wetland and other impacts.
In addition, because SW Elwert Road is a Washington County facility, final designs and proposed 
cross sections must be coordinated with County staff and be appropriately sized and designed for 
an arterial roadway that can accommodate anticipated future local and regional travel demand, 
including truck traffic.

• LeBeau Road/Elwert Road/Scholls-Sherwood Road Intersection – The scope of work for 
comprehensive planning should also include analysis of the LeBeau Road/Elwert Road/Scholls-
Sherwood Road intersection and needed improvements.

• Connection to Brookman Area – The recommendation for a separated-grade crossing of Highway 
99W will require further analysis to determine what specific type of improvement is preferred 
and how it will be phased. 

• North-South Connectivity – The concept of adding a route to enhance regional north-south 
connectivity will require future study. Additional feasibility and cost analysis will be necessary. 
This should be considered as a long-term strategy, rather than an essential component of early-
stage transportation planning in Sherwood West.

Public Facility Plans
Transportation Plans
Updates to the Sherwood TSP and Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) will be necessary to incorporate 
street design standards and improvement projects for facilities within Sherwood West. A TSP update 
will include functional classification of roads and potentially new street cross section designs. The 
CIP establishes, prioritizes, and defines funding for capital projects to improve existing systems and 
develop new infrastructure and facilities. Ultimately, key Sherwood West transportation projects can be 
included and prioritized in the CIP based on the availability of funding (e.g., county, regional, state, and 
federal funds). 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 78 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    73 DRAFT JULY 2023

Other Utilities
More detailed water, sewer, and stormwater infrastructure planning will be necessary prior to 
annexation and development in Sherwood West. As part of this step, the City’s water and sewer master 
plans should be updated as needed.

Funding Tools
The Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy (Appendix N) identifies potential funding approaches 
for catalytic infrastructure projects in the North, West, and Southwest districts. However, more detailed 
cost estimates, revenue projections, and infrastructure planning are needed. In subsequent phases, 
the City should conduct further study to evaluate and establish funding tools for Sherwood West. 
One promising tool to explore in the next steps is implementing a supplemental SDC. This would be 
managed by City staff with the support of a municipal finance consultant and would involve:

• Ongoing refinement of project engineering and costs;
• Outreach to property owners and developers to refine development projections and phasing and 

to negotiate the specifics of a potential fee;
• Financial modeling of a potential fee, including identification of specific projects that would 

be included in the fee and exploration of scenarios that might vary the fee in different parts of 
Sherwood West;

• Sherwood City Council and Planning Commission engagement; and
• Development of a final proposal for adoption.

Developer Recommendations 
The following are recommendations for infrastructure and funding needs from local development 
practitioners. These points were gleaned from the developer tour and discussions conducted in fall 
2022. Refer to Appendix J for the full summary of developer feedback.

Infrastructure
• Roads with utilities are critical to setting the stage for private development. Consider it backbone 

infrastructure that is a prerequisite to getting development underway.
• Get a wetlands inventory done soon so that potential issues are known early on.
• The high school is not yet on sewer, but when it is installed in 2025, that part of the study area 

will open up for development.

Implementation and Funding
• It is a challenge for developers to front load all infrastructure when they do not always get credit 

for it and/or they may not get reimbursed by future developers before they expire.
• Locating a public facility like city offices or a police or fire station in the study area could 

jumpstart development.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 79 of 80



IMPLEMENTATION

SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN    74 DRAFT JULY 2023

Continued Community Engagement
The City should continue engaging with property owners and the Sherwood community about 
Sherwood West’s future growth. This should include outreach via periodic email updates, the project 
website, and neighborhood outreach. Community engagement is critical to the success of Sherwood 
West development, especially given the voter-approved annexation laws applicable in Sherwood. The 
City can learn from other annexation projects to better understand when Sherwood West land may 
be needed to accommodate growth, what issues are important to the community, and how best to 
support the smooth incorporation and transition of Sherwood West.

Metro Title 11 Compliance
Title 11 of the Metro Urban Growth Management Functional Plan addresses planning for new urban 
areas added to the UGB. The City of Sherwood is required to have a Title 11-compliant Concept Plan 
for Sherwood West before it can be added to the UGB. To meet Metro requirements, the Concept Plan 
must “consider actions” necessary to achieve certain outcomes, including:

• A mix of land uses that will make efficient use of the public systems and facilities;
• A development pattern that supports pedestrian and bicycle travel;
• A range of housing of different types, tenure and prices addressing local and regional housing 

needs;
• Employment opportunities to support a healthy economy;
• Well-connected systems of streets, bikeways, parks, recreational trails and public transit; 
• A well-connected system of parks, natural areas and other public open spaces;
• Protection of natural ecological systems and important natural landscape features; and
• Minimization of adverse effects on farm and forest practices and important natural landscape 

features on nearby rural lands
The Title 11 findings included in Appendix O describe how this Concept Plan addresses these and other 
Metro requirements. 

Future Development Timeline
The diagram in Appendix A illustrates the potential planning and future development timeline for 
Sherwood West. As indicated in this diagram, development in Sherwood West is not expected to occur 
for at least five or six years after being brought into the UGB and full buildout is anticipated to take 
several decades. 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 1 
July 18, 2023, Page 80 of 80



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

APPENDIX A
Future Development 
Timeline

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 1 of 205



This process typically
takes up to 8 - 12+

months 

Why are we Planning for Sherwood West?
The City of Sherwood is taking a second look at the 2016 Concept Plan for Sherwood West. The updated Concept Plan addresses many factors including state rules and opportunities for housing and employment. The
updated plan supports the city's newly adopted Comprehensive Plan. Oregon Law requires a 20-year land supply for housing and employment uses within cities. Sherwood has a deficient of housing units to meet
projected future growth.  If Metro decides the regional Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) needs to be expanded it will need to decide where to expand. If Sherwood West, or a portion thereof, is brought into the UGB our
community's concept plan for the area ensures that it will grow in a way that we all love.  For more information: www.SherwoodOregon.gov, Email: PalmerE@Sherwoodoregon.gov, Phone: 503-625-4208 

Once any part of
the Sherwood West
area is brought into
the UGB, the City
will begin a more
refined
comprehensive
planning process
by working with
property owners
and residents to
identify
appropriate zoning
designations, and
amendments to
the development
code, and
transportation
plan. 

Sherwood West Concept Plan 

Potential Sherwood West Planning and Development Process 2022-2065
Sherwood West
Concept Plan 

Every six years, the
Metro Council must
review and report
on the 20-year land
supply in the Urban
Growth Boundary
(UGB).  If necessary
Metro adjusts the
UGB to meet land
needs for that 20-
year period. 
Oregon law
requires Metro to
maintain a 20-year
land supply within
the UGB. Metro's
next review of the
land supply will
occur in 2024

The City received a  
Grant to Update
the 2016
Sherwood West
Preliminary
Concept Plan, in
2021. A
Community
Advisory
Committee was
appointed to
update the plan. It
is anticipated that
public hearings will
be held before the
Planning
Commission and
City Council for
acceptance of the
plan in 2022  

Metro Decision
to Expand UGB

Sherwood
Decision to

Expand UGB

Refinement
Planning 

Process & Adoption 
Annexation  

Land Use
Applications  &

Public Hearings 

Public
Improvements
Construction

If the Metro
Council decides the
UGB needs to be
expanded, it will
decide where to
expand.  There are
currently 27 Urban
Reserve Areas in
the Metro region.
Metro would need
to decide that
Sherwood West is
an appropriate
area for expansion 

Repeats at least
every 6 years

After completion
and adoption of a
Refinement Plan
for the area,
property owners
who want to annex
into the City must
file an an
annexation request  
and meet the city's,
Metro and state
annexation criteria.

If a land use
application is
approved, the
applicant is
required to
construct pubic
improvements
(typically utility and
transportation
improvements)
prior to any
construction.  

After annexation,
property owners
must submit a land
use application
before developing
their property after
public notice and a
public hearing. 

Construction
Residents and

Businesses Move In

After public
improvements are
completed, a
developer can get
permits to begin
construction. 
If Metro expands the
UGB to include any
part of  Sherwood
West; if refinement
planning is approved
by the community
and City Council; if
property owners
annex into the city;
and if the public and
the City support land
use applications, the
earliest new
residents/businesses
could move in is
2029   

Repeats for
every property

or group of
properties

requesting to
annex

Repeats for
each

development 

This
decision of

Metro is
required at

least every 6
years

This decision
typically takes a

year 

This process
typically takes

1.5 to 3+
years

This process typically
takes 6+ months

This process typically
takes 6 - 12+ months This process typically

takes 3 - 12+ months and
repeats for every project

Repeats for
each

development 

Timing of annexation and development varies based on property owner desires, public support, and market conditions

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 2 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Housing Policy Implications 
Memo

APPENDIX B

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 3 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

HOUSING POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan, Comprehensive Plan Update, 
and Oregon House Bill 2001  

TO: Community Advisory Committee 
FROM: Erika Palmer, Planning Manager  
CC: Angelo Planning Group  
DATE: April 27, 2021 

Introduction 
The purpose of this memorandum is to summarize the future of housing  to help inform discussions on 
this topic during this re-look of the Preliminary Sherwood West Concept Plan. This memorandum 
provides a brief overview of housing and neighborhoods described in the 2016 Sherwood West 
Preliminary Concept Plan, the draft housing goals and policies in the updated Comprehensive Plan, and 
implementation of Oregon House Bill 2001: Housing Choices (HB 2001). 

SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN  
Sherwood West is the regional Urban Reserve Area 5B, which is approximately 1,291 acres. This area, 
designated by Metro in coordination with its partner cities and counties, identifies land that will be 
considered for addition to the region’s Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) for urbanization over a 50 year 
period.  Sherwood West is the largest urban reserve area adjacent to Sherwood, and given the location 
of existing utilities, the area is logically the best direction for the City to consider growth in the future.   

The 2016 Preliminary Sherwood West Concept Plan recognized that Sherwood has a shortage of land 
available for housing and the plan was envisioned to help address this need. The understanding was that 
If we don’t add more land for new housing, people will still move here, housing prices will rise, and the 
community will experience more pressure for infill development at higher densities. The Preliminary 
Concept Plan did not speak to urban densities or the design of a particular area within Sherwood West.  
The Plan was intended to be a tool for residents and decision-makers to rely on as they make decisions 
about growth expansions, knowing that community values and needs may shift, tastes in housing may 
change, and densities and neighborhood form would be shaped through future refinement processes.  

The Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan preferred alternative recognized four distinct subareas: 
the North District, the West District, the Far West District and the Southwest District.  All four subareas 
were intended to provide a mix of housing. 

  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 4 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

2 

 

The North District is a mixed-housing neighborhood organized around a new school, neighborhood 
park, and mixed-use node. Residential intensities transition from center to edge of the neighborhood. 
Residential housing is oriented towards the collective open space. West of Elwert Road, residences are 
organized around a smaller neighborhood park that marks the high point of a topographic ridge.  

 

 

The West District is a mixed-housing district organized around a new school (Sherwood High School), 
neighborhood park, and mixed-use center. A new neighborhood connector street paralleling Elwert 
serves the neighborhood from the west side. The road follows the break in topography to create an area 
for residential development that is anchored by the school site. Housing intensities transition out from 
this mixed-use center (high to low) with hillside residential on the higher and steeper slopes. 

 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 5 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

3 

 

The Far West District includes a mixed residential neighborhood, with the higher and steeper elevations 
envisioned to be hillside residential.  

 

 

The Southwest District is a primarily residential neighborhood with varying intensities and hillside 
residential on the higher and steeper elevation slopes.  

 

 

Land uses identified in the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan are primarily residential, with 
varying degrees of intensity based on topography, natural features, proximity, and transition out from 
mixed-use centers (high to low). 

Subsequent to the completion of the Preliminary Concept Plan, city staff prepared preliminary estimates 
of the housing capacity provided by the Plan.  In 2018, staff provided a housing analysis of  a proposed 
expansion on roughly 586 gross acres of the Sherwood West area out of the approximately 1,291 acres.   
The net developable acreage, after excluding roads, natural resource areas, land designated for parks 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 6 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

4 

 

and open space, and an existing church, came to roughly 452 acres. Of the 452 developable acres, 
roughly 425 acres are designated Residential Neighborhood, Residential Hillside, and Residential Mixed-
Use.  These 452 acres should be thought of as two area types.  The first type, an urban area, suitable for 
medium and higher density development.  The second, a hillside area, which its topography makes it 
suitable for lower density development. It was envisioned residential intensity transitioning out from 
mixed-use centers (high to low) with hillside residential on the higher and steeper sloped areas.  The 
overall assumed average residential density of the 452 acres was 8.5 dwelling units per acre.  The 8.5 
average residential density in the 452 developable acres would accommodate roughly 3,800 new 
housing units.  

SHERWOOD’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE 
The following section focuses on the City of Sherwood’s 2019-2039 Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) 
adopted by Ordinance 2020-018 and the draft ‘Housing’ goals and policies developed through the city’s 
comprehensive planning work. The goals and policies have not been adopted and may be refined during 
the adoption process scheduled for Spring/Summer 2021. 

Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis 
As part of the City’s process to update its 1990 Comprehensive Plan, a Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) 
was conducted in March 2019. The Housing Needs Analysis provides Sherwood with a factual basis to 
support future planning efforts related to housing, including Concept Planning for Sherwood West, and 
prepares the City for updates and revisions to its Housing Comprehensive Plan policies. Understanding 
growth in terms of population, demographic, and development trend shifts is crucial for determining 
future housing needs.  

How Has Sherwood’s Population Changed In Recent Years?  
Sherwood’s population grew relatively fast in recent years from 3,000 people in 1990 to nearly 18,600 
people in 2013, averaging 8% annual growth. Sherwood’s fastest period of growth was during the 1990s, 
consistent with statewide trends. Between 2000-2013, Sherwood grew by 6,600 people, at an average 
rate of nearly 3.5% per year. For comparison, Washington County grew at 2.5% annually between 1990-
2013 and the Portland Region grew at 1.6% per year.  

Sherwood’s population is aging. People aged 45 years and older were the fastest-growing age group in 
Sherwood between 2000 and 2010, which is consistent with state and national trends. By 2035, people 
60 years and older will account for 24% of the population in Washington County (up from 18% in 2015) 
and 25% in the Portland Region (up from 19% in 2015). It is reasonable to assume that the share of 
people 60 years and older will grow relatively quickly in Sherwood as well.  

Sherwood is attracting younger people and more households with children. In 2010, the median age in 
Sherwood was 34.3 years old, compared to Washington County’s median age of 35.3 years and the State 
median of 38.4. Sherwood has a larger share of households with children (47% of households), 
compared with Washington County (33%) or the Portland Region (29%). The Millennial generation—
people born roughly between 1980 to 2000—are the largest age group in Oregon and will account for 
the majority of household growth in Sherwood over the next 20 years.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 7 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

5 

 

Sherwood’s population is becoming more ethnically diverse. About 6% of Sherwood’s population is 
Latino, an increase from 4.7% in 2000. In comparison to Washington County and the Portland Region, 
Sherwood is less ethnically diverse. In the 2009-2013 period, 16% of Washington County residents, and 
12% Portland Region residents, were Latino.  

What Factors May Affect Future Growth In Sherwood?  
If these trends continue they will result in changes in the types and amount of housing demanded or 
“needed” in Sherwood in the future.  

The aging of the population is likely to result in increased demand for smaller single-family housing, 
multifamily housing, and housing for seniors. People over 65 years old will make a variety of housing 
choices, including: remaining in their homes as long as they are able, downsizing to smaller single-family 
homes (detached and attached) or multifamily units, or moving into group housing (such as assisted 
living facilities or nursing homes) as they continue to age.  

The growth of younger and diversified households is likely to result in increased demand for a wider 
variety of affordable housing appropriate for families with children, such as small single-family 
housing, townhouses, duplexes, and multifamily housing. If Sherwood continues to attract young 
residents, then it will continue to have demand for housing for families, especially housing affordable to 
younger families with moderate incomes. Growth in this population will result in growth in demand for 
both ownership and rental opportunities, with an emphasis on housing that is comparatively affordable. 

Changes in commuting patterns could affect future growth in Sherwood. Sherwood is part of a 
complex, interconnected regional economy. Demand for housing by workers at businesses in Sherwood 
may change with significant fluctuations in fuel and commuting costs, as well as substantial decreases in 
the capacity of highways to accommodate commuting. 

Sherwood households have relatively high income, which affects the type of housing that is 
affordable. Income is a key determinant of housing choice. Sherwood’s median household income 
($78,400) is more than 20% higher than Washington County’s median household income ($64,200). In 
addition, Sherwood has a smaller share of population below the federal poverty line (7.6%) than the 
averages of Washington County (11.4%) and the Portland Region (13.9%). 

What Are The Characteristics of Sherwood’s Housing Market?  
The existing housing stock in Sherwood, homeownership patterns, and existing housing costs will shape 
changes in Sherwood’s housing market in the future.  

Sherwood’s housing stock is predominantly single-family detached. About 75% of Sherwood’s housing 
stock is single-family detached, 8% is single-family attached (such as townhomes), and 18% is 
multifamily (such as duplexes or apartments). 69% of new housing permitted in Sherwood between 
2000 and 2014 was single-family detached housing.  

Almost three quarters of Sherwood’s residents own their homes. Homeownership rates in Sherwood 
are above Washington County (54%), the Portland Region (60%), and Oregon (62%) averages.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 8 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

6 

 

Homeownership costs increased in Sherwood, consistent with national trends. Median sales prices for 
homes in Sherwood increased by about 30% between 2004 and 2014, from about $245,000 to $316,500. 
The median home value in Sherwood is 3.8 times the median household income, up from 2.9 times the 
median household income in 2000.  

Housing sales prices are higher in Sherwood than the regional averages. As of January 2015, median 
sales price in Sherwood was $316,500, which is higher than the Washington County ($281,700), the 
Portland MSA ($269,900), and Oregon ($237,300) median sales prices. Median sales prices were higher 
in Sherwood than in other Portland westside communities such as Tigard, Tualatin, and Beaverton, but 
lower than Wilsonville or West Linn.  

Rental costs are higher overall in Sherwood than the regional averages, with a slightly lower-rental 
cost on a cost per square foot basis. The median rent in Sherwood was $1,064, compared to 
Washington County’s average of $852. Average rent in the Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area submarket 
was $1.13 per square foot in Fall 2014, lower than the regional average of $1.22 per square foot. 
Between Spring 2010 and Spring 2013, average rent in Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area increased by 
38%, consistent with the regional increase of 36%.  

More than one-third of Sherwood’s households are cost-burdened. Thirty-eight percent of Sherwood’s 
households were cost-burdened (i.e., paid more than 30% of their income on rent or homeownership 
costs). Renters were more likely to be cost-burdened (40% of renters were cost-burdened), compared to 
homeowners (35% were cost-burdened) in Sherwood. These levels of cost burden are consistent with 
regional averages. In Washington County in the 2009-2013 period, 38% of households were cost 
burdened, compared to 41% in the Portland Region.  

Future housing affordability will depend on the relationship between income and housing price. The key 
question is whether housing prices will continue to outpace income growth. Answering this question is 
difficult because of the complexity of the factors that affect both income growth and housing prices. 
However, Sherwood will need to provide the opportunity for development of a wider variety of housing, 
including housing affordable to low- and moderate-income households because the City is short over 
500 units for people whose income range is less than $55,520. 

Sherwood’s Housing Growth Forecast And Can That Growth Be Accommodated in Sherwood?  
Sherwood is forecast to add 1,728 new households between 2019 and 2039. Of these, 700 new 
households are anticipated to be developed inside the existing city limits; and 1,029 new households will 
be added in areas that are currently outside city limits but inside the UGB (the Brookman area). 
Recently, three new subdivisions in Brookman have approved which will provide 232 new lots for 
development.  

Sherwood’s land base can accommodate most of the forecast for growth. Vacant and partially vacant 
land in the Sherwood Planning Area (all land within the city limits and the Brookman area) has capacity 
to accommodate 1,121 new dwelling units. Sherwood can accommodate about 65% of the forecast for 
new housing in its Planning Area. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 9 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

7 

 

Sherwood has a deficit of land for housing. Sherwood has a projected deficit of land for 608 dwelling 
units, which includes the Brookman area. The largest deficits are in Medium Density Residential-Low 
(154 dwelling units), Medium Density Residential-High (252 dwelling units), and High Density Residential 
(145 dwelling units).  

To provide adequate land supply, Sherwood will need to continue to annex the Brookman area. 
Without the Brookman area developing, the City has a projected deficit of about 1,155 dwelling units. 
Sherwood will need to continue to annex the Brookman area in order to accommodate the City’s 
forecast of residential growth.  

What If Sherwood Grows Faster? 
The forecast for growth in Sherwood is considerably below historical growth rates. Metro’s forecast for 
new housing in Sherwood shows that households will grow at an average annual growth rate of 1.1% 
per year. In comparison, Sherwood’s population grew at 3.4% per year between 2000 and 2013 and 8% 
per year between 1990 and 2013. If Sherwood grows faster than Metro’s forecast during the 2019 to 
2039 period, then Sherwood will have a larger deficit of land needed to accommodate growth.  

At faster growth rates, Sherwood’s land base has enough capacity for several years of growth. At 
growth rates between 2% to 4% of growth annually, land inside the Sherwood city limits can 
accommodate two to five years of growth. With capacity in the Brookman Area, Sherwood can 
accommodate four to ten years of growth at these growth rates.  

Additional housing growth in Sherwood depends on the availability of development-ready land. The 
amount of growth likely to happen in Sherwood over the next few years is largely dependent on when 
the Brookman Area is fully annexed, when the Sherwood West area is brought into the urban growth 
boundary and annexed, and when urban services (such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer) are 
developed in each area.  

What Are the Implications For Sherwood’s Housing Policies? 
Sherwood will need to either add additional land for residential purposes or increase the densities 
within the existing city limits to accommodate future growth beyond the existing city limits and 
Brookman area. The growth rate of Metro’s forecast for household growth (1.1% average annual 
growth) is considerably lower than the City’s historical population growth rate over the last two decades 
(8% average annual growth). Metro’s forecast includes growth that can be generally accommodated 
within the Sherwood city limits and Brookman. Given the limited supply of buildable land within 
Sherwood, it is likely that the City’s residential growth will slow until Sherwood West is made 
development-ready.  

Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate- and higher-density multifamily 
housing. The limited supply of land in these zones is a barrier to development of townhouses and 
multifamily housing, which are needed to meet housing demand resulting from growth of people over 
65, young families, and moderate-income households.  

The Housing Needs Analysis highlights questions for the update of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 
the Concept Planning of Sherwood West.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 10 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

8 

 

• Providing housing opportunities for first time home buyers and community elders (who prefer to 
age in place or downsize their housing) will require a wider range of housing types. Examples of 
these housing types include: single family homes on smaller lots, clustered housing, cottages or 
townhomes, duplexes, tri-plexes, four-plexes, garden apartments, or mid-rise apartments. Where 
should Sherwood consider providing a wider range of housing types? What types of housing should 
Sherwood plan for?  

• Changes in demographics and income for Sherwood and residents in the Metro area will require 
accommodating a wider range of housing types. How many of Sherwood’s needed units should the 
City plan to accommodate within the city limits? How much of Sherwood’s needed units should be 
accommodated in the Brookman Area and in Sherwood West?  

• What design features and greenspaces would be important to consider for new housing?  
• What other design standards would be needed to keep Sherwood “Sherwood”?  
• What is the appropriate mix of residential land and employment land in the City to balance the 

City’s tax base?  
• What is the mix of residential zones that reflect Sherwood’s character?  
• COVID-19 has changed how people live and work. What are some of the long-term impacts of the 

pandemic on residential housing trends and needs?  
• The need to consider recent state legislation of House Bill 2001 to review and analyze density 

expectations assumed to result from the provision of middle housing that meets regulatory 
requirements.  

Sherwood’s Comprehensive Plan Update – Draft Housing Goals & Policies 
The Comprehensive Plan is a planning document that directs all activities related to land use and the 
future of natural and man-made systems and services in Sherwood. The Plan helps manage expected 
population and employment growth through a set of goals, policies and implementation measures that 
align with the community’s vision. City leaders use the Comprehensive Plan to coordinate public 
investments and make decisions about new development, existing neighborhoods, transportation, and 
various other topics. Given Sherwood’s dramatic growth over the past 20 years, the 1990 
Comprehensive Plan no longer represents the vision and values of today’s residents and businesses.  

The main components of the Comprehensive Plan include a vision, goals, policies, and objectives. The 
vision and goals describe what the community wants to be in the future. Policies and objectives are 
based on the vision and direct land use decisions and public investments. For example, the housing 
policies are the backbone that informs new development code language to achieve the community’s 
goals and vision.  The City is nearly finished with a multi-year comprehensive update to the 
Comprehensive Plan and the goals and policies identified below reflect the outcome from the housing 
block of that project.  It should be noted, however that, at this time the City Council has not adopted the 
updated comprehensive plan goals, policies and objectives. 

Adopted Vision for Attractive and Attainable Housing In Sherwood  
“In 2040, Sherwood has a range of housing choices for a diversity of ages and income levels, 
providing community members the ability to live in Sherwood throughout all stages of life.” 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 11 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

9 

 

Draft Housing Goals 
1. Provide the opportunity for a variety of housing types in locations and at price points that meet 

the needs of current and future residents.  
2. Preserve and enhance the character of existing neighborhoods.  
3. Plan new residential developments to integrate with existing Sherwood as complete 

neighborhoods where community members can live, learn, shop, and recreate.  

Draft Housing Policies 
Policy 1. Plan for a 20-year supply of suitable land for Sherwood to meet housing needs.  

Objective 1.1 Identify opportunities to address land deficits shown in the Housing Needs Analysis within 
the existing city limits.  

Objective 1.2 Accommodate future growth through annexation of areas within the Metro UGB and work 
with Metro to bring urban reserve areas into the Metro UGB as needed.  

Objective 1.3 Ensure that the City has enough land to accommodate Sherwood’s projected share of 
regional household growth, through regular monitoring and adjustments of available land in the 
Buildable Lands Inventory.  

Objective 1.4 Maintain a minimum overall density of six (6) dwelling units a net acre, per the 
Metropolitan Housing Rule. 

Policy 2. Plan for infrastructure development to support residential development.  

Objective 2.1 Continue to coordinate capital improvement planning to ensure infrastructure availability 
on residential land and continue to pursue funding for needed infrastructure to support housing growth.  

Objective 2.2 Coordinate with regional partners to develop infrastructure across the City to support 
housing growth across the City, ensuring availability of water and wastewater service and improving 
transportation access to the broader Portland Region.  

Objective 2.3 Coordinate population, residential growth and infrastructure planning with the Sherwood 
School District to ensure that land is available for new schools as needed and that utilities can efficiently 
be provided to new school sites.  

Policy 3. Maintain the quality of existing neighborhoods and ensure that new neighborhoods fit with 
Sherwood’s character.  

Objective 3.1 Encourage that existing neighborhoods benefit from access and connections to trails, 
parks, open space and neighborhood amenities as they are built in new neighborhoods.  

Objective 3.2 Encourage infill residential development in areas near shopping, parks, transit and other 
major public facilities and services, with a focus on opportunities in the Old Town District.  

Objective 3.3 Encourage housing is of a design and quality compatible with the neighborhood in which it 
is located.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 12 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

10 

 

Objective 3.4 Reduce the negative impacts of traffic, noise, parking, lack of privacy, and negative visual 
aesthetics, through compatible site and building design and buffering techniques, such varying densities 
and types of residential use and design features.  

Policy 4. Foster complete neighborhoods that provide housing choice, serve daily needs, and are 
walkable, connected, safe and integrated with the natural landscape.  

Objective 4.1 Utilize concept planning, master planning and the planned unit development (PUD) 
technique to foster flexibility, creativity and innovation in the division of land, siting of buildings and 
provision of community amenities such as trails and open space.  

Objective 4.2 Encourage neighborhoods are designed in a manner that incorporates the following 
principles:  

 (a) Cultivate a mix of housing types that are designed in a way to enhance neighborhood 
character.  

 (b) Create walkable neighborhoods that respond to their surrounding landscape.  

 (c) Provide safe and effortless connectivity to schools, parks, and commercial centers for 
pedestrians, cyclists, and cars.  

 (d) Enhance existing natural assets and integrate greenspaces and parks into new development.  

 (e) Enhance Sherwood’s small-town character and historic core through architectural balance 
and design that is accessible and inviting to all.  

Objective 4.3 Make use of density transfer as a means of preserving open space and developing 
recreational areas within a single development.  

Objective 4.4 Promote housing and site design that supports the conservation, enhancement, and 
continued vitality of areas with special historic, architectural, or cultural value.  

Policy 5. Provide opportunities for the development of a range of housing types that are attainable to 
current and future households at all income levels, as described in the Sherwood Housing Needs 
Analysis, to maintain Sherwood’s high quality of life.  

Objective 5.1 Identify opportunities to increase residential development to balance the housing supply. 
Ensure the housing supply includes a mix of housing types and unit sizes at a range of housing prices and 
amenities throughout the City.  

Objective 5.2 Support a variety of housing types such as, but not limited to, townhomes, cottages, 
courtyard housing, accessory dwelling units, single story units, and extended family and multi-
generational housing.  

Objective 5.3 Support housing affordable to Sherwood’s residents and workers at businesses in 
Sherwood, including housing options for first-time homebuyers, new families, the elderly, and persons 
with disabilities.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 13 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

11 

 

Objective 5.4 Support homeownership opportunities in multi-dwelling housing by encouraging the 
creation of condominiums, cooperative housing, and limited equity cooperatives.  

Objective 5.5 Collaborate with nonprofit organizations to provide opportunities for development of low-
income housing such as rent-subsidized housing and other low-income housing in areas that have access 
to jobs, transportation, open spaces, schools, and supportive services and amenities. 

OREGON HOUSE BILL 2001: HOUSING CHOICES  
In 2019, the Oregon State Legislature adopted HB 2001, Housing Choices. By June 30, 2022 cities in the 
Portland Metro region and Oregon’s other largest dozen cities (those over 25,000 population) must 
allow people to build duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, cottage clusters, and townhouses in residential 
areas. The rational for the new rules is that these houses can be more attainable and meet the housing 
needs of many younger people, older people, and people who work but can’t afford a large single-family 
detached house of their own. 

People can still build detached single-family homes, and we expect most homes in residential areas to 
be built as such. Many cities already allow some of these housing types in certain areas. Not many have 
been built. Local knowledge of how to build these housing types will grow over time, and how many are 
developed will depend on local housing markets. Cities can set clear and objective siting and design 
requirements for these housing types (often called “middle housing” types), but these standards must 
apply to all housing, include single-family housing.   

For more information on HB 2001 please visit the Department of Land Conservation and Development 
public overview webpage: https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB2001OverviewPublic.pdf 

City of Sherwood Residential Design Standards Code Update and Implementation of HB 2001  
The City of Sherwood is undertaking a development code audit and needed development code 
amendments to support a range of community housing choices. The development code audit project 
aims to understand the existing barriers and future solutions to promote a larger supply of housing 
options for the community. Future amendments to the development code will provide an opportunity 
for a variety of housing types at various price points community for members at different stages of life; 
from recent college students to empty nesters, and retirees.  

It is anticipated that new Residential Design Standards will be adopted and incorporated into the City’s 
development code in 2021 for all housing types.  Additional housing choices (duplexes, triplexes, 
fourplexes, and cottage clusters) with development standards (lot areas, dimensions, setbacks, 
landscaping, etc.) are expected to be adopted prior to June 30, 2022, compliant with the requirements 
of HB 2001. 

For more information on this project, please visit the City’s project page: 
https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/residential-design-standards-code-update-and-
implementation-house-bill-2001-housing 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 14 of 205

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB2001OverviewPublic.pdf
https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/residential-design-standards-code-update-and-implementation-house-bill-2001-housing
https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/residential-design-standards-code-update-and-implementation-house-bill-2001-housing


SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

12 

 

How does Oregon House Bill 2001 affect Sherwood West? 
The Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) adopted Administrative Rules to 
help implement HB 2001.  These administrative rules help prescribe standards guiding the development 
of new types (plexes, townhomes, cottage clusters) and establish minimum standards related to the 
siting and design. Sherwood West meets the definition for a “Master Planned Community” as a site area 
added to a Large City’s UGB after January 1, 2021 for which the Large City proposes to adopt, by 
resolution or ordinance, a master plan or a plan that functions in the same manner as a master plan.  
Sherwood West will need to plan for infrastructure to accommodate twenty (20) units per acre; 
however, the overall density of Sherwood West is not determined and ultimately could be less than 
twenty (20) units per acre.  The overall density of Sherwood West will be identified through this Concept 
Planning process and set through Metro’s ordinance incorporating this area into the regional UGB.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 15 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Public Engagement Plan

APPENDIX C 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 16 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Prepared by: 
Angelo Planning Group 
City of Sherwood 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN 
DRAFT │ May 14, 2021 

 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 17 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 1 

Table of Contents 
Project Overview ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Goals and Outcomes ............................................................................................................................ 1 

Key Messages ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

Sherwood Demographics ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Communications and Outreach Tools ................................................................................................... 4 

Project Schedule .................................................................................................................................. 7 

 

Project Overview 
The purpose of this project is to prepare a concept plan for the 1,291-acre Sherwood West area by 
updating the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan. The Preliminary Plan was approved by the 
Sherwood City Council in 2016. It was developed as a long-range planning tool to help guide future 
community discussions and decisions about the City’s long-term growth. However, there have been 
significant changes in Sherwood and surrounding areas since the Preliminary Concept Plan’s local 
approval: the Sherwood School District constructed a new 350,000 square foot high school on 73 acres 
inside the Sherwood West area; Washington County completed its Urban Reserve Transportation Study 
(URTS), which provides detailed transportation impact information to help with future planning in urban 
reserve areas; and the City is nearing completion on a major update to its Comprehensive Plan, which 
has not been updated since 1990. In addition, the State of Oregon adopted House Bill 2001 in 2019, 
which allows for the development of middle housing types within areas zoned single-family residential. 
This Concept Plan project will take another look at the Sherwood West area to address new land use and 
growth patterns, new transportation plans, new State rules related to housing, and new opportunities 
for employment and economic growth. The outcome of this “re-look” will be a Sherwood West Concept 
Plan that is compliant with Metro Title 11, Planning for New Urban Areas. 

Goals and Outcomes 
Outreach will be an integral part of this project, both for specific details of the Concept Plan and as part 
of the community's broader ongoing conversation about housing, employment, transportation, and cost 
of services. Community members who live and/or seek future annexation and development 
opportunities in the Sherwood West area will be most affected by the project’s outcomes. Other key 
stakeholders are expected to include area neighbors, local business owners, property owners, students 
at the new Sherwood High School, and community members from historically-underserved populations. 
The City of Sherwood is committed to an inclusive and transparent planning process. Community 
engagement is crucial to guide the development of a representative, sustainable plan. The goals of the 
public engagement process for this project are to: 

• Communicate complete, accurate, understandable, and timely information to the greater Sherwood 
community throughout the course of the project. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 18 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 2 

• Help participants in the process understand the benefits and challenges of planning issues and 
alternatives for Sherwood West. 

• Actively seek input from individuals, businesses, and organizations who are most likely to be 
impacted by the outcomes of the planning process. 

• Intentionally engage culturally-diverse community members and those whose voices have been 
historically under-represented in previous planning processes. 

• Provide meaningful opportunities for all community members to provide input into the plan, and 
clearly demonstrate how that input has influenced the process. 

The outcome of this public engagement process will be a Concept Plan that reflects the community’s 
vision and desires for the Sherwood West area, balance the diverse interests of project stakeholders, 
and is feels true to Sherwood. 

 

Key Messages 
The City will be the key point of contact for all communications with the public regarding this project. 
The City will also be the lead for notifications, emailing lists, media contact, and event logistics. The 
following key messages summarize the what, where, why, when, who, and how of the project, and 
constitute the basic talking points when communicating with the public about the planning process. 

• What: The City of Sherwood is taking a second look at Sherwood West to prepare a Concept Plan for 
the area. The Concept Plan will address new land use and growth patterns, new transportation 
plans, new State rules related to housing, and new opportunities for employment and economic 
growth in Sherwood. This plan is not starting from scratch; it will build from the Sherwood West 
Preliminary Concept Plan, which was adopted in 2016. 

• Where: Sherwood West is a 1,291-acre area located west of the existing city limits and outside the 
Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). It is bound by SW Lebeau Road to the north and SW Chapman Road 
to the south. Sherwood West is a designated Metro urban reserve (Urban Reserve Area 5b) and is 
the largest of Sherwood’s three future growth areas. 

• Why: Sherwood has seen significant changes since the adoption of the Preliminary Concept Plan in 
2016, both on-the-ground and in the regulatory and planning context. In 2018 the Sherwood School 
District annexed a portion of the Sherwood West area into city limits and constructed a new 350,000 
square foot high school, which was completed in 2020 and is expected to open to students in 2021. 
The State of Oregon adopted new housing rules (House Bill 2001) in 2019, which allow for the 
development of middle housing types within areas zoned single-family residential. In 2020 

A NOTE ABOUT THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the majority of public engagement activities are 
expected to occur virtually. The project team will continue to monitor the situation and will 
resume in-person events and meetings if and when it becomes safe to do so. We hope to 
see you in person soon! 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 19 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 3 

Washington County completed its Urban Reserve Transportation Study (URTS), which provides 
detailed transportation impact information to help with future planning in urban reserve areas such 
as Sherwood West. In addition, the City is nearing completion of a three-year planning and visioning 
process to update its citywide Comprehensive Plan, with adoption of the new plan expected to 
occur in summer 2021. 

• When: This project will kick-off in May 2021 and will take approximately 15 months to complete. 
• Who: The Concept Plan project team includes staff from Sherwood’s Community Development 

Department, supported by a team of consultants led by Angelo Planning Group that includes Walker 
Macy (urban design), Leland Consulting Group (economics), and DKS Associates (transportation). 
The process will be guided by input from two advisory committees. The Community Advisory 
Committee (CAC) is made up of community members who live or own property within the City and 
Sherwood West, and representatives from the City’s Parks Board, Planning Commission, City 
Council, Police Advisory Board, and the Sherwood School District. The Technical Advisory Committee 
(TAC) will be comprised of public service provider representatives: City Public Works, Engineering, 
Community Services, the Police department, Clean Water Services, Oregon Department of 
Transportation, and regional economic and housing development professionals. 

• How: As this project gets underway, the Sherwood community will see articles in local community 
newsletters; city social media posts to Facebook, Twitter, Nextdoor;  public meeting notices online 
and flyers; ‘pop-up’ engagement at local community events (consistent with COVID-19 protocols); 
online surveys; engagement with Sherwood High School students and families; and Frequently 
Asked Questions sheets. In addition to these opportunities, feedback is always welcome via email at 
any point in the process.  
If you would like to submit a comment or question to the project team, or you are interested in 
subscribing to the Sherwood West Re-look Email Interested Parties list, please send an email 
to: palmere@SherwoodOregon.gov 

Sherwood Demographics 
The following demographic profile is a snapshot of Sherwood today. 

 
Source: 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

According to estimates from the American Community Survey (ACS), the population of Sherwood in 
2019 was 19,625. Around 89 percent of Sherwood residents identify as White, and nearly six percent 
identify as Hispanic or Latinx. Over five percent of residents identify as Asian (alone or with some other 
race), almost two percent identify as American Indian or Alaskan Native (alone or with some other race), 
one percent identify as Black or African American (alone or with some other race), and less than one 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 20 of 205

mailto:palmere@sherwoodoregon.gov


SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 4 

percent identify as Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander (alone or with some other race).1 ACS data also 
indicates that nearly 90 percent of Sherwood residents speak English at home, and nearly four percent 
speak Spanish at home. 

In addition to these demographics, recent trends identified in the City’s 2019 Housing Needs Analysis 
indicate that: 

• Sherwood’s population is growing. Sherwood grew by 6,600 people between 2000 and 2013, at a 
rate of nearly 3.5% per year—well above the regional average. 

• Sherwood’s population is aging. People aged 45 years and older were the fastest-growing age 
group in Sherwood between 2000 and 2010. 

• Sherwood is attracting younger people and more households with children. Nearly 50% of 
Sherwood households have children, which is significantly higher than in Washington County or the 
Portland region generally. 

• Sherwood’s population is becoming more ethnically diverse. Sherwood’s percentage of people 
who identify as Hispanic or Latinx grew from 4.7% in 2000 to about 6% in 2019. 

Communications and Outreach Tools 
The City is committed to equitably engaging the public on this project and is employing multiple types of 
communication and outreach tools in order to engage the full range of Sherwood community members. 
The following table includes informational tools and activities that will be used throughout the project 
to inform a broader public audience and solicit input related to needs and possible planning concepts. 
Where possible, project materials developed as part of these tools and activities should be made 
available in both English and Spanish. 

Tool/Activity Description Audience Timing 

Community 
Advisory 
Committee (CAC) 

The CAC will be made up of community members 
who live or own property within the City and 
Sherwood West, and representatives from the City’s 
Parks Board, Planning Commission, City Council, 
Police Advisory Board, and the Sherwood School 
District. The City Council will appoint CAC members 
through an open application process. CAC meetings 
will be open to the public, and each meeting will 
include dedicated time for non-CAC members to 
provide input. 

General Public 

May 2021 
through May 
2022(7 
meetings total) 

Technical Advisory 
Committee (TAC) 

The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) will be 
composed of public service provider 
representatives: City Public Works, Engineering, 
Community Services, the Police department, Clean 

Agency 
Partners & 
Service 
Providers 

May 2021 
through May 
2022 

 

1 2019 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 21 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 5 

Tool/Activity Description Audience Timing 

Water Services, Oregon Department of 
Transportation, regional economic and housing 
development professionals will also provide input 
into this work. City staff will lead the recruitment of 
TAC members. 

(7 meetings 
total) 

Community Open 
Houses and Surveys 

Two community open houses will be held at key 
points in the planning process. These community-
wide events are intended to engage the greater 
Sherwood community and provide opportunities for 
a diverse range of community members to review 
and comment on issues, alternative approaches, 
and draft recommendations. They are expected to 
include a combination of live events (either online 
or in-person, depending on the status of the COVID-
19 pandemic) and will also include an online survey 
component that will remain open for several weeks 
to gather additional feedback from community 
members who were unable to attend the live event. 
Community members will be notified about 
upcoming open house events through the use of 
social media posts, emails, postcards, newsletter 
advertisements, and website banners. 

General Public 
Fall 2021 and 
early Spring 
2022 

Stakeholder 
Interviews 

As part of the project team’s research on economic 
opportunities and potential challenges, Leland 
Consulting Group will conduct five interviews with 
local and regional economic development officials 
to explore how technology, health care, office, 
hospitality including farm to table concepts, retail, 
and other employment uses might evolve in 
Sherwood West. 

Economic 
Development 
Officials 

June 2021 

Project Website 

A project website hosted by the City’s will be used 
as the main repository of project information, 
including draft and final deliverables, upcoming 
meeting announcements, and contact information 
for project staff. The website will be updated 
frequently over the course of the project to keep 
interested parties up to date on current information 
and opportunities to be involved. 

https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/ 
sherwood-west-preliminary-concept-plan-re-look 

General Public Ongoing 

Interested Parties 
Email List 

The City will maintain a database that includes email 
addresses for interested parties and important 

General Public Ongoing 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 22 of 205

https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/sherwood-west-preliminary-concept-plan-re-look
https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/sherwood-west-preliminary-concept-plan-re-look


SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 6 

Tool/Activity Description Audience Timing 

stakeholder groups in the project area. The 
database will be updated as the project progresses 
and will track individuals and groups who express 
interest in the project. The database will be used for 
notification of upcoming engagement opportunities 
and communicating project progress, draft 
deliverables, and key milestones. 

Local Newsletter 

Articles with project information will be included as 
part of the City’s e-newsletter and will be shared 
with past and current subscribers to share 
information, increase project awareness, and 
provide additional avenues for community input. 

General Public Ongoing 

Social Media 
The City’s social media accounts will be used to 
share information, increase project awareness, and 
provide avenues for community input. 

General Public Ongoing 

Pop-Up Events 

The City anticipates conducting several pop-up 
engagement events at planned local events such as 
farmers markets, fairs, or festivals. Specific dates or 
events have not yet been identified. Any 
engagement that occurs as part of these events will 
be conducted in accordance with current COVID-19 
social distancing protocols. 

General Public 
Ongoing, 
beginning in 
summer 2021 

Property Owner 
Mailings 

To ensure that all property owners and residents in 
the Sherwood West area are aware of the project 
and process, the team will send postcards and/or 
pamphlets with project information via mail at key 
points in the process, including at the outset of the 
project, prior to community-wide events, and prior 
to the final CAC/TAC meeting. 

Area Property 
Owners and 
Residents 

Ongoing 

Project 
Snapshots/FAQs 

The project team will prepare public-friendly 
summaries of project progress, findings, 
alternatives, and conclusions at key points in the 
process. These “snapshots” are intended to capture 
and distill project information and  in a fun and 
easily-digestible way for consumption by the greater 
Sherwood community. 

General Public Ongoing 

Printed Materials 

The project team will develop eye-catching graphic 
posters, postcards, flyers, and/or brochures with 
project information to display at local businesses, 
community centers, parks, grocery stores, and other 
locations frequented by community members. 
These materials will include links to the project 

General Public Ongoing 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 23 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PLAN │ PAGE 7 

Tool/Activity Description Audience Timing 

website, information about upcoming opportunities 
to engage, updates on project milestones, and 
contact information for project staff. 

 

Project Schedule 
The following schedule outlines the tasks and key deliverables, as well as preliminary timing for TAC/CAC 
meetings and community open houses. This schedule is preliminary and subject to change; it may be 
updated over the course of the project. 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 24 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Open House #1 (Online) 
Summary

APPENDIX D 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 25 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

OPEN HOUSE #1 SUMMARY 
TO: Sherwood West Community Advisory Committee and Technical Advisory Committee 
FROM: Kyra Haggart and Joe Dills, Angelo Planning Group 
DATE: April 28, 2023 

Introduction 
This memorandum provides a summary of the results from the Sherwood West Concept Plan Online 
Open House #1. The Online Open House survey questions were available from Wednesday, October 6 
through Sunday, October 24, 2021. A link to the Online Open House was posted to the project website 
and the City’s social media accounts (Facebook, Twitter, and Nextdoor), sent to the project’s interested 
parties email list and all City boards and commissions email lists, included on flyers posted in five 
downtown sign monuments, and at Sherwood High School for student engagement. Open house 
participants were invited to enter into a drawing for one of five $10 gift cards to local businesses as a 
thank you for their participation. The Online Open House received 135 responses to the survey 
questions. 

The Online Open House provided some background about Sherwood West; presented the project vision, 
goals, and evaluation criteria; and shared a summary of each of the six Plan Concepts. Because of the 
breadth of information covered in the open house, participants were invited to select explore any topics 
that interested them from a menu of pages. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 26 of 205

https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/5bcbecdd4f7748f58ec43415eee852d3
https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/5bcbecdd4f7748f58ec43415eee852d3


SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 2 

Survey Results 

VISION, GOALS, AND EVALUATION CRITERIA 
What is your level of support for the vision statement? 

 

 

What is your level of support for the goals and evaluation criteria? 

 

31%

19%12%

19%

19%
Strongly support

Somewhat support

Neutral

Somewhat do not support

Strongly do not support

28%

21%17%

13%

21% Strongly support

Somewhat support

Neutral

Somewhat do not support

Strongly do not support

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 27 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 3 

Do you think that the vision and goals represent the values of the greater Sherwood 
community? Why or why not? 
• Yes, the vision and goals reflect the values of the greater Sherwood Community. Please make certain 

that in the aggregate considering all new development in Sherwood West well provide a well-
balanced and fully functioning community that continues to be attractive and well serve all current 
and future residents and businesses.      

• There is no need for added business/industrial development in this area. Actually, even residential 
should be put on hold until all current land within the Sherwood boundaries are fully explored and 
subsequently developed. 

• Not the values of keeping Sherwood a small town with neighborly feel. These designed areas with 
added business and industry just turn Sherwood into more and more of a cookie cutter suburb with 
more traffic and more hustle and bustle. 

• Sherwood West is a pipe dream.  The infrastructure in Sherwood is a joke.  There is a strong need to 
drive from pt A to pt B, but it takes soooo long to traverse those points.  The increase in tax base 
only seems to drive an increase in taxes, I don't understand how that works.  Sherwood has lost it's 
identity and the reason people decided to move here in the first place.  It's no longer affordable and 
now we're only adding to the issue.  Are we going to become the next Hillsboro?  Growth is 
inevitable, but do it smartly; this is just outright a simple money grab and politicians trying to make a 
name for themselves. 

• Yes, great job! 

• I don't think there should be industrial or office development on this side of town.  Everything else 
looks great. 

• The vision and goals represent Sherwood which is essentially to continue what was created with the 
development of the Woodhaven neighborhood. A neighborhood that is connected and can be 
walked.  

• Expanding Sherwood’s borders will only bring increased traffic and property taxes. The new 
development will not pay for itself, so please don’t tell me that my already high taxes won’t go up. 
Bringing MAX to Sherwood would give homelessness, drugs and increased crime to the area. 
Hillsboro is an excellent example of this. This proposal will only benefit a handful of people, namely 
the landowners and developers. The citizenry of Sherwood will see a decreased quality of life  

• I appreciate the focus on preserving existing greenways and habitat. On the topic of walkable 
communities, it would be great to see Sherwood utilize more multi-use building developments 
(retail space, office space, and apartments) to improve density. 

• As long as it doesn't turn into what is on Roy Rogers and Scholls Ferry, I support the vision and goals.  
High density/medium density housing doesn't fit with Sherwood's look and feel.  Sherwood has a 
small town atmosphere and it should stay that way. It is one of the many reasons people move to 
Sherwood.  

• yes.... bring more commerce to sherwood - while keeping the small town feel - and quality of life. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 28 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 4 

• I do not believe now is the time to look at a project with such a huge impact on the city. We are 
dealing with very uncertain times  and adding to an already strained infrastructure. As a 25 year plus 
resident I see allot of industrial add especially along Tualatin/Sherwood Rd that has made traffic 
along that route ineffective to say the least. As these projects are submitted and approved who 
bears the burden of the roadway strain, the traffic increase, the environmental impact? I don't see 
anything the vison or goals  that places that responsibility  directly on those who stand to make the 
most profit from the project. 

• Seems like a fair representation.  

• Continuing the small town feel (I live in Old Town), keeping natural environments clean, and 
"ignoring" the dividing 99 highway  

• Yes. Sherwood is a friendly, welcoming town. These goals and vision would promote growth that is 
aligned with that lifestyle. 

• No.  No neighborhood values.  Trees, walkable streets.  Schools. 

• In some ways yes and in some ways no. In my mind, goal #2 of attracting large employers and 
developers stands in stark contrast to the maintaining the heritage and small town feel of 
Sherwood, as described in goal #1. Furthermore, I’m very alarmed with warehouse after warehouse 
that’s consuming every commercial lot coming down Tualatin Sherwood Rd. Those buildings destroy 
sense of community, design esthetic and/or of a master plan. Business parks should look more like 
the Nike campus or like those in North Hillsboro, of which many are leased by Nike as satellite 
offices. High berms, nice landscaping, variety of sizes, different assistance, limited entry, etc. I’d love 
to see more stringent/cohesive criteria for all new commercial building construction such as 
architecture, area improvements, landscaping requirements, etc. to make sure Sherwood continues 
to feel and look like Sherwood, even though it’ll be “bigger.” 

• Many businesses are looking to escape the violent climate of downtown Portland.   This helps 
attract small businesses to leave Portland for a better and safer community. 

• Yes, the vision and goals seek to grow our community while maintaining a connection to our 
beautiful natural Oregon resources, preserving our small town feel, and creating opportunities to 
diversify our community.  

• Although many of the goals and considerations are on target and thoughtful, and could be used as 
models in planning for communities across our country, the underlying concept that Sherwood 
needs to increase is population is disturbing. More residents, more traffic, more congestion should 
not be goals. Improving the lives of existing residents should be the focus. We moved here to escape 
the rampant growth of population and traffic and congestion of our previous community. We really 
do not want to face that condition yet again. Keep our growth at a maximum of 1 1/2 percent per 
year, not an iota more.  

• While the vision and goals may represent the values of the Sherwood community, I don't believe it.  
This area, like previous expansion of Sherwood will just turn into a bedroom community while 
developers cash out and fails gt benefit Sherwood as a whole.  Increase the strength of statements 
for large employers and reduce the dependence on residential. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 29 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 5 

• Housing (both affordable and other) continues to be a challenge for the area.  Designing a 
neighborhood around the new high school makes sense to anchor the community.   

• No I think its a tax grab and doesnt serve the community. One of the things that makes Sherwood 
unique (and why people live here) is the small town feel with the rural surroundings. Youre taking 
that away just to create more suburbia. I think your goals would be FAR FAR better served by 
investing that money into upgrading transportation, upgrading the employment near and around 
highway 99 and by investing more into parks and schools. This is a bedroom community not a big 
employment hotspot. Youre going to devalue peoples property, lower values of home and ruin a 
sense of community if you keep going. This isnt Tigard. If we wanted sprawling excess growth we 
would live there instead.  

• Yes, I think the vision and goals are well written and make sense. I feel that protection of our natural 
resources and areas should be one of the highest priorities. As cities expand and developers move in 
to lobby for that expansion, the natural areas and transportation are the first things that become 
"too expensive" to make the investment. Sherwood should make sure that these portions of the 
plan are well protected to avoid future government from bypassing them in haste for more tax 
money. also, transportation of people will likely be much different in the future, maybe everyone 
won't own a car, but limited parking is also an eyesore and issue because developers cant sell 
parking spots. So the streets that were meant for transportation turn into parking lots. They also 
cant sell bike paths, or sidewalks so those also get removed. These should all be thoroughly 
protected. 

• yes, somewhat 

• Yes:  neighborhoods, walkability, and greenspace mixed with local jobs. 

• We want to keep Sherwood the existing size that if currently is 

• NO, Let the rest of metro become a traffic mess, the current Tualitan Sherwood Road plan is joke 
and will be at capacity the moment it is opened... 

• We are witnessing the poor traffic planning that was done with the new high school as we have 
School Administration on top the building in the early fall trying to figure out how to alleviate the 
massive morning and afternoon congestion. 

• Sherwood West of course will Not have enough parking and the streets will be filled with cars.  
Initially it looks fine but as the area ages the families grow older the kids need cars and the quantity 
of cars increases. The developer is long gone and the city streets are his parking plan.  (See Villebois, 
Wilsonville, Langer Parkway Sherwood, Woodhaven Sherwood) If you can limit on street parking and 
make the a realistic assessment of the parking issues and mandate a real world number of spaces 
then I would be more supportive. (See Wilsonville Charbonneau area) somewhat. not sure the 
longtime residents are being heard that live outside the current city limits.no 

• Concerned that long time residents that live outside the current city limits are being heard. 

• "The greater Sherwood community lives here, because we are not in favor of housing density and 
instead appreciate the country and generous lot sizes. We want to be able to move freely about. 
Traffic is already a huge problem, and packing more people in here, whether it's to live or work here, 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 30 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 6 

will further reduce our quality of life. Instead of chasing after more and more property tax revenue, 
why don't you prioritize existing Sherwood residents who are your voting constituents? You heard 
the outcry from Sherwood residents a few years ago - what makes you think we've changed our 
minds? 

• This plan of growth will put further strain on Sherwood's water supply. Residents have already been 
urged to limit their water usage, so what's going to happen when thousands more users are added?" 

• No not at all, what makes Sherwood Sherwood is it being and staying small... the size that it is 
period.   

• NO.  We have development & building background.  Okay with thoughtful housing but not crowded 
subdivisions, and most certainly, NOT THE BLIGHT THAT IS SOUTH HILLSBORO AND THAT UNSIGHTLY 
RIVER TERRACE SUBDIVISIONS.   

• The size of Sherwood is great the way it is, the majority of residents are here for the smaller town 
that it is,  it's already gotten way bigger, we're done with the growth. End of story 

• Yes, enjoy the goal to support the small town feel.  Walkability is something that is a challenge for 
some of the outlying areas of Sherwood so it is nice to see that as a focus to improve and have as a 
goal for this expansion plan. 

• No! You are planning on taking valuable farm land and wet lands and turn it into high density 
housing. The wet lands at the intersection on Elwert and Edy are not conducive to building and 
would ruin the habitat for many native animals and plants. I don't think the current community 
wants high density housing ruining our beautiful natural and farm areas. If your looking for tax 
revenue take back land bought by Metro (baker creek area) and get that back on the tax base.  

• No one is asking for Sherwood to grow except for the money hungry developers and builders and if 
it's the Mayor too we'll get him replaced... a group of us are going to organize and fight this just as 
much and more..as you are pushing this on our community  

• No, I believe it supports money hungry politicians who are trying to make a name for themselves.  
Please why not leave the land alone and let the farmers make a living and have places of natural 
habitat rather than constantly and continually destroying the lands.  Sherwood is big enough as it is 
and all you are doing is taking away the livelihoods of many generational farmers who provide 
product for the rest of us.  It is time to stop the expansions and start putting your monies into 
remodeling and redesigning existing areas, especially those where we have closed buildings or 
empty houses that are run down and eye sores!  

• Is it being developed too quick then any road development? How about improve/build more 
""roads"" first before start to do any more development? Currently 99 and Sunset traffics were bad 
enough, not even talk about Edy road and Elmer. 

• What you have here sounds just like the horror of building that has happened along Scholls Ferry 
and Roy Rodgers. You say transportation and neighborhoods will be connected, fine, but what about 
actually getting to this area? The traffic density all around the area will increase and it's already 
awful during many parts of the day. You need to look at the bigger picture of quality of life for 
everyone in Sherwood, not just your new project. This is not a good idea. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 31 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 7 

• Being 'complementary' to other expansion is your problem. You should strive to be better, much 
better. What's been happening nearby is awful. It sucks the life out of people. It's depressing. 

Is there anything else you’d like to tell us about the vision, goals, or evaluation 
criteria? 
• We are particularly interested in the economic development and employment center aspects of the 

Vision and Goals which will need to be carefully integrated and connected with the residential and 
commercial aspects centered on multi-modal transportation goals. Then, Sherwood will become 
great destination for living and working into the future.    

• Sherwood West is mostly agricultural land at present, as well as wild undeveloped land. It would be 
great if this were to remain untouched by major development. 

• "preserve the community’s heritage and small-town feel" mentioned in goal #1 is not possible when 
we keep cramming in high-density housing, increasing the town population by leaps and bounds. 
Sherwood used to be a small town, but now feels like it is just another suburb.  

• We need a 55and up single level home neighborhood, smaller homes, 1800-2200. 

• To create this vision the whole Sherwood West Area will most likely need to be brought into the 
UGB at the same time in order for land developers to work together with the city to build out the 
plan. Bringing in portions of the area into the UBG over different periods of time would threaten the 
ability to fulfill the plan. 

• you have no mention of maintaining housing values of the boarding homes. How you develop Edy 
Road will make or break family's livelihoods.  

• I currently live in the Woodhaven neighborhood and absolutely love the abundance of nature trails. 
This feels like a unique characteristic of Sherwood and love to see this tradition continue with newer 
developments. 

• I'm not really in favor of large employers or industrial/technology parks in Sherwood West. I would 
rather see smaller businesses, retailers, etc, and keep the larger employers in the existing 
Sherwood/Tualatin/Tigard industrial areas. I am strongly in favor of preserving our natural spaces 
and would love to see a network of walking trails, paths, and parks included in the Sherwood West 
plan. 

• With the changes we are facing as a greater region, Sherwood has a chance to be a leader in 
developing criteria based off more that the short term tax base gain. As far as employment 
opportunities, currently our local businesses are hard pressed to have enough staff to keep their 
doors open! If the city is not looking at the immediate and long term impact any project has on 
power consumption, projected water use, impact on traffic patterns, and long term environmental 
impact, then I can only assume we are a for profit managed city and if so need to look at my ongoing 
residency of Sherwood, a city I have loved to be part of for over 25 years and as a lifetime Oregonian 
and resident of the greater Portland metro all my life I have seen managed growth and for profit 
growth in many areas, the difference is easy to see with time. I want to know there is enough water 
to put out a house fire and generate electricity for many generations to come. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 32 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 8 

• Transportation vision within Sherwood West is great. But with the potential for thousands of new 
jobs and residents within the area how do those that don’t live in Sherwood get to those jobs and 
those that live in the area but work elsewhere reliably get to those places of work. Existing 
infrastructure, even with widening of Tualatin-Sherwood Road will certainly not meet the growing 
demand. Southern arterial plan should instead be Southern Expressway with dedicated transit 
lanes/express lanes in order to adequately connect Sherwood West and the rest of Sherwood to I-5.  

• Greater emphasis should be placed on safe biking and walking routes since there is already a major 
highway bisecting the town that is unsafe to cross at times. 

• I will say that if we can incorporate an area as well thought out and designed as Wilsonville’s 
Villebois area, people would come in droves. The area is beautifully landscaped, has lots of elevation 
changes (roads, buildings, etc.), different building plans (so they don’t look cookie cutter), 
common/recreational areas, etc. They have a great mix of high, medium, and low density design 
plans to attract buyers of all incomes and budgets. 

• Traffic management and road surface quality must be a top priority.  Tualatin-Sherwood Rd must be 
improved and accommodate the businesses newly placed on SW Olds Place/ SW Arrow. 

• A few goals I would like to see are: 

– Multiple public charging stations for electric vehicles 
– A noise abatement program to get the noisy vehicles refitted with appropriate sound muffling 

equipment. Traffic cameras cannot detect and remedy ""glass pack syndrome"" We need 
regulations with specific maximums on db level, and then enforcement of same.  

– The more development continues, the smaller our wonderful downtown area becomes in 
proportion. I think this is lost in the above planning. If we choose not to grow,  we will not need 
to do all this expensive planning. *However, we could be spending the energy developing plans 
and programs to improve and upgrade many of the residential and retail structures that are in 
disrepair or just need updating. Also putting in place and enforcing minimum landscaping  
requirements, especially on rental units. " 

• I just want to ask everyone involved in this Sherwood West Concept Plan to completely think 
through what we want Sherwood to look like in the future. Let me just reference one current 
project.  This is the home building project on Brookman Rd.  I don't live on Brookman Road, but I 
drive on it occasionally.  There will be a lot of homes that will be built and I fear that the traffic could 
be hazardous.  The road somehow needs to be widened and the S-curve on the east end of 
Brookman Road needs to be straightened. What I don't understand was why Sherwood was forced 
to incorporate that parcel of land into the city limits.  As I remember it, the citizens of Sherwood 
voted three times to reject adding that land to the city.  When I contacted Kim Thatcher, she said 
that state law required us to incorporate the land. Let me be clear and say I am not against growth.  
That will come.  What we need to do, and hopefully you agree, is the growth needs to be planned 
and managed. Good Luck 

• While I recognize the vision statement is mostly an aspirational statement, I feel the wording of 
"High Paying Jobs" will cause problems.  How will that be measured?  Does that mean that 
restaurants will be excluded?  Certainly some of those jobs are not high paying.  I think using "Well 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 33 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 9 

Paying Jobs" is more ambiguous and allows more wiggle room  as we measure success against the 
vision. 

• I am concerned about the special interest groups pushing industrial and commercial near that high 
school.  I do not think that is in the best interest of the Sherwood community.  The Tualatin 
Sherwood Road area is already an established and growing industrial and commercial zone.  There is 
no reason to plant industrial and commercial zoning around or near the high school.   

• Instead of worrying about ""complementing"" the growth on Urban Boundary's western edge, why 
not protect the rural feel we have and instead build better roads, expand them and help revitalize 
downtown? I think if you asked the citizens you would find most have no desire for Sherwood to get 
bigger. That abomination of homes on Roy Rogers and Scholls Ferry drives taxes I am sure but not a 
single person I have talked to thinks it improves Tigard in any meaningful way. Its one of the reason I 
left that city. All money, no heart. Sounds like Sherwood is headed that way too. The vision is 
misguided. Goals are better served investing in the community at hand. 

• Include a focus on wine and food oriented hospitality. 

• It would be nice to see more hospitality industry along the 99 corridor to accommodate wine 
tourism - hotel, restaurant, etc. 

• It's bad enough seeing all the development and farm land taken away at the end of Roy Roger's and 
Scholls ferry... we don't want it continued down to us in Sherwood.  

• Without a West Side bypass this plan is a Mess. With the massive development to the North, South 
Beaverton, the massive King City project and lack of long term transportation network this is going 
to be a mess. No major manufacturing or distribution company is going be land locked from a major 
highway system i.e. I-5,217,26.  The idea that we crowd the roads to the point of misery to get 
people out of their cars is not and will not be a effective plan, just wishful thinking and  piss poor 
planning. 

• There is already an epidemic of clear cutting trees on rural lots, and I don't want to see it get any 
worse. Your statement: "Existing mature trees and areas of dense tree canopy are preserved WHERE 
FEASIBLE" means that developers like Metropolitan Land Group and Randy Sebastian of Renaissance 
Homes don't have to bother - it's cheaper for them to destroy all of the trees so their heavy 
equipment can roll through faster and their profits add up faster too (to them, it's not feasible to 
save any trees). Frankly, I don't care about their profits - I care about my community. It happens 
over and over again. The little tiny trees they commit to planting in their developments are not 
equivalent to the 100-year-old fir trees that provide shade & oxygen, and rid C02 from our 
environment. These monstrous developments, like Metropolitan Land Group’s River Terrace 1 & 2, 
are speeding up global warming. I urge you to stop this plan.  

• Reverse the sale...give the developer/ builder all who is involved money wise... give them their 
money back! 

• PLEASE DON'T LET IT HAPPEN 

• It is a very delicate balance to keep small town feel and walkability with transportation growth and 
integration of nearby urbanizing areas.  The inevitable compromises that come with these projects 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 34 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 10 

will need to be anchored by this vision to maintain the proper balance, no easy feat! The map so far 
in this presentation has not shown the proposed boundaries for business/residential/recreation, but 
I'm sure that will come later in the presentation.  That is where the balance will be key. 

• Think about what this area looks like now and what you would be leaving for future generations by 
putting in high density housing. the steepness of the terrain would create nothing but water run off 
and erosion issues into Chicken creek thus destroying even more habitat for native species. 

• It is a shame that our elected officials find it necessary to destroy our lands, our farms, and our 
history all for the sake of making money and using funds which need to be directed to protect the 
lands and current farms.  We are tired of the takeover and the fact that you do not allow people to 
vote on these projects before you begin the work.  People should have a say as to what they want 
done with the land prior to your posting documentation such as above.  A simple vote as to asking 
the people do you want the land developed or left as is, that is all you need to do.  If the people say 
leave as is, then go find something else to do and stop the moving forward.  YOU NEED TO ASK THE 
PEOPLE WHAT THEY WANT..IT IS NOT UP TO A FEW OF YOU TO MAKE THESE DECISIONS FOR THE 
MASSES. 

• I bought a house here because I loved the privacy and view of my back yard. But it is no more. All 
trees were gone now. I will see my ""neighbors"" after a year or two. I ""disapprove/hate"" it but I 
could not do anything about it. As people said money did talk. I bet no city leaders even live in here 
or they may have big properties and not care about regular residents. 

• You paint a rosy picture of this perfect community you want to create. The reality is that you will 
create more congestion, more ordinary ugly houses and another area demonstrating that the dollar 
is really the driving force of development and not innovative vision and imagination. It will cater to 
the lowest common denominator and be another development blight on our landscape. 

• Wake up and try to be really innovative and different. Don't cater to the bare minimum. Have the 
courage to really be imaginative and do something different and exciting. Yet another cookie cutter 
neighborhood isn't needed or wanted. 

MIXED EMPLOYMENT AREAS 
Think about the map of potential mixed employment areas. Do these areas look about 
right to you? Do you have any comments or suggestions? 
• No, no, no!  There are many "For Lease" signs all around Sherwood in industrial sites and strip malls. 

This means that there is a great deal of unused business real estate at present, and so there is no 
need to develop more business land/properties. Use the current vacant properties first, and only 
once we have 100% occupancy should we consider more development. We should not carry on with 
the assumption that development is good in and of itself. We are a small town - let's keep it that 
way! 

• Yes, transportation infrastructure including multi-modal is most important for the success of each 
area. Yes, about right as long as the re-looked "concept" can have a level of flexibility that allows 
creative and attractive mixed uses on the fringes of each transitioning to multi-family and single 
family residential uses.   

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 35 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 11 

• Area #2 seems poor for transportation flow to High School. So many of these small commercial 
corners are difficult for businesses to stay afloat. 

• We have too many giant, industrial buildings arising between Sherwood and Tualatin. Do we really 
need more on the west side of town as well??? 

• Area 3 really needs to have at least one grocery store. 

• i don't think putting commercial or industrial next to the high school makes any sense at all.  Why 
wouldnt we want nice residential neighborhoods right next to the school/  i cant think of another 
recently built school that has anything but residential next to it . 

• Yay!  More traffic for our already over burdened roads. 

• They generally look right to me.  I think the emphasis on mixed employment is good.  I think retail 
locations need to be minimized along 99W.  I don't want 99W in Sherwood to look like 99W in 
Tigard which is a visual and traffic abomination. 

• Don’t do it. Period.  

• I agree with areas 3 and 4 because of their proximity to Hwy 99 and visibility. There would also be 
less impact to existing residential areas 

• Area one is too big and appears to completely disregard the creeks through the middle of it.  Looks 
like no consideration for green space.   

• With the extreme growth already existing and in progress by off Scholls and Roy Rogers, near the 
Mountainside High School, I fear the level of traffic and congestion is already past the threshold of 
livability. More development in this area is a bad idea. When the plan sites a need for more 
employment, it does not specify how many sherwood residents are currently employed, nor does it 
state a specific goal for how many residents should be employed. Nor does it give any specific target 
for existing average pay nor goals for such. This all seems like good intentions, but how do we gauge 
success? Is it providing jobs for one percent more of our residents, is it raising the mean average 
wages by two percent? Of the new jobs created in Sherwood, what percentage will be Sherwood 
residents, and what percentage will be new commuters, clogging our existing infrastructure. I don't 
see anything in place to measure the success of these plans.  

• "One of the goals is for ""Neighborhood retail nodes provide residents with walkable  

• access to goods and services"".  Given the map, the only way to accomplish this is to have mixed 
commercial/residential development, similar to what has transpired in Orenco and Villebois.  The 
committee should review the success of these ventures prior to finalizing the document. 

• It looks good.  I am fine with this. 

• Area 1 is problematic, depending on Roy Rogers for transportation will be a disaster, it already is a 
problem.  There are also significant woodland resources in this area that would be destroyed by 
industrial parks. 

• As someone who lives off of Lebeau Rd. I am disappointed but not surprised to see Area #1 as 
priority development land. This was slated as sports fields and potentially a school in the 2016 plan. I 
hate to say I imagine large box buildings like what is along Tualatin Sherwood road placed here, 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 36 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 12 

rather than something more like a more open Langer's Farm development but with a business park 
(similar to Mohawk or Kruse Way). 

• Would area 3 be a possible location for hospitality, food and wine oriented development? 

• All except 2. I’m not sure I’d want to see commercial space there 

• Looks ok. 

• Area #2. Traffic at Elwert and Haide is a mess at the start of the school day. Putting businesses in 
that area would add to the congestion. 

• "Traffic! Elwert Road cannot handle any more traffic, as there has already been a noticeable 
increase in traffic and accidents, including rollover crashes, since new housing developments and 
the high school have gone in. It was never intended for semi-truck traffic, and that is exactly what 
industrial and manufacturing businesses will bring. Please don’t expand this country road to a 4-lane 
highway – these are ecologically sensitive areas with creeks and wildlife. Let's not put more wear 
and tear on the roads and diesel exhaust in the air. 

• 99W also has problematic traffic congestion, and ODOT and Metro have listed it as a ""Tier 2"" 
priority level, not Tier 1. Apparently, they don't think there is a problem. With more development, it 
will only get worse. 

• Area #2 is certain NOT ""mostly flat"". Have you traveled up Edy Road?  

• No none of it looks right, we have empty retail space that has been empty for years... and the 
existing business have reduced hours now because they can't hire workers... no one wants to work. 
Sherwood is great the way it is... 

• Agree with these areas being along the busy main roads and seems to be the best areas for the 
required business tax base to sustain the city's growth.  As a resident near Edy/Elwert I have concern 
over the North/South traffic plan, but assume that will be addressed later in the presentation.  I 
would hope there will be some architectural standards in these areas to emphasize the inviting and 
higher class the images of existing business represent and that these areas do not just become large 
flat front buildings with no character or charm.  Sherwood's shopping centers and standalone offices 
have done a fairly good job with this, but I worry about the more industrial setting of zone 1. 

• On Area 3 you say "some slopes" it is steep!!! Take a walk and look at it. what isn't steep is a wet 
land area. Get out of the office and take a look at the areas! Not the place for Mixed employment 
areas. There are High Voltage lines that run thru the area too and building is not permitted under 
those anyway.  

• I don’t understand why the creek space/green space in area 1 is not protected?? 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 37 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 13 

Which of the target industries would you like to see developed in Sherwood West? 

 

Are there any other employment uses that you think would be a good fit for 
Sherwood West? 
• Clean industry Corporate Headquarters uses which is somewhat inherent in the "tech park" but 

without being limited to "tech" uses. Need more definition. Will read the above reports.  

• small, locally owned businesses 

• I dont support employment uses for Sherwood West.  That should all be on the eastern side of town 
where there is tons of new industrial lands being developed. 

• restaurants  

• Absolutely not 

• Restaurant space and grocery 

• We need more local businesses, and a locally operated grocery store. If I see one more big box chain 
store in Sherwood I will cry into my Symposium coffee. This town is incredibly family friendly-what 
about a decent space for more childcare centers or a children’s museum? You mention centers for 
high-paying jobs, but we won’t be a filling those jobs if people don’t have childcare. 

• For area four, I could see wine related business development, but what would make this a big win 
for Sherwood, is if we had a significant ""Sherwood, Gateway to WV Wine Country "" statement 
piece [sculpture or ???] similar to what we see entering Napa Valley Wine Country in California. It is 
an iconic landmark. Sherwood could really benefit from this. And this area 4 could be successful with 
upscale wine themed restaurants, as Napa put in place as their wine region was developing early on. 

• Could use another grocery store on the south end of Sherwood. 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45%

Light industrial or light manufacturing

Tech clusters and tech parks

Office space for tech, medical, and service-
oriented industries

Major healthcare facilities

Multi-tenant flex space as part of a larger
industrial or business park

Wine-related uses such as storage, distribution,
production, and warehousing

% of survey respondents who selected industry

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 38 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 14 

• A Wine Country hotel and restaurant would be great. The view of Mt Hood and the valley would be 
a draw for visitors. Don’t waste the green hillside and creeks on industrial uses. 

• Maybe more recreation. 

• Consider options for a more integrated design of civic uses. housing, employment, food and 
beverage, retail etc., not strictly segregated into separate zones.  Encourage enough density to 
create the body heat needed to give the location a sense of identity and community. 

• Farms! 

• No none 

• The list created seems to be thought-out and comprehensive.  With carbon initiatives set out by 
state and regions it may be worth pulling renewable energy out of "tech & light manufacturing" to 
be its own category. 

• None. Put it on the East where the infrastructure is already there. 

• I think there should be a library on this side of 99 and that a focus should be making the area 
walkable like the other side of the highway all connects to downtown.  This side of the highway feels 
excluded from what Sherwood has to offer.  Repeat what you did on the other side. 

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about mixed employment in Sherwood 
West? 
• See my Comment #1 above. 

• The City needs to ultimately establish the right balance between local jobs and housing (and 
commercial) with the focus on limiting the length and number of daily trips now that many of us are 
working out of homes which appears to be the trend for the foreseeable future.    

• Sherwood was a nice place to live as a "bedroom" community. Let's not bring a bunch of large 
industrial buildings to town.  Support local business owners, even if they are smaller.  

• it doesnt make sense at all 

• Terrible idea 

• Please build the trails that benefit existing residents FIRST.   

• I can see the Kruger rd / Elwert rd circle traffic overload with area 3.  

• Please stop building the ‘strip mall’ style mixed use business parks. They are soulless, and do not add 
to the beauty of our town. 

• Maybe instead of looking for new mixed employment structures, the city would be better served 
working with consultants and developers to improve the existing business areas, be they strip malls, 
mini business parks that look tired and run down. Funny how reimagining what we already have can 
be so much more productive, And in the process, if the goal is to employ more city residents, get a 
commitment from these businesses that we help update their locations and in exchange they give 
preference to hiring locally.  

• Not enough. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 39 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 15 

• Keep it green and visually appealing. We need clean air and solar powered buildings. No tall 
buildings or unsightly manufacturing, please. Low to moderate traffic is better. 

• I feel like the big industrial parks are covered with all that are going in on Tualatin Sherwood rd.  

• Please don't do it.  

• Understand that most residential folks don't want business in their backyard, but without the 
business tax base their community suffers.  The balance of easy to access businesses with keeping 
traffic low in neighborhoods is one of those key balance points that will be hard to maintain here.  It 
looks like this plan may have a path to success here once we get further into transportation to see 
how roads are directed north/south. 

GREAT NEIGHBORHOODS 
Which great neighborhood principles are the most important to you? 

 

Are there any other principles that you think are important to consider when planning 
new neighborhoods? 
• Traffic congestion is a major concern. This development will create a terrible mess on the existing 

roads, which are already crowded. I live off of Edy Road near to the intersection with Elwert. There 
are already too many cars, driving way too fast, and more neighborhoods will mean a tremendous 
increase in road traffic. This is not good. 

• Put the houses further apart. As close as they put the new ones together, they might as well be 
apartments or townhouses.  

• Cul de sacs, wide streets, minimal street parking 

• Affordability is vitally important and because developers always have to pass their costs onto the 
consumer, one important aspect of affordability is infrastructure costs. We do not want Sherwood 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Integrate new and existing neighborhoods

Provide a variety of housing opportunities

Plan for walkability

Plan parks and schools as destinations

Integrate nature into neighborhoods

Connect greenspaces into a network

% of survey respondents who selected principle as a top priority

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 40 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 16 

West to create spaces that are so upscale as to be unattainable financially. Affordability will drive 
diversity will enhance the lives of all who desire to make Sherwood West their home and work 
destinations.    

• Yes, I would select Integrate nature into neighborhoods as well. 

• On site parking for any apartments or townhouses, with guest parking too.  Creekview Crossing 
residents use Handley for their parking.  Cannery Row apartments use residents use surrounding 
streets as their free parking.  Sunfield Lakes residents use Century Blvd as their parking lot. At least 
one car garages and driveways big enough to park a car / SUV with out blocking sidewalks 

• Impact on school crowding  

• BIKING! 

• NO HIGH DENSITY HOUSING.  Focus primarily on single family dwelling.  The traffic impact is terrible 
otherwise. 

• plenty of travel lanes to get in and out of the neighborhoods to 99W and Tualatin Sherwood Rd 

• The travel lanes that support the neighborhoods needs to be efficient and in good condition. 

• Plan for them to be in other cities, not Sherwood. We have more than enough residents. The photos 
examples shown here are pretty much all tasteful and could be used for cities that need go grow. 
However how about we use these principles in reimagining and refreshing our existing dwellings? 
More is not necessarily better.  

• Stick to single family residence as much as possible. 

• Dont ruin the current property value, dont ruin the look and feel of neighborhoods, don't ruin the 
sense of connectedness with nature. That said, all of these do that. Every single one. 

• A variety of housing opportunities, but the existing parts of Sherwood should be prioritized for 
conversion especially closer to facilities and transportation along Hwy 99. 

• Maximize housing being close to schools so to minimize traffic issues. Be respectful of existing 
homesites. 

• Stop new developments! We don't need them or want them. Once the country is erased, you can 
never get it back.  

• Parking for anywhere that has multi family living. That it will not spill over into surrounding living 
which is a problem in other parts of Sherwood. 

• No new neighborhoods!!!   

• Traffic patterns 

• Think about what the high density house will do to the countryside.  

• There needs to be better, safer pedestrian crossings at multiple places on Edy and Elwert.  

• Single story homes primarily for elderly would be welcome. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 41 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 17 

Think about the map of walkable neighborhood areas. Do these neighborhood areas 
look about right to you? Do you have any comments or suggestions? 
• Let's fully occupy, or even build up, existing land within Sherwood before expanding into this 

western area. Looking at item #4 below: Why does Sherwood need to grow? ""If you build it, they 
will come."" This will prove true. The opposite also holds: Don't build and the town remains small - 
which I view as a good thing. 

• Give kids more space to play in larger yards with houses further apart! 

• Yes, related to the above statements, we notice that the above referenced maps are still showing 
the very expensive reconfiguration of the Elwert/Edy Road intersection and related configurations, 
which now appear to conceptually show a minimum of two bridges across Chicken Creek and one of 
its tributaries as well as an apparent east-west overpass (?) of Edy over Elwert. More to study and 
discuss and to comment on when we address transportation infrastructure in more detail. 
Improving the existing intersection with its existing natural resource crossings with the addition of 
ped/bike crossings will be less expensive and impactful on Chicken Creek and on affordability and 
neighborhoods and parks in that area. Please provide several alternative development scenarios for 
multi-modal transportation with real costs and impact analyses to each of the several alternatives 
and let the Sherwood community comment and decide which works best.         

• they look pretty good 

• Don’t do it 

• I am not familiar enough to offer specific insights. 

• Need a plan for walking to commercial/retail, or revise the goals. 

• I like this look alot. 

• I have a hard time understanding what the goal is. I really want to be constructive but these are all 
just awful and short sighted and illogical. 

• There should be a trail from Lebeau down the west side of the North Development Area. You could 
probably get BPA to move their transmission line to make that land more contiguous. 

• Mixed feelings but overall concept looks reasonable. 

• Don't do it. Leave the farms and nature and the existing large country residential plots.  

• Good network of multiuse trails.  Like the connection to schools and existing trails 

• At the Intersection of Elwert and Edy the road (Edy) goes up steeply. there would be nobody walking 
that hill anyway. So it would be wasted to put anything there. 

• I like the concept, but concerned about the reality of even more kids needing to cross or walk on 
roads that don’t have sidewalks or safe crossing areas.  

• Looks good. 

What housing types do you think will be most important to build in Sherwood West’s 
neighborhoods to help meet the City’s goals related to housing? 
Order below represents results of survey participants ranking types from most to least important 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 42 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 18 

1. Small Single-Family Detached 

2. Standard Single-Family Detached 

3. Cottage Cluster 

4. Townhouse 

5. Duplex 

6. Live-Work Unit 

7. Triplex 

8. Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) 

9. Courtyard Apartments 

10. Mixed Use Building 

11. Fourplex 

12. Apartments 

What types of activities and resources would you like to see at a future community 
park in Sherwood West? 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Ping pong tables

Skate sports

Bocce courts

Indoor sports fields (field house)

Pump track or BMX park

Public art or historical element

Off-leash dog area

Special events programming

Splash pad

Play area

Sports fields or courts

Open lawn area

Lighting

Picnic shelter

Picnic tables, benches, and seating

Permanent restrooms

Natural area

Trails

% of survey respondents who selected amenity

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 43 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 19 

Other: 

• Pickle Ball, Par Course, Practice putting greens 
• I would like to see nothing done on the west side. wrong place for it. 

What types of resources would you like to see at future neighborhood parks in 
Sherwood West? 

 

Other: 

• Par Course, practice putting greens, pickle ball courts 
• None. Parks invite the homeless to "camp" 

Is there anything else you’d like to tell us about creating great neighborhoods in 
Sherwood West? 
• Please do not expand into the Sherwood West area at all! 

• Please please please help muffle the sound of Roy Roger's and even Elwert and Edy. 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Ping pong tables

Skate sports

Chess tables

Splash pad

Restrooms

Community garden

Pedestrian-scale lighting

Open lawn area

Sports courts

Play area

Permanent restrooms

Picnic tables, benches, and seating

Shelter, shade structure, or gazebo

Natural area

% of survey respondents who selected amenity

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 44 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 20 

• Middle housing and attainable housing is a must. Better opportunities to purchase, Mixed 
neighborhoods are needed. 

• Walkability and natural areas Sherwood and Joe Dills and his team have got down, but multi-modal 
connections between neighborhoods and all other uses in Sherwood West need to be carefully 
planned and safe for all.     

• A variety of housing includes a variety of lot sizes.  Setbacks need to be increased - house footprint 
to lot size is too small in Sherwood! 

• Create areas for parks BEFORE planning for housing. 

• Dont build them there. Sherwood West is a bad idea. 

• I thought the plan showed there was enough land within existing Sherwood. I'll have to go look at it 
again. 

• I wouldn't like to see any increased housing or parks in Sherwood West. Please don't do it.  

• You said it here... the city does not have enough land to accommodate... so the question has been 
answered.  No land! no building anything! 

• Understand the housing report showing not enough land.  I am tired of small lots with houses on top 
of each other.  So if there is opportunity to have high density housing near the business sectors, but 
keep some larger (1/4, 1/3, 1/2 acre) lots on the edges to help blend from high density city centers 
to more open feel near the edges that blend with surrounding farmland 

• Keep it on the east side where there is infrastructure.  

• Many people who purchased homes on this side of 99 did so because of the open space.  Please 
maintain open and green space.   

• The type of housing ranking in this Survey DID NOT WORK! Apartments always showed up second 
and could not be changed. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 45 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 21 

CHICKEN CREEK GREENWAY 
What do you think is most important: providing more opportunities to access the 
creek corridors, or preserving and enhancing creek corridor habitats? 

 

Which greenway elements are most important to you? 

 

77%

23%

Preserving and enhancing
habitats

Providing opportunities to
access creeks

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Neighborhood edge

Multi-use paths

Integrated stormwater management

Access to nature

Wildlife corridors

Nature trails

% of survey respondents who selected element as a top priority

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 46 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 22 

In addition to Chicken Creek, are there any other natural areas in Sherwood West that 
you think should be protected as part of a greenspace network? 
• As much of the forest as possible.  

• No, great job! 

• cedar creek 

• No 

• Sherwood is just a very sad story. Our family is looking to move out towards McMinnville. All you 
see everywhere in Sherwood is destruction. Tualatin Sherwood, every little piece of land going to 
development. And this shooting range... My god, this is ridiculous. It's just a little piece of red 
America. Oh well, I guess we had good memories while it lasted. 

• Cedar creek 

• This sounds good: "The Sherwood West Concept Plan offers an opportunity to preserve and 
enhance these natural corridors, provide wildlife crossings, incorporate stormwater management 
practices, and provide access to nature through a network of connected walking trails." But better 
would be to leave the land as is. The pictures provided above as models show how much 
"development" has replaced nature. 

• All that are not yet developed 

• Cedar and Goose Creaks 

• Cedar and Goose Creeks 

• the entire thing 

• Existing habitat areas should not be fragmented. The continuity and contiguousness of the existing 
areas should be preserved and this aspect should be noted and be made a priority for preservation. 
It doesn't matter if you have 100 acres of green space if the are all 1/4 acre parcels that are not 
interconnected. The greenway is not just for humans it is also a path for wildlife. 

• No. 

• I think all of the existing natural areas should remain untouched by your plan.  

• Yes all of it should be protected... don't touch anything! 

• North of the Chicken Creek and Cedar Creek intersection, inside of the proposed business zone.  I'm 
not proposing full protection here, but some element of drainage retention within the business park 
where an element of nature makes a good gathering place for lunchtime walks and having your 
lunch outdoors by a nature pond that helps filter drainage from the industrial area before flowing 
into Chicken/Cedar creeks.  Similar comment at Goose Creek - not full protection but some element 
of nature in the business park 

• the whole west side around Chicken creek 

• Cedar Creek pathway constructed from Stella Olson Park to chicken creek with bike and pedestrian 
access 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 47 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 23 

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about Chicken Creek Greenway or other 
greenspaces in Sherwood West? 
• This is where my house is. Keep the are as it is; keep it safe for existing homes and existing wildlife. 

• As we move into the Community Planning Stage for Sherwood West, the less impactful balance will 
be required between the affordable and efficient provision of the gravity sanitary and storm sewer 
systems and the natural resources areas, which typically recover quickly with careful regrading and 
replanting of indigenous native plant species. These public systems along with water and 
transportation too should be carefully planned and developed to keep costs down and development 
affordable which results in enhancing the general overarching goal of affordability for all residents 
and businesses. If what we build is too expensive, then the goal of diversity of development and 
opportunity for all will suffer.      

• this is a very important part of the livability of Sherwood and i support this part of the plan 

• I live in the Sherwood school district, on Baker Road outside of the city limits. The sprawl north of 
Sherwood is discouraging and it is discouraging that Sherwood's elected leaders want more of the 
same here. 

• I like all of the photo examples that appear here. The more we can do to provide for this, the better 

• Dont build near it. 

• Good job with the keeping the road plan from 2016 that minimized impacts to the creek and slows 
traffic on Elwert. 

• Please don't mess up a good thing. It is great as it is, please leave it be.  

• Sherwood does not want to be Beaverton or like any other town.. 

• Have you looked or walked on the Fanno creek trail? it is filled with homeless camps. it's not even 
safe to walk this trail anymore. is that what you want for Sherwood? 

• Connect Cedar Creek trail 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 48 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 24 

LIVABLE AND CONNECTED STREETS 
Which livable & connected streets principles are the most important to you? 

 

Which of the two street options do you think will best serve Sherwood West? 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Connect all areas of Sherwood West

Streets are places for people of all ages and
abilities

Provide for all modes of travel

Integrate with existing Sherwood

Design for safety

% of survey respondents who selected principle as a top priority

73%

27%

Option 1

Option 2

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 49 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 25 

Looking at the rest of the street plan, are there any specific roads or intersections you 
would like to comment on? 
• Edy & Elwert intersection, in its current form, is extremely dangerous. Option 1 is far better than 

Option 2. Also, Edy Road should be repaved. The current asphalt is rough and creates very loud road 
noise. A smoother surface is needed for this road. 

• We like the idea of developing as many of the new minor collector roads as shown linking the 
neighborhoods serving the north side of Area 3, the west sides of Areas 3 and 4, and the south side 
of Area 5 as Sunset Blvd type street section (treed with planter strip and adequate left turn refuges.  
With the expectation that significant traffic will continue to be a problem for all existing major 
collectors (Elwert and Edy as well as Kruger and Chapman), they should all be developed as 
generous ROW width boulevards with center planter strips and two travel lanes both directions with 
generous left and right turn refuges, maybe including Haide to the rear of the HS and the final 
approach to 99W on Chapman. Obviously, Sherwood working with the County will be generous on 
the arterials of Roy Rogers and Scholls Sherwood Roads. We want to avoid the problems associated 
with Tualatin Sherwood Road when originally planned and developed.         

• There needs to be a light at Chapman and 99 

• Edy and Elwart intersection. Needs to be rerouted for safety.  

• Elwert Road needs to be upgraded so that it is no longer seen as a Sherwood bypass 

• No, as I have not spent any significant amount of time in the area at question.  

• If this plan is developed, the current Edy Road will become the primary East/West traffic path.  Edy 
Road is not anywhere near capable of handling the load that will transpire.  It should get a similar 
makeover as anticipated for Elwert, namely 3 lanes including a turn lane, sidewalks and bike paths 
on both sides, and the same level of amenities as exist on Sunset Blvd. 

• Option 2 destroys my home/property.  It would be devastating for me and my family to be forced to 
move from our home because you would build a road right through it.  I am at 16365 SW Sherwood 
road.  McConnell family. 

• Brookman - Chapman Road will be required to have a stop light controlled intersection. 

• Elwert is going to at least quadruple in usage if you build sherwood west. Go ahead and make it at 
least as busy as Tualatin Sherwood/Roy Rogers. If you go ahead with this plan, itll need to be 4 
lanes.  

• I’d have to spend a lot more time to study this. Trusting that the people on the CAC did that. 

• Does Option 2 keep Elwert two lanes and no turning lanes? 

• What are you planning to do with all of the existing homeowners in that space? People have farms, 
vineyards, stables, and homes that have been around for years. It is unconscionable to displace 
these residents.  

• Leave them all alone.  Enough is enough 

• There should be a roundabout at the Scholls-Sherwood, Lebeau, Elwert Intersection. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 50 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 26 

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about livable and connected streets in 
Sherwood West? 
• the need to be wide enough for traffic and parking 

• I worry about the increased traffic in general. None of the existing roads are designed to handle 
increased traffic. Edy and Elwert are already over used today. I cannot imagine the quality of life (I 
life off of Edy road in the Oregon Trail HOA neighborhood) if this Sherwood West development goes 
forward. I will probably sell (at a nice profit!) and move away - far away. 

• Yes, but only as it relates to site specific development which can be addressed at the Community 
Planning level of analysis, which we expect will occur soon after this Re-Look process.  

• i dont think industrial buildings as those that seem to be contemplated here and "livable 
neighborhoods'  can be in the same concept.  It doesn't make sense 

• more bike and pedestrian friendly 

• Will Elwert rd become bogged down with stops, or continue thru ? 

• Not just "mitigating impacts of regional through-traffic' but mitigating the mentality that we can 
continue to add local traffic onto our streets without it having a negative effect on the quality of life 
for our existing residents. To think otherwise is to deny reality.  

• Please go with option 1.  My wife and I want to retire in our current home and option 2 would force 
us out. 

• Roy Rogers is going to become a disaster. 

• None of these are really viable unless there is massive street expansion 

• Provide access from HWY 99 to Wine Country Gateway development with hospitality, food and 
beverage, retail, etc. 

• Please consider cars. We aren’t giving them up, so please accommodate for them 

• Plan 1 eliminates access to several properties. 

• Provide pedestrian and bike paths.  

• Scrap the Sherwood West plan. It will mess up a beautiful area that people don't want changed.  

• Very strong preference for #1 

• the intersection of Elwert and Edy is a wet land. In the last year a traffic light has been installed and I 
have personally had two close calls where people run the red light on Elwert. There will be a fatality 
here at this intersection and putting more housing is only going to make it worse. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 51 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 27 

ELWERT ROAD DESIGN CONCEPT 
Which of the following principles are the most important to you regarding the future 
design of SW Elwert Road? 

 

Which of the design elements would you most want to see on SW Elwert Road? 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Provide for future transit

Connect west and east

Promote safe and comfortable walking and
biking

Create a green, landscaped corridor

Tame the traffic

Plan for safety

% of survey respondents who selected principle as a top priority

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Consistent fenceline

Public uses (such as parks) along the roadway

Marked crossings

Bike lanes

Planted median

Path connections

Trees to create a canopy

Buffered sidewalks

% of survey respondents who selected element as a top priority

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 52 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 28 

Other: 

• you have trees to create a canopy. we have that now before you destroy it. 
• Fewer cars than we already have. The impact we see today as a result of the new high school is 

already a mess. 

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about the design of SW Elwert Road? 
• Elwert is a rural road at present. It would be nice to keep it that way. 

• As above, Option 2 should be the new preferred alternative based on affordability issues and less 
impact on the existing Chicken Creek natural resource areas. Redeveloping the existing Elwert and 
Edy intersection can be done in a manner that could even provide for a larger roundabout located in 
the NE and/or SW quadrant which appears to be partially developed and farmed upland areas to 
protect the existing riparian and natural habitat areas along the Creek. Enhanced wildlife crossings 
will have to be developed in those areas to which wildlife has already been displaced by the existing 
traffic problems. Developing wildlife crossings and mitigating the impacts of Option 2 should be 
significantly more affordable than the substantial realignment and infrastructure improvements 
planned for Option 1.  Given the current state of affairs in our City, State and Country, we owe it to 
our citizens to plan for efficient and cost effective development at every level.           

• Edy and Elwart's intersection needs to be moved west.  

• need to connect pedestrian/bike the rest of the way to Edy SOON.  it is used and is so much more 
dangerous now with increased HS traffic. 

• it carries about 9,000 average daily trips today and is forecast to carry 14,000 average daily trips in 
2035". In traffic analysis, the effect of moving from 9 to 14 K trips will be more like tripling the 
congestion. I think only a minority of people looking at these options realize that the congestion 
grows exponentially, not linearly. And the more lanes we build, the more cars will be attracted to 
use those lanes. It is a vicious cycle, and if we do not realize that upfront, we will continue to spend 
more and more on street widening projects and just get more and more frustrated with the results. 
The same treatment needs to be applied to Edy Road. 

• Its going to have to expand massively. The traffic is so bad on 99 and Roy Rogers, if you build 
Sherwood West youre going to have at least 14,000 visitors right away (not 2035) becuase you 
create a faster way to get through. right now its more difficult for people to access because its single 
lane but when you make it the ONLY choice for more people, its going to be a mess. 

• Does it remain only two lanes with mini minimal turning lanes? 

• Connect into regional bike pats 

• There are high-voltage towers and lines that run in that area. It is not suitable to place homes near 
them. Please don't built in Sherwood West - I'm begging you. 

• With no further growth is fine the way it is so nothing needs to be done.  

• Why do you have pictures here that are over a year old? The intersection has a traffic signal light at 
it now. Again get out of the office and look at what is existing. 

• Traffic circles work 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 53 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 29 

• Better foot paths to the High School - over passes potentially so traffic is not impaired and can 
accommodate the high influx and exodus of traffic to and from the High School. 

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION 
What destinations do you think are the most important to connect Sherwood West's 
future neighborhoods to by walking and biking? 

 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Electric scooters

Bus

Bike share

Trolley

Bike lanes

Off-street paths

Sidewalks

% of survey respondents who selected destination as a top priority

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 54 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 30 

What types of active transportation infrastructure or programs would you like to see 
in Sherwood West? 

 

Other: 

• There are no bike lanes all the way up Edy and it is heavily travelled by bikes. someone is going to 
get hit here eventually. 

Is there anything else you would like to tell us about active transportation in 
Sherwood West? 
• We like the idea of the Chicken Creek Greenway and active transportation and trail system as 

conceptually planned. We like the idea of affordable bus service through Sherwood West and 
believe that the Elwert/Edy Option 2 plan with roundabout in upland areas in the SW and/or NE of 
that intersection would provide the best and most direct transit service between the new 
employment areas and neighborhoods, connecting to 99W and Downtown and existing 
neighborhoods.          

• Transportation here has to be about safety, families and kids 

• Address the 99w traffic that cuts thru Elwert to Roy Rodgers rd.  Also traffic that uses Sunset as a 
bypass around the ‘six corners’ intersection. 

• I’m absolutely against bus, shared bikes and scooters. Especially a bus on sunset or going through 
Woodhaven.  It will ruin the quality of life for all that live off of it. Scooters have been a disaster in 
Portland. It’s asking for trouble. I don’t want bikes and scooters tossed and left sitting wherever. I’d 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Mixed employment areas

Existing residential neighborhoods

Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge

Existing elementary and middle schools

Downtown Sherwood

Existing trail networks

Parks and open spaces

Sherwood High School

% of survey respondents who selected destination as a top priority

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 55 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 31 

like to keep a more urban/suburban feel. Please don’t open us up to being crowded like Beaverton 
and Portland.  

• Connect Sherwood to regional bike paths.  I would like to safely bike across Sherwood but bing able 
to safely connect to other communities is important too.  

• There are better places to bike and walk. I don't want the environment changed to accommodate 
bikers, pedestrians, more homes, and businesses. There are plenty of other options, and we don't 
need any more residential construction in Sherwood. Period.  

• No one is asking for Sherwood to grow except for the money hungry developers and builders and if 
it's the Mayor too. We'll  

• Are off-street Paths (multiuse- pedestrian & bike), if so I like that more than bike lanes on the roads.  
Sherwood has many young families and having the ability for small children to ride away from the 
road with parents and older siblings is important for supporting the family friendly draw of 
Sherwood. 

• with all the upgrades to the roads that are needed who is going to pay for it? Not fair to make the 
existing community pay for these upgrades to the roads that are just fine for our use now. if they 
develop a ton of houses make the developer pay for the infrastructure upgrades. 

• Please do not put electric scooters in.  They have not legitimate purpose and we will just have 
scooters strewn about this side of town.   

• There should be a trail that connects further up Lebeau at the northwest corner. 

Survey Respondent Demographics 

Are you a resident of Sherwood? 

 
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 56 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 32 

What is your age? 

 

Are there children in your household? 

 

Do you rent or own your home? 

 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Under 25

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65+

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Own

Rent

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 57 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #1 Summary │ PAGE 33 

How do you identify your race or ethnicity? 

 

What is your annual household income? 

 

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander
(alone or in combination with one or more other

races)

Black or African American (alone or in
combination with one or more other races)

American Indian and Alaska Native (alone or in
combination with one or more other races)

Hispanic or Latinx

Asian (alone or in combination with one or more
other races)

White

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Under $10,000

$10,000 to $24,999

$25,000 to 49,999

$50,000 to 74,999

$75,000 to 99,999

$100,000 to 149,999

$150,000 or greater

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 58 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Open House #2 and Survey 
Summary

APPENDIX E

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 59 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

OPEN HOUSE #2 SUMMARY 
TO: Sherwood West Community Advisory Committee and Technical Advisory Committee 
FROM: Sherwood West Project Team 
DATE: November 10, 2022 

Introduction 
This memorandum provides a summary of the results from the Sherwood West Concept Plan Open 
House #2, which included both in-person and online participation options.  

Open House 
The in-person open house took place at Ridges Elementary School on October 20, 2022, from 5:30-7:30 
PM. The open house was advertised through a mailed postcard to all Sherwood West property owners, 
the project’s interested parties email list, all City boards and commissions email lists, the City’s utility 
email billing list, the City’s social media accounts (Facebook, Twitter, and Nextdoor), and a printed flyer 
and the City’s reader board. A total of 60 people signed in at the event, and an additional  20 to 30 
people attended without signing in.  

The open house provided an opportunity for attendees to review presentation boards and other 
information and ask questions of the project team. The presentation boards provided the following 
information: 

• Background and Overview – Project purpose, vision/goals, and timeline. 
• Plan Concepts – These boards summarized concepts related to trails, the Chicken Creek 

Greenway, Elwert Road design, housing choices, and mixed employment areas. 
• Land Use Alternatives – These boards provided information about three alternative ways that 

land uses could be arranged in Sherwood West. The alternatives were presented and compared 
by subdistrict—North, Far West, West, and Southwest.  

• Transportation Concepts – These boards provided a map and information about several key 
transportation improvements that are being studied through the Concept Plan Re-Look process. 

Copies of the Land Use Alternatives posters were also placed on tables and attendees were encouraged 
to rank the alternatives in order of preference by placing dot stickers (labeled 1, 2, and 3). Participants 
could also write comments on the posters. See Attachment A for a summary and photos of the results of 
this exercise. Conclusions from the results of this activity are as follows: 

• North District – Alternatives 1 and 2 are tied for most 1st choice votes; however Alternative 1 
has more 2nd choice votes. 

• Far West District – Alternative 1 has most support. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 60 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 2 

• West District – Alternative 1 has most support. 
• Southwest District – Alternative 2 has most support. 

In addition, hard copy questionnaires provided another opportunity to weigh in on the land use 
alternatives and transportation concepts. The questionnaire asked the same questions as in the online 
survey (see below). Four questionnaires were submitted—see Attachment B. 

Online Open House / Survey 
An Online Open House provided similar information as was presented at the in-person open house—it is 
still available online at this link: https://arcg.is/044vDW. Because of the breadth of information covered 
in the open house, participants were invited to select and explore any topics that interested them from 
a menu of pages. The open house also included a link to an online survey, which was available from 
October 20 through November 3, 2022. A link to the Online Open House was posted to the project 
website and promoted through the same digital outlets as the in-person open house. The survey 
received a total of 104 responses. 

The main purpose of the survey was to solicit input on the three land use alternatives. The survey 
presented information about each alternative and, for each district, asked respondents to rank them in 
order of preference (or to select “none of the above”). For each district, respondents were also asked: 

• What do you like in the alternatives? 
• What do you not like in the alternatives, or what would you change? 
• If you selected “None of the above”, please tell us why and what you think the long term plan 

should be for this area. 

The survey then presented a “Bonus Topic” of Key Transportation Improvements Under Study--similar to 
what was presented at the in-person open house. The five potential transportation improvements 
include: 

• Elwert Design Concept 
• Elwert Realignment 
• Overpass Connection to Brookman Area 
• Pedestrian Overcrossing 
• Conceptual North-South Connector 

For each improvement concept, the survey asked if respondents had any comments or questions. 

Lastly, the survey asked a set of demographic questions to get a sense of who took the survey.  

  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 61 of 205

https://arcg.is/044vDW


SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 3 

Survey Results – Land Use Alternatives 
Below are the results from respondents’ ranking of land use alternatives for each district. The first, more 
detailed, chart indicates what percentage of respondents ranked each alternative as Rank 1, 2, 3, or 4. 
The second chart indicates a weighted average score for each selection—these charts give a sense of 
which alternatives were generally favored over others.  

Following each chart is a summary of the key themes from the written responses (what did you like/not 
like, etc.). A full survey report with all individual written responses is included as Attachment C.  

[NOTE: This is not a scientific survey. The online open house was intended as an additional way for 
people to get information and participate, but it does not reflect a representative sample of Sherwood 
resident’s opinions about Sherwood West.] 

NORTH DISTRICT 
If the City were to choose to grow into the North District in the future, how should the 
Concept Plan guide that growth? Rank your preferences among the three land use 
alternatives for the North District. (If you do not like any of the alternatives, rank 
"none of the above" as #1.) 
[102 answered; 2 skipped] 

 

43
%

31
%

17
%

38
%

23
% 29

%

41
%

8%

28
%

27
%

35
%

6%6%

13
%

6%

48
%

A L TE R N A T I V E  1 A L TE R N A T I V E  2 A L TE R N A T I V E  3 N O N E  O F  TH E  
A B O V E

NORTH DISTRICT
Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 Rank 4

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 62 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 4 

 

Themes from Written Responses: 
Likes: 

• Parks  
o Some specifically mentioned parks at Edy Rd 
o Greenspace around Chicken Creek 
o Parks near multi-family 

• Employment focus 
o Jobs compatible to Sherwood for people to live and work in community  
o Employment on the edge near transportation corridors (Scholls Sherwood/Roy Rogers) 

• Housing  
o Medium density housing/multi-family near employment 
o Keeping employment buffered from housing  
o Good balance of housing and employment/commercial uses 
 Some specifically mentioned Alternative 2 best mix of uses 

o Cottage clusters near Chicken Creek 
Changes: 

• Area too focused on employment 
• Employment near Chicken Creek  
• Medium density housing near Edy/Elwert intersection – The amount of traffic existing on 

Edy/Elwert  
• Place housing east of Elwert on Edy near existing subdivisions (Oregon Trail, Mandel Farms)  
• Hybrid of Alternative 1 and 2 
• Traffic congestion on roadways with new development  
 

  

3.02
2.77 2.69

2.35

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 None of the
above

NORTH DISTRICT -
AVERAGE SCORE SUMMARY

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 63 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 5 

FAR WEST DISTRICT 
If the City were to choose to grow into the Far West District in the future, how should 
the Concept Plan guide that growth? Rank your preferences among the three land use 
alternatives for the Far West District. (If you do not like any of the alternatives, rank 
"none of the above" as #1.) 
[98 answered; 6 skipped] 

 

 

Themes from Written Responses: 
Likes: 

• Parks 
o Balance of open space and housing  

56
%

24
%

17
%

31
%

24
%

55
%

15
%

7%

20
%

21
%

49
%

14
%

0% 0%

19
%

48
%

A L TE R N A T I V E  1 A L TE R N A T I V E  2 A L TE R N A T I V E  3 N O N E  O F  TH E  
A B O V E

FAR WEST DISTRICT
Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 Rank 4

3.36
3.02

2.3 2.21

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 None of the
above

FAR WEST DISTRICT -
AVERAGE SCORE SUMMARY

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 64 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 6 

o Access and protection of the Chicken Creek Corridor  
o Parks in neighborhoods and access to trails 

• Housing 
o Low and Medium density housing 
o Cottage cluster housing  

Changes: 

• Lesser density housing in areas of steeper slopes  
• Impacts to existing Eastview neighborhood – proposed road connection 
• Intersection at Edy/Elwert is dangerous 
• Traffic impacts in the area with additional housing 

 

WEST DISTRICT 
If the City were to choose to grow into the West District in the future, how should the 
Concept Plan guide that growth? Rank your preferences among the three land use 
alternatives for the West District. (If you do not like any of the alternatives, rank 
"none of the above" as #1.) 
[94 answered; 10 skipped] 

 

30
.2

3%

32
.1

4%

36
.5

9%

29
.4

1%

41
.8

6%

46
.4

3%

6.
10

%

8.
82

%

24
.4

2%

17
.8

6%

48
.7

8%

8.
82

%

3.
49

%

3.
57

% 8.
54

%

52
.9

4%

A L TE R N A T I V E  1 A L TE R N A T I V E  2 A L TE R N A T I V E  3 N O N E  O F  TH E  
A B O V E

WEST DISTRICT
Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 Rank 4

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 65 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 7 

 

 

Themes from Written Responses: 
Likes: 

• Parks 
o Large park and trails   
o Access to Chicken Creek Corridor  

• Housing 
o Housing near high school – kids can walk to walk/bike to activities  
o Higher density and mix of housing and uses near the high school  
o Cottage Cluster housing  

• Mixed Use 
o Mix of uses near high school  
o Smaller commercial/retail uses and eateries  
o A neighborhood anchor development –inspiration Orenco type of concept  

Changes: 

• Increase of traffic 
• Edy/Elwert intersection is dangerous  
• Extension of Eastview Rd is not practical  
• Cottage cluster housing near high school – less likely to have children going to school  
• Relocation of Elwert  
• Too much high density and cottage cluster housing  
• More employment commercial will impact traffic  

2.99 3.07
2.71

2.15

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 None of the
above

WEST DISTRICT -
AVERAGE SCORE SUMMARY

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 66 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 8 

SOUTHWEST DISTRICT 
If the City were to choose to grow into the Southwest District in the future, how 
should the Concept Plan guide that growth? Rank your preferences among the three 
land use alternatives for the Southwest District. (If you do not like any of the 
alternatives, rank "none of the above" as #1.) 
[91 answered; 13 skipped] 

 

 

Themes from Written Responses: 
Likes:  

• Park  
o Some specifically liked the large park in Alternative 2 

24
%

54
%

19
%

29
%

41
%

27
% 30

%

6%

32
%

17
%

42
%

11
%

4% 1%

9%

54
%

A L TE R N A T I V E  1 A L TE R N A T I V E  2 A L TE R N A T I V E  3 N O N E  O F  TH E  
A B O V E

SOUTHWEST DISTRICT
Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 Rank 4

2.85

3.35

2.6

2.09

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3 None of the
above

SOUTHWEST DISTRICT -
AVERAGE SCORE SUMMARY

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 67 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 9 

• Mixed Uses 
• Hospitality uses and commercial along Highway 99W 

o Some specifically called out hospitality and employment areas in Alternative 1 and 2 
o Some specifically called out Alternative 3 that clusters uses together (e.g. employment and 

housing) 
o Additional restaurants, possible new grocery store  

• Gateway to wine country theme  
Changes: 

• Roads to accommodate additional traffic impacts  
• More employment near Highway 99W 
• What is hospitality area (unclear) 
• More parks and trails in this area  

Survey Results – Transportation Improvements 
Below is a summary of key themes from the written responses for each potential transportation 
improvement.   

Do you have any questions or comments about the Elwert Design concept? 
• Likes – buffered sidewalks, median plantings and street trees, similar to Sunset  

Do you have any questions or comments about the Elwert Realignment concept? 
• Maintain existing Elwert alignment but look for ways to slow it down and create neighborhood 

feel  
• What is the cost of improving Elwert with two crossings over Chicken Creek? 
• Traffic circles will not improve traffic flow 
• The realignment of Elwert will increase safety, slow down traffic  
• Lower the speed on Elwert to 25 mph 
• Roads should be built prior to development  

Do you have any questions or comments about the Overpass Connection to the 
Brookman Area? 

• If the overpass connects to existing arterial (Elwert) it would be reasonable. It should not 
connect to proposed n/s connector road. 

• Why would you need an overpass if intersection of Chapman/Brookman is signalized?  
• Seems expensive  
• Work with ODOT to reclassify Highway 99W in Sherwood; 35 mph within Sherwood City Limits 
• Why does the overpass not connect Chapman/Brookman intersections?  

Do you have any questions or comments about the planned Pedestrian Overcrossing? 
• Pedestrian overcrossing is needed 
• Why was it not built with new high school?  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 68 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

   Sherwood West Open House #2 Summary │ PAGE 10 

• Seems unnecessary  

Do you have any questions or comments about the conceptual North-South 
Connector? 

• This road is not viable due to unsafe grades, environmental impacts and safety hazards 
• What traffic would use this road? 
• Elwert Road needs to be widened, focus on improving Elwert Road 
• The second alignment, running parallel to Chicken Creek is better option, as it impacts less 

homes 
• A new road will negatively impact Chicken Creek  
• Keep studying this as a long-term option  
• An expensive idea  

 

Survey Respondent Demographics 
See Attachment C for a summary of respondent demographics. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 69 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Development Trends and 
Implications Memo

APPENDIX F

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 70 of 205



610 SW Alder Street, Suite 1200, Portland, Oregon 97205 | 503.222.1600 

Sherwood West Concept Plan 

Development Trends and Implications 
Date July 18, 2021 
To Joe Dills, Kyra Haggart  

Angelo Planning Group 
From Sam Brookham, Chris Zahas 

Leland Consulting Group 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
This Development Trends and Implications memo is intended to highlight a variety of key trends that will be explored in 
more detail in another memo to determine the specific opportunities for Sherwood West. It is not intended to answer 
the question of what Sherwood West can be; instead, it serves to provide a baseline summary of high-level findings 
from existing City of Sherwood planning documents and the current land use, transportation, and development 
conditions in the greater Sherwood area.  

The Economic Opportunities and Challenges memo that will follow this memo will provide more specific information 
about assets, opportunities, constraints, economic development strategies, options for long-term job creation, and 
recommended land uses in Sherwood West.  

This memo is organized as follows. 

 Planning Document Summary. The memo includes summaries of two existing City of Sherwood planning
documents: the Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) and Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA). The HNA and EOA1

provide information about supply and demand for residential, commercial, and employment lands in the City of
Sherwood over 20 years. As both documents are policy-oriented and based on regional growth rates, there may
be additional or different opportunities for Sherwood West that will be discussed in the Economic
Opportunities and Challenges memo that follows. The summary of these documents in this memo, therefore,
reflects just one perspective that may require an updated assessment.

 Development Trends. It also summarizes the team’s evaluation of recent land use, transportation, and
development conditions that impact Sherwood West, including new/pending developments in King City West,
River Terrace, and Cooper Mountain, residential and employment growth areas in Sherwood (Brookman and
Tonquin), and other development trends in Sherwood.

The key findings from this memo include the past development trends that offer insights into future development 
prospects for various land uses in Sherwood West, the key takeaways from the HNA and EOA. 

Past Development Trends 
The development trends of the past can provide an insight into the current and emerging opportunities for new growth. 
Relative to many other cities in the Portland metropolitan region, Sherwood’s building stock is quite new, with most of 
the buildings constructed during the mid-to-late 1990s and early 2000s. During this time, construction activity was 

1 The 2018 EOA was not adopted by City Council. It is simply included in this memo to highlight baseline conditions. 

Note: The City of Sherwood adopted an updated Economic 
Opportunities Analysis (EOA) in June 2023, after this 
document was completed. The adopted EOA includes 
updated information about employment land needs in 
Sherwood and is available on the City's website: 
https://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/page/2023-
economic-opportunities-analysis-update

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 71 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 2 

dominated by single-family residential homes, industrial, and retail. While single-family residential construction declined 

significantly going into and since the recession of 2007-2008, construction activity for industrial and retail space has 

remained relatively high. Multifamily construction has been limited but consistent over the past three decades. And 

construction activity for office, healthcare, and hospitality space has been very limited, although new and emerging 

trends may result in growth opportunities, particularly for Sherwood West.  

ES-1. City of Sherwood Residential Units and Square Feet of Development by Decade Built 

Year Built SFR Units 
Multifamily 

Units 
Industrial Office Retail Health Care Hospitality 

Pre-90s 672 225 177,139 29,319 164,187 0 0 

‘90 to '00 2,844 256 709,574 38,265 107,812 52,893 0 

‘00 to ‘10 1,655 261 332,881 127,036 402,803 0 0 

‘10 to ‘20 349 249 626,206 20,000 327,462 0 70,993 

Total   1,668,661 185,301 838,077 52,893 70,993 

Source: Costar, Metro RLIS (SFR Data) 

Below is a summary of the trends relating to each real estate development sector. 

• Employment (office, industrial). The industrial sector has generally been shielded from the worst effects of the 

COVID-19 pandemic, and rapid growth in demand for distribution facilities has spurred significant new 

investment activity. There are trends and opportunities on which Sherwood may capitalize, including 

automation, shifting consumer behaviors (e.g., ecommerce), the emergence of the “hub and spoke” offices, and 

the electrification of vehicles. Sherwood’s office market is locally oriented, and construction and absorption 

have been limited. It has been more than 10 years since an office project was delivered and the pandemic 

remains a major disrupter to the economy at large and creates uncertainty in the development and investment 

community. The Tonquin Employment Area (TEA) is Sherwood’s primary growth area for new employment. 

Several industrial buildings totaling 535,000 square feet are in various phases of planning and development at 

the T-S Corporate Park—the first project since the creation of the concept plan in 2010. Other projects are in 

the early stages of planning in the TEA, per the City, including plans for multi-tenant industrial buildings 

totaling 900,000 square feet on 60 acres and project interest on 30 acres that was recently annexed and an 

adjacent 20 acres. Between these prospects and additional interest in new development in the TEA, there is 

reason to believe that most of the 200 acres of usable land in the TEA will be accounted for sooner than was 

originally anticipated in the 2018 EOA.   

• Retail/Commercial. New construction has averaged approximately 50,000 square feet annually over the past 

five years, although nothing has been built in the past year since the COVID-19 pandemic began. Except for 

Parkway Village South (described below), there is very little new development in the pipeline and Sherwood 

does not appear to face a burgeoning wave of development supply pressure. With that said, investment in new 

retail typically follows household growth; in the southwest Portland metropolitan region, there are several large 

growth areas expected to generate significant demand for new retail services and amenities. Sherwood West 

may capitalize on this increased demand and capture a portion through new development.  

• Residential. Significant growth in the population aged 55 and over has given rise to the growing demand for 

certain housing types, including apartments, assisted living facilities, and small-format single-family detached 

and attached residential. Sherwood’s owner-occupied housing market is considered competitive, with a sale-to-

list price ratio of around 101.3 percent and averaging less than 20 days on the market before going pending. 

Apartment occupancy is currently at 95.9 percent—close to the five-year high—indicating demand for new 

development. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 72 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 3 

Sherwood West is one of several planned expansions in the southwest metro region. Others include Tigard River 

Terrace, Beaverton Cooper Mountain, and King City West. How and when these areas develop will directly impact the 

market and compete with the study area. However, it is expected that these areas will be predominately residential with 

limited commercial and employment development. As Sherwood West develops, there may be increasing opportunities 

for it to be a sub-regional hub for employment. There may also be opportunities to add retail services, but we expect 

the primary trade area for these other southwestern growth areas to be oriented to the north and east, rather than to 

Sherwood. 

The following table summarizes the scale of planned development in each of these expansion areas.      

ES-3. Summary of Planned Development in SW Metro Region Expansion Areas 

Expansion Area Planned Commercial / Employment Planned Residential  

Tigard River Terrace 

1.0  

25,000 to 40,000 sq. ft. (building area)  2,587 units (about 1,200 units built to date)  

Tigard River Terrace 

2.0 

10 to 30+ gross acres of employment and/or 

commercial uses  

Up to 4,500 total units 

Cooper Mountain 

(CM), Beaverton 

10-acre main street commercial 

Est. 80,000 to 120,000 sq. ft. (building area) 

South CM: 3,430 units; Urban Reserve Area: 

3,760 units; North CM: 300 units 

King City West Est. 54,000 to 85,000 sq. ft.  (building area) 3,576 units 

Planning Document Summary  

The table below highlights the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and land supply and demand considerations 

described in Sherwood’s EOA and HNA. These documents offer a potentially conservative depiction of the supply and 

demand factors for employment and residential growth in the City of Sherwood over the next 20 years.  

While this information is helpful context, it is important to recognize that the documents reflect conditions at a certain 

point in time that are based primarily on an agreed-upon projected growth rate. Given that Sherwood is a relatively 

small city compared to most others in the Portland metropolitan region, modest developments can have significant 

impacts on employment and household growth. Growth could be further impacted by a proactive approach by the City, 

causing businesses and developers to locate in planned employment centers in Sherwood West beyond what was 

forecasted in each document. 

There are, therefore, limitations to these documents which necessitate a fresh look at opportunities for Sherwood West. 

Because both the EOA and HNA are policy-based documents that follow a required framework, neither provides a 

discussion of emerging trends that may serve as opportunities for Sherwood West, nor do they include a complete 

depiction of the development pipeline in Sherwood, particularly for industrial projects. The remainder of this 

memorandum, as well as the next Economic Opportunities and Constraints memo, will revisit this baseline information 

and explore more specific opportunities and constraints for Sherwood West.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 73 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 4 

Table 1. Summary of Key Planning Documents 

 Economic Opportunities Analysis Housing Needs Analysis  

Economic 

Strengths 

• Suitable attributes for attracting new 

business. 

• Proximity of new residential growth areas. 

• High quality of life. 

• Strong residential growth, particularly in 

younger families and senior populations. 

• Relatively high incomes compared with the 

rest of the Metro region. 

Economic 

Weaknesses 

• Congestion and the distance from I-5 hinder 

both industrial and residential prospects.  

• Lack of infrastructure in new growth areas. 

• Reliance on Tonquin Employment Area for 

meeting industrial land needs. 

• Relatively high proportion of single-family 

detached housing relative to other housing 

types 

• Reliance on development of the Brookman 

Area for meeting residential land needs. 

Opportunities 
• Citywide growth potential in the industries of 

manufacturing, professional and business 

services, wholesale, and visitor and resident 

services.  

• Population growth will drive growth in retail 

businesses. 

• Ageing population driving demand for 

smaller single-family housing, multifamily 

housing, and housing for seniors.  

• The growth of younger and diversified 

households is likely to result in increased 

demand for a wider variety of housing. 

Land Supply & 

Demand 

• Sherwood had 242 acres of unconstrained 

employment land in 2018, of which half is in 

the Tonquin Employment Area (TEA). 

• Employment growth is projected to drive 

demand for 86 gross acres of industrial land 

and 85 gross acres of commercial land. 

• Sherwood has a 24 gross acre surplus of 

industrial land and a 57 gross acre deficit of 

commercial land. The surplus is, in reality, 

much less given the new development 

coming online. 

• Land base can accommodate 65 percent of 

forecasted population growth.  

• Limited supply of land for moderate- and 

higher-density multifamily housing, causing 

a barrier to the development of townhouses 

and multifamily housing, which are needed 

to meet housing demand resulting from the 

population growth of seniors, young 

families, and moderate-income households. 

Source: City of Sherwood 

Economic Opportunities Analysis  

The 2018 EOA is “an analysis of the community's economic patterns, potentialities, strengths, and deficiencies as they 

relate to state and national trends.”  

The primary goals of the EOA are to:  

(1) project the amount of land needed to accommodate the future employment growth within the Sherwood City 

Limits and employment land areas in the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), namely Tonquin Employment Area 

and Brookman Annexation Area, between 2019 and 2039; 

(2) evaluate the existing employment land supply within Sherwood to determine if it is adequate to meet that 

need; and 

(3) fulfill state planning requirements for a twenty-year supply of employment land. 

While the EOA provides an indication of the strengths and weaknesses for job creation and highlights specific 

opportunities for Sherwood West, it is important to note that the Sherwood City Council decided not to adopt the 2018 

EOA and to make updates closer to the adoption of the Comprehensive Plan. The reasoning for not doing so was 

primarily due to discrepancies between the rate of employment growth projected in the EOA and by Metro. Other 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 74 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 5 

information provided in the EOA, such as broader economic trends and land availability, are still relevant and are 

discussed here.  

The key points of the 2018 EOA are as follow. It is important to emphasize that this section simply summarizes what the 

EOA indicates, rather than a comprehensive discussion of the specific opportunities for Sherwood West.  

Land Supply and Demand 

The EOA included a discussion of land supply for employment and commercial development. Key findings are listed 

below (all findings are as of 2018).  

• In 2018, Sherwood had 242 acres of unconstrained land2, 141 of which is vacant and 101 of which is potentially 

redevelopable (i.e., underutilized but not vacant sites). Nearly 60 percent of the vacant land (and 40 percent of 

the redevelopable land) is in the Tonquin Employment Area (TEA). Most were sites less than five acres, nine sites 

were between five and 10 acres, and three were larger than 10 acres, including just one 50+ acre site in the TEA 

and two 12-acre industrial sites. Small industrial sites are considered an issue by the City and its economic 

development partners; the Metro Employment Land Site Readiness Tool Kit describes smaller sites with multiple 

owners and limited infrastructure as a regionwide issue in the Portland metropolitan area.   

• While there has been little new development since the 2018 assessment for the EOA, anecdotal evidence from 

the City of Sherwood indicates a more constrained land supply than what is portrayed in the EOA. Sherwood 

West has a potential opportunity to capitalize on regional demand for large industrial sites, particularly given 

the aforementioned regionwide shortage. 

• Sherwood’s employment base was 8,340 jobs in 2018. The EOA forecasts 11,785 jobs by 2039, an increase of 

3,446 that is projected to result in the demand for 86 gross acres of industrial land and 85 gross acres of 

commercial land. 

• Industrial. Most of the buildable vacant employment land in Sherwood is designated as industrial as opposed 

to commercial, retail, or other types of employment. Sherwood has a supply of 110 acres of suitable land 

designated for industrial uses, which is a forecasted surplus of 24 gross acres over 20 years, per the analysis 

conducted for the EOA. There is a greater surplus with the addition of the TEA and the Brookman Addition. 

• Commercial. Sherwood has 28 acres of land designated for commercial uses. The employment forecast projects 

demand for 85 acres of commercial land. Sherwood has less commercial land than the City is projected to need 

over 20 years, with a deficit of 57 gross acres of commercial land. 

• Future Development. Sherwood has 172 acres of land designated for employment uses in future development 

designations in the Tonquin Employment Area and Brookman Annexation Area. In total, this land is likely to 

sufficiently meet both industrial and commercial demand over the next 20 years. However, if the rate of 

development increases as expected beyond what was forecast in the EOA, there will likely be a shortage of 

appropriate sites—particularly sites in excess of 10 acres—for employment growth in the City of Sherwood, 

thereby creating development opportunities in Sherwood West. These opportunities will be further explored in 

the Economic Opportunities and Constraints memo. 

Sherwood’s Economic Strengths and Weaknesses  

The EOA included several strengths and weaknesses that affect Sherwood’s ability to attract and accommodate job 

growth. A summary is provided below. 

 

2 The physical constraints used in the Sherwood buildable lands inventory includes areas subject to landslides, areas with 

slopes greater than 25%, lands within the 100-year flood plain, Metro’s Title 3 land (including Water Resource Conservation 

Areas), lands within Metro’s Title 13 Habitat Conservation Areas (Class I and II, A and B), Wetlands, and public facilities. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 75 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 6 

Strengths 

• Sherwood’s attributes that may attract businesses are its location along Highway 99; quality of public facilities 

and services; general availability of vacant land serviced by utilities3; quality of schools; and overall quality of 

life. 

• Proximity to new residential growth areas—including the areas along the Roy Rogers Corridor north of 

Sherwood West—may increase demand for services and employment for new nearby residents. The growth 

expected in these areas is summarized later in this memo.  

• High quality of life due to the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge, cultural amenities and events, and access 

to high-quality education and medical care, among other factors. 

• The region’s high-quality natural resources present economic growth opportunities for Sherwood, ranging from 

agriculture and wineries to amenities that attract visitors and contribute to the region’s high quality of life. 

Proximity to Wine Country offers potential opportunities for manufacturing, hospitality, commercial, and other 

uses.  

Weaknesses  

• The current transportation network is considered a disadvantage for both residents commuting to jobs (both in 

and out of Sherwood) as well as businesses that need a distribution route to access the region. Several 

transportation projects, including the widening of Roy Rogers Road and Tualatin-Sherwood Road, may improve 

the prospects of attracting new industrial, technology, and commercial users to Sherwood. These opportunities 

will be explored more in the Economic Opportunities and Constraints memo.  

• Distance from I-5 is a disadvantage for attracting some types of businesses, such as warehouses and 

distribution or manufacturers that need close access to I-5 for heavy freight.  

• There is a lack of infrastructure needed to support employment growth on large vacant sites. 

Opportunities for Sherwood West  

The EOA describes several economic trends and opportunities that could apply to the Sherwood West area. These are 

described below. 

• Growth in population in Sherwood will drive modest growth in retail businesses, including commercial centers 

and neighborhood retail. It should be noted that the 2018 EOA did not specifically reference the potential 

opportunities and the new market dynamics that will arise as a result of the substantial new household growth 

along the Roy Rogers Corridor to the north. While this new growth is unlikely to increase demand for retail 

businesses in Sherwood, there are likely to be opportunities for additional employment development that 

capitalizes on Sherwood West’s proximity to this sizeable talent base. 

• Approximately 1,719 new jobs (83.5 percent of total new jobs) in Sherwood are expected to require vacant or 

partially vacant land. The forecasted growth of 1,719 new employees will result in the following demand for 

employment land: 61 gross acres of industrial, nine gross acres of retail commercial, and 41 acres for office and 

commercial services. 

• Approximately 16.5 percent of jobs in Sherwood are located in residential plan designations, including 12 

percent of industrial, 15 percent of retail, and 21 percent of office and commercial service employment. Over 20 

years it is expected that the proportion of employment located in residential areas will remain the same. These 

 

3 Anecdotal information provided by the City of Sherwood indicates that utility service throughout the City is 

inconsistent, with some existing industrial parks and infill location lacking the necessary utility services. The constrained 

capacity of existing services can be a barrier to economic growth and detrimental to development prospects. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 76 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 7 

jobs include home offices for industrial employment, such as construction companies and office and 

commercial medical offices, or small personal service businesses such as banks or hair stylists.  

• The industries identified as having potential for growth in Sherwood include manufacturing, professional and 

business services, wholesale, and services for visitors and residents. 

o Manufacturing. Sherwood’s attributes may attract manufacturing firms, such as Technology and 

Advanced Manufacturing, Machinery Manufacturing (Metals and Machinery), and Clean Tech. 

o Professional and business services. Sherwood’s high quality of life, access to quality schools, existing 

population and business base, and location within the Portland region may attract professional and 

business services that prefer to locate in a smaller city like Sherwood, such as Software and Media, 

Clean Tech, Athletics and Outdoors, and other services. 

o Wholesale. Sherwood’s access to Highway 99 may make the city attractive to the continued growth of 

wholesale businesses. 

o Services for visitors. Growth in tourism, especially related to agriculture and wineries, will drive 

demand for services for visitors such as specialty retail, wine tasting rooms, restaurants, and hotels. 

o Services for residents. Growth in population in and around Sherwood will drive the growth of 

businesses that serve residents, such as medical services, legal services, financial services, retail, 

personal services (e.g., barbers), and restaurants. 

The following table is also from the 2018 EOA and shows the concentration of Sherwood’s existing businesses by 

industry. The bolded industries have a high location quotient4 (i.e., highly specialized compared to national employment 

in the industry), high employment (i.e., have more than 200 employees in Sherwood), and higher than average wages in 

Sherwood. These industries have the highest growth potential, given existing businesses and the higher concentration 

of employment.  

With that being said, the table is a summary of Sherwood in 2018 and does not reflect an exploration of potential 

growth industries. Sherwood has up to now been attractive to certain types of industries, yet there is an opportunity to 

encourage the growth of industries that may not currently exist but see Sherwood as a competitive location in the 

Portland metropolitan region. For example, while most economic growth is due to the expansion of existing businesses, 

the City may be able to capitalize on the demand for large sites in excess of 50 acres that are in short supply in the 

region.  

 

4 Location quotients are ratios that allow an area's distribution of employment by industry, ownership, and size class to be 

compared to a reference area's distribution. If an LQ is equal to 1.0, then the industry has the same share of its area 

employment as it does in the nation. An LQ greater than 1 indicates an industry with a greater share of the local area 

employment than is the case nationwide. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 77 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 8 

Table 2. Concentration of Industries and Employment, City of Sherwood, 2016 

 High Employment Low Employment 

High 

Location 

Quotient  

• Waste management and remediation services  

• Specialty trade contractors 

• Heavy and civil engineering construction  

• Machinery manufacturing  

• Merchant wholesalers, durable goods 

• Building material and garden equipment and 

supplies dealers  

• Amusement, gambling, and recreation industries 

• General merchandise stores 

• Food and beverage stores 

• Food services and drinking places 

• Construction of buildings 

• Real estate 

• Wholesale electronics markets and agents and 

brokers 

• Plastics and rubber products manufacturing 

• Personal and laundry services 

Low 

Location 

Quotient 

• Merchant wholesalers, nondurable goods 

• Miscellaneous store retailers 

• Truck transportation 

• Professional, scientific, and technical services 

• Ambulatory health care services 

• Utilities 

• Administration and support services 

• Nursing and residential care facilities 

• Social assistance 

Source: Oregon Employment Department, QCEW, 2016 (Table recreated from EOA) 

Housing Needs Analysis 

Sherwood’s HNA provides a factual basis to support future planning efforts related to housing, including concept 

planning for Sherwood West and the update and revision of the City’s Comprehensive Plan policies. The most recently 

completed HNA for the City of Sherwood provides analysis through twenty years from 2019 – 2039. 

Demographics 

According to the HNA, Sherwood has experienced rapid population growth since 1990, reflecting its situation as a major 

growth area on the edge of the Portland metro. Growth has consistently outpaced Washington County and the Portland 

Metro region. While the population is aging on average, Sherwood has started to attract a greater proportion of 

younger people and more households with children. The population is also becoming more ethnically diverse.  

The aging of the population is likely to result in increased demand for smaller single-family housing, multifamily 

housing, and housing for seniors. The growth of younger and diversified households is likely to result in increased 

demand for a wider variety of affordable housing appropriate for families with children, such as small single-family 

housing, townhouses, duplexes, and multifamily housing. 

Sherwood households also have relatively high incomes compared to the rest of the Metro region, which affects the 

type of housing that is affordable. Income is a key determinant of housing choice. 

Housing Stock 

Sherwood’s housing stock is predominantly single-family detached, which accounts for about 75 percent, with single-

family attached accounting for eight percent, and multifamily accounting for 18 percent. Approximately 69 percent of 

new housing permitted in Sherwood between 2000 and 2014 was single-family detached housing. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 78 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 9 

Projections. 

Sherwood is forecast to add 1,728 new households between 2019 and 2039. Of these, 700 new households will be inside 

the existing city limits; 1,029 new households will be outside the current city limits in the Brookman Area. 

According to the HNA, the forecast for growth in Sherwood is considerably below historical growth rates. Metro’s 

forecast for new housing in Sherwood shows that households will grow at an average annual growth rate of 1.1 percent 

per year. In comparison, Sherwood’s population grew at 3.4 percent per year between 2000 and 2013 and 8.0 percent 

per year between 1990 and 2013.  

Land Supply. Sherwood’s land base can only accommodate 65 percent of the forecasted population growth. Vacant and 

partially vacant land in the Sherwood Planning Area can accommodate 1,121 new dwelling units of the forecasted need 

for 1,728 units, leaving a deficit of land for 608 units. If Sherwood grows faster than Metro’s forecast during the 2019 to 

2039 period, then Sherwood will have a larger deficit of land needed to accommodate growth. 

The largest deficits are in Medium Density Residential-Low (154 dwelling units), Medium Density Residential-High (252 

dwelling units), and High-Density Residential (145 dwelling units). 

At faster growth rates, Sherwood’s land base has enough capacity for several years of growth. At growth rates between 

2.0 to 4.0 percent of growth annually, the land inside the Sherwood city limits can accommodate two to five years of 

growth. With capacity in the Brookman Area, Sherwood can accommodate four to 10 years of growth at these growth 

rates. 

Additional housing growth in Sherwood depends on the availability of development-ready land. The amount of growth 

likely to happen in Sherwood over the next few years is largely dependent on when the Brookman Area is developed, 

when the Sherwood West area is brought into the UGB and annexed, and when urban services (such as roads, water, 

and sanitary sewer) are developed in each area.  

Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate- and higher-density multifamily housing. The limited 

supply of land in these zones is a barrier to the development of townhouses and multifamily housing, which are needed 

to meet housing demand resulting from the population growth of people over 65, young families, and moderate-

income households. 

Development Trends  

This section describes the general development trends for residential, commercial, and employment development in and 

around Sherwood, including a discussion of planned development in each of the nearby UGB expansion areas of King 

City West, Tigard River Terrace, and Beaverton’s Cooper Mountain. 

Sherwood Overview by Land Use Sector  

Sherwood is experiencing strong growth in all development sectors. The map below provides the location, size, and type 

of new and existing development in and around the City. Most of the newer (built since 2010—symbolized with the 

bolded outline in the map) single-family/owner-occupied housing development has occurred on the City periphery 

where most of the vacant land exists. Industrial has largely clustered in east Sherwood along Tualatin-Sherwood Road. 

Commercial (retail, office, specialty, other) and multifamily residential development are more centralized, clustering 

along major arterials (Highway 99W and Tualatin-Sherwood Road) and in Old Town.  

Industrial users tend to cluster near other users for a myriad of reasons, and so as long as there is developable land that 

meets that user’s needs, the TEA and the surrounding area are likely to remain the most attractive location for new 

industrial users. Sherwest West may attract industrial users in select locations, especially as land availability diminishes 

elsewhere. Office users, while currently one of the most impacted land use sectors by the Covid-19 pandemic, might 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 79 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 10 

consider Sherwood West an attractive location, especially if it develops in a way that offers a variety of amenities, 

services, and housing options (both in and near the area). 

Figure 1. Development Overview by Land Use, Size, and Building Status 

 

Source: Costar, Metro RLIS (SFR Data), City of Sherwood, LCG 

The chart below and the table that follows show total development by year built for the City of Sherwood. There was a 

significant decline in residential construction activity going into and since the recession of 2007-2008. Multifamily 

construction has been consistent over the past three decades, averaging almost 26 units or 30,000 square feet per year. 

Industrial activity has increased again in the past decade following a relative hiatus between 2000 and 2010. Office 

activity has been very limited, as has healthcare and hospitality, although is likely growth opportunities for Sherwood 

West that capitalize on several emerging trends, including hub and spoke office development, proximity to Wine 

Country, proximity to major household growth areas, population growth of all age demographics, and the localization of 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 80 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 11 

healthcare, among other trends that will be further explored in following documents. Retail development activity 

increased in the 2000s following strong residential growth in the previous decade and has continued into the past 

decade.  

Figure 2. City of Sherwood Square Feet of Development by Year, 1990-2021 

  

Source: Costar, Metro RLIS (SFR Data), LCG 

Table 3. City of Sherwood Residential Units and Square Feet of Development by Decade Built 

Year Built SFR Units 
Multifamily 

Units 
Industrial Office Retail Health Care Hospitality 

Pre-90s 672 225 177,139 29,319 164,187 0 0 

‘90 to '00 2,844 256 709,574 38,265 107,812 52,893 0 

‘00 to ‘10 1,655 261 332,881 127,036 402,803 0 0 

‘10 to ‘20 349 249 626,206 20,000 327,462 0 70,993 

Total   1,668,661 185,301 838,077 52,893 70,993 

Source: Costar, Metro RLIS (SFR Data) 

Industrial  

The Sherwood industrial submarket contains around 1.7 million square feet of industrial space and can be considered a 

midsized submarket. The industrial sector has generally been shielded from the worst effects of the COVID-19 

pandemic, and rapid growth in demand for distribution facilities—largely due to ecommerce—has spurred significant 

new investment activity. There is potential to capitalize on these opportunities in Sherwood given the proximity to 

Highway 99W. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 81 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 12 

Vacancies have increased significantly over the past year to 13.0 percent, up from 5.1 percent at this time last year, 

which, in turn, was slightly lower than the five-year average of 5.4 percent. However, this appears largely because of the 

three new buildings in the Cipole Industrial Park (TEA) completed in 2020 that total about 240,000 square feet and are 

yet to be fully occupied. According to Costar, leasable available industrial space totals 290,000 square feet of a total 

inventory of 2.2 million. According to the City of Sherwood, approximately 34,000 square feet in one new building is 

being sold to a manufacturer and an unknown additional amount of square is likely to get sold to an Australian 

company for their North American headquarters. The higher vacancy rate should not, therefore, be considered an 

indication of weak demand.  

Net absorption came in at 18,000 square feet over the past year, slightly above the five-year average of 14,400 square 

feet. Rents grew by 6.1 percent over the past 12 months, in line with the five-year average but lower than this time last 

year.  

New development supply pressures on vacancy or rent are generally limited to the Tonquin Employment Area 

(described below) in the near term, although few other places in Sherwood could accommodate significant new 

development projects without larger tracts of additional land being planned for employment uses, such as in Sherwood 

West. As indicated previously, the EOA indicated a surplus of industrial land, but most of it was small, challenging to 

develop sites.  

Leland Consulting Group understands that there is significant interest in Sherwood from industrial users that is likely to 

continue the considerable construction activity seen in Sherwood over the past three years. Between 2018 and 2020, 

approximately 250,000 square feet of industrial space was delivered to market, representing a 12.8 percent cumulative 

expansion of the inventory. As this recent inventory expansion is absorbed by new or expanding users in the area and 

the available land supply diminishes, there may be a slowdown in industrial construction in the near term (approximately 

2-5 years) until additional land is planned for industrial expansion opportunities. As one of only a handful of new growth 

areas in the metro, Sherwood West may capitalize on this and other several pertinent trends over a longer timeframe, 

including:  

• Increasing automation of the manufacturing industry will decrease company’s needs to locate near large 

population clusters and potentially result in companies seeking land on the urban periphery. 

• Rapidly shifting consumer behaviors, such as ecommerce growth, will continue to enhance demand for 

distribution and land-mile warehousing facilities. 

• Electrification and automation of vehicles will continue to require distributors to locate near major 

transportation routes. 

Tonquin Employment Area. The Tonquin Employment Area (TEA) was brought into the region’s UGB by Metro in 2004 

and the City of Sherwood completed a concept plan for the area in 2010. The TEA vision is of industry supporting high-

tech manufacturing and traded sector jobs. Properties within the Tonquin Employment Area will be annexed into the 

City of Sherwood upon request by the property owners.  Upon annexation, the properties will be zoned Employment 

Industrial (EI). 

There has not yet been a completed project within the TEA since the adoption of the concept plan, but the development 

pipeline indicates that most of the land is already accounted for, with several projects at various planning and 

development stages.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 82 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 13 

• Most notably, a large multi-phase project called the T-S 

Corporate Park, which involves five industrial buildings on 46.53 

acres, is underway at 12822 SW Tualatin Sherwood Road. Two 

buildings totaling about 144,000 square feet are underway and 

a third 183,000 square foot building is proposed for 2022, per 

Costar data and the City of Sherwood. Upon completion of all 

five buildings, T-S Corporate Park is expected to contain 

approximately 535,000 square feet of space for warehousing 

and industrial uses. At an estimated employment density of 

1,000 square feet per employee, the T-S Corporate Park would 

employ around 535 people. According to the City of Sherwood, 

there is strong interest from a variety of companies, including tech, advanced manufacturing, and ecommerce 

occupiers. It was also indicated that there is more interest than the site can accommodate. 

• South of the T-S Corporate Park, the Willamette Water Supply Program will begin construction of a statteof-

the-art water treatment plant on two acres of 46 total site acres beginning in late 2021-early 2022. The 

treatment plant improvements will include the construction of a portion of Orr Drive, an important east-west 

connection within the TEA. 

• Multiple parcels totaling approximately 60 total acres with frontage on SW Oregon Street are controlled by a 

major investment company. Two-thirds of the site is currently annexed and the remainder is likely to be 

annexed soon, with plans for a 900,000 square foot industrial park with multitenant buildings known as the 

Sherwood Commerce Center.  

• Two parcels containing 38.7 acres fronting onto SW Tonquin Road were annexed in early 2021. According to 

the City, the property owner has indicated plans to develop approximately 400,000 square feet of new industrial 

space on the property.  

• A 9.2-acre property with frontage on SW Oregon Street and SW Tonquin Road was annexed in early 2021. 

There is a pre-application submittal for over 100,000 square feet of new industrial space. 

• There was previously interest in developing a 4.6-acre site frontage SW Oregon Street, but the owner has 

indicated holding off until there is more information about the proposed east-west industrial collector road 

through the TEA. 

• Other properties in the TEA are generally accessible by Dahlke Lane, but development challenges include the 

quality of the road, the location of the major Bonneville Power Authority and PGE transmission lines,  

incompatible existing development requiring redevelopment, limited quality access, and various topographical 

and environmental barriers. It is expected that these properties will develop last in the TEA.  

• The proposed 2021 URA will provide funds for infrastructure for the TEA and for various sites/projects along 

99W.   

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 83 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 14 

Figure 3. TEA Development Project Pipeline 

 
Source: LCG, City of Sherwood 

Office 

Sherwood’s office submarket is locally oriented with roughly 200,000 square feet of office space. The vacancy rate has 

risen somewhat over the past 12 months as of 2021 Q2, but at 2.3 percent, the rate was well below the 10-year average 

of 6.1 percent.   

Annual net absorption for the past year is negative 2,700 square feet, reflecting an increase in vacancies that were likely 

induced by the COVID-19 pandemic. Over five years, net annual absorption has averaged 1,100 square feet. Despite the 

rising vacancies and challenges of the last year, average rents increased by 1.7 percent over the past year—slightly lower 

than the 3.0 percent average change over the past decade—to a 10-year high of $24.61 per square foot.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 84 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 15 

There are no development supply pressures on vacancy or rent in the near term, as there is no new known office 

construction in the pipeline. This lack of construction extends a prolonged hiatus from new development in the 

Sherwood area; it has been more than 10 years since an office project was delivered. The Economic Challenges and 

Constraints memo that follows this document will provide additional details about specific opportunities to include 

office space as a component of employment-oriented land development. 

The pandemic remains a major disrupter to the economy at large and creates uncertainty in the development and 

investment community. Looking ahead, the effect of the pandemic has the potential to redefine the use of office space, 

as employers reevaluate the safety and health of workers. As the office sector emerges from the COVID-19 pandemic, 

there may be pent-up demand for new leasing opportunities, particularly offices in suburban locations that offer more 

space at more affordable rates than premier office locations like the Portland CBD.  

Retail 

Retail vacancies in Sherwood, at 2.7 percent, are lower than the five-year average of 5.0 percent, albeit higher than this 

time last year. The rate is also significantly lower than the region's average. Meanwhile, rents have increased by four 

percent in the past year, slightly lower than the five-year average of 4.2 percent.   

New construction has averaged approximately 50,000 square feet annually over the past five years, although nothing 

has been built in the past year since the COVID-19 pandemic began. Except for Parkway Village South (described 

below), there is very little new development in the pipeline and Sherwood does not appear to face a burgeoning wave 

of development supply pressure. Retail investors are also reasonably active in Sherwood and pricing is above the 

region's average.   

The commercial real estate environment, and particularly the retail sector, remains uncertain due to the pandemic and 

the increasing demand for ecommerce. Even with vaccines, it is probable that retailers will continue to face turbulence in 

the coming quarters. Those effects will likely linger for the foreseeable future, impacting demand, rent growth, and the 

capital markets in the process. However, as household growth occurs in Sherwood and in nearby areas (including the 

competing UGB expansion areas to Sherwood West that are described later in this memo), there will be increased 

demand for new retail development. Retail in Sherwood is likely to draw most of its customers from within the City and 

from areas to the south, rather than from areas to the north and east where there are preexisting retail and commercial 

clusters. That being said, unique regional drawers or major destinations will likely have a much larger trade area from 

which to pull customers than convenience-based retail. 

Parkway South. There is a substantial new development 

under construction in Sherwood called Parkway South on 

the area bounded by SW Langer Farms Parkway and SW 

Century Drive.  

 At 132,000 square feet of gross leasable area (GLA), 

Parkway South is anchored by a 53,000 square foot family 

entertainment center—the only building currently built. 

Among the other proposed buildings are a 12,275 square 

foot daycare facility and a 40,000 square foot indoor 

racing facility. Approximately 27,000 square feet of in-line 

tenants on “pad” sites make up the remaining buildings.  

The fact that the only new major commercial center 

planned for this part of the metropolitan region is 

primarily non-retail is telling and reflects the changing composition of commercial development and a desire for 

differentiation in an often saturated retail market.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 85 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 16 

Rental Residential 

Sherwood shares a multifamily/apartment submarket with Tualatin and is conveniently located between major 

employers in the Sunset Corridor and Wilsonville. Vacancies generally trend below the regional Metro area rate, but can 

be volatile as there are only 3,888 total units (1.9 percent of the regional market), so small changes in new inventory or 

absorption can make significant impacts. Regardless, occupancy is currently at 95.9 percent—close to the five-year 

high—indicating strong and consistent demand for new development. 

Annual rent growth 6.0 percent in the past year, up from an annual average of 3.3 percent over the past five years. Rent 

growth in 2019 was triple Portland's overall average, ranking near the top of all apartment submarkets in the region, but 

slowed in 2020 due to the coronavirus pandemic.  

Only four new developments were delivered to the market in the past decade, representing about 320 total units, and 

no additional projects are in the pipeline. Though few multifamily sales have occurred since 2017, the submarket 

occasionally sees sizable institutional investment. 

Significant growth in the population aged 55 and over has given rise to the growing demand for certain housing types, 

including apartments, assisted living facilities, and small-format single-family detached and attached residential.  

Ownership Residential 

Sherwood’s owner-occupied housing market is considered competitive, with a sale-to-list price ratio of around 101.3 

percent and averaging less than 20 days on the market before going pending.  

Sherwood’s housing stock is relatively new compared with the rest of the Portland Metro region. Almost half of all 

Sherwood single-family homes were built in the 1990s, averaging 284 new units built per year, with another third built in 

the 2000s, averaging 150 new units built per year. Construction slowed since 2010, with new construction averaging 32 

units per year, impacted by both the lasting effects of the Great Recession and the diminishing availability of buildable 

residential land (not including the Brookman area). Upon annexation of additional residential land in the Brookman area, 

single-family residential construction is expected to pick up again. The city has annexed roughly 65 acres to date and 

three new subdivisions have been approved with a total of 232 lots. These households will generate demand for both 

nearby commercial amenities and services and employment opportunities. 

Figure 4. Single-family Homes by Year Built 

 

Source: Metro RLIS 

In March 2021, Sherwood home prices were down 5.9 percent compared to last year, selling for a median price of 

$585,000. On average, homes in Sherwood sell after 16 days on the market compared to 22 days last year. There were 

37 homes sold in March this year, up from 22 last year. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 86 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 17 

Hospitality 

While the hotel industry has been among the most significantly impacted real estate sectors by the COVID-19 

pandemic, it is now seeing buyers flock to distressed properties. Sales have surged nationwide; a clear signal some 

commercial real estate investors are ready to act while others may still be waiting for similar action in other sectors such 

as office or retail. 

Sherwood’s only hotel—a 73-room, 71,000 square foot Hampton by Hilton—was built recently in 2020 along Highway 

99W, reflecting a highly limited market.  

The hotel industry appears poised for recovery as people begin to travel once more. However, future disruptions in the 

near term (0-2 years), such as new waves of coronavirus infections, continuing competition from Airbnb and similar 

models, too few hotel workers and patrons vaccinated, a glut of supply, and continued reduced business travel may 

continue to dampen hotel prospects. That being said, there are most likely opportunities that can capitalize on 

Sherwood’s proximity to Wine Country and an increasing number of prominent companies in the area, among other 

emerging trends. These opportunities will be further explored in later tasks. 

Southwest Metro Region Expansion Areas  

Sherwood is part of the Metro region. All cities in Metro share one regional UGB. This boundary is the line between 

urban and rural/resource uses and development. The following map shows the location of Sherwood West relative to 

the current location of Metro’s urban and rural reserves, denoted in blue and green, respectively. Understanding the 

timing of the development in both of these areas is critical to determining the extent of the demand for various uses in 

Sherwood West in the near- and mid-term, as well as how much land will be needed to serve longer-term growth.  

The reserves designated by Metro represent the region’s policy regarding land supply needed over the next 50 years. 

However, the Portland metropolitan region has experienced higher-than-expected economic growth and housing 

construction, resulting in a quickly diminishing availability of developable land since the designations. A reassessment of 

land needs, therefore, is likely to be triggered sooner than expected. 

In short, it is safe to assume that areas to the west and south will be developed at some point. This analysis, therefore, 

takes a phased approach to assessing development potential in Sherwood West. In the near term (0-10 years), 

Sherwood West will continue to be an edge location. As development occurs over the longer-term (20+ years), it will 

become increasingly central to surrounding neighborhoods. Thus, it is important to identify short-term opportunities 

based on the current market while maintaining a long-term outlook, particularly if the City’s vision for economic 

development does not align with what the current market allows. 

Sherwood West is one of several planned expansions in the southwest metro region. Others include Tigard River 

Terrace, Beaverton Cooper Mountain, and King City West. How and when these areas develop will directly impact the 

market and compete with the study area.  

Other expansion areas exist along the I-5 and I-205 corridors. These areas are in various stages of planning but are likely 

to serve a different market area and, therefore, not directly compete with Sherwood West. For major employment uses, 

there might be some level of competition at the regional level, but Leland Consulting Group anticipates sufficient 

demand for these uses. A myriad of other challenges also pose barriers to developing these areas, including topography 

and political hurdles.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 87 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 18 

Figure 5. Metro Urban and Rural Reserves 

 

Source: Metro  

The following table summarizes the scale of planned development in each of these expansion areas.      

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 88 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 19 

Table 4. Planned Development Summary 

Expansion 

Area 

Commercial / 

Employment  
Residential  Additional Notes 

River Terrace 

1.0  

25,000 to 40,000 sq. ft. 

(building area)  

2,587 units; 75% Single-

family, 25% Multifamily  

(about 1,200 units built 

to date)  

 

Residential Development is currently 

underway and is expected to finish in the 

next several years. Construction of 

commercial space is expected in late 2021. 

Tigard River 

Terrace 2.0 

10 to 30+ gross acres of 

employment and/or 

commercial uses  

Approximately 3,100 to 

4,500 total residential 

units,  

A mix of SFR detached and attached and MFR 

apartments are expected. Employment uses 

are desired by the City. 

Cooper 

Mountain 

(CM), 

Beaverton 

10-acre main street 

commercial 

Est. 80,000 to 120,000 

sq. ft. (building area) 

South CM: 3,430 units  

Urban Reserve Area: 

3,760 units  

North CM: 300 units 

 

Residential Development currently underway, 

existing high school, future development at 

North Cooper Mountain. Limited 

competition.  

URA 6D King 

City (King City 

West) 

Est. 54,000 to 85,000 sq. 

ft.  (building area) 

3,576 units, including a 

mix of single-family and 

multi-family homes. 

Limited existing household support and 

physical barriers limit market area, this area is 

the most removed from centers of population 

and employment.   

Source: LCG 

The UGB expansion areas are expected to get built out in the following order.  

• River Terrace 1.0  

• South Cooper Mountain  

• King City West (URA 6D) 

• River Terrace 2.0  

King City 6D  

King City Urban Reserve Area 6D is a 528-acre expansion area to the west of the existing city limits. SW Beef Bend Road 

and SW Roy Rogers Road border the area on the north and west, respectively.  The south boundary is formed primarily 

by the southern segment of SW Elsner Road and the Tualatin River. 

According to the 2018 concept plan, the area could accommodate as many as 3,576 housing units, including 1,222 

multifamily units, 560 single-family attached, and 1,794 single-family detached. The 2017 King City Market Study 

estimated 500 to 950 housing units could be absorbed within the first 10 years of construction.   

King City is looking to develop a town center, which is likely to serve these new residents. Development is likely to 

compete with River Terrace 2.0 or be part of a compatible commercial/employment cluster near Beef Bend Road. 

Tigard River Terrace  

River Terrace 1.0 is a 500-acre area on Tigard’s westernmost edge. It was added to the region’s Urban Growth Boundary 

in 2002 and 2011 to accommodate future housing needs. Approximately 1,200 units are currently built in the area, about 

three-quarters of which have been built since 2016 (233 were built between 2000 and 2015). Continued build-out of 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 89 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 20 

Tigard River Terrace 1.0 (excluding the River Terrace 2.0 West and South study areas) will result in a total of 2,600 

residential units (single-family and multifamily), approximately 25 percent of which will be multifamily. 

The River Terrace Town Center is also proposed in the area, a “Main Street” development type that will include 350 

residential rental units and 25,000 to 40,000 square feet of neighborhood-serving commercial, likely involving a small 

format or specialty grocer, medical or professional/financial offices, and food service and drinking establishments. 

Development is expected to start in late 2021.  

River Terrace 2.0 is the next phase of planning in this area. Two urban reserves are totaling over 500 acres to the west 

and south of the current River Terrace (1.0). River Terrace 2.0 is expected to feature a wider variety of housing options 

(with average residential densities of 16 to 24 units per acre), recreation, and employment areas. River Terrace 2.0 is 

expected to add between 3,100 to 4,546 units at full project built out.  

Between 10 and 30 or more acres have been identified for commercial and employment uses. It remains too early in the 

planning process to describe these plans in more detail.  

Collectively, the River Terrace areas may include more than 11,000 new residential units and substantial land planned for 

commercial and employment growth. 

Beaverton Cooper Mountain   

The Beaverton Cooper Mountain Community Plan is a multi-year effort to plan for the 1,232-acre Cooper Mountain 

area, which was added to the region’s urban growth boundary in 2018. The Cooper Mountain Community Plan will 

establish a long-term vision for the area’s growth and development to support welcoming, walkable neighborhoods that 

honor the unique landscape and ensure a legacy of natural resource protection and connection. The Cooper Mountain 

area is located southwest of Beaverton outside the current city limits.  

The Cooper Mountain area consists of three areas: a 510-acre area to that north that is inside the UGB but still in 

unincorporated Washington County; a 544-acre area to the south that was annexed into the city in 2012 (South Cooper 

Mountain); and a 1,232-acre urban reserve area in-between.  

Urban Reserve Area. Current Washington County zoning is primarily Agricultural and Farmland and Rural Residential 

zones; however, Beaverton will apply its own zoning to the area once properties are brought inside city limits and the 

area is anticipated to provide at least 3,760 future homes, including a mix of single-family, multi-family, and middle 

housing types such as townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, and fourplexes. The City anticipates completing the Community 

Plan in December 2022, after which it will begin accepting owner-initiated applications for annexation and development. 

South Cooper Mountain. Due to its proximity to Sherwood and location on Scholls Ferry Road and near Roy Rodgers 

(providing north-south access to Sherwood), the 554-acre South Cooper Mountain is expected to be the primary 

competition for new development in Sherwood West out of the three Cooper Mountain areas. The South Cooper 

Mountain Plan shows that the area could support up to 3,430 housing units and between 47,000 and 142,000 square 

feet of new commercial space, which would primarily be driven by demand from new residents. South Cooper Mountain 

is expected to be nearly built out as early as 2024. There is also a new high school that will hold up to 2,200 students 

and 200 staff. 

North Cooper Mountain is slated to support another 300 housing units if new zoning is adopted in the northern 

portion of the area; utilities are made available; and, properties annex to the City of Beaverton. 

Transportation 

The regional transportation network serving Sherwood West and surrounding areas is planned for a number of updates 

and improvements that will be needed to serve future residential and employment growth and changing land use 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 90 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 21 

patterns. Washington County recently completed an Urban Reserves Transportation Study (URTS) project, which is 

intended to inform concept planning in the urban reserves (including Sherwood West), help ensure that the County 

meets mobility and capacity standards on area roadways, and provide a roadmap to funding transportation system 

improvements as the urban reserves develop in the future. Notable projects in the vicinity of Sherwood West include: 

• Roy Rogers Road: Washington County plans to widen Roy Rogers Road between Scholls Ferry Road and 2,500 

feet south of Bull Mountain Road to five lanes with bike lanes and sidewalks. This project is expected to be 

completed in December 2021. 

• Tualatin Sherwood Road/Roy Rogers Road: Washington County plans to widen Tualatin-Sherwood Road/Roy 

Rogers Road, between Borchers Drive and Langer Farms Parkway, to five lanes with bike lanes and sidewalks 

and additional turn lanes at Highway 99W. The project is expected to begin in Fall 2021. 

• SW Brookman Road: When the Sherwood West area annexes to the City, SW Brookman Road (SW Chapman 

Road) will be upgraded to an urban facility with facilities for bicycling and walking, and the City is exploring 

crossing solutions at Highway 99W. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 91 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Economic Opportunities 
Memo

APPENDIX G

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 92 of 205



610 SW Alder Street, Suite 1200, Portland, Oregon 97205 | 503.222.1600 

Sherwood West Concept Plan 

Economic Opportunities and Challenges  

Date June 15, 2021 

To Joe Dills, Kyra Haggart  

Angelo Planning Group 

From Sam Brookham, Chris Zahas  

Leland Consulting Group 

 

Contents 

Executive summary ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Constraints and Challenges ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Opportunities ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Strategies for Employment Growth .......................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Executive summary  

Stakeholder Interview Takeaways 

• Employment Land. There is a limited supply of high-quality buildable employment land in the region and 

increasing demand, particularly for large sites. Stakeholders believe that demand is strong enough to absorb 

whatever amount of land the City sets aside for employment in Sherwood West.  

• Development types. Developers are mostly building multitenant flex space (as part of larger industrial or 

business parks), warehouses, and distribution facilities (both speculative and build-to-suit). The transportation 

network is considered prohibitive for the latter two in Sherwood West. Opportunities for build-to-suit single-

user buildings may also arise sporadically.  

• Limited Infrastructure Funding Availability. While this concept plan is expected to address some of the 

challenges associated with infrastructure phasing and funding in Sherwood West, developers want to see a 

clear plan for infrastructure improvements before committing to a site.  

• Land needs range from 40 to 50 acres per “center” or “park” allowing for buildings averaging 50,000 square 

feet on five to six acres, although a larger-than-average business park or campus-style development may 

require more than 100 acres. Total demand is likely sufficiently strong to support a number of these 

developments, creating a healthier jobs/housing/fiscal balance for Sherwood. Sherwood should target two to 

three areas of Sherwood West with the largest and flattest (less than 3.0 percent slopes) contiguous tracts of 

land for these developments. Possible locations for this appear limited to the northern section of Sherwood 

West, particularly in the area bounded by Elwert Road, Roy Rogers Road, Scholls Sherwood Road, and 

Conzelmann Road, along Highway 99W and potentially near Haide Road and Kruger Road. Most of the inland 

areas along the western half of Sherwood West are unlikely to be suitable for mixed employment (industrial, 

flex, office) given the topographical and access constraints. 

• The wine industry is an important part of the local and regional economy which may dovetail with industrial, 

retail, and hospitality uses, but it is unlikely to solely support the growth of any of these land use sectors. A 

diversified economy and additional employment are necessary. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 93 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 2 

• Land aggregation is critical because of the number of different property owners in Sherwood West.  

• Developers want transparency and certainty for land, zoning, and infrastructure. This is now considered more 

important than a shorter development timeline. 

• Office prospects are questionable, and the market may not return to normal for many years. Campus-style 

development may be possible but there are few local examples and the market is unproven. 

• Zoning flexibility is critical. It is not recommended the City dictates uses, but simply provides limitations on 

undesirable uses. 

Opportunities for Sherwood West 

• Industrial. The industrial market is hot and unlikely to cool within the next 10 years. Sherwood is beginning to 

see interest from existing tech companies in Hillsboro and elsewhere. As the west and southwest parts of the 

metro region develop, the gap between Sherwood and existing tech and other industry clusters will likely 

decrease, creating a critical mass of employment with access along the Roy Rogers corridor.  

• Target tenants are wide-ranging, including service providers, contractors, tech companies, logistics, light 

manufacturers, designers, healthcare users, etc. Other users in the City’s target industry list—including 

advanced manufacturing, life sciences, R&D, software/media design, professional and business services, food 

products, outdoor wear design, etc.—are also appropriate. 

• Tech Clusters. Sherwood is centrally located between existing tech clusters in Wilsonville and the Sunset 

Corridor. These clusters have historically dominated the tech-oriented employment landscape, but these 

markets are now understood to be softening, with developers looking for opportunities elsewhere in the 

Portland metro. The Sherwood area is beginning to draw existing businesses from Hillsboro, as well as serving 

as an attractive location for new businesses to the metro region.  

• Hotels—particularly mid-range, independent, and boutique hotels—are in demand. However, Sherwood cannot 

expect to support new hotel development based entirely on its proximity to wine country as other cities to the 

south are better positioned for an immersive wine country experience. Instead, new hotels in Sherwood will 

likely be feasible as a follow-on use once employment growth occurs, and the market is proven.  

• Similarly, new retail development will come in a later phase after residential and employment growth. 

• Office space is likely to be part of mixed-use developments, commercial centers, or larger employment centers. 

Target tenants include tech, medical, and service-oriented office space with some “hub and spoke” or satellite 

office. 

• Retail. New growth will drive demand for new space, but the growth of ecommerce and declining retail 

footprints may dampen the impact. Sherwood should focus on convenience-based retail, such as grocery and 

health and personal care, as well as neighborhood-serving retail, such as foodservice and drinking places, either 

as neighborhood-centers or main street corridor approach that diversifies the retail mix and supports the 

growth independent retailers and restauranters.  

• Healthcare. Because major healthcare facilities depend on large nearby population bases and visibility and 

access along highways and major transportation corridors, such a facility may be unlikely in the next 10 or 20 

years. Attracting such a user would require time, effort, and deliberate planning and policy on the part of the 

City. Smaller-scale healthcare facilities are likely to be part of centers or larger developments. 

Strategies/Recommendations 

• Be Flexible. Maintain as much flexibility (zoning, land, tools, approach) as possible in planning for employment 

growth as market cycles and trends over the next 20 years are unclear. This means maintaining large, 

contiguous sites but not mandating large-lot sites.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 94 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 3 

• Plan for Mixed Employment. Most of the opportunities for long-term job creation will likely require a mixed 

employment approach—namely industrial, flex, and office. Mixed Employment in centers/parks of 20-100 acres 

is the strongest market. 

• Plan for Multitenant Space that can be scaled up or down and is highly divisible (e.g., to 2,500 square feet) 

allows for business expansion and the flexibility to accommodate various sized flex, office, commercial, or light 

industrial users.  

• Compile a Toolkit of incentives and tools that can be packaged together to encourage desired development 

types. 

• Be Both Proactive and Patient. Depending on the market cycle and the opportunities at any given time, certain 

land uses will develop faster than others. This will require a phased development approach in Sherwood West. 

Industrial and residential uses are likely to dominate in the near term, followed by retail, hospitality, office, and 

healthcare. 

• Ensure that Buildable Shovel-ready Land is Available for Employment. The land must be zoned for 

employment development. The zoning and building codes should require an appropriate level of development 

quality, but not make unrealistic requirements, for example, around low parking ratios, mixed-use, etc. For 

certain sites, the City may want to use the State’s “Certified Shovel Ready” process to document that 

environmental, archeological, title, wetland, and topographical issues do not preclude development. Flat sites 

with slopes of less than 3.0 percent are limited and should be reserved for mixed employment and industrial 

users. 

• Invest in Talent and Quality of Place. The underpinnings of traded sector office site selection are simple: Locate 

where the talent is. Therefore, cities must attract talented people, by providing high-quality cities and 

neighborhoods where people want to live. The Sherwood West Concept Plan, which integrates residential, 

employment, and commercial development with parks and open spaces, is an important step; building out the 

plan is another.  

• Increase Accessibility and Visibility via the regional transportation network. Large employers have historically 

needed to bring large numbers of employees to their campuses, and this requires robust auto, transit, bicycle, 

and pedestrian transportation infrastructure.  

• Consider Land Acquisitions. Site ownership can put the City in a strong position to recruit employers; it can 

also be expensive, risky, and politically contentious. If the City is considering land acquisitions, LCG 

recommends that the City work with a broker with experience executing deals that have resulted in 

employment land and building development in Washington County, in order to clearly understand costs and 

benefits.  

• Target 99W and North Sherwood West for transportation-dependent uses and larger-scale employment 

development, respectively. There is little frontage on 99W so it should be retained for certain users. Similarly, 

the largest tract of flat land (100+ acres) in Sherwood West is located to the north. Other areas may be feasible, 

but developers of industrial and, to a slightly lesser extent, office projects typically require regularly-shaped 

tracts of flat land with slopes of less than 3.0 percent. A campus-style development may be able to 

accommodate a greater variety of topographical conditions. Further analysis of the topographical and other 

physical conditions is necessary to determine the extent of these opportunities. 

 

  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 95 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 4 

Introduction  

This Economic Opportunities and Challenges memo provides an evaluation of Sherwood West’s assets and constraints; 

summarizes input from interviews with developers, stakeholder, and leading economists; and provides insights on the 

economic future of Sherwood West as a part of a growing Sherwood. It is intended to highlight opportunities for 

economic development strategies and non-residential land uses that could produce jobs and tax base as part of the 

overall mix of land uses in Sherwood West over the next 20 years and beyond. It also explores creative options for long-

term job creation that reflect Sherwood West’s location at the urban edge and that optimize its ability to evolve as the 

region matures and economic changes occur. 

In preparing the memo, Leland Consulting Group (LCG) conducted interviews with key stakeholders to explore how 

technology, health care, office, hospitality, retail, and other employment uses might evolve in Sherwood West’s unique 

location. These stakeholders included local and regional industrial, office, mixed-use, retail, and hotel developers, 

brokers, and specific industry representatives (such as the wine industry). The anecdotal takeaways from these interviews 

are intermixed within the narrative of this memorandum.  

Sherwood should not attempt to compete against other employment centers that may have better locational attributes 

such as proximity to I-5 or existing clusters of technology employment. Accordingly, we have identified opportunities 

that play to Sherwood West’s unique attributes. These opportunities build upon the area’s proximity to the wine 

country, long-term changes to office dynamics as a result of COVID-19, evolving changes to the retail landscape, and 

other factors.  

The memo includes a shortlist of employment land uses that could realistically be supported in Sherwood West, with 

projections for development over time. 

Constraints and Challenges 

Based on key takeaways from feedback received during the stakeholder interviews, most of the opportunities for long-

term job creation in Sherwood West will likely require a mixed employment approach—namely industrial, flex, and 

office. This approach is consistent with both recent development in the Tonquin Employment Area and other examples 

of peripheral employment development clusters in the region. Of these mixed employment uses, industrial 

development, which typically includes warehousing, logistics, distribution, and manufacturing, has the narrowest 

framework of site selection criteria. While demand-related factors are generally expected to largely overcome potential 

challenges related to site conditions, it is important to highlight these selection criteria as the industrial market may not 

remain as strong as it currently is over the next 20 years.  

Site selection criteria for industrial development typically includes: 

• Access to major transportation routes. Industrial users typically need access to major transportation routes so 

that products can be quickly and easily delivered and shipped, and to maximize the employment catchment 

area. The closest industrial development in the past 20 years has been in Tualatin and Sherwood along I-5 and 

Highway 99W—both major freight and transportation routes. 

• Separation from residential uses. Due to the propensity of industrial users to generate noise, pollution, and 

vehicular traffic, development is not typically located next to residential uses. This sometimes also applies to 

other uses that attract pedestrian activity, such as main street retail and hospitality. 

• Low-cost land. Of all land use types, industrial fetches the lowest rents and sale prices. Comparatively, high-

density residential and commercial uses fetch the highest rents and sale prices. Typically, the cost of land 

reflects these trends.  

• Large, uniform sites. Industrial development is low-density (typically one or two stories) and requires plentiful 

space for circulation, storage, and parking, particularly for freight operators.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 96 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 5 

• Flat sites. Due to the cost of grading, combined with the low value of industrial development, industrial users 

require sites with less than 3.0 percent slopes.  

With these selection criteria in mind, there are several major constraints or barriers to commercial and employment-

focused development in Sherwood West and the immediate surrounding area. We have highlighted these below. 

• Location. Sherwood West is located in the southwestern corner of the Portland Metro region and lacks easy 

access to the I-5 corridor. In the near term, this edge location creates a one-sided market area, limiting the 

employment catchment area. Further, the travel time to or from Portland International Airport1 is double the 

average tract in the Portland metro. As we will discuss in the following pages, strong regional demand and a 

limited supply of employment lands mitigate these challenges in the near term, and long-term residential and 

job growth is expected to soften these impacts as time goes on. 

• Regional Competition. As noted in the previous Development Trends and Implications memo, the southwest 

Portland metro region will see significant growth over the next 20 years, primarily because of the development 

of Sherwood West and several other nearby UGB expansion areas—including Tigard River Terrace, King City 

West, and Beaverton Cooper Mountain—as well as local annexation areas like Brookman and Tonquin. Most of 

these future growth areas are expected to include some level of commercial (and to a leser extent, 

employment) space that will compete with new development in Sherwood West. Closer cities within the 

Portland metropolitan region also have existing industry and business clusters that will continue to grow in the 

coming years. However, these central-area opportunities are expected to be fully built out or have limited land 

availability (particularly for larger sites), pushing the focus of substantial new developments to outer locations 

like Sherwood West. 

• Local Competition. More locally, there are existing and emerging clusters of development within Sherwood 

that may be seen by developers and businesses as more attractive for new development. Locally serving 

retailers, such as restaurateurs, may prefer the established location and charm of Old Town. A hotel developer 

may have similar sentiments. For larger-scale retail, which is facing an uncertain future due to shifting consumer 

behaviors and the rise of ecommerce, Sherwood West’s southeastern boundary fronting Highway 99W may be 

a favorable location because of access and visibility, as might the Roy Rogers corridor after its planned 

expansion. The Tonquin Employment Area (TEA) and the surrounding areas in Tualatin are currently seen as 

better locations for industrial and office development but vacant land is quickly being developed, which is likely 

to push the focus further west to places like Sherwood West.  

• Multiple Property Owners. With 126 properties and 110 property owners, there are few locations that would 

not require land aggregation and assemblage for a larger (20+ acre) development. Developers tend to prefer 

large sites with single ownership in order to avoid the significant delays and hurdles associated with assembling 

enough land from multiple parcels. Further, property owners are rarely on the same page regarding long-term 

plans and it is difficult to predict if, when, and why private property owners will sell or develop their land. The 

City may implement a strategic program for property acquisition to meet economic objectives, either in 

partnership with other public agencies, by soliciting a qualified broker, or by other means. 

• Limited Infrastructure Funding Availability. While this concept plan is expected to address some of the  

challenges associated with infrastructure phasing and funding in Sherwood West, developers want to see a 

clear plan for infrastructure improvements before committing to a site. Infrastructure needs often include 

enhanced water delivery systems (particularly for tech), enhanced electricity (e.g., green energy), and high 

speed internet.  

 

1 Access to other closer municipal airports, such as Hillsboro, also play a role in economic opportunities for 

Sherwood West, albeit to a lesser extent that Portland Airport. Corporate executives and prospectors often utilize 

these other airports with private or corporate planes.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 97 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 6 

• Topography. Substantial employment-oriented development, such as a business park, campus, or large-scale 

industrial or office space, typically requires relatively flat land with slopes under five percent (under three is 

preferable for industrial). Locations with these topographical conditions are limited in Sherwood West. Sloped 

sites require grading, which can be prohibitively expensive for developers, particularly if the soil conditions are 

challenging.2 

• Lack of existing rooftops. While new residential growth is expected over the next 10+ years, the lower density 

of households and jobs within a five-mile radius of Sherwood West currently limits demand for new retail space 

and also limits the employment catchment area for new businesses. The density of rooftops in a given location 

is a critical site selection criterion for new developments. During the recent round of interviews, one stakeholder 

shared an example where a developer chose to develop in Salem rather than Woodburn due to this issue. With 

this being said, the lead time for new development to occur will likely align with this growth, which necessitaes 

proactive planning for new development. Further, Sherwood benefits from its proximity to the Portland metro 

and is the heart of the triangle formed by Hillsboro, Beaverton, and Wilsonville, with existing undeveloped 

“gaps” in this area expected to fill in over the next 20 years, increasing the total number of jobs and people. 

• Uncertain/softened Office Market. The COVID-19 pandemic created much uncertainty regarding the future of 

office uses. The suburban office market has fared relatively better than the Portland Central Business District 

(CBD), likely because of the suburb’s propensity for “essential” or neighborhood-serving offices like medical, 

banks, finance and insurance, etc. rather than industries that typically cluster in downtown settings (e.g., 

professional services). 

• Land Use Application and Permitting. Some stakeholders interviewed considered Sherwood’s application 

process to be arduous relative to other cities, particularly for industrial development. Suggestions to improve 

and streamline this process include pushing elements of the initial application to later in the process and being 

clear about timeframes for various types of permits. 

Opportunities  

Industrial  

The industrial market is considered the hottest of all land use sectors. Ecommerce has surged during the course of the 

pandemic, with online shopping now considered a norm and capturing more than one-quarter of the total retail market. 

Further, for every one percent of new retail sales, ecommerce creates demand for 38 million square feet of new 

warehouse space, and is expected to continue to increase. Other trends benefitting industrial prospects in Sherwood 

West include the increasing popularity of satellite facilities, which appears to be aligned with residents’ desire to work 

close to their homes. Several other key opportunities related to industrial development in Sherwood West are 

highlighted below. 

Strong Demand. Stakeholders consistently pointed out the increasing difficulties in finding sites in the Portland area, 

especially large, contiguous, developable sites. As high-quality industrial sites become increasingly scarce in the 

Portland region, rental rates for industrial space have surged.  

Land Needs. In terms of the rate of development, the Tonquin Employment Area (TEA) is considered a relatively 

accurate depiction of what could be seen in Sherwood West. While Sherwood West is less likely to see as many users 

that are highly dependent on major transportation routes, the pace of development in the TEA is indicative of the 

 

2 Basalt is common in soils throughout the Portland area; Sherwood may experience similar challenges, although 

that bedrock around Sherwood West is understand to be relatively deep, making grading less of a challenge than 

in some other parts of the region. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 98 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 7 

strength of the market, and this is unlikely to subside for at least 10 years. In fact, some developers would not consider a 

100-acre designation “long-term planning” and several stakeholders suggested that the 108-acre area in the north of 

Sherwood West is considered a “drop in the bucket” that would be accounted for within two weeks if it were 

development-ready today. Additionally, institutional developers are generally purchasing 40- to 50-acre sites in order to 

phase development over time, with the main focus on five to six-acre developments with around 50,000 square feet of 

multitenant, mixed employment space. There is also new investment nearby in the Tonquin Employment Area (TEA) for 

larger buildings (upwards of 200,000 square feet), albeit to a lesser extent than the aforementioned product type, that 

can be either single user or multitenant. The larger the development, however, the greater the need for flat, 

unencumbered sites that become increasingly challenging to find. 

The City of Sherwood could, therefore, plan for substantial industrial-focused employment growth over the next 20 

years. Development types include mixed-use employment with a focus on tech, manufacturing, and warehousing. 

Despite the regional need for large lot industrial, the City should avoid mandating large lot industrial and instead 

maintain as much contiguous developable land as possible in order to accommodate phasing. While providing an 

estimate for the total amount that could be designated for employment lands or the specific product types that should 

be planned for is challenging, we recommend a flexible approach that can accommodate a range of development 

programs and types. Larger sites may be developed in full or subdivided by a developer. 

Residential Growth. Nearby residential growth will benefit industrial prospects—mainly for smaller multitenant spaces—

as people continue to value shorter commutes and quality spaces. 

Competition. One of Sherwood’s primary competitors for new industrial-focused employment land development is 

Wilsonville. The Coffee Creek area is considered a comparable location to Sherwood West. However, Wilsonville’s sites 

are also considered challenging to develop because there are few sites in excess of 10 acres and there is limited city-

provided infrastructure (water, sewer, roads); stakeholders agree that larger sites are needed to achieve an adequate 

return on investment, especially if infrastructure investments are expected from the developer. Wilsonville is also seen as 

challenging to work with due to overly restrictive zoning and a challenging permitting process. Of note, the City of 

Wilsonville has formed an urban renewal district as part of its strategy to support development in the Coffee Creek area. 

Low Vacancies. Of the almost 10 million square feet of speculative construction in the metro region that have been 

delivered over the past 5 years, less than 10 percent is available and the market should be able to absorb most of the 

2.1 million speculative square feet being delivered in 2020-2021. Vacancy is expected to increase to 6-8 percent within 

the next five years as a result of the development pipeline, bringing about more stability to the market. There are 

roughly four million square feet still in the pipeline, over half of which is planned to be owner-user or build-to-suit 

properties. 

Wine-related Impacts. Outside investment is increasing in Oregon’s wine industry and the Willamette Valley is quickly 

becoming a hotbed of new activity as investors see profit-making opportunities associated with the lower cost of land 

(relative to France and California) and grape production, as well as recognizing the need to diversify locations in the face 

of climate change. The recent acquisition of Ponzi (a Sherwood area business) by the French company Bollinger is one of 

the first foreign acquisitions in Oregon, but it is expected as the start of an emerging trend rather than an exception. 

Impacts of the wine industry on hospitality and commercial prospects are explored in later pages. 

Developers see opportunities in storage, distribution (including bottling), production, and warehousing. While the 

former is a low-density employment type, the others pay higher wages and employ a significant number of people. 

Wine-focused manufacturing also aligns with existing trends in the southwest metro region which has seen food 

processing become a major employment sector. While industrial stakeholders see opportunities in production, wine 

industry experts consider it a nonstarter, with the majority of production facilities likely to remain in the immediate 

vicinity of the growth area. Storage and distribution may benefit from proximity to Highway 99W, but, again, developers 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 99 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 8 

see areas that are more centrally located in wine country—such as McMinnville along Highway 18—as better potential 

locations in the short-term.  

T-S Corporate Park. Cities are increasingly using zoning codes to influence development. For the T-S Corporate Park, 

the developers knew the zoning before it was annexed, and the plans were reactive to that zoning. The developers 

looked at the Koch Corporate Park to the east as a comparable example for what they could expect. Despite 

topographical, soil, and wetland constraints, the project is rapidly proceeding with multitenant space geared to 

manufacturing, food, and tech (such as bioscience).  

Target Industries  

During the stakeholder interviews, participants (including those throughout all stages of the development process, from 

high-level prospecting to tenant recruitment) generally agreed with Sherwood’s target industries. These industries 

include: 

• High Technology/Computers & Electronics 

• Light Manufacturing/Advanced Manufacturing3 

• Cleantech 

• Life Sciences/Biosciences 

• Research and Development (R&D) 

• Software/Media Design 

• Professional/Business Services 

• Food Products 

• Outdoor/Athletic Wear Design 

• Healthcare 

Other industries mentioned during the interviews included logistics and engineering. Many of the target industries 

above are highly water-intensive. One major competitive advantage in Oregon’s favor is the availability of water. Some 

of Oregon’s competition, including New Mexico and Arizona, are facing significant challenges due to current and 

expected future droughts.  

These industries are primarily traded sector and provide, on average, higher-paying jobs and may be part of a campus-

style development or as individual site developments (most likely multitenant mixed employment buildings). It is 

understood that these development types are seeing increasing levels of interest from various stakeholders. A larger 

campus or business/tech park will require larger tract of land in excess of 20 acres and perhaps as much as 100 or more 

acres.  

Possible locations for this appear limited to the northern section of Sherwood West, particularly in the area bounded by 

Elwert Road, Roy Rogers Road, Scholls Sherwood Road, and Conzelmann Road. Other locations may be appropriate as 

long as land is free of development impediments, such as steep slopes and wetlands. A high-level topographical analysis 

of the area shows potential locations for other employment areas along Highway 99W and perhaps centrally around 

Haide Road and Kruger Road. Most of the inland areas along the western half of Sherwood West are unlikely to be 

suitable for mixed employment (industrial, flex, office) given the topographical and access constraints. 

Locational Considerations 

Highway Access. Approximately 0.8 miles of Sherwood West’s southeastern boundary fronts onto Highway 99W 

(between Kruger Road and Chapman Road). This access is considered critical for industrial users that require quick and 

easy access to the transportation network. This location is considered the only place that warehousing and distribution 

users may locate. The middle section of this stretch of Sherwood West contains topography that is likely prohibitive for 

new development that requires flat land (especially industrial), and the northern section is made up of multiple property 

owners and several irregularly-shaped and smaller parcels, creating challenges for land assembly and development. 

Generally, high-density employment is not considered likely due to the impacts on the transportation network and 

 

3 One stakeholder specifically mentioned interest in aerospace components manufacturing. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 100 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 9 

probable congestion, although this could be somewhat mitigated with robust residential growth that reduces commute 

times. 

Tech Clusters. Sherwood is centrally located between existing tech clusters in Wilsonville and the Sunset Corridor. These 

clusters have historically dominated the tech-oriented employment landscape, but the market is now believed to be 

softening, with developers looking for opportunities elsewhere in the Portland metro where there is access to new talent 

clusters, new homes (especially for executives), and large tracts of land available to develop (particularly lower-cost 

land). LCG’s stakeholder interviews suggest that the Sherwood area is beginning to draw existing businesses from 

Hillsboro, as well as serving as an attractive location for new businesses in the metro region.  

Access to Talent. Talent is critical to location decisions for employers and is the single most important factor driving 

urban economic success is the educational attainment of a city’s population.4 Economic development partners and 

employers talk about “Talent” in terms of (1) the size of the skilled labor force in the market area, (2) the size or 

percentage of the population with a college degree, and (3) industry composition.  

Approximately 17,000 new households are planned between the three UGB expansion areas along the Roy Rogers 

corridor (Sherwood West, Tigard River Terrace, and King City West—all within a five-mile radius), potentially adding 

more than 50,000 people to the area in the next 10 to 20 years. This growth will increase the interest of developers of all 

land uses in and around the Sherwood area. The importance of Sherwood High School should not be understated here 

as a local driver of talent creation. The school district is considered a major draw to the area for residents and 

executives, and programs and partnerships with industry groups or businesses will likely continue to increase 

opportunities for localized economic development.  

Infrastructure  

Infrastructure is considered one of—if not the most—important elements for employment-focused development in 

Sherwood West. Developers desire certainty around roads and utilities, and now consider it a simple “build it and they 

will come” approach. 

Funding Plan. Metro, the regional planning agency, also considers infrastructure essential and recommends that the 

City develop a clear infrastructure funding and phasing plan as part of the Sherwood West Concept Plan. If the City can 

prove a certain return on investment, this plan can help justify the additional investment, financing, and funding from an 

economic development perspective. This does not necessarily equal an expectation of the City to build all infrastructure, 

but developers are increasingly doing risk assessments relative to delivery, so a clear plan for getting the shovel in 

the ground is important—more important than being promised a quicker overall timeline.  

Shovel-ready Sites. Having shovel-ready sites available is likely to offset any of the area’s potential disadvantages, to a 

certain extent. However, we recognize that there is a risk involved in speculative infrastructure investment, especially if 

the requirements for new development differ from user to user. The tech industry, for example, is understood to be 

asking for enhanced water delivery systems, enhanced electricity (e.g., green energy), and high-speed internet. In this 

case, Sherwood’s municipally-owned broadband is a major advantage. It is recommended that the City of Sherwood 

develop a defined implementation plan with readily available funding.  

Office  

Office prospects are questionable, and the market may not return to normal for many years. Campus-style development 

may be possible but there are few local examples, and the market is unproven. 

 

4 https://cityobservatory.org/talent-and-prosperity/  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 101 of 205

https://cityobservatory.org/talent-and-prosperity/


www.lelandconsulting.com Page 10 

Based on LCG’s experience and other sources, employers base their decisions on where to locate office space based on 

the following primary criteria:  

• Attracting and retaining talent. This is the most often cited requirement for location decisions. Businesses want to 

be in locations where they can draw on a large pool of highly-educated, innovative, creative, and motivated 

individuals. While the population size and educational attainment near Sherwood West are reasonably strong, other 

competitive areas still have a talent advantage, as shown in the table in the Locational Considerations section. 

• Development Clusters. Being located in proximity to customers, collaborators, suppliers, and even competitors is 

critical to the success of office developments. Hence the clustering of Athletic and Outdoor businesses in the 

Portland metro region, and in proximity to Nike.  

• Accessibility and visibility. Employers’ workforce, customers, suppliers, and others must be able to easily get to and 

from the office space. Visibility is important since an attractive office space can act as a marketing tool for the 

company’s brand.  

• Quality of place. Since talent is the most important consideration, and highly skilled people are attracted to places 

with a high quality of life, quality of place is important to employers.   

• Real estate costs. After labor costs, real estate costs like rent and other fees increase the costs of operation. Higher 

costs often mean tighter budgets and slower growth trajectories. 

• Regulation and tax structure.5 Depending on a business’ perspective, it may consider the regulatory or fiscal 

environment as supportive or contrary to its operations. Regulations can include environmental requirements, 

zoning, and other elements that may restrict certain uses, development types, or businesses. Taxes, such as property 

and income tax, can also impact a business’ ability to attract workers, but taxes play a lesser role than others 

mentioned here.  

Regional Overview 

While office prospects remain murky, it is expected to return to full strength within the next five years as economic 

conditions improve. The Portland CBD accounts for the vast majority of the metro’s office inventory, which is unlikely to 

change despite trends that support a greater dispersion of the office inventory.  

Total vacancy in Downtown Portland has been increasing each quarter since 2019 to its current vacancy of 16 to 18 

percent and is expected to continue to increase as pipeline development comes online and if leases expire and are not 

renewed. A vacancy rate near or upwards of 20 percent is considered a major problem from which it is challenging to 

recover. Almost one million square feet of new, mostly unleased, office product was delivered to the market in 2020, and 

another 500,000 square feet is still in the pipeline.  

After many years of office space consolidation, office users may start to value more space (spurred on by health 

concerns brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic), although any impacts from space expansions are likely to be 

dampened by the increasing normalization of the work-from-home environment.  

Suburban Office 

The suburban office market has generally maintained a steadier course with a vacancy rate currently around 10 percent, 

albeit with a substantially smaller inventory. The suburbs can provide employment opportunities closer to people’s 

homes and often levy fewer taxes that can be seen as attractive for residents.  

 

5 Based on LCG experience and Seven reasons why location is important https://www.us.jll.com/en/views/seven-reasons-

location-important 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 102 of 205

https://www.us.jll.com/en/views/seven-reasons-location-important
https://www.us.jll.com/en/views/seven-reasons-location-important


www.lelandconsulting.com Page 11 

Most office developments that are part of larger planned centers as single, isolated buildings typically struggle to 

penetrate the market. An example of this is the nearby Pacific Financial Center in Tualatin. Despite a location on 

Highway 99W, the building has struggled to attract tenants and is only recently achieving a vacancy of 75 percent since 

its construction in 2008, with asking rents of $28 full-service advertised for currently available space. Pacific Financial 

Center is an ode to an outdated development model and demonstrates the need to cohesively plan for a critical mass of 

employment and commercial activity. 

For the purpose of long-term planning of Sherwood West, the City can assume that office space will be a relatively 

minor part of the development program, either as mixed-employment, campus, and/or mixed-use developments. The 

most likely development type is surface parked projects no more than 20,000 square feet, with some smaller office 

space as part of mixed-use developments. Target tenants include tech, medical, and service-oriented office space with 

some “hub and spoke” or satellite office. With tech, it is most important for there to be a critical mass.  

As with industrial, a flexible approach that accommodates these and other development types—as desired by council—

is recommended. While office prospects remain dictated by the availability of flat land, it is typically a higher value 

development type that commands higher prices and rents than industrial, and it can therefore get built in areas with 

slightly more challenging site conditions (sometimes with slopes between five and 10 percent).  

Office as Part of Mixed-Use Developments 

Several trends in consumer behavior provide additional cause for optimism for commercial and employment uses in 

Sherwood West.  

Remote Working Opportunities. One of the trends from the COVID-19 pandemic that is likely to continue is the rise of 

flexible employment and remote work. As many as 20 to 30 percent of office workers plan on not returning to the office 

full time. With the projected growth of anywhere from 20,000 to 30,000 new residents aged between 25 and 64 over the 

next 20 years within five miles of Sherwood West (above an existing baseline of 36,400), this growth may result in as 

many as 20,000 people working remotely. This may provide opportunities for smaller office suites (less than 1,000 

square feet) and coworking spaces that could be part of a mixed-use environment.  

20-minute Neighborhood. One notable shift in consumer behavior is the growing demand for the 20-minute 

neighborhood—the concept where one can take care of everything within a 20-minute walk. These areas have walkable 

access to a mix of employment and commercial services, including amenities, multimodal access, adequate sidewalks, 

and good street connectivity.  

While it is challenging for most areas in suburban or edge locations to attract a critical mass of commercial amenities 

and services and employment opportunities to achieve the 20-minute neighborhood, there has long been a growing 

demand for suburban neighborhoods that include these elements, as shown below. Sherwood West can capitalize on 

these shifting preferences. 

Orenco Station is a good example of this: the Hillsboro suburb is a grocery-anchored mixed-use center with retail and 

office uses surrounded by a variety of housing types, including single-family homes, townhouses, and apartments. 

Another good example is the City of Lake Oswego, which has succeeded in creating an amenity-rich environment for its 

office workers, resulting in an attractive, mixed-use location that drives rent premiums and supports higher density 

development.  

These areas are attractive to younger knowledge workers who might be interested in some type of incubation space for 

new company creation. The new high school will help the potential growth of knowledge-related employment by 

anchoring and nurturing community bonds.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 103 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 12 

"Where Would You Most Like to Live" Survey Results 

  

Mixed-use development has historically been limited to downtown environments, only occurring in some suburbs in 

hotter markets. However, it is now expected that mixed-use has a future in the suburbs, especially if it can be developed 

horizontally (versus vertically) and accommodated on larger sites to mitigate the higher cost of construction associated 

with typical vertical mixed-use development. Horizontal mixed-use typically occurs organically and, in turn, creates the 

market conditions to support more density.  

Sherwood should pursue horizontal, rather than vertical, mixed-use development, at least in the near term. The major 

differences include parking (surface versus structured), construction type (wood versus concrete podium), the use of 

elevators, additional circulation and interior spaces, fire and safety elements, and the level of fees associated with the 

development.  

Vertical mixed use also requires much higher rents, primarily because of the more expensive construction costs. These 

rents do not exist in the Sherwood area today. As such, pursuing the latter without allowing for the former may delay 

new development in Sherwood West.  

 

Hospitality 

New hotel development has been clustered in downtown Portland and Hillsboro, with a few isolated projects elsewhere 

along major arterials. There has been relatively limited hotel development in the southwest metro region, except for 

Sherwood’s new Hampton Inn. 

15% 13%

30%

11%
14% 16%

City

Near a mix of

offices,

apartments, and

shops

City

Mostly

residential

neighborhood

Suburban

neighborhood

with a mix of

houses, shops,

and businesses

Suburban

neighborhood

with houses only

Small town Rural area

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 104 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 13 

Some of the key inputs to hotel developers’ site selection decisions are the amount of nearby employment (which drives 

business travel), convention center space, major tourist destinations/quality of place, and visibility from major 

highways/transportation corridors. There is also “background demand” that is linked to the size of the surrounding 

population. Hotel development, to an even greater degree than commercial development, tends to be a “following use.” 

In other words, hospitality follows other types of development, particularly office space. Office space is a significant 

generator of hotel demand and makes it easier to justify the market and attract developers.  

Sherwood West is likely to have competitive advantages in terms of major employment clusters, tourism draws, and 

transportation corridors compared to other locations. LCG considers the probability of attracting a new hotel in the area 

as high, particularly for a mid-range hotel. However, the City should not expect lodging development to be completed 

early in the lifespan of Sherwood West.  

Challenges. Specific challenges related to the hotel industry for Sherwood West are listed below. 

• Lack of major office employers and two of the major employers include healthcare and the school district, 

which doesn’t reflect an adequately diversified employment base to drive hotel demand. 

• Existing land availability in the heart of wine country for wine-oriented hotels in other cities such as Dundee 

means that Sherwood is unlikely to be competitive based on the wine industry alone. 

• Hotels are generally "follow-on" investments because they are expensive to build; developers, therefore, need a 

proven demand before committing to development. 

• Hotels require adequate “activation energy”; there is currently a lack of restaurants and other amenities in and 

around Sherwood West. 

• Lack of local comparable examples; hotel developers need to prove that hotels can get to 70 percent 

occupancy in order to confidently develop. However, if the Hampton Inn negatively performs, it is not 

necessarily an indication of prospects as branded hotels can be a negative for certain audiences. 

Opportunities. Most of these challenges can be addressed by focusing on employment growth and a greater array of 

commercial amenities and services. The pandemic has also increased consumer’s desires for “drive-to” areas, so cities 

like Sherwood that are less isolated may become more resilient to future market disruptions.  

Feedback from the stakeholder interviews indicated a range of hotel options for Sherwood, including mid-range and 

upper-range or boutique hotels. The Allison Inn and Spa in Newberg was discussed as a luxury option ($500+ a night) 

but is not expected to be currently feasible in Sherwood until a critical mass of high-wage employment occurs to 

complement Sherwood’s presence as a gateway to Wine Country. An upper range or boutique option ($300-400 a 

night) such as McMinnville’s Atticus Hotel faces similar challenges in the near term and may be best suited to Old Town 

Sherwood over the longer term. The recently completed 73-room Hampton Inn in Sherwood is considered a budget-

friendly option (less than $150 a night).  

Primary demand is for at least one mid-range hotel in the $150 to $250 a night range that fills an existing gap in the 

market.  

Location. The most likely location for a hotel would be near a mix of uses or town center feature, or near open spaces. It 

is possible that lodging could be located along one of the arterials and look to build on travel to and from the wine 

country to the southwest, but there are most likely superior wine country lodging locations. In fact, a location on 99W 

would help with visibility, but the need for visible, highway-adjacent locations is declining as consumers increasingly use 

technology to seek lodging options and book ahead of time. A more physically attractive location will maximize 

Sherwood West’s unique assets such as its views and open spaces. Proximity to future employment is also 

recommended to target business travelers and a broad spectrum of customers that may desire a different product from 

branded I-5 corridor hotels. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 105 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 14 

Wine tourism. While Sherwood is well positioned between the Portland metro and wine country, the City should not 

base its future on the wine industry. Other cities that are more centrally located in Wine Country are likely to continue 

expanding and experience the bulk of tourism activity, particularly for out-of-state visitors (even though Sherwood’s 

location as a gateway to wine country is a major advantage). Local support is also strong, and new residential growth 

coupled with an increase in inter and intra-state tourism (particularly from TX, NY, FL, etc.) will drive demand for new 

facilities (e.g., satellite tasting rooms).  

An Oregon Winery Visitor Profile Study Report for 2019 by Travel Oregon profiles visitors to the State’s wine regions. In 

the Sherwood region, the average visitor is a 51-year-old woman earning $113,000 per year. These visitors average $600 

in spending over the course of two days and stay an average of 1.5 nights. Compared to the Napa region, the lack of 

available lodging and other services and amenities is apparent, with Napa visitors staying an average of two nights with 

greater expenditures. 

This data is consistent with information garnered during stakeholder interviews, which indicated potential opportunities 

for high-end and boutique hotels and white tablecloth restaurants in Sherwood. These uses would help elevate 

Sherwood’s position as a high-end tourism destination for domestic and international visitors. 

Retail/Commercial  

As described previously, the retail real estate sector continues to struggle as a result of the ongoing pandemic and the 

growth of ecommerce. There is now significantly less new retail development being built per new resident than ever 

before. Big box retail prospects are also the lowest they have ever been among the development community. With that 

said, Sherwood’s retail market is considered vibrant and healthy.  

Sherwood’s retail inventory is largely traditional brick-and-mortar, i.e., surface parked commercial centers or standalone 

buildings along transportation routes. The three types of centers include: 

• Community centers. Often referred to as a strip mall, community centers range from 125,000 square feet to 

400,000 square feet. These properties usually have a grocery store and can also have a discounter and large 

specialty shops mixed with convenience retailers, such as drugstores. 

• Neighborhood Centers. A smaller version of community centers. These are typically referred to as grocery-

anchored properties, along with other convenience retailers. They run up to 125,000 square feet. 

• Convenience Centers. These are very small properties that are less than 30,000 square feet and filled with, well, 

convenience-based retailers, such as dry cleaners, nail salons, drug stores, and other types of shops where 

customers are looking for a quick purchase or service. 

Spending Gap Analysis. A retail gap or leakage analysis helps identify strengths and opportunities in the retail market. 

Supply is determined by estimating the sales by retail establishments in the region to all consumers, regardless of where 

they live; sales to businesses are excluded. Demand is determined by estimating the expected amount spent by 

consumers that live in the region at all retail establishments, regardless of their location. The difference between supply 

(retail potential) and demand (retail sales) represents the retail gap. If the demand is greater than supply, a leakage 

occurs. Retail leakage refers to the amount of money that residents are spending on retail goods and services at stores 

located outside the community. If supply is greater than demand, a surplus occurs and indicates that retailers are selling 

more than is demanded within the region. This information is critical to economic developers and regional planners 

because it can be used to recruit appropriate retailers to the community. It is also useful to retailers already located in a 

community because it can guide on tapping new markets with expanded or improved product offerings. 

As the following chart shows, there is leakage in most retail categories. However, total retail demand is estimated at 

$402 million and total retail sales at $395 million, meaning there is little difference in total. Further, a huge surplus for 

General Merchandise (such as Target, Walmart, etc.) may account for much of the leakage in specific retail categories 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 106 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 15 

like Clothing and Accessories and Miscellaneous Store Retailers. Also likely is that the Sherwood area, as the gateway to 

the Portland metro, is capturing spending from smaller cities in the Willamette Valley that do not have as many retail 

offerings. As Sherwood increases its retail offerings and the commercial landscape becomes increasingly vibrant and 

diverse, the retail gravity will likely draw from an increasingly large trade area to the south. If planned properly, a cluster 

of unique, destination-style retail offerings would likely capitalize on these opportunities. 

Looking ahead, residential and employment growth will certainly drive demand for additional retail space, but the 

growth of ecommerce and declining retail footprints may dampen the impact. Traditional “big box” retail is also unlikely 

as the market is relatively saturated with this product type. Instead, Sherwood should expect to focus on convenience-

based retail, such as grocery and health and personal care, as well as neighborhood-serving retail, such as foodservice 

and drinking places. These categories are also less prone to market disrupters. Enough leakage exists in these categories 

to immediately support at least one moderately-sized cluster of stores. 

There is a growing desire for placemaking, entertainment, and culinary experiences. According to stakeholders, 

Sherwood is missing specialty markets and independent, farm to fork, and white tablecloth restaurants. Restaurants are 

important placemaking elements that support business retention and expansion and other economic objectives. There is 

a belief that opportunities exist to market Sherwood West to certain restauranteurs that may want to relocate from the 

central city. Similarly, individual wine-related tasting rooms or a regional wine bar may be able to capitalize on the 

burgeoning wine industry. While Old Town is the more likely environment for these uses, existing available spaces are 

limited; a nodal development cluster or main street development in Sherwood West may attract developers and tenants 

that recognize the market opportunity for these uses. 

Current Spending Surplus (-) and Leakage(+) by Retail Category, Primary Trade Area (10-minute drive time) 

 

Source: ESRI, LCG 

-$60.0 -$50.0 -$40.0 -$30.0 -$20.0 -$10.0 $0.0 $10.0 $20.0 $30.0

Furniture and Home Furnishings

Electronics and Appliance

Building Material, Garden Equip

Food and Beverage (grocery)

Health and Personal Care

Clothing and Accessories

Sporting Gds, Hobby, Book, Music

General Merchandise

Misc. Store Retailers

Foodservice and Drinking Places

Other (incl. cinema,

prof./med. office, banks)

$ Million Surplus (-) and Leakage (+)

R
e
ta

il
 C

a
te

g
o

ry

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 107 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 16 

Healthcare  

Today’s healthcare facilities are dispersed throughout the region and have spread out to serve the needs of the metro’s 

growing population. Key healthcare demand drivers are the size of the population in the market area and the size of key 

populations such as seniors. Small- and medium-size healthcare facilities (particularly clinics, primary care offices, and 

dental offices) can easily fit into smaller commercial centers. Major healthcare facilities (e.g., hospitals and large medical 

office buildings) tend to locate along highways and major transportation corridors. Healthcare is an industry that has the 

potential to drive demand for other commercial uses and amenities, including retail, office, lodging, and, to a lesser 

extent, light industrial and manufacturing.   

One of the hottest trends shaping healthcare real estate is the shift to delivering medical care in outpatient settings. 

Ultimately, this trend is being driven by three factors: an emphasis on driving down costs, the rise of the healthcare 

consumer, and an aging population. 

This is consistent with the findings from LCG’s interview with a major healthcare provider. Key findings are as follow.  

• Site criteria for new healthcare facilities include drive times, ease of access, visibility, proximity to other services, 

and distance from competitors. A location along 99W appears the only adequate location that fits this criteria. 

• With the shift to outpatient facilities, healthcare providers are unlikely to build additional in-patient facilities in 

Sherwood.  

• Providers consider a 10-minute drive time the market area for primary care and 20-minute drive time the 

market area for specialty services. Existing facilities in Newberg and Beaverton are within a 20-minute drive time 

of Sherwood and may not compete for additional specialty services in the near future. Demand for primary care 

services, however, is likely to increase as the population and number of jobs increases in the immediate 

Sherwood area. 

• Providers are increasingly partnering with developers to build facilities as part of larger mixed-use and 

wellness-oriented projects. 

• Smaller clinics sized around 1,500 square feet may be part of mixed-use developments or in retail settings. 

Sherwood West may benefit in the future from several emerging trends, including a growing acceptance and use of 

telehealth (driven by the COVID-19 pandemic), technological advances, and a growing desire for more convenient and 

accessible outpatient services. These trends are more likely to lend themselves to smaller healthcare facilities.  

LCG’s assessment is that it is likely that some small- or medium-size healthcare facilities will locate within one or more of 

the Sherwood West commercial areas. Assisted living facilities can be located within residential parts of Sherwood West.  

Because major healthcare facilities depend on large nearby population bases, higher visibility, and access to highways 

and major transportation corridors, as well as the shift away from inpatient facilities, such a facility is unlikely to develop 

in Sherwood West, at least in the next 20 years. Attracting such a user would require time, effort, and deliberate 

planning and policy on the part of the City.  

Strategies for Employment Growth 

LCG recommends the following approaches and strategies for employment attraction: 

• Be Flexible. Maintain as much flexibility (zoning, land, tools, approach) as possible in planning for employment 

growth as market cycles and trends over the next 20 years are unclear. This means maintaining large, contiguous 

sites but not mandating large-lot sites.  

• Plan for Mixed Employment. Most of the opportunities for long-term job creation will likely require a mixed 

employment approach—namely industrial, flex, and office. Mixed Employment in centers/parks of 20-100 acres is 

the strongest market. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 108 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 17 

• Plan for Multitenant Space that can be scaled up or down and is highly divisible (e.g., to 2,500 square feet) allows for 

business expansion and the flexibility to accommodate various sized flex, office, commercial, or light industrial users.  

• Compile a Toolkit of incentives and tools that can be packaged together to encourage desired development types. 

• Be both proactive and patient. The City will need to be both proactive—in maintaining relationships with major 

employers, brokers, economic development professionals at different levels of government, and others in the 

employment development community and understanding their needs—and also patient. This means a recognition 

that the City will probably forgo the opportunity to see the land developed sooner with residential.   

• Ensure that buildable shovel-ready land is available for employment. The land must be zoned for employment 

development. The zoning and building codes should require an appropriate level of development quality, but not 

make unrealistic requirements, for example, around low parking ratios, mixed-use, etc. For certain sites, the City may 

want to use the State’s “Certified Shovel Ready” process to document that environmental, archeological, title, 

wetland, and topographical issues do not preclude development.  

• Invest in talent and quality of place. The underpinnings of traded sector office site selection are simple: Locate where 

the talent is. Therefore, cities must attract talented people, by providing high-quality cities and neighborhoods 

where people want to live. The Sherwood West Concept Plan, which integrates residential, employment, and 

commercial development with parks and open spaces, is an important step; building out the plan is another. More 

broadly, the City should work to ensure that its workforce is well educated and trained to fill jobs within the City and 

regional industry clusters. It should also focus on supporting the development of a diverse array of suitable housing 

types, promoting placemaking as a core economic development strategy that prioritizes amenities, services, 

connection to Old Town, and open space. Doing so will likely draw a greater connection between Sherwood’s 

existing high quality of life and well-skilled/educated workforce to encourage talent retention/tech business 

incubation and grow the community tech “ecosystem” etc. in Sherwood West. 

• Increase accessibility and visibility via the regional transportation network. Large employers have historically needed 

to bring large numbers of employees to their campuses, and this requires robust auto, transit, bicycle, and 

pedestrian transportation infrastructure. In the near term, most employees are most likely to commute to work in 

cars they own; over the long term, automated vehicles, ride-sharing, and non-auto modes may increase. In any case, 

this will require the City to work closely with other cities, Washington County, and Metro.  

• Consider land acquisitions. Site ownership can put the City in a strong position to recruit employers; it can also be 

expensive, risky, and politically contentious. If the City is considering land acquisitions, LCG recommends that the 

City work with a broker with experience executing deals that have resulted in employment land and building 

development in Washington County, in order to clearly understand costs and benefits.  

Tools  

The market is currently favorable for new employment-oriented development, yet tools and incentives may be necessary 

if the City desires a certain type of use the market doesn’t support or it wishes to accelerate the timing of new 

development. The City may achieve this using an array of tools, including: 

• Enterprise zones  

• Zoning  

• Incentive programs (tax abatements, development assistance) 

• Fee waivers  

• Marketing6, developer outreach/solicitation  

 

6 An element of marketing may be necessary. The City’s municipally-owned broadband service is a unique differentiator in the 

region and should be promoted.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 109 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 18 

• Public-private partnerships  

• Strategic public partnerships (e.g., with GPI) 

• Local improvement districts  

• Urban renewal areas 

Phasing  

Developers are already interested in Sherwood West, particularly developers of industrial and mixed-employment uses. 

Despite the 20-year planning horizon of this Concept Plan, the timeline for bringing land into the UGB is potentially 

much quicker. The next legislative ask is 2024 and it is recommended the City move quickly to ensure development can 

occur within the next 10 years.  

Industrial development has historically been about cost and infrastructure; now, it is about speed to market and 

feasibility. Most major industrial developers are likely operating within a five to 10-year timeline. It is also important to 

note that infrastructure provisions—or at least a clear implementation plan—available land to develop (without 

development encumbrances or multiple property owners), and adequate zoning are all critical elements for attracting 

employment-focused development. 

Zoning  

Zoning is one of the most critical pieces to get right. Flexibility is critical and the balance should be just prescriptive 

enough without dictating the uses in order to encourage desired development types while accommodating future 

growth and emerging trends like robotics and changing delivery systems. Restrictions should be limited to uses that 

have very low employment densities, such as storage. The zoning in the Tonquin Employment Area is considered a good 

example of employment-focused zoning.  

Parking and environmental standards are two of the more challenging elements of the development code. It is 

important to keep these standards up to date with industry best practices and user needs and not have overly 

cumbersome standards. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 110 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Transportation Issues Memo

APPENDIX H 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 111 of 205



 

 

TRANSPORTATION ISSUES MEMO 

DATE:  April 29, 2021 

TO:  Joe Dills and Kyra Haggart | Angelo Planning Group 

FROM:  Carl Springer | DKS Associates 

SUBJECT:  Sherwood West Concept Plan Re-Look, Transportation Issues Project #21057-000 
 

PURPOSE 

The Sherwood West Concept Plan Re-Look will update the land uses and community plan 
envisioned in the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan, which will influence the transportation 
systems that serve it. This memorandum highlights key transportation considerations, including 
what has changed since Preliminary Concept Plan was completed in 2016 to inform strategic 
transportation system choices for Sherwood West. 

The purpose of this memorandum is to summarize the key transportation issues and projects that 
will be addressed through this Concept Plan update. It is recognized that transportation system 
planning works best when it responds to the existing and future needs of its users, which are 
represented by how land use plans are organized. The transportation plan must also respect the 
environmental and topographical constraints that are present within Sherwood West.  

LAND USE ISSUES 

This update is expected to take a new approach in the land use plan which has a direct impact on 
transportation systems. Studies completed since 2015 indicate greater community needs for 
employment and mixed-use commercial areas to help Sherwood better balance the mix of jobs and 
housing that are accessible to the community. This kind of change will affect the travel patterns 
during commute hours and have some influence on the kinds of services and public amenities that 
are suitable to support this area. Also, recent state land use regulations have modified single-
family zoning requirements to encourage a mix of housing types within each new neighborhood 
(HB 2001). This is expected to yield higher residential densities than was previously reflected in the 
preliminary concept plan.  

In addition, the new Sherwood High School campus will be reflected in this plan, which was not a 
part of the prior work. The transportation demands of a high school campus represent a significant 
change, in terms of the intensity of travel in this area; the reliance on safe and comfortable 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 112 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST RE-LOOK • TRANSPORTATION ISSUES • APRIL 20, 2021 2  
 

walking and bicycling systems in Sherwood West; and, the ability to provide north-south 
connectivity on the west side of SW Elwert Road. Several major new street improvement projects 
have already been constructed to support the new school. However, in developing the rest of the 
concept plan’s transportation system, these unique school-related travel needs will be considered 
to ensure a consistent and connected service to all neighborhoods that are expected to utilize this 
campus.  

Outside of the City of Sherwood, new growth along the Roy Rogers Road corridor now has better 
plans or updated information that was not available five years ago. Growth in these areas will 
influence regional travel conditions, which could include local routes within Sherwood West like SW 
Elwert Road. These new external growth areas include Cooper Mountain in Beaverton, expansions 
to River Terrace in Tigard, and Kingston Terrace, the new western expansion of King City extending 
to Roy Rogers Road. Taken together, these nearby growth areas will add thousands of additional 
families that will rely on the same regional transportation system that serves the Sherwood West 
community, and they need to be considered in assessing the travel conditions for the Sherwood 
West Concept Plan. 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ISSUES AND PROJECTS 

This section provides a review of pending regional transportation system improvement projects and 
also highlights several previous street elements within the plan boundary that will be revisited 
through this process.  

ROY ROGERS ROAD  

Washington County plans to expand SW Roy Rogers Road to a five-lane arterial (two travel lanes in 
either direction plus a center turn lane) south into Sherwood through to Highway 99W. The final 
southerly extent of this improvement will be from Chicken Creek to Borchers Drive. The estimated 
$14 million project is funded by the County’s MSTIP program, and it is planned for completion by 
Spring 2024. This regional corridor connects SW Scholls Ferry Road to Highway 99W and connects 
between job centers in Hillsboro, Beaverton and housing areas in Sherwood, Wilsonville, and 
western Clackamas County. Horizon year (2040) travel forecasts are roughly 40,000 vehicles on an 
average weekday, which is similar to levels observed today on Highway 99W between Tigard and 
Tualatin. This high level of travel demands may influence the type and location of potential 
development along the SW Roy Rogers Road corridor, specifically making it more attractive for 
retail and mixed-use development.  

BROOKMAN ROAD 

The SW Brookman Road extension ultimately will define a new southern edge of Sherwood. When 
properties in the Brookman Addition area annex to the City, SW Brookman Road will be upgraded 
to a full urban arterial facility and its current intersection with Highway 99W will be upgraded to 
comply with Washington County and ODOT standards for driving, bicycling, and walking. The 
recent update to the Brookman Addition Concept Plan recommended an interim 3-lane arterial 
cross-section on Brookman Road until such a time as a 5-lane section is required. The scope and 
character of the 99W crossing is still under discussion, and the City has stated a desire to explore 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 113 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST RE-LOOK • TRANSPORTATION ISSUES • APRIL 20, 2021 3  
 

an overcrossing roadway rather than at-grade intersection to provide a more convenient and safer 
route east-west. The SW Brookman Road extension west of Highway 99W (via SW Chapman Road) 
will also serve as the southern edge of the greater Sherwood West planning area and provides 
important connections to planned north-south routes that lead up to SW Krueger Road. Ultimately, 
the timing of the Brookman Road upgrade is tied to land use actions to bring this area into the City 
of Sherwood. At this time, the County has not programmed funding for these improvements.  

HIGHWAY 99W 

This state facility is a primary north-south regional highway serving Sherwood. The high speeds, 
crossing width, and limited crossing opportunities make it a significant barrier for intra-city travel 
within Sherwood, especially for walking and bicycling travelers. At the time the new high school 
campus was considered by the City in 2017, a potential solution was identified that would provide a 
new highway overcrossing for walking and bicycling near the southern end of the campus. Initial 
feasibility studies have been done to provide a non-motor vehicle crossing just north of SW Sunset 
Boulevard that extends over Highway 99W to the far side of SW Elwert Road. This connection 
should be considered as part of the Sherwood West planning process. 

ELWERT ROAD 

SW Elwert Road is a direct north-south route between SW Scholls-Sherwood Road and SW Krueger 
Road. It spans a significant portion of the Sherwood West Planning area and is a common 
alternative route to Highway 99W for local and diverted regional travel. It will be important to 
strike a balance between local connectivity and regional travel needs when developing the ultimate 
design of this facility as it is upgraded to urban standards. Several aspects of this route that should 
be considered include: 

• Intersection with SW Scholls-Sherwood Road – This intersection will likely need upgraded 
traffic controls and a more defined intersection area as the adjoining farmlands are developed. 

• Intersection with Elwert Road at Edy Road – This intersection is adjacent to Chicken Creek 
and significant environmentally constrained lands. The prior plan recommended a double 
roundabout solution to minimize environmental impacts and to discourage attractiveness of 
regional through traffic.  

• Intersection with Elwert Road at Kruger Road – This intersection was recently improved to 
a larger roundabout and road re-alignments as part of the high school campus project to 
address chronic congestion and safety concerns. As the remaining lands to the south are 
planned for development, the adequacy of this improvement will be re-evaluated.  

• Parallel routes to Elwert Road – As the preliminary concept plan is revised, the consultant 
team will seek out opportunities for parallel routes further to the west that can provide local 
travelers with more north-south options, particularly for access to the high school campus area.  

MULTIMODAL TRAVEL OPTIONS 

A key component of the transportation network for Sherwood West will be to incorporate safe and convenient 
walking and bicycling facilities into the higher classification street facilities. All of the local arterial and collector 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 114 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST RE-LOOK • TRANSPORTATION ISSUES • APRIL 20, 2021 4  
 

class streets will have these elements added to the cross-sections for planned improvements. In addition, the 
natural areas and varied terrain offer opportunities for a separate trail system to promote non-motorized travel 
away from the roadway network. Transit does not currently serve the immediate Sherwood West area. 
The closest TriMet service is Route 94 which connects to Portland along Highway 99W. The nearest 
stop is over a mile away. The concept plan should explore how to make the area “transit-ready” 
with transit-supportive land use and sufficient connectivity of the street system. In addition, 
consideration should be given to micromobility solutions like scooters and bike-sharing to help 
address first/last mile challenges. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 115 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Plan Concepts

APPENDIX I 

• Livable and Connected Streets 

• Elwert Road Design Concept 

• Active Transportation 

• Great Neighborhoods 

• Mixed Employment Areas

• Chicken Creek Greenway 

These Plan Concepts were developed early in the development of the 
Sherwood West Concept Plan. Ideas from these Plan Concepts were refined 
and revised for the final Concept Plan.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 116 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS

LivabLe & ConneCted StreetS

inteGrated Street netWorK
This map shows important local and regional destinations. It will be important to ensure that the future street 
network in Sherwood West is integrated with existing Sherwood, providing connections to these destinations.

The Sherwood West area 
is adjacent to and a part 
of Sherwood’s network 
of streets that carry both 
local and regional traffic. 
As the City of Sherwood 
grows, a well-designed and 
connected network of streets 
in Sherwood West should 
focus on safety, knitting the 
existing and new growth 
together, creating livable and 
walkable neighborhoods, 
and mitigating impacts of 
regional through-traffic.

PrinCiPLeS
• Design for safety
• Integrate with existing 

Sherwood
• Connect all areas of 

Sherwood West
• Streets are places for people 

of all ages and abilities
• Provide for all 

modes of travel

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 117 of 205



SHerWood WeSt ConCePt PLan | LivabLe & ConneCted StreetS 2

a FraMeWorK oF LivabLe and ConneCted StreetS: 0Ption 1

Miles

0.50.250

north of Chicken Creek, the street framework is 
designed to serve Mixed Employment land uses. 
There are continuous parallel routes to SW Elwert 
so that local trips can move freely and turning 
movements on SW Elwert Road are minimized.

The Elwert-Edy Road intersection is realigned 
as described in the Preliminary Concept Plan.

a neighborhood street connects from SW Handley 
to SW Haide and south to SW Chapman road. 
This street connects multiple neighborhoods and 
the central and southern employment areas.

A north-south “hilltop” route provides additional 
north-south access and a second continuous north-
south route for emergency access and other services.

The SW Chapman-SW Brookman 
Road intersection is an area for 
additional study of integration 
between Sherwood West 
and south Sherwood.

This diagram shows a draft framework of streets for Sherwood West. 
This option implements the realignment of SW Elwert Rd and SW Edy Rd 
that was studied in the Preliminary Concept Plan. Street locations and 
alignments are conceptual and approximate. Additional local streets will 
be built between the framework streets, depending on land uses.

draFt 9/27/2021

All intersection types are to be determined through further 
study and coordination. The City is evaluating strategies 
and road alignments to minimize regional traffic through 
Sherwood neighborhoods. All improvements at Chicken 
Creek subject to potential State/Federal permitting.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 118 of 205



SHerWood WeSt ConCePt PLan | LivabLe & ConneCted StreetS 3

a FraMeWorK oF LivabLe and ConneCted StreetS: 0Ption 2

Miles

0.50.250

This diagram shows a second option for the street framework in Sherwood 
West. In this option, the existing alignment of SW Elwert Rd and SW Edy Rd 
is retained, with the intersection rebuilt. Option 2 would require raising the 
intersection and road approaches approximately 10 to 20 feet in elevation 
in order to correct for topography, floodplain issues, and the existing unsafe 
sight-distance visibility. Street locations and alignments are conceptual and 
approximate. Additional local streets will be built between the framework 
streets, depending on land uses.

north of Chicken Creek, the street framework is 
designed to serve Mixed Employment land uses. There 
are continuous parallel routes to SW Elwert Road so that 
local trips can move freely and turning movements on SW 
Elwert Road are minimized.

a neighborhood street connects from SW Handley to 
SW Haide and south to SW Chapman road. This street 
connects multiple neighborhoods and the central and 
southern employment areas.

A north-south “hilltop” route provides additional north-
south access and a second continuous north-south route 
for emergency access and other services.

The existing Elwert-Edy Road intersection is retained and 
significantly rebuilt.

All intersection types are to be determined through further study and 
coordination. The City is evaluating strategies and road alignments 
to minimize regional traffic through Sherwood neighborhoods. All 
improvements at Chicken Creek subject to potential State/Federal permitting.

draFt 9/27/2021

The SW Chapman-SW Brookman 
Road intersection is an area for 
additional study of integration 
between Sherwood West 
and south Sherwood.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 119 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS
SW ElWErt road dESign ConCEpt

ElWErt road todaY

Distinctive landscape character Southern Gateway to Sherwood West, High School 
provides likely destination for future transit

Opportunity to improve east-west integration, add 
sidewalks and bike lanes

SW Edy & SW Elwert intersection
(Significant improvements are needed)

Potential Chicken Creek crossing viewed from SW Elwert

prinCiplES
• Connect west and east
• Tame the traffic
• Promote safe and comfortable walking and biking
• Create a green, landscaped corridor
• Provide for future transit
• Plan for safety

SW Elwert Road is an important opportunity for Sherwood West. A County-
designated arterial street (south of SW Edy Road), it carries about 9,000 
average daily trips today and is forecast to carry 14,000 average daily 
trips in 2035. How can it be designed to be a livable and positive addition 
to the growth of Sherwood West and the adjacent neighborhoods on 
its east side? This document provides ideas to achieve that goal.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 120 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN | SW ElWErt road dESign ConCEpt 2

dESign idEaS: lEarning FroM SW SUnSEt BoUlEVard

Buffered Sidewalks, Safe Crossings, Bike Lanes

Planted Median Trees Create a Canopy

Consistent Fenceline

Public Uses

Path Connections

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 121 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN | SW ElWErt road dESign ConCEpt 3

DESIGN IDEAS: A DISTINCTIVE, CONTEXT-SENSITIVE SW ELWERT ROAD

Chicken C
reek

Goose Creek

Cedar Cr eek

West Fork Chicken Creek

SW CHAPMAN RD SW BROOKMAN RD

SW KRUGER RD

SW EDY RD

RO
Y 

RO
G

ER
SS

 R
D

SW
 ELW

ERT RD

SW
 E

AS
TV

IE
W

 R
D

SW LEBEAU RD

SW HANDLEY RD

SW HAIDE RD

SW SUNSET BLVD

SW SCHOLLS-SHERWOOD RD

99W

99W

99W

BPA TRANSMISSION LINE

Downtown
Sherwood

Sherwood
High

School

Tualatin River
National Wildlife

Refuge

0 0.50.25

Miles

Employment Area Parkway

Residential Boulevard

Residential Boulevard

High School Edge/Gateway

Green Crossings

• Distinct street tree character
• Sherwood ‘visual corridor’ design
• Fewer curb cuts, continuous white fence
• Truck-turning considerations
• Large parcels with space for 

pathways linked to trails

• Consistent street tree canopy, median
• Consistent white fence
• Safe crosswalks
• Protected bike lanes 
• Access paths to residential areas 
• Adjacent homes with side ‘frontage’ 

• Street tree choices informed 
by natural area proximity

• Narrower ROW to reduce footprint 
in ecologically-sensitive areas

• Trails and wildlife passage underneath
• Bridges as public view points, 

with art, educational signage

See above, and...
• Between Haide and Handley, consider 

existing neighborhoods to east in 
design and ROW availability

• Continue multi-use path from High School
• Consider matching white fence on Sunset

• Recently-rebuilt
• Generous multi-use path on west 

edge should extend north

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 122 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS

Active trAnsportAtion

WHAt coULD Active trAnsportAtion LooK LiKe in sHerWooD West?

Within the Sherwood West area, trails that connect between local parks, green spaces, schools, 
neighborhoods and employment areas will help to encourage walking, rolling, and biking. There is an 
opportunity to pre-plan key connections between new growth in Sherwood West and existing areas of 
Sherwood.  There is also an opportunity to ensure future transit can be as successful as possible.

Chicken Creek is an important natural feature in Sherwood West, and offers the opportunity to develop 
a greenway trail along the edge of multiple neighborhoods and employment areas. The Chicken Creek 
Greenway could serve as the backbone for a robust trail network that connects Sherwood West to 
surrounding destinations such as Old Town (via the Cedar Creek trail), Sherwood High School, and the 
Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge. 

Trails, cycling routes, transit, 
“micromobility”, and other ways of 
getting around without a car can 
be designed into  Sherwood West. 
These active transportation facilities 
will help to meet the Sherwood 
2040 Comprehensive Plan goal 
of coordinated and connected 
infrastructure:

“In 2040, the city’s 
transportation system is efficient, 
safe and provides transportation 
options. The town has an active 
and connected transportation 
network where residents enjoy 
walking and bicycle paths 
between neighborhoods, parks, 
schools, the Tualatin National 
Wildlife Refuge and Old Town.” 

Sherwood West’s streets will be an 
important part of providing active 
transportation options, along with off-
street trails and the location of parks, 
schools, and community gathering 
spaces. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 123 of 205



sHerWooD West concept pLAn | Active trAnsportAtion 2

Cedar Creek 
Trail (Ice Age 
Tonquin Trail)

pedestrian 
overcrossing

Future 
connection to 
Reedville Trail

INTERCONNECTING FUTURE TRAILS - INITIAL CONCEPTS

Miles
0.50.250

This map shows initial ideas for trails in Sherwood West, ranging from larger regional trails to smaller community trails. Future trails in the Sherwood West area 
should prioritize connections to existing and planned trail networks. The land uses shown on the map are from the Preliminary Concept Plan – they will be 
revised and updated as part of this concept plan process. The local trails noted on this map are conceptual ideas for community feedback. A local trail network 
will be prepared in concert with the land use plan, following these concepts.

Local trails can connect to schools, parks, employment areas and other destinations, with viewpoints along the way.

Parks, schools, employment areas, and other local destinations 
should be well connected by trails or wide sidwalks and bike lanes 
through neighborhoods in order to create a healthy and walkable 
environment for all ages.

Key connections to existing or planned trails should be prioritized, 
such as future connections to the Reedville Trail, the Tualatin River 
National Wildlife Refuge trails, Ice Age Tonquin Trail/Cedar Creek 
Trail, and the future Highway 99 pedestrian overcrossing.

A new Highway 99 pedestrian overcrossing is planned in the 
vicinity of the new Sherwood High School. The new overcrossing 
will address the major barrier that the highway presents for 
pedestrians today. It would also help connect the high school, the 
YMCA, and the greater Sherwood West area with existing trails 
and destinations on the east side of the highway.

ch

ick
en creek G

reenway

A new chicken creek Greenway could take advantage of the 
existing natural creek corridor to connect to the Cedar Creek Trail 
and other regional trail networks. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 124 of 205



sHerWooD West concept pLAn | Active trAnsportAtion 3

FUtUre trAnsit, MicroMoBiLitY, AnD tHe “First AnD LAst MiLe”

Trimet does not currently provide transit service to the Sherwood West area, 
but it is directly adjacent to Trimet’s current service boundary. The closest 
bus stops are about a mile away in Old Town (served by lines 93 and 94). 
Sherwood West’s opportunity is to be “transit-ready” by planning land uses, 
key streets, and trails to accommodate and support future transit service. 
The diagram at right shows potential future transit routes in orange as 
conceptually noted in the City of Sherwood Transportation System Plan (TSP).

In addition, the inclusion of “micromobility” services, like bike-sharing 
and scooters, can help people to get around more easily without a car. 
Micromobility stations could be included at schools, employment and 
commercial areas, and near existing transit stops to help fill gaps in 
transit access (the “first and last mile” of a trip) and to provide options 
for getting to and from school, work, and leisure activities.

Potential 
Future transit 

routes 
Connecting to 

old town 
(source: city of 
sherwood tsp)

pedestrian 
overcrossing

Miles
0.50.250

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 125 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS

Great NeiGhborhoods

What will make great neighborhoods in 
Sherwood West? The vision statement 
provides guidance in its citation of 
“families… well-connected streets…
walkable… variety of well-designed 
housing… natural extension of Sherwood’s 
neighborhoods… natural landscape…
network of natural areas, parks, and 
trails.” This document provides ideas for 
how those visions can be turned into 
reality. It focuses on neighborhood form 
and key issues for the Concept Plan. Using 
this guidance, the next step will be to 
identify land use alternatives.

PriNCiPLes
• Plan for walkability
• Provide a variety of housing 

opportunities
• Integrate new and existing 

neighborhoods
• Plan parks and schools as destinations
• Provide adequate parking
• Connect greenspaces into a network
• Integrate nature into neighborhoods

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 126 of 205



sherWood West CoNCePt PLaN | Great NeiGhborhoods 2

WaLKabLe NeiGhborhoods: shaPed bY the LaNd

Miles

0.50.250

West elwert: Potential addition to the northern 
Mixed Employment area

West edy: A cohesive area from Chicken Creek to 
the Eastview Road ridgeline

edy south and east: Close proximity to existing 
neighborhoods and Ridges Elementary School

haide North: A fairly large “flat” area with an easy 
walk from center to edge and some slopes toward 
Chicken Creek

hilltop and ridgeline: Sherwood West’s view 
properties; includes areas facing west

Goose Creek and east slope: Hillside areas that 
face east and close to Mixed Employment areas

high school West: 
A cohesive, sloped area 
adjacent to Sherwood 
High School

This diagram is a study of “walkable” areas within Sherwood West. The 
colored areas show a combination of factors that influence walkability: 
¼ to ½ mile of distance (a 5-10 minute walk); natural features such as 
Chicken Creek; slopes; and existing development. These subareas within 
are useful for identifying areas of cohesive character and where various 
land uses might be located and connected. The edges of some areas are 
clear and very intuitive. The edges of other areas are approximate.

draFt 9/27/2021

Potential Mixed 
Employment Area

1/4 mile walk 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 127 of 205



sherWood West CoNCePt PLaN | Great NeiGhborhoods 3

CoNNeCted ParKs, sChooLs, aNd GreeNsPaCes
This diagram is a study of how neighborhood and community parks 
might be part of a network of connected greenspaces and community 
connections. The number and locations of potential parks is 
preliminary and intended to show ideas, not recommendations.

Miles

0.50.250draFt 9/27/2021

Neighborhood Park

Multi-Use Path or Trail Natural resource areas

LEGEND

Potential Parks

Potential Multi-
Use Paths and 
Trails

Existing Trails

Community Park

Community Parks provide opportunities for active 
recreation and organized play in a location that can 
accommodate increased traffic and demand, while also 
serving as a neighborhood park for nearby residents.

Minimum size: 10 acres

Neighborhood Parks provide close-to-home recreation opportunities 
for nearby residents, who typically live within walking and 
bicycling distance (.5 miles) of the park in a residential setting.

Minimum size: 1.5 acres

Chick

en Cree
k G

re
enway

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 128 of 205



sherWood West CoNCePt PLaN | Great NeiGhborhoods 4

HOUSING TYPES
Sherwood West’s zoning will allow for a wide range of housing types, guided by Sherwood’s design 
guidelines and standards. Here are some examples of the potential housing types.

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) duplex

townhouse

Standard Single-Family Detached

triplexSmall Single-Family DetachedCottage Cluster

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 129 of 205



sherWood West CoNCePt PLaN | Great NeiGhborhoods 5

Fourplex

Live-Work Unit Mixed Use Building Courtyard apartment

apartments

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 130 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS

Mixed eMployMent AreAs

WHAt is Mixed eMployMent?
Mixed Employment is where there is a mix of office, light industrial, and flex space1 
uses in the same development or area of the city. This type of development typically 
requires large sites (at least 40-50 acres), flat topography, and larger ownerships.

1	 Flex	space	is	generally	defined	as	a	building	that	provides	for	a	combination	of	uses,	typically	
including	a	mix	of	warehouse,	light	industrial,	office,	and/or	retail	space.

Sherwood wants and needs more jobs. 
Expanding existing businesses and 
attracting new employment to Sherwood—
particularly the right kind of jobs in the 
right places—will: provide opportunities 
for industrial and commercial development 
with higher wage jobs; help diversify and 
balance the City’s tax base; and build a self-
sustaining and vibrant local economy.

A thriving and diversified economy is one 
of the six core areas of the Sherwood 2040 
Comprehensive Plan. Over the past few years, 
the City has engaged hundreds of community 
members in conversations about what makes 
Sherwood special, and what Sherwood will 
look like in the future. Their voices helped 
to craft the following vision statement:

“In 2040, the Sherwood economy has 
grown to include a variety of businesses 
big and small that offer stable employment 
opportunities, higher-wage jobs, and 
expand the tax base to protect and 
maintain Sherwood’s quality of life. 
Sherwood provides great destinations and 
experiences for both residents and visitors.”

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 131 of 205



sHerWood West ConCept plAn | Mixed eMployMent AreAs 2

Mixed eMployMent: A reCipe For sUCCess
As part of the Sherwood West Concept Plan process, the project team studied regional development trends; evaluated Sherwood West’s unique assets and 
constraints; and provided insights on the economic future of Sherwood West as a part of a growing Sherwood. The following components will be essential to the 
success of mixed employment in Sherwood West:

A Mix oF eMployMent Uses
Candidate industries and employment 
uses for Sherwood West include:
• Multi-tenant flex space as part of a 

larger industrial or business park
• Tech clusters and tech parks
• Office space for tech, medical, and 

service-oriented industries
• Major healthcare facilities
• Wine-related uses such as storage, 

distribution, production, and warehousing
• Light industrial or light manufacturing

sitinG reQUireMents
There is a limited regional supply of high-
quality buildable employment land. Ideal 
sites for this type of development will be:
• At least 40-50 acres for employment-

park-style development; larger 
campus-style developments may 
require more than 100 acres

• Contiguous flat areas with 
less than 3-5% slopes

• Single ownerships are preferred to 
avoid delays associated with assembling 
land with multiple property owners

trAnsportAtion ACCess
Transportation considerations for 
Sherwood West include:
• Many employment uses—including 

warehousing, distribution, and major 
healthcare facilities—will require quick 
and easy access to Highway 99W

• Retail and commercial will require 
locations with higher visibility from 
major transportation routes

• Large employers tend to require robust auto, 
transit, bicycle, and pedestrian transportation 
infrastructure for their employees

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 132 of 205



sHerWood West ConCept plAn | Mixed eMployMent AreAs 3

Mixed eMployMent in sHerWood West: AreAs For FUtUre stUdy

Miles

0.50.250

Approximate Acres: 285
Characteristics: large area, mostly flat, large 
parcels, good transportation access to Roy Rogers
Opportunities: large employment or business 
park; multi-tenant flex space; tech park

Approximate Acres: 6
Characteristics: high visibility along Highway 99, 
mostly flat, proximity to High School and existing
Opportunities: mixed-use node with retail

Approximate Acres: 55
Characteristics: high visibility, good 
transportation access to Highway 99 at Kruger, 
some slopes and natural resource areas
Opportunities: multi-tenant flex space; 
healthcare or clinic; some retail or commercial; 
light industrial or manufacturing

Approximate Acres: 43
Characteristics: high visibility, good transportation 
access to Highway 99 at Chapman, mostly flat
Opportunities: multi-tenant flex space; 
possible warehousing or distribution, 
particularly for wine-related uses

These following generalized areas have characteristics that meet the basic requirements for successful mixed use development. They are intended for 
future study and refinement as part of the concept planning process.

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 133 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN

1

DRAFT PLAN CONCEPTS

ChiCken Creek Greenway
A vital component of Sherwood’s 
livability is its access to nature and 
open spaces. Sherwood’s landscape 
is defined by the creek corridors 
that flow through the city and drain 
to the Tualatin River at the Tualatin 
River National Wildlife Refuge.

In Sherwood West, Chicken Creek 
forms a natural greenway through 
the area, flowing southwest to 
northeast and eventually draining 
into the Tualatin River. The Cedar 
Creek greenway, which passes 
through Sherwood just west of 
downtown, feeds into Chicken 

Creek in the northeast part of 
the study area. Several smaller 
channels—Goose Creek and 
West Fork Chicken Creek—also 
feed into Chicken Creek in the 
southeast and central portions of 
Sherwood West, respectively.

The Sherwood West Concept 
Plan offers an opportunity to 
preserve and enhance these 
natural corridors, provide wildlife 
crossings, incorporate stormwater 
management practices, and provide 
access to nature through a network 
of connected walking trails.

Fanno Creek / Photo Credit: Tree for All

SHERWOOD WEST

hw
y 99w

ELW
ERT RD

CHAPMAN RD

EDY RD

ROY ROGERS RD

SCHOLLS-SHERWOOD RD
TUALATIN RIVER 

NATIONAL 
WILDLIFE REFUGE

Tualatin River

Downtown 
Sherwood

SUNSET BLVD

Chick
en Creek

West Fork Chicken Creek

Cedar Creek

Goose Creek

Rock Creek

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 134 of 205



SherwOOD weST COnCePT PLan | ChiCken Creek Greenway 2

ChiCken Creek Greenway
The 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan identified 
the Chicken Creek corridor as a key green space 
element of the plan. This concept planning 
process offers the opportunity to refine the 
2016 vision for this area as the Chicken Creek 
Greenway. A greenway is a collection of natural 
areas, parks, and trails connected by a linear 

green corridor, often surrounding a creek. 
The Chicken Creek Greenway will incorporate 
the creek corridor as well as the surrounding 
riparian and upland habitat areas shown below. 
The Chicken Creek Greenway would be one 
part of Sherwood West’s greenspaces. Other 
examples of greenspaces include: tree and tree 

canopy protected by Sherwood’s code; West 
Fork Chicken Creek, Goose Creek, Cedar Creek, 
and their habitat areas; stormwater facilities; 
neighborhood parks, community parks, and 
school fields; and trail corridors. Neighborhood 
and community parks are addressed as part 
of the Great Neighborhoods plan concept.

Chicken Creek Greenway 
(2016 Preliminary 
Concept Plan)

Existing Parks and 
Open Spaces

riparian Class i habitat
riparian Class ii habitat
riparian Class iii habitat

Upland Class A Habitat
Upland Class B Habitat
Upland Class C Habitat

areas where nearby 
activities have an 
impact on resources

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 135 of 205



SherwOOD weST COnCePT PLan | ChiCken Creek Greenway 3

eLeMenTS OF a Greenway

Creek Corridor Access to Nature

Neighborhood EdgeNature Trails

Multi-Use Paths

Stormwater ManagementWildlife Corridors

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 136 of 205



SherwOOD weST COnCePT PLan | ChiCken Creek Greenway 4

Greenway PreCeDenTS

Willow Creek Greenway

Location: Beaverton, OR

Amenities: paved trails, creek boardwalk, habitat restoration 
site, Moshofsky Woods Natural Area, regional trail connections

hwy 26
Stoller Creek Greenway

Location: Bethany, Washington County, OR

Amenities: paved trail, creek boardwalk, regional trail 
connections, wildlife habitat and viewing opportunities

hwy 26

N

N

N

nw COrneLL rD

n
w

 173rD aVe

Fanno Creek Greenway

Location: Beaverton, OR

Amenities: paved trails, 
benches, parking, wetlands, 
wildlife habitat and viewing 
opportunities, regional 
trail connections

nw LaiDLaw rD

nw weST UniOn rD

hwy 217
hw

y 210

Sw
 h

aLL
 B

LV
D

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 137 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Alternatives Evaluation 
Memo

APPENDIX J 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 138 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

ALTERNATIVES EVALUATION 
TO: Sherwood West Community Advisory Committee and Technical Advisory Committee 
FROM: Sherwood West Concept Plan Project Team 
DATE: November 10, 2022 

Introduction 
This memorandum compares the three Concept Plan alternatives using the project goals and evaluation 
criteria. It is one part of five evaluation methods for the Concept Plan alternatives: 

• Alternatives evaluation (this memo) 
• Community feedback from Open House #2 
• Community feedback from the online Open House #2 
• Developer feedback from the Employment Opportunities tour and meeting 
• Traffic impact analysis  

Vision Statement 

Sherwood West is a walkable community with a balanced mix of employment, residential, 
commercial, and greenspace land uses—it is a place where families can safely live, work, shop, 
and play. Sherwood West is home to a variety of businesses that offer stable, high-paying jobs 
and those employment opportunities have helped satisfy the City’s need for an expanded tax 
base to protect and maintain Sherwood’s great quality of life. Sherwood West is attractive to 
employers and residents because of its well-planned infrastructure, well-connected streets, 
walkable neighborhoods, and variety of well-designed housing choices. The area feels like a 
natural extension of Sherwood’s existing neighborhoods, and it is integrated with other nearby 
urbanizing areas and regional destinations such as the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge. 
Sherwood West’s natural landscape is anchored by the Chicken Creek Greenway, which protects 
the creek corridor and connects the area’s neighborhoods through a network of natural areas, 
parks, and trails. 

Concept Plan Alternatives (next pages) 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 139 of 205



 

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 2 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 140 of 205



 

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 3 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 141 of 205



 

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 4 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 142 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 5 

Land Use Metrics  
 

HOUSING ESTIMATES 
The tables below present estimated housing units and densities based on the three land use alternatives. The acreages 
for each residential zone are based on acreage calculations from the maps. The assumptions regarding residential 
densities are consistent with previous housing metrics reviewed with the TAC/CAC, and are based on existing zone 
densities in the Sherwood Development Code. The tables present a range of potential housing unit outcomes, 
depending on how much middle housing is developed in the Neighborhood Zones (0-50%). [NOTE: The “average density 
with open space” calculations assume an open space set-aside of 15%, integrated into development.] 

 

 

Alternative 1

Density Range 
(Net)

Total Acres 
(Net)

% of 
Residential

Acres
0% MH 10% MH 20% MH 50% MH

Multi-Family 16.8 to 24 24 7%               585                  585                  585                  585 
Middle Housing Zone 5.5 to 11 22 6%               245                  245                  245                  245 
Cottage Zone 12.8 to 16 26 7%               421                  421                  421                  421 

Med/High Density Nbhd 5.5 to 11 31 9%               338                  380                  423                  552 
Medium-Density Nbhd 5.6 to 8 134 38%            1,068               1,295               1,522               2,203 
Low-Density Nbhd 3.5 to 5 115 33%               574                  804               1,033               1,722 
TOTAL 352 100%            3,231               3,730               4,230               5,728 
Total Average Density                9.2                10.6                12.0                16.3 

               7.8                   9.0                10.2                13.8 

Total Housing Units 
(with % of Middle Housing in Neighborhood Zones)

Total Average Density with Open Space

Alternative 2

Density Range 
(Net)

Total Acres 
(Net)

% of 
Residential

Acres
0% MH 10% MH 20% MH 50% MH

Multi-Family 16.8 to 24 44 13%            1,066               1,066               1,066               1,066 
Middle Housing Zone 5.5 to 11 10 3%               113                  113                  113                  113 
Cottage Zone 12.8 to 16 33 10%               524                  524                  524                  524 
Med/High Density Nbhd 5.5 to 11 19 6%               214                  241                  268                  350 
Medium-Density Nbhd 5.6 to 8 107 32%               857               1,039               1,221               1,767 
Low-Density Nbhd 3.5 to 5 123 36%               615                  861               1,107               1,845 
TOTAL 337 100%            3,390               3,845               4,300               5,666 
Total Average Density             10.1                11.4                12.8                16.8 

               8.5                   9.7                10.8                14.3 

Total Housing Units 
(with % of Middle Housing in Neighborhood Zones)

Total Average Density with Open Space

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 143 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 6 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT ESTIMATES 
The tables below present estimated employment potential in Sherwood West, and associated jobs-to-housing ratios, 
based on the three land use alternatives. As in previous employment metrics calculations, the jobs-per-acre estimates 
are sourced from the Metro 2014 Urban Growth Report and from the scenario planning software Urban Footprint. The 
jobs-housing ratios are based on three potential housing scenarios, depending on how much middle housing is 
developed in the Neighborhood Zones (0%, 10% or 50%). 

 

 

Alternative 3

Density Range 
(Net)

Total Acres 
(Net)

% of 
Residential

Acres
0% MH 10% MH 20% MH 50% MH

Multi-Family 16.8 to 24 32 10%               776                  776                  776                  776 
Middle Housing Zone 5.5 to 11 20 6%               217                  217                  217                  217 
Cottage Zone 12.8 to 16 32 10%               505                  505                  505                  505 
Med/High Density Nbhd 5.5 to 11 21 6%               235                  241                  268                  350 
Medium-Density Nbhd 5.6 to 8 114 35%               913               1,039               1,221               1,767 
Low-Density Nbhd 3.5 to 5 110 33%               550                  861               1,107               1,845 
TOTAL 329 100%            3,196               3,639               4,095               5,461 
Total Average Density                9.7                11.1                12.4                16.6 

               8.3                   9.4                10.6                14.1 

Total Housing Units 
(with % of Middle Housing in Neighborhood Zones)

Total Average Density with Open Space

Alternative 1

Total Acres 
(Net)

Jobs / Net 
Acre (est.)

Total Jobs
Percent of 

Jobs

% of  
Employment 

Acres
Mixed Employment 165 18 3,037           71% 66%
Commercial 10 36 366              9% 4%
Mixed Use 4 25 111              3% 2%
Hospitality 31 15 469              11% 12%
Schools 40 8 314              7% 16%
TOTAL 251 4,297           100% 100%

Alternative 1

0% MH 10% MH 50% MH
Total housing units 3,231    3,730      5,728        
Total jobs 4,297    4,297      4,297        
Jobs-Housing Ratio 1.3 1.2 0.8

Middle Housing Scenario

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 144 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Alternative 2

Total Acres 
(Net)

Jobs / Net 
Acre (est.)

Total Jobs
Percent of 

Jobs

% of  
Employment 

Acres
Mixed Employment 111 18 2,050           45% 43%
Commercial 19 36 672              15% 7%
Mixed Use 25 25 638              14% 10%
Hospitality 63 15 938              20% 24%
Schools 39 8 306              7% 15%
TOTAL 257 4,602           100% 100%

Alternative 2

0% MH 10% MH 50% MH
Total housing units 3,390          3,845            5,666              
Total jobs 4,602          4,602            4,602              
Jobs-Housing Ratio 1.4 1.2 0.8

Middle Housing Scenario

Alternative 3

Total Acres 
(Net)

Jobs / Net 
Acre (est.)

Total Jobs
Percent of 

Jobs

% of  
Employment 

Acres
Mixed Employment 183 18 3,364           67% 65%
Commercial 8 36 278              6% 3%
Mixed Use 29 25 729              15% 10%
Hospitality 22 15 334              7% 8%
Schools 40 8 311              6% 14%
TOTAL 281 5,017           100% 100%

Alternative 3

0% MH 10% MH 50% MH
Total housing units 3,516          3,639            6,301              
Total jobs 5,017          5,017            5,017              
Jobs-Housing Ratio 1.4 1.4 0.8

Middle Housing Scenario

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 145 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 8 

Qualitative Evaluation 

The tables on the next pages provide a qualitative evaluation of the three land use alternatives, using 
the evaluation criteria identified earlier in the concept planning process. The tables indicate the extent 
to which each alternative meets each criterion. The evaluation also assigns scores for each criterion 
using the rating system described below. 

Score Description 

● The alternative clearly supports the project objectives and/or is the best performing 
alternative if all alternatives support the objectives 

◒ 
The alternative partially supports the project objectives and/or is the second-best choice 
if all alternatives support the objectives 

○ The alternative does not support the project objectives or is the third-best choice if all 
alternatives support the objectives (i.e., it provides only a baseline level of performance) 

N/A The objective has no effect or does not apply 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 146 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 9 

Goals, Criteria, and Evaluation 

GOAL 1 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

The area is designed as a 
natural extension of 
Sherwood and is integrated 
into the existing pattern of 
growth in order to preserve 
the community’s heritage 
and small-town feel.  

• There is a balanced mix of office, industrial, commercial, and residential land uses and open spaces 
• A variety of housing options accommodates a diverse range of family structures, income levels, and 

lifestyles 
• Neighborhood retail nodes provide residents with walkable access to goods and services 
• Housing density and implementation is pragmatic 
• View corridors and separation from other cities contribute to Sherwood’s unique identity 

All Alternatives 

• All alternatives provide a variety of housing options. 
• All alternatives have significant new emphasis on jobs and a mixed use area near Kruger Road. 
• All alternatives provide about 70% of net residential acres in the lowest density categories (MDR and LDR) 

and the same approximate number of units, about 2000, in those zones (10% of which is assumed as 
middle housing). 

• Housing in the Middle Housing Zone is relatively low at 3-6 percent of residential land and 3-7 percent of 
total units.  

• View corridors and separation from Newberg and King City are the same for all alternatives. 

Alternative 1 Score 

● 

• Mix of land uses – Alternative 1 has relatively large areas of the same or similar land use, except in the 
Southwest district. 

• Alternative 1 has the lowest number of Multi-family units at 585. 
• Alternative 1 has the highest number of Med/High Neighborhood Zone units at 380. 
• Two retail nodes: Kruger Road and Chapman (none north of Kruger). 
• Average density is 10.6 du/acre (9.0 with open space), assuming 10% middle housing in single dwelling 

zones. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 147 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 10 

GOAL 1 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Alternative 2 Score 

◒ 

• Mix of land uses – Alternative 2 has a greater mix of land uses is introduced into the North and West 
districts as compared to Alternative 1. 

• Alternative 2 has the highest number of Multi-family units at 1066. 
• Alternative 2 has the lowest number of Middle Housing Zone units at 113. 
• Alternative 2 has the highest number of Cottage Zone units at 524. 
• Three retail nodes: in the North, West, South districts. 
• Average density is 11.4 du/ac (9.7 with open space), assuming 10% middle housing in single dwelling 

zones. 

Alternative 3 Score 

◒ 

• Mix of land uses – Alternative 3 has a relatively high degree of mix, especially in the West district and 
Kruger Road area. 

• The mixed use and employment north of the High School is different from Alternatives 1 and 2, which 
have residential uses in that area. 

• Alternative 3 is in the middle of the range for Multi-family units at 776. 
• Alternative 3 has relatively high amount of Cottage Zone units at 505. 
• Three retail nodes: North, West (Handley Road), West/Southwest (Kruger Road). 
• Average density is 11.3 du/ac (9.4 with open space), assuming 10% middle housing in single dwelling 

zones. 

Summary 

The main difference for this criterion is the mix and variety of land use across the alternatives. Alternative 1 is 
the most similar to existing Sherwood due to prevalence of residential uses and slightly lower density. 
Alternative 2 can be seen as a plan for an evolving Sherwood, where residential land use is dominant, more 
housing choices are introduced over the next 10-40 years, and neighborhood character is guided by design 
regulations. Alternative 3 has the most marked differences from existing Sherwood. The percentage of Multi-
family housing is also a key variable, ranging from 585 units (Alt 1) to 776 units (Alt 2) to 1066 units (Alt 3).  
 
The full circle score for Alternative 1 is based on it being most similar to existing Sherwood, per the goal. 
Alternatives 2 and 3 provide more housing types and choice. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 148 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 11 

 

GOAL 2 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

The area attracts a variety of 
businesses and employment 
opportunities, which help 
satisfy the City’s need for an 
expanded tax base.  

• Infrastructure is well-planned to make Sherwood West attractive to developers and large employers 
• There are large low-impact employment areas available for the growth of technology parks and other 

higher-wage jobs 
• There are opportunities to leverage the area’s unique location for destination retail, hospitality, and 

visitor-related uses 

All Alternatives 

• Infrastructure planning is similar for all three alternatives. 
• Per the City’s initial analysis, the West subdistrict is the most readily served with infrastructure. However, 

the City could prioritize infrastructure funding to serve other land sooner. Further analysis is required. 
• All alternatives would add significant amounts of new employment lands to the City of Sherwood, 

including larger sites for technology parks in the North district. 
• All alternatives include land designated for a new Hospitality Zone, with the intent to leverage the area’s 

unique location for destination retail, hospitality and visitor-related uses. 

Alternative 1 Score 

● 

• Alternative 1 has the second highest amount of Mixed Employment land, 163 acres, focused in the North 
District. 

• Commercial, Mixed-Use, and Hospitality lands total 86 acres. 
• The Hospitality Zone lands are in upland properties with scenic views along Chapman Road and the west 

end of Kruger Road. 

Alternative 2 Score 

● 

• Alternative 2 has significantly less Mixed Employment land, 111 acres, focused in the northern area of the 
North district.  

• Commercial, Mixed-Use, and Hospitality lands total 146 acres – highest of the alternatives. 
• The Hospitality Zone lands along Chapman Road have visibility from Hwy 99 and continue west to upper, 

scenic view properties.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 149 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 12 

GOAL 2 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Alternative 3  Score 

● 

• Alternative 3 has the largest amount of Mixed Employment land, 183 acres, focused in the North district 
and Southwest district along Hwy 99.  

• Commercial, Mixed-Use, and Hospitality lands total 98 acres – slightly higher than Alternative 1. 
Employment uses are located on the west and north side of the High School, which is unique to this 
alternative. 

• The Hospitality Zone is focused at the Kruger/Hwy 99 node and there are no Hospitality Zone lands at 
Chapman Road as there are with the other alternatives. 

Summary 

All three alternatives support the Goal 2 and would significantly increase the employment land supply in 
Sherwood. At 250-280 total acres, employment lands comprise about 40% of the net buildable land supply in 
Sherwood West. The alternatives have different locational emphasis for different employment sectors. 
Alternatives 1 and 3 emphasize use of the North district for Mixed Employment. All alternatives include mixed 
use and other commercial opportunities along Kruger Road, with Alternative 3 extending that concept around 
the High School. A focus on Hospitality land along Chapman Road is in Alternatives 1 and 2. The equal scoring 
above is based on excellent fulfillment of the goal by all alternatives - the alternatives simply achieve that 
outcome in different ways. The differences between the alternatives are related more to land use 
compatibility, how much Mixed-Use and Commercial lands could be supported, and preferences for the 
location of the Hospitality Zone. 

 

GOAL 3 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Transportation facilities 
serve to connect, rather than 
divide, neighborhoods.  

• A network of streets provides north-south connections to and through the area 
• The Concept Plan helps realize the opportunity for a Highway 99 pedestrian crossing 
• Streets are designed to balance accommodating vehicle traffic and parking while also being welcoming 

places for people 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 150 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 13 

GOAL 3 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

• Streets are designed with consideration for safety and emergency response vehicles 
• Sherwood is “transit-ready” for future transit service 

All Alternatives 

Note: A traffic impact analysis is being prepared and will provide information needed for assessment of this 
goal. Initial results from the analysis will be presented at the TAC and CAC meetings. 

 
• The same street network is common to all alternatives (see map on next page). 
• All alternatives support the future opportunity for a Highway 99 pedestrian crossing. 
• The alternatives all emphasize the same priority for safety, managing traffic, and making streets places for 

people.  
• Transit routing is an unknown at this point. From a land use perspective, Alternative 3 may be the most 

transit supportive due to the land use patterns in the West district. 

Summary This evaluation is unscored because the transportation recommendations are the same for all alternatives and 
a traffic impact analysis is underway.  

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 151 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 14 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 152 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 15 

GOAL 4 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Residents have access to a 
variety of parks and natural 
areas, anchored by the 
Chicken Creek Greenway. 

• The Chicken Creek corridor is protected 
• Creek connections to the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge are preserved and, where possible, 

enhanced 
• Residents have access to nature through a network of multi-use and soft-surface trails 
• Parks and natural areas serve as places where families and community members can gather together 
• Existing mature trees and areas of dense tree canopy are preserved where feasible 

All Alternatives 

• Protection of the creek corridor and riparian/upland habitat areas is built into all three land use 
alternatives. The Chicken Creek Greenway is one of the key plan concepts for Sherwood West and will 
provide access to nature and trail connections for future residents and visitors.  

• The proposed realignment of Elwert and Edy Roads will reduce the impact of infrastructure improvements 
(road widening) on sensitive creek confluences. The realigned roadway will cross two Chicken Creek 
tributary streams at the narrowest points in order to reduce or eliminate wetland mitigation issues. The 
realignment also eliminates the excessive fills within the SW Elwert/SW Edy Road intersection and follows 
the existing terrain. This will require construction of structural bridging and acquisition of right-of-way. 

• The trails concept is the same for all three alternatives (see page 18). This includes a regional trail 
connection to the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge. It also includes a conceptual network of local 
trails, multi-use paths, sidewalks, and bike lanes through neighborhoods to connect residents with parks, 
schools, employment areas, and other local destinations. 

• All three alternatives include two community parks (10-20 acres each) as well as neighborhood parks (2-5 
acres) integrated throughout Sherwood West neighborhoods. Future parks will be consistent with policies 
and guidelines in the recently-updated Sherwood Parks & Recreation Master Plan. Natural areas and open 
space dedicated through development will provide additional green space.  

• Existing mature trees and tree canopies will be preserved through Metro Title 13 habitat protections and 
through application of the Sherwood Development Code’s tree preservation standards. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 153 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 16 

GOAL 4 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Alternative 1 Score 

◒ 
• Alternative 1 has an estimated 43 total acres of parks (community and neighborhood parks).  

Alternative 2 Score 

● 
• Alternative 2 has the most park acreage, with an estimated 55 total acres.  

Alternative 3 Score 

◒ 
• Alternative 3 has the least park acreage, with an estimated 37 total acres.  

Summary 

All three alternatives provide strong support for these evaluation criteria by emphasizing preservation of 
natural areas and access to parks and nature. The three alternatives each locate one community park in the 
area south of Chicken Creek, surrounded by resource land. The main distinguishing features between the 
alternatives are the locations of the second community park and total park acreage. Alternative 2 was given 
the highest score because it provides the most park acreage—thereby providing the greatest access to 
recreation, nature, and community gathering space for residents.  

 

  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 154 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 17 

GOAL 5 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

The area is served by a 
robust network of active 
transportation options that 
are integrated into 
Sherwood’s existing 
network.  

• Residents can easily walk or bike to access local destinations such as schools, parks, employment areas, 
and shopping centers 

• Active transportation facilities connect to existing Sherwood neighborhoods and nearby regional 
destinations 

• Students have safe options to walk or bike to school 

All Alternatives 

● 

• The trails concept is the same for all three alternatives (see next page). This includes a conceptual 
network of local trails, multi-use paths, sidewalks, and bike lanes through neighborhoods to connect 
residents with parks, schools, employment areas, and other local destinations. Trails connecting to local 
destinations will help to encourage walking, rolling, and biking.  

• The trails concept includes key connections between new growth in Sherwood West and existing areas of 
Sherwood—such as such as future connections to the Reedville Trail, the Tualatin River National Wildlife 
Refuge trails, Ice Age Tonquin Trail/Cedar Creek Trail, and the future Highway 99 pedestrian overcrossing. 

• School locations are not identified in the alternatives maps. However, safe routes to school will be an 
important consideration in the siting of future schools in Sherwood West, and in planning trail and 
sidewalk connections between neighborhoods and schools. 

Alternative 1 Score  • N/A 

Alternative 2 Score • N/A 

Alternative 3 Score • N/A 

Summary All alternatives support these criteria equally, as described above. 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 155 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 18 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 156 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 19 

 

GOAL 6 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Growth and development 
are well-planned and 
implementation of the area 
is pragmatic.  

• The extension of public facilities and services are phased and coordinated with development 
• Land uses serve Sherwood’s needs and are complementary to other expansion areas along the western 

Urban Growth Boundary 

All Alternatives 

• Extension of public facilities is a critical issue for Sherwood West regardless of the land use alternative.  
• Infrastructure phasing and funding will be further explored after a preferred land use alternative is 

selected. 
• Considering the capability of extending existing public facilities and constructing needed new 

infrastructure to serve the Sherwood West area, areas north and south of the high school and close to SW 
Elwert Road, are the most logical areas for development to occur first.  

• The City may consider new annexation policies based on a phasing plan for development within Sherwood 
West. The annexation policies could consider priority areas to provide an orderly and efficient transition 
from rural to urban land uses to ensure public infrastructure needs are met to provide homes and jobs in 
Sherwood West. These ideas will be further fleshed out in the infrastructure phasing/funding task. 

Alternative 1 Score 

● 

• Alternative 1’s land uses generally serve Sherwood’s needs by providing a mix of housing, employment, 
and commercial uses.  

• The Hospitality Zone concept is a new idea for Sherwood and would provide intentional locations for uses 
such as hotels/motels, restaurants, wineries, and similar uses. Because it is untested, it is unknown how 
effective it will be in serving Sherwood’s needs. Alternative 1 has a moderate amount of Hospitality 
zoning (roughly 31 acres) located on Chapman Rd and at the west end of Kruger Rd. 

• Land uses in the Southwest district closest to the Brookman expansion area include a mix of commercial, 
mixed employment, and multi-family zoning. This complements the planned commercial, office and light 
industrial zoning for the western portion of the Brookman area. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 157 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN  

 Alternatives Evaluation │ PAGE 20 

GOAL 6 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Alternative 2 Score 

◒ 

• Alternative 2’s land uses also serve Sherwood’s needs by providing a mix of housing, employment, and 
commercial uses.  

• Alternative 2 has the greatest amount of Hospitality zoning (roughly 63 acres), occupying about a third of 
the Southwest district. 

• Land uses in the Southwest district closest to the Brookman area include commercial and hospitality uses. 
These uses are relatively compatible with the planned zoning for the western portion of the Brookman 
area. 

Alternative 3 Score 

● 

• Alternative 3’s land uses also serve Sherwood’s needs by providing a mix of housing, employment, and 
commercial uses.  

• Alternative 3 has the most modest amount of Hospitality zoning (roughly 63 acres), located at the 
intersection of Highway 99 and Kruger Rd. 

• The eastern portion of the Southwest district closest to the Brookman area is exclusively designated as 
mixed employment. This use may be the most complementary to the planned zoning for the western 
portion of the Brookman area. 

Summary 

All three alternatives will extend public facilities as part of development and will be phased primarily based on 
different areas’ proximity to existing facilities. All three alternatives include land uses that serve Sherwood’s 
needs. However, the Hospitality Zone is the newest concept, and its practicality is not yet known. Therefore, 
alternatives that de-emphasize hospitality zoning (Alternatives 1 and 3) may be more pragmatic for 
implementation, consistent with the goal. The conclusion is very subjective – the City should continue to study 
the Hospitality Zone concept and include it in its economic development efforts. 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 158 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Developer Tour Summary

APPENDIX K

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 159 of 205



610 SW Alder Street, Suite 1200, Portland, Oregon 97205 | 503.222.1600

Sherwood West Re-Look

Developer Tour Notes
Date October 26, 2022

To Erika Palmer, City of Sherwood

From Chris Zahas, Leland Consulting Group

CC Joe Dills, MIG 

On October 24, 2022, the City of Sherwood hosted a driving tour of the Sherwood West Concept Plan 
area with invited guests from the development and brokerage community. The purpose was to gather 
insights about the area and the draft plan concepts from development practitioners and to provide 
implementation advice as the plan moves toward completion. The tour route included a loop through the 
main existing arterials in the study area with stops to discuss key opportunity areas such as the planned 
industrial zone at the north end and the mixed-use commercial area near the high school. Following the 
tour, the group met at Sherwood City Hall to debrief and discuss implications.

The tour included the following participants:

 Erika Palmer, Planning Manager, City of Sherwood
 Bruce Coleman, Economic Development Manager, City of Sherwood
 Joy Chang, Planner, City of Sherwood
 Chris Zahas, Managing Principal, Leland Consulting Group 
 Stu Peterson, Broker, Macadam Forbes
 Eric Sporre, Vice President, PacTrust
 Kirk Olsen, Principal, Trammell Crow
 Matt Grady, Vice President, Gramor Development

Following is a summary of the key comments heard during the tour, organized into general themes.

Zoning and Land Use
 Sherwood’s E-I zone is a good one. It’s flexible and doesn’t restrict by tenant use unlike some 

zones in neighboring cities. Avoid the types of use restrictions found in Tualatin’s Basalt Creek 
industrial zone.

 Office development is unlikely in Sherwood West.
 The region is virtually out of industrial land today. New inventory is needed as soon as possible to 

accommodate job growth. 
 Industrial development at the north end of Sherwood West could be developed as soon as the 

land is brought into the UGB and utilities are available.
 Likely industrial uses would be multi-tenant buildings in the 50,000-70,000 square foot range. 

Given the distance to I-5, it is not likely that large distribution facilities would consider this area, 
but there are plenty of smaller miscellaneous industrial users who would be attracted to it.

 Some support retail would make sense in this area, but zoning requirements that the retail be in 
direct support of the industrial use can be a challenge to work with. Typically, a developer would 
need a minimum of 35,000 square feet of retail to make a center viable.

 The hospitality zone needs a destination use to make it viable if it’s not visible from or directly 
located in 99W.

 A wine-themed destination would best be built off of an existing working winery, although offsite 
tasting rooms are becoming popular.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 160 of 205



***.lelandconsulting.com Page 2

 Sloped sites or sites at a higher grade than the adjacent street lend themselves better to housing 
than retail uses.

 Structured parking is necessary to get true commercial density and can be viable with parking 
rates at $2 per hour. 

Infrastructure
 Roads with utilities are critical to setting the stage for private development. Consider it backbone 

infrastructure that is a prerequisite to getting development underway.
 Get a wetlands inventory done soon so that potential issues are known early on.
 The high school is not yet on sewer, but when it is installed in 2025, that part of the study area 

will open up for development.

Implementation and Funding
 It is a challenge for developers to front load all infrastructure when they do not always get credit 

for it and/or they may not get reimbursed by future developers before they expire. 
 A detailed infrastructure funding strategy is needed.
 Urban renewal can be a very good tool for funding infrastructure. 
 Sherwood has a good brand image, and employers are attracted to the small-town image, good 

schools, and quality of life.
 Locating a public facility like city offices or a police or fire station in the study area could 

jumpstart development. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 161 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Transportation Impact 
Analysis

APPENDIX L

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 162 of 205



 

 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS MEMO 

DATE:  January 5, 2023 

TO:  Joe Dills, Kate Rogers | MIG 
Erika Palmer, Joy Chang | City of Sherwood 

FROM:  Carl Springer, Amanda Deering, Alex Haag | DKS Associates 

SUBJECT:  Sherwood West Concept Plan Traffic Impact Analysis Project #21057-000 
 

INTRODUCTION 

The Sherwood West Re-Look project will prepare a concept plan for the 1,291-acre Sherwood West 
area by updating the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan. The Preliminary Plan, which was 
approved by the Sherwood City Council in 2016, was developed as a long-range planning tool to 
help guide future community discussions and decisions about the City’s long-term growth. The 
purpose of the Sherwood West Re-Look project is to take another look at the Sherwood West area 
to address new land use and growth patterns, new transportation plans, new State rules related to 
housing, and new opportunities for employment and economic growth. 

This memorandum summarizes the preliminary findings regarding the transportation impacts of the 
Sherwood West Concept Plan (Concept Plan) project and transportation network upgrades 
contemplated for the Plan Area. This memorandum includes: 

• Estimated trip generation of the three land use alternatives  

• Discussion of potential transportation network changes being contemplated in the Concept Plan, 
including the realignment of Elwert Road and evaluation of a parallel north-south connector 
route from Chapman Road to Edy Road. 

Note: the north-south connector is not a site-specific proposal. It is a connectivity concept for 
further study. The memorandum is an initial evaluation of a conceptual connection between 
Chapman Road and Edy Road. 

• Discussion of expected traffic growth in Plan Area 

• Initial system performance review on major roadways and at two key study intersections 
  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 163 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 2  
 

 

STUDY AREA AND LAND USE ALTERNATIVES 

The Concept Plan Area, illustrated in Figure 1, is bounded by Scholls-Sherwood Road to the north, 
Roy Rogers Road and OR 99W to the east, Chapman Road to the south, and Eastview Road to the 
west. 

Three land use alternatives for the Concept Plan Area are being developed as part of the Concept 
Plan Re-Look (Appendix A). Land use Alternative 1 has the highest proportion of medium/high-
density neighborhood land use of the three alternatives and less cottage zoning and multifamily 
than the other alternatives. Alternative 2 has the highest proportion of multifamily land use and 
less middle housing zone than the other two alternatives. In terms of employment acres, 
Alternative 1 has fewer mixed-use acres than the other two alternatives. In comparison, 
Alternative 2 has fewer mixed-employment acres but more commercial and hospitality land-use 
acres than the other two alternatives.  

A breakdown of the total jobs and housing units for the three alternatives is summarized in 
Table 1. While the alternatives vary regarding the proportion and location of housing types, all 
three offer a comparable number of total housing units. For total jobs, Alternative 3 provides the 
highest number of total jobs, and Alternative 2 provides the least.  

TABLE 1: HOUSING METRICS AND JOBS SUMMARY 

Note: values rounded to the nearest multiple of 5 

 

CATEGORY 
CONCEPT PLAN ALTERNATIVES 

ALT 1 ALT 2 ALT 3 

TOTAL HOUSING UNITS 3,730 3,845 3,635 

TOTAL JOBS 5,245 4,600 5,020 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 164 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 3  
 

 

 

FIGURE 1: PLAN AREA AND TRIP DISTRIBUTION 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 165 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 4  
 

 

PLAN AREA TRAVEL FORECAST 

VEHICLE TRIP GROWTH ESTIMATE 

Trip generation for the three land use alternatives is estimated based on the Westside Travel 
Demand Model and the number of the expected housing units and jobs provided by each 
alternative. Summarized in Table 2, all three land use alternatives are expected to generate a 
similar number of vehicle trips when the area is fully developed. The values reported in Table 2 
are total vehicle trips during the 2-hour PM peak period. The magnitude of vehicle trips is 
comparable to the number of anticipated trips estimated by the previously completed Urban 
Reserve Transportation Study (URTS) for this area. By way of comparison, the URTS assumed land 
uses included a higher level of households (6,495) and minimal jobs (545) within the planning 
area. 

TABLE 2: VEHICLE TRIPS DURING 2-HOUR PM PEAK PERIOD 

 ALT 1 ALT 2 ALT 3 
URBAN RESERVE 

TRANSPORTATION 
STUDY 

TOTAL VEHICLE TRIPS  
(2-HOUR PM PEAK) 

6,040 6,725 6,780 6,470 

Note: values rounded to the nearest multiple of 5 

REGIONAL TRIP PATTERNS 

Regional trip patterns for the Plan Area were estimated using the Westside Travel Demand Model to 
help understand the primary travel directions for trips that start or end in Sherwood West. As 
shown in Figure 1, most Plan Area travel demand is to/from the northeast of the Plan Area, either 
on Roy Rogers Road, OR 99W, and to/from the east on Tualatin-Sherwood Highway. Approximately 
60% of vehicle traffic that begins or ends within the planning area will use these three routes. 
About 30% of travel demand crosses OR 99W to/from the rest of the City of Sherwood, while only 
5% is to/from south of the Plan Area via OR 99W, and 5% is to/from northwest of the Plan Area on 
Lebeau Road and Scholls Sherwood Road. The analysis also showed that about 10% of traffic 
remains internal to the Plan Area, meaning that the trips start and end within the planning area.  

STREET NETWORK AND CONCEPTUAL STREET ALTERNATIVES 

Several transportation network improvements were considered as part of the Preliminary Sherwood 
West Concept Plan and others as part of this subsequent analysis, including: 

• The realignment of Elwert Road west of Chicken Creek. 

• A conceptual north-south connection between Chapman Road and Edy Road. 

• A new pedestrian over crossing near OR 99W at Sunset. 

• A new multimodal overcrossing at OR 99W north of Brookman Chapman Road; and 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 166 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 5  
 

 

• Several new internal local and connector roadways.  

The conceptual locations of these upgrades are illustrated in Figure 1. All future facilities would 
meet current City multimodal street and trail facility standards. Major roadways generally would 
have one travel lane in each direction with center turn lanes (Scholls-Sherwood Road, Elwert Road, 
Edy Road, and Kruger Road), while local streets would be one lane in each direction. As noted 
above, the north-south connector is not a site-specific alignment. For this analysis, a two-lane road 
is assumed. 

ELWERT ROAD RE-ALIGNMENT CONCEPT 

Elwert Road from OR 99W to Scholls-Sherwood Road is a two-lane rural arterial. Washington 
County and the City of Sherwood’s Transportation System Plan identify the future build-out 
condition of Elwert Road as a 3-lane arterial, including sidewalks and bike lanes on both sides of 
the road. According to the County’s Road Design Standards, this type of facility requires 90 feet of 
road right-of-way which includes 50 feet wide pavement, 2 travel lanes, a center turn lane and 2 
bike lanes, plus landscape areas and sidewalks behind the curbs. The existing Elwert Road north of 
Edy Road has a paved area about 24 feet wide with ditches on both sides. As described in the 
Preliminary Concept Plan, the existing rural condition of Elwert Road would require significant 
expansion and upgrading to accommodate the city’s adopted roadway design standards. This would 
include land acquisition for road right-of-way and could include re-grading the vertical alignment to 
improve driver sight distance. In addition, the portions of Elwert Road constrained by the Chicken 
Creek watershed would further require large cut-and-fill sections and significant environmental 
mitigation.  

As a result, the Preliminary Concept Plan identified re-aligning Elwert Road west of the creek as 
being more cost-effective and preferred from a constructability standpoint rather than improving 
the existing alignment. Re-aligning Elwert Road is a transportation recommendation that has been 
carried forward as part of the current Sherwood West Concept Plan Re-Look project and is analyzed 
in this memorandum.  

As shown in Figure 1, this future re-alignment is preliminary and subject to further study and 
design. Issues to be addressed in future work should include the following: 

• Full or partial closure of existing creek crossings 

• Cost and constructability 

• Safety for all travel modes 

• Local circulation for adjacent property and neighborhood connectivity 

• Natural resource impacts and permitting 

• The potential for a jurisdictional transfer of SW Elwert Road from the county to the city 

• Implementation of an SW Elwert Road Design Concept 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 167 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 6  
 

 

This initial study did not evaluate specific designs for the re-alignment – that is left to be addressed 
during future studies. However, this study did confirm that the existing alignment and traffic 
controls at Elwert/Edy need to be improved to safely serve the expected growth, as discussed in a 
later section of this memo. As discussed in the next section, this study also confirms that the re-
aligned Elwert Road can function effectively as a two-lane cross-section, with appropriate 
pedestrian-bike facilities provided and center turn lanes/median where needed. 

NORTH-SOUTH CONNECTOR 

The core idea of the north-south connector is to connect SW Chapman Road to the north end of 
Sherwood West, enhancing regional connectivity and providing an option away from 
neighborhoods. The specific route is conceptual, and its alignment has yet to be identified, as 
reflected by the wide shaded area in Figure 1. The City is aware of challenges – topographic, 
environmental, and conflicts with existing development – but seeks to continue to study this long-
range transportation corridor. This connector would require approximately 1.7 miles of new 
roadway plus a new bridge structure across Chicken Creek.  

TRAFFIC PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

Based on the initial travel forecast for 2040, the general travel conditions were reviewed to assess 
the planning street system overall based on expected daily traffic volumes and a more detailed 
review at two key study intersections during peak hours that have historically had operational 
issues. After the Sherwood West Concept Plan is approved, a further detailed operational analysis 
will be made to identify specific geometric and traffic control improvements that will be needed at 
other intersections as the area develops, which will be incorporated into the capital improvement 
program and the City’s Transportation System Plan. A prior study of the OR 99W intersection at 
Brookman Road-Chapman Road recommended upgrading that intersection to traffic signal controls 
as development continues in the south end of Sherwood.  

It is recognized that Sherwood West will not be fully built out by 2040, but a horizon year 20 years 
from the existing conditions was selected for analysis. The analysis includes the existing (2019) 
and future (2040) conditions. Both horizon year scenarios assume the existing lane configurations 
and controls of the study intersections. Analysis has been conducted using Highway Capacity 
Manual (HCM) 6th Edition methodology and Synchro 11 software suite.  

As all three land use alternatives are expected to generate a comparable number of total vehicle 
trips, analysis has been conducted for Alternative 3 since it had the highest vehicle trip estimate. 
Plan Area generated traffic has been assigned to the study road network based on the regional 
travel patterns described in the previous section. 

DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES  

The daily traffic volumes on the major roadways within the Plan Area provide a general 
performance indicator for road segment capacity. Depending on access management and cross-

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 168 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 7  
 

 

street spacing, a 3-lane arterial or collector roadway can carry 15,000 to 20,000 vehicles daily. 
2040 daily traffic volume forecasts have been reviewed within the planning area, as summarized in 
Table 3. Each roadway was shown to carry below this maximum level and will therefore provide 
satisfactory service. Further studies will be required during the development review to determine 
appropriate geometric improvements and traffic control upgrades at significant intersections.   

TABLE 3: DAILY TRAFFIC FORECASTS ON SELECTED ROADWAYS 

Note: *The volume estimate ranged from 1,500 to 4,000 ADT on this facility. 

 

The notable finding from this review was the expected low vehicle traffic usage on the conceptual 
north-south connector roadway. As shown in Table 3, the volumes are expected to range from a 
low of 1,500 to 4,000 vehicles daily, which is consistent with local street or neighborhood routes. 
Further study is recommended as the planning advances.  

INTERSECTION OPERATIONS 

Summarized in Table 4, the results of the traffic operations analysis indicate that the study 
intersections are found to be operating acceptably under existing conditions. The Elwert Road & 
Lebeau/Scholls-Sherwood Road intersection, which is controlled by all-way stop signs, is operating 
at LOS D, with the highest delays experienced by the westbound shared movement. The Elwert 
Road at Edy Road intersection is currently controlled by a traffic signal and shared approach lanes 
on all legs. It operates at overall LOS A, and LOS B or better for all individual approaches. 

Results of the traffic operation analysis indicate that by 2040, conditions at Elwert Road at 
Lebeau/Scholls-Sherwood Road intersection would be expected to deteriorate to LOS F if no 
capacity improvements are made, with significant delays experienced by the westbound and 
southbound movements. The Elwert Road at Edy Road signalized intersection would be expected to 
operate acceptably at LOS C through to 2040 with existing capacity (no geometric improvements). 
However, as noted previously, to comply with the city’s urban street design standards, this 
intersection requires expansion to accommodate safe walking and bicycling, which is important 
given the proximity of two school campuses. Refer to Appendix B for more details on these 
intersection analyses. 

ROAD SEGMENT 2040 DAILY TRAFFIC 

SCHOLLS-SHERWOOD ROAD BETWEEN ELWERT ROAD 
AND ROY ROGERS ROAD 

13,000 

ELWERT ROAD NORTH OF CHICKEN CREEK 10,000 

EDY ROAD EAST OF ELWERT ROAD 9,000 

EDY ROAD WEST OF CHICKEN CREEK 1,500 

NORTH-SOUTH CONNECTOR ROAD 4,000* 

CHAPMAN ROAD WEST OF OR 99W 9,000 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 169 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 8  
 

 

 

TABLE 4: EXISTING AND FUTURE INTERSECTION OPERATIONAL ANALYSIS SUMMARY 

INTERSECTION WORST 
MOVEMENTS 

2019 PM 2040 PM 

DELAY LOS DELAY LOS 

ELWERT ROAD & 
LEBEAU/SCHOLLS-
SHERWOOD ROAD 

Westbound 
Scholls-Sherwood 

41.0 E 165.7 F 

Southbound 
Scholls-Sherwood 

23.5 C 46.0 E 

OVERALL 28.8 D 98.1 F 

ELWERT ROAD & EDY 
ROAD 

Eastbound Edy 9.0 A 35.3 D 

OVERALL 12.2 B 27.9 C 

Note: Worst movements noted have the highest delay for a given roadway approach. In all cases, the approach shares a 
single lane for all left-turning, through, and right-turning traffic. Refer to Appendix B for calculation details.  

CONCLUSIONS 

This memorandum summarizes the preliminary findings of the transportation impacts of the three 
land use concepts developed for the Plan Area as part of the Sherwood West Concept Plan Re-Look. 

All three land use concepts being contemplated as part of the Re-Look have a comparable number 
of total proposed housing units and total jobs. Despite each alternative varying in terms of housing 
typology and land use layout, all three would be expected to generate a similar number of overall 
vehicle trips to the number estimated by the previously completed URTS for this area. 

Regional travel patterns identified using the Westside Travel Demand Model indicate that most Plan 
Area traffic travels to or from outside the Plan Area, with only 10% of travel demand remaining 
internal. Most travel demand (60%) is to/from the northeast of the Plan Area, and about 30% is 
traveling to/from the City of Sherwood east of OR 99W. Variations in land use and layout in the 
three Alternatives would be expected to have a minimal impact on overall travel patterns. 

The Sherwood West Concept Plan describes two road network upgrades that are being examined as 
part of the Re-Look: the realignment of Elwert Road and a new conceptual north-south parallel 
route that would connect Chapman Road to Edy Road. The realignment of Elwert Road was 
identified as a preferred option as part of the Preliminary Concept Plan, and this current Re-Look 
project, due to the required cross-sectional upgrades and the existing alignment's confluence with 
Chicken Creek.  

Results of the intersection operational analysis indicate that conditions at Elwert Road at 
Lebeau/Scholls-Sherwood Road intersection would be expected to deteriorate to excessive 
congestion (LOS F) during peak travel hours if no capacity improvements were made. In contrast, 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 170 of 205



 SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS • JANUARY 5, 2023 9  
 

 

the intersection of Elwert Road at Edy Road would be expected to operate acceptably with its 
existing signalized configuration through to the 2040 horizon year. However, both locations will 
need to be improved to accommodate multimodal facilities as required by the county and city’s 
urban street standards.  

The Concept Plan includes urban upgrades to significant roadways within the Plan Area, such as 
Elwert Road, Kruger Road, Chapman Road, and Edy Road. The planned upgrades include two to 
three-lane cross-sections and upgrading several existing intersections to either roundabouts or 
traffic signals. Our initial finding is that Sherwood West Growth will be served adequately with the 
planned street network as described in the Concept Plan. Further study is recommended to develop 
a more comprehensive list of improvements and associated cost estimates as this area is made 
ready for urban development.   

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on the high-level findings of this memorandum, the following are recommended:  

• The Elwert Road re-alignment concept be advanced with the Sherwood West Concept Plan, and 
further studies be conducted to determine the best alignment and intersection configurations.  

• The Elwert Road corridor should adopt design themes consistent with the city’s vision, as 
represented by the Sunset Road corridor. 

• Upgrade Elwert Road to three lane cross-section with bike lanes and sidewalks take place as 
development occurs. 

• Upgrades to the Elwert/Lebeau Road at Scholls-Sherwood Road intersection be made to provide 
additional capacity to adequately support traffic growth through to the 2040 horizon year. The 
intersection with Elwert Road will require additional study, reconfiguration, and eventual 
signalization or roundabout improvement as development occurs.  

• Multimodal safety improvements be made to the Elwert Road and Edy Road intersection 
consistent with the cross-sectional upgrades to these roadways outlined in the Concept Plan. 
Other intersections should also be reviewed for possible multimodal safety upgrades as 
development occurs nearby, including the Elwert Road at Handley Road intersection, and the 
Elwert Road at Haide Road intersection. 

• Edy Road between Elwert Road and Borchers Drive is as a 3-lane collector with bike lanes and 
sidewalks in the city’s Transportation System Plan. This project should be included for the 
portion within the concept planning area. 

• Edy Road west of Chicken Creek should be a two-lane collector road without on-street parking 
within the concept planning area. 

• The north-south connector concept should be further studied to better address the cost/benefit 
trade-offs for this new route. Sufficient north-south connectivity should be incorporated into the 
growth area to provide direct north-south multimodal service parallel to SW Elwert Road.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 171 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

APPENDIX M 
Housing Memo
Background on Housing Needs and Consistency 
with State/Metro Requirements

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 172 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

HOUSING MEMO 
Supplemental to Housing Policy Implications Memo  

TO: Community Advisory Committee 
FROM: Erika Palmer, Planning Manager  
CC: MIG|APG  
DATE: April 2023 

Introduction 
This memorandum provides supplemental information to the Housing Implications Memo that 
summarizes the future of housing in Sherwood to help inform discussions on this topic. This memorandum 
provides background on housing needs in Sherwood and how the Sherwood West Concept Plan is 
consistent with state and regional requirements.  

STATE LAND USE GOAL 10, HOUSING  
The purpose of Goal 10 is to provide for the housing needs of Oregonians. Goal 10 requires Sherwood to 
maintain and plan for an adequate land supply to accommodate at least 20 years of future growth, 
providing flexibility in housing location, type, and density to ensure the availability and prices of housing 
units are commensurate with the needs and financial capabilities of households. The City is required to 
meet the Metropolitan Housing Rule (OAR 660-007) that is designed to “assure opportunity for the 
provision of adequate numbers of needed housing units and the efficient use of land within the 
Metropolitan Portland (Metro) Urban Growth Boundary (UGB).” Needed housing means housing types 
determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at particular price 
ranges and rent levels. The rule also specifies the mix and density of new residential construction for cities 
within the Metro UGB. Sherwood is required to provide the opportunity for at least 50 percent of new 
residential units to be attached single-family housing or multi-family housing. In addition, the rule sets 
specific density targets for cities in the Metro UGB. Sherwood’s average density target is six dwelling units 
per net buildable acre.  

Sherwood's housing stock is predominantly single-family detached at roughly 75% (2021 American 
Community Survey, US Census). Sherwood's population growth and shifting demographics affect future 
housing growth and shape the changes in the City's housing market. While Sherwood's population has 
been growing relatively fast in recent years, the population has been aging while the community continues 
to attract younger people and more households with children. In addition, Sherwood's population is 
becoming more ethnically diverse. If these trends continue, there will be changes in the types of housing 
demanded in the community’s future.  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 173 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

2 

 

The aging population is likely to result in increased demand for smaller single-family housing detached 
and attached, multi-family housing, and senior living facilities. The growth of younger and diversified 
households will likely result in increased demand for a wider variety of affordable and appropriate housing 
for families with children, such as small single-family housing, townhouses, duplexes, and multi-family 
housing choices. Smaller housing units such as cottage clusters can be an attractive option for a wide 
variety of community members including seniors, empty-nesters looking to downsize, and young adults. 
Cottage housing is smaller and may be more accessible than a typical single-family home. The smaller size 
makes it a more attainable option for first-time home buyers than a larger home due to less expensive 
insurance, energy, property taxes, and mortgages.  The number of people living in multigenerational 
family households is growing due to many reasons including finances, caregiving, childcare, or a change 
in relationship status.  Accessory Dwelling Units, plexes, cottage clusters can help provide housing types 
where families can live close together.  

Housing prices are higher in Sherwood than regional averages, though the City's increasing 
homeownership costs are consistent with the upward national trend. Almost three-quarters of 
Sherwood's residents own their homes. Sherwood households have a relatively high income, which affects 
the type of housing that is affordable, particularly for young people and new families. Future housing 
affordability will depend on the relationship between income and housing price and whether housing 
prices will continue to outpace income growth. 

2019-2039 Housing Needs Analysis 

Sherwood's 2019-2039 Housing Needs Analysis (HNA), adopted by reference in the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan, provides technical and factual background relating to current and future housing needs. The Oregon 
Department of Land Conservation and Development acknowledged the HNA and no one appealed the 
document to the Land Use Board of Appeals.  As state law requires, the HNA examines household growth 
based on Metro's coordinated forecast. The forecast includes growth in both areas within the city limits 
and areas currently outside the city limits that the City expects to annex for residential uses (Brookman 
area). The HNA identifies an additional 1,728 new households between 2019 and 2039. Sherwood must 
provide enough land to accommodate forecasted housing needs for the next 20 years which can be met 
through continued annexation of the Brookman area and planning for Sherwood West. 

Sherwood’s HNA includes information about the factors that could affect housing development, including 
historical and recent development trends; projections of new housing units needed in the next 20 years; 
demographic and socioeconomic factors affecting housing choice, and regional and local trends in housing 
cost and affordability.  

The forecasted growth rate in the HNA 2019-2039 is 1.1% based on Metro's forecast. The HNA provides a 
forecast of housing by type and density of housing. The HNA includes a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) for 
housing within the Urban Growth Boundary. The BLI demonstrates that the current land use designations 
provide an adequate short- and long-term land supply for housing development, meeting existing needs 
and 65%, and projected growth over the next 20 years. However, Sherwood has a deficit of land for 608 
dwelling units, and annexations will need to continue in Brookman to provide an adequate land supply. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 174 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

3 

 

The HNA analyzes existing development patterns and intensity, existing land use designations and zoning, 
and building constraints to determine where vacant land and/or land that is likely to be redeveloped and 
then compares the existing supply of land to emerging development trends and projection of needed 
housing units. 

The HNA 2019-2039 makes the following conclusions regarding compliance with Goal 10: 

• Sherwood will need to plan for enough residential land to accommodate forecasted housing 
needs for the next 20-years: 

• Sherwood is forecast to add 1,728 new households between 2019 and 2039. Of these 700 new 
households are inside existing city limits; 1,029 new households are outside current city limits. 

• Sherwood's land base can accommodate most of the forecast for growth. Vacant and partially 
vacant land in the Sherwood Planning Area has the capacity to accommodate about 65% of the 
forecast for new housing on areas within the city limits and the Sherwood Planning Area. 

• Sherwood has a deficit of land for housing. The deficit of land is for 608 dwelling units. The largest 
deficits are in Medium Density Residential-Low (154 dwelling units); Medium Density Residential-
High (252); and High-Density Residential (145 dwelling units). 

• To provide adequate land supply, Sherwood will need to continue annexing the Brookman Area, 
the primary designated residential area in the Sherwood Planning Area. Without the Brookman 
area developing, the City has a projected deficit of 1,155 dwelling units 

• Sherwood will need Sherwood West to accommodate future growth beyond the existing city 
limits and the UGB (Brookman area). There is a deficit of 608 dwelling units over the next 20-years 
in Sherwood city limits and Brookman Area. The growth rate of Metro's forecast for household 
growth (1.1% average annual growth) is considerably lower than the City's historical population 
growth rate over the last two decades (8% average annual growth). At the historic growth rate, 
Sherwood will be out of buildable lands for residential development within 4-10 years.   

• Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate and higher density housing. The 
limited supply of land in these zones is a barrier to development of townhouses and multi-family 
housing, which is needed to meet the housing demand for growth of people over 65, young 
families, and moderate-income households. Sherwood will need to plan for a greater variety of 
housing types. 

• Sherwood will have an ongoing need for providing affordable housing to lower-income 
households. About 31% of households in Sherwood have incomes below 80% of the MFI. These 
household will need a range of housing types, such as lower-cost single family housing, 
townhouses, or multi-family housing. Sherwood currently has a limited supply of land available in 
its planning area for moderate and high-density housing. 

To comply with Goal 10, the City will need to either change its policies to allow for more development on 
the inventory of vacant land within the City boundary (greater densities, greater building heights), request 
a UGB expansion from Metro, or both. An urban growth boundary expansion proposal to Metro will allow 
the community to accommodate needed housing and provide the opportunity for a variety of housing 
types in locations and at price points that meet the needs of current and future residents. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 175 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

4 

 

The Sherwood West Concept Plan includes land use designations that provide for a variety of housing 
types: single-family residential detached, single-family residential attached (townhomes), duplexes, 
triplexes, quadplexes, cottage clusters, accessory dwelling units, and multi-family units. The Concept Plan 
supports homeownership and lower-income housing opportunities with access to jobs, transportation 
choices, parks and open spaces, and other supportive amenities of a complete community.   

Metropolitan Housing Rule: OAR 660, Division 007 
 
The planning process for the Sherwood West Concept Plan applied the Metropolitan Housing Rule.  As 
identified in Table 1 below, the Concept Plan provides for a variety of residential land use districts that 
allow for multiple housing types at a range of prices and rent levels. Table 1 presents estimated housing 
units and densities based on the proposed Concept Plan map. The assumptions regarding residential 
densities were developed in collaboration with the Community Advisory Committee and are based on 
existing zone densities in the Sherwood Development Code. The metrics assume that Sherwood West will 
build out based on recent density trends in each residential designation. Recent density trends in 
Sherwood show that developments are utilizing the maximum densities per acre allowed in each zone.   
 
In each of the “Neighborhood” designations, middle housing will be permitted along with single-family 
detached housing. Table 1 includes a range of total housing units depending on how much middle housing 
is built in these areas, showing 0, 10, 20, or 50 percent middle housing scenarios. The range shows 3,117 
units on the low end to a high of 5,582 units if 50 percent of middle housing was constructed in the 
neighborhood designations. The density ranges from 9.2 units per net buildable acre with 0 percent 
middle housing to 16.4 units per net buildable acre if 50 percent of middle housing was constructed in the 
neighborhood designations.  
 
Table 1. Sherwood West Housing Estimates  

 
The Sherwood West Concept Plan has provided the opportunity for at least 50 percent of new housing 
types to be single-family detached and 50 percent a mix of single-family attached and multifamily. The 
Low and Medium neighborhood designations provide the opportunity for a range of single-family 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 176 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

5 

 

detached and by law allow the full range of middle housing types (attached housing) with design 
standards. The Middle Housing, Cottage Cluster, and Medium/High designations allow the opportunity 
for attached single-family units (cottages, plexes, townhomes). The Multi-Family designation allows for 
multi-family units. As described below in Table 2, even if zero percent middle housing is produced in the 
Low and Medium Density Neighborhoods, there is an opportunity for 50 percent attached housing. Table 
2 identifies the estimated allocation of housing units to residential designations in Sherwood West.  
 
Table 2. An estimated allocation of housing units to residential designations in Sherwood West 

 

Estimated 
Dwelling 

Units 
% of 
Units   

Housing Units by 
Mix 

Multi-Family 798 26%  Multifamily 25% 
Middle Housing 173 6%  Attached 25% 
Cottage Cluster 362 12%  SFD 50% 
Med/High 
Density 248 8%    
Medium Density 816 26%    
Low Density 720 23%    

Total 3,117     
 
 
METRO URBAN GROWTH MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONAL PLAN 
TITLE 11 – PLANNING FOR NEW URBAN AREAS  
 
The Regional Framework Plan calls for long-range planning to ensure that areas brought into the UGB are 
urbanized efficiently and become or contribute to mixed-use, walkable, transit-friendly communities. It is 
the purpose of Title 11 to guide such long-range planning for urban reserves and areas added to the UGB. 

UGMFP 3.07.110(b)(1)(C) 

 (b) A local government, in creating a concept plan to comply with this section, shall consider actions 
necessary to achieve the following outcomes: 

 (1) If the plan proposes a mix of residential and employment uses:  

(C) A range of housing of different types, tenure, and prices addressing the housing needs 
in the prospective UGB expansion area in the context of the housing needs of the 
governing city, the county, and the region if data on regional housing needs are available, 
in order to help create economically and socially vital and complete neighborhoods and 
cities and avoiding the concentration of poverty and the isolation of families and people 
of modest means; 

The City of Sherwood is experiencing a housing shortage, as with other cities within Washington County, 
the Portland Metro region, and the state of Oregon.  It is estimated that between 2020-2040 the Portland 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 177 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

6 

 

Metro region will need almost 295,000 housing units. 1  The ongoing undersupply of housing is one factor 
in the rapidly rising home prices and rent increases throughout the metro area and other cities and 
counties throughout the state.  

According to the Case-Schiller price index, home prices in the Portland MSA have more than doubled in 
the past 15 years.2  The strong housing market during the pandemic resulted in higher rents and home 
prices.  Seasonally adjusted home prices are down about 4% for the Portland metro region this past year 
(2022), but only 19% of the Portland area households are estimated to afford the monthly payment on 
the median home sold. This is a decline of 131,000 households since the start of 2022.3  Housing 
affordability has two components: housing costs and household income. Affordability is the ratio of the 
two. As such, a growing economy with more-plentiful and better-paying job opportunities does help 
housing affordability, at least insofar as incomes rise faster than housing costs do.4  Housing cost burdens 
create impacts.  Households that spend a higher proportion of their income on housing will have fewer 
resources for other basic needs.  In addition, high rents lead to a lower rate of savings which can lead to 
economic instability if there is a loss of employment, an emergency, or an unexpected expense.    

Sherwood’s population growth and shifting demographics affect future housing growth and shape city 
housing market changes. While Sherwood’s populations have been growing relatively fast in recent 
years, the population has been aging while the community continues to attract younger people and 
more households with children.  In addition, Sherwood’s population is becoming more diverse.  If all 
these trends continue, there will likely be changes in the types of housing demanded in Sherwood in the 
future.   

The aging of the population is likely to result in increased demand for smaller single-family housing, 
multifamily housing, and senior living. The growth of younger and diversified households will likely result 
in increased demand for a wider variety of affordable and appropriate housing for families with children, 
such as small single-family housing, townhouses, duplexes, and multifamily units.   

Currently, Sherwood’s housing stock is predominantly single-family detached. Housing prices in 
Sherwood are higher than the regional averages, though the City’s increasing homeownership costs are 
consistent with the upward national trend. Almost three-quarters of Sherwood’s residents own their 
homes and households have a relatively high income, which affects the affordable housing type, 
particularly for young people and new families.  

The City's most recent Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) for the 2019-2039 period provides Sherwood with 
a factual basis to support future planning efforts related to housing. It is used to help develop 

 

1 Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development Regional Housing Needs Analysis Presentation, 
Washington County Coordinating Committee, December 14, 2020.  
2 https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/POXRSA 
3 https://oregoneconomicanalysis.com/2022/12/09/oregon-homeownership-affordability-november-2022/ 
4https://oregoneconomicanalysis.com/2022/02/15/construction-housing-supply-and-affordability/ 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 178 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

7 

 

Comprehensive Plan goals and policies that are consistent with the HNA while reflecting City priorities 
and strategies. 

As required by state law, Sherwood’s Housing Needs Analysis examines household growth based on 
Metro's coordinated forecast. The forecast includes growth in both areas within the city limits and areas 
currently outside the city limits that the city expects to annex for residential uses. The HNA identifies an 
additional 1,728 new households between 2019 and 2039. Sherwood must provide enough land to 
accommodate forecasted housing needs for the next 20 years which can be met through continued 
annexation of the Brookman area and planning for Sherwood West. Sherwood can accommodate about 
65% of the forecast for new housing within city limits and the Brookman area. Sherwood has a deficit of 
608 dwelling units in all residential zones (low, medium, and high). Without the Brookman area 
developing, the City has a greater projected deficit of 1,155 dwelling units.  
 
The City of Sherwood has implemented a number of policies over the last couple of years to meet the 
Comprehensive Plan goal to “Provide the opportunity for a variety of housing types in locations and at 
price points that meet the needs of current and future residents.” 

Some of the policies include:  

• Allowing for middle housing types in all residential zones 
• Implementing clear and objective standards for all housing types 
• Eliminating off-street parking requirements for accessory dwelling units (per Oregon House Bill 

2001) and reducing parking requirements for multi-family housing per Oregon Climate-Friendly 
and Equitable Communities (CFEC) rules adopted by the Oregon Land Conservation and 
Development Commission in July 2022. 

In addition, the City’s Comprehensive Plan sets out policies relating to attractive and attainable housing 
within the community including:     

Policy 3.2 Identify opportunities to support the city's housing mix, to ensure the housing supply includes a 
variety of housing types and unit sizes that support a range of housing prices 

Policy 3.3 Support a variety of housing types such as but not limited to, townhomes, cottages, courtyard 
housing, accessory dwelling units, single-story units, and extended family and multi-generational housing. 

Policy 3.4 Support housing affordable to Sherwood's residents and workers at businesses in Sherwood, 
including housing options for first-time homebuyers, new families, the elderly, and persons with disabilities. 

Policy 3.5 Support homeownership opportunities for all housing types by encouraging condominiums, 
cooperative housing, and other types of ownership methods 

Policy 3.6 Collaborate with organizations to provide opportunities for the development of lower-cost 
housing and housing development incentives In areas with access to jobs, transportation, open spaces, 
schools, and supportive services and amenities. 

The Sherwood West Concept Plan proposes a mix of housing types, leading to different tenures and 
price points. The Sherwood West Concept Plan provides a variety of housing types: single-family 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 179 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

8 

 

residential detached, single-family residential attached (townhomes), duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, 
cottage clusters, accessory dwellings, and multi-family units. A proposed middle housing designation 
comprised of apartments, condominiums, townhomes, and plexes, and a cottage cluster designation 
provides more options for homeownership as compared to single-family detached housing on large lots.    

As discussed above, the Concept Plan also ensures that the density and mix of housing types for new 
residential units are planned for the opportunity of at least 50 percent single-family detached and 50% 
attached and multi-family housing units.  

There are six residential designations, which will allow multiple housing types and varying lot sizes 
within Sherwood West. As described above, the Concept Plan includes a range of housing estimates for 
the “Neighborhood” (single-family) designations – depending on how much middle housing could 
potentially be built (including scenarios from 0-50%). Based on current development trends and 
consultation with developers in the region and housing economists, the City believes that a realistic 
estimate is that somewhere in the range of 5-10% of single-family areas will be developed with middle 
housing.    

Two residential designations (Middle Housing and Cottage Cluster) will solely allow for middle housing 
types and are responsive to many voices in the Concept Plan process who have advocated for housing 
for young families and people in Sherwood who would like to age in place.  The Concept Plan provides 
housing types that are needed for the community while allowing for a transition to lower urban 
densities adjacent to the rural reserve in the hillier areas of Sherwood West.  

There is a need for both housing and employment opportunities in Sherwood. The most recent 
Economic Opportunities Analysis indicates Sherwood has a deficit of roughly 277 buildable acres of 
employment land. The Sherwood West Concept Plan proposes 265 net buildable acres of employment 
land. The mixed employment areas are anticipated to provide a mix of office, light industrial, and flex 
space uses for target industries such as clean tech and advanced manufacturing identified in the city’s 
Economic Opportunities Analysis. It is estimated that 4,524 jobs can be accommodated and the 
employment-to-housing ratio for the plan area is estimated at 1.3 (but would depend on the middle 
housing scenarios described above).  The Concept Plan is anticipated to meet the projected community 
housing needs and employment needs to create a walkable community with a balance of employment, 
residential, commercial, and greenspace land uses – to be place where families can safely live, work, 
shop and play.   

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 180 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Infrastructure and Phasing 
Analysis

APPENDIX N 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 181 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST 
CONCEPT PLAN  

Page 1 

INFRASTRUCTURE & PHASING 
ANALYSIS 
 

TO: Sherwood West Technical & Community Advisory Committees  
FROM: Erika Palmer, Planning Manager; Jason Waters, City Engineer  
CC: Kate Rogers and Darci Rudzinski, MIG|APG 
DATE: February 7, 2023  

Purpose 

This memorandum outlines the following:  

1. Existing infrastructure conditions in Sherwood West (including water, sanitary sewer, stormwater, 
and transportation); and  

2. The opportunities and constraints in Sherwood West for the provision of extending public facilities 
and services, and potential future phasing.  

Attachments: 
• Figure 1: Existing Water System Map 
• Figure 2: Existing Sanitary Sewer Map   
• Figure 3: Existing Stormwater Facility Map  
• Figure 4: Washington County Functional Street Classification Map  
• Figure 5: City of Sherwood Street Classification Map  

WATER SYSTEM 
Existing Conditions  
The current Water System Master Plan was adopted in May 2015. The Master Plan considers all areas within 
city limits, the urban growth boundary, and the West Urban Reserve (Sherwood West study area). The City's 
primary water supply is from the Wilsonville Water Treatment Plant, supplemented by groundwater wells. 
The City maintains an emergency connection and transmission piping to the Tualatin-Portland supply main. 
The City's distribution system includes three service zones supplied by three storage reservoirs and two 
pumping stations. The majority of Sherwood customers are served from the 380 Pressure Zone, which is 
supplied by gravity from the City's Sunset Reservoirs. The 535 Pressure Zone serves the area around the Sunset 
Reservoirs, supplied with constant pressure by the Sunset Pump Station, and the 455 Pressure Zone serves 
higher elevation customers on the City's western edge by gravity from the Kruger Reservoir. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 182 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

2 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Opportunities and Constraints in Sherwood West  
Existing water facilities in or near the study area include a water reservoir, a supply line, and distribution lines. 
The Kruger Reservoir is a 3.0 MG reservoir located inside the study area, south of SW Kruger Road and 
approximately one-half mile west of Hwy 99W. The Kruger Reservoir serves the 455 pressure zone. An 18-inch 
transmission line is located in SW Kruger Road between the reservoir and Hwy 99W.  

The area south of SW Handley Street is split between the Future 455 West and Future 630 West zones. The 
area north of SW Handley Street falls primarily within the Future 380 West pressure zone.  

An 18-inch water main from the Kruger Reservoir extends north in SW Elwert Road for approximately 800 
feet. The line then reduces to a 12-inch line and continues north to SW Handley Street. In addition, a short 
segment of a 12-inch waterline has been constructed in Elwert Road in the vicinity of Derby Terrace. A 16-inch 
water main located in SW Copper Terrace terminates at SW Edy Rd, approximately 840 feet east of the study 
area.  

Initial anticipated growth in Sherwood West will be served by extending the existing 380 and 455 Zone 
distribution mains. Future customers along the ridge north and south of the existing Kruger Reservoir will be 
served by constant pressure from the proposed Kruger Pump Station at the existing reservoir site. This 
proposed closed zone is referred to as the 630 West Zone. Some future customers in the West Urban Reserve 
at the interface between the 630 West and 455 Zones may need to be served through a PRV-controlled sub-
zone or through individual PRVs on each service in order to maintain required service pressures. This area is 
referred to as the 630 West PRV Zone.  

A small area on the western edge of the West Urban Reserve along Edy Road near Eastview Road is too high 
in elevation to receive adequate service pressure from the adjacent 380 Zone. This area will be served as part 
of the closed 475 West Zone by constant pressure from the proposed Edy Road Pump Station. An additional 
pump station would potentially be needed to serve the 630 West PRV Zone. Extensive large diameter mains 
will be needed to expand the City's water service area to supply Sherwood West as development occurs.  

Implications for Water Facilities on Phasing  
The West and Southwest districts in Sherwood West have the opportunity to be served with water 
infrastructure in the near future. Water infrastructure will need to be extended east to west to serve the 
hillsides.  The Far West district can be served after water infrastructure improvements, such as an additional 
pump station, are constructed. The Northern District will need further study and significant water 
infrastructure improvements to be served.     

See Figure 1. Existing Water System Map 

SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM  
Existing Conditions  
The current Sanitary Sewer Master Plan was completed in 2016. The Master Plan considers all areas within 
the city limits and the urban growth boundary. The West Sherwood Concept Plan study area is outside the 
urban growth boundary and was not included in the Master Plan. Two sanitary sewer trunk lines serve the 
City of Sherwood, the Sherwood Trunk Sewer (24-inch), which conveys sewage from the Cedar Creek sewage 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 183 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

3 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

collection basin, and the Rock Creek Trunk (18-inch), which conveys sewage from the Rock Creek sewage 
collection basin. Both trunk lines convey flows to the Sherwood Pump Station, owned by Clean Water Services 
(CWS), which sends sewage to the Durham Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant via the Upper Tualatin 
Interceptor, also owned by Clean Water Services (CWS). 

Opportunities and Constraints in Sherwood West  
Existing sanitary sewer facilities adjacent to or near this site are limited.  A pump station is needed in the West 
subarea and a new trunk line extended to the Sherwood High School from the Brookman area. 

Pump station  

A 15" diameter Sanitary Serwer (SS) mainline was constructed in Copper Terrace as part of the Sherwood 
School District Area 59 elementary/middle school development. This mainline runs up Edy Road, down Copper 
Terrace, and ends at the north end of the school perimeter. 

To use this line, a new pump station is needed from the south to the crest of Handley Street. The line would 
need to cross private property or run to and down Edy Road to connect in. 

The two main drawbacks are: 

1. It requires the use of a 55 pump station for conveyance operations. This creates a situation of long-
term maintenance costs. 

2. The Sherwood Trunk pump station requires upgrading to handle future flows. 

The three main positive aspects are: 

1. That it utilizes an already existing truck line (Sherwood Trunk) 
2. The Sherwood Trunk has the capacity for the future development of this area (existing flow= 6.4 cfs, 

build-out capacity flow= 11.5 cfs). 
3. That it does not require constructing a sanitary line across Hwy 99W and has limited crossings of 

stream corridors and buffers. 

Trunk line extension  

The Brookman sanitary trunk line will  gravity flow across Hwy 99W at the future Brookman Road intersection 
to a future gravity system serving the Brookman Area (Area 54/55) expansion. The Sherwood Trunk line serves 
this area.  

The two main drawbacks are: 

1. That the Sherwood Trunk line is undersized for the combined future flows. The downstream system 
would need to be upsized to accommodate future flows. 

2. That the alignment of the conveyance system needs to cross Hwy 99W and run down a stream 
corridor to be able to serve the overall area. 

The main advantage is that it appears that the entire UGB area addition could be served by gravity using 
this line. The trunk line has the capacity to serve the future expansion (existing flow= 1.4 cfs, build-out 
capacity flow= 5.8 cfs). A current CWS project is upgrading a portion of the system from 15" to 18" and 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 184 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

4 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

extending the sewer trunk line to the boundary of the Brookman Addition (Area 54/55) and then north of 
Highway 99W to serve the new Sherwood High School. It is anticipated that this project will be completed in 
2025. Recently approved subdivisions in the Brookman area have extended the sewer line to serve these 
developments.  

Implications for Sanitary Sewer Facilities on Phasing  
The West and Southwest districts in Sherwood West have the opportunity to be served with sanitary sewer 
infrastructure in the near future through either option described above. Sanitary sewer infrastructure would 
need to be extended into the hillside area of the West and Southwest districts and Far West District as those 
areas develop. The North District needs further study on how to serve the area and if any significant 
infrastructure is necessary to serve sanitary sewers in this area.   

See Figure 2: Existing Sanitary System Map  

STORMWATER SYSTEM 
Existing Conditions  
The current Stormwater System Master Plan was updated in 2017. The Master Plan considers all areas within 
the city limits and the urban growth boundary. The Sherwood West Concept Plan area is outside the urban 
growth boundary and was not included in the Master Plan.  

The Sherwood West Concept Plan area lies primarily within the Chicken Creek Drainage Basin. The basin flows 
north and northeast along Chicken Creek, which bisects the plan area. Cedar Creek flows into Chicken Creek 
at the northeast corner of the plan area, west of SW Roy Rogers Road. The West Fork of Chicken Creek enters 
the plan area near the northwest boundary and flows east into Chicken Creek.  

A small portion of the plan area in the southeastern area is part of the Cedar Creek Drainage Basin. On-site 
runoff enters Goose Creek, which flows from west to east, crossing Highway 99W and reaching Cedar Creek. 
The Stormwater Master Plan notes that Chicken and Cedar Creeks have been identified by the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) as providing habitat for anadromous fish listed as threatened under the Federal 
Endangered Species Act.  

According to the Storm Water Master Plan, on-site soils fall primarily in Hydrologic Soils Group C, with small 
areas of Groups B and D. The areas near Chicken and Cedar Creeks and their tributaries have been designated 
by Metro as riparian corridors, upland wildlife habitat, and aquatic impact areas. Some areas within the 
riparian corridors are also shown on the National Wetland Inventory.  

Opportunities and Constraints in Sherwood West  
Sherwood West is undeveloped, and as such, there is no existing stormwater infrastructure. As development 
occurs in the future, stormwater would likely be discharged onto the floodplain of the adjacent creeks and 
tributaries. The City of Sherwood requires that all stormwater facilities meet the requirements of Clean Water 
Services Design and Construction Standards for conveyance, water quality treatment, and water quantity 
treatment. Regional stormwater facilities within Sherwood West are the City's preferred method for handling 
stormwater.   

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 185 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

5 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Implications for Stormwater Facilities on Phasing   
All areas within Sherwood West can handle stormwater with required infrastructure improvements as 
development occurs. The West and Southwest Districts in Sherwood West may be the easiest to serve.  

See Figure 3: Existing Stormwater Facilities Map 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM 
Existing Conditions  
The current Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) was updated in 2014. The TSP considered all areas within the 
city limits and the urban growth boundary. The Sherwood West Concept Plan area is outside the urban growth 
boundary and was not included in the Plan.   

Elwert Road from Highway 99W to Scholls-Sherwood Road is currently functioning as a two-lane rural arterial. 
Elwert Road historically was a rural road used primarily for providing transportation access for farm 
equipment and rural residents. Over time, Elwert Road has become a secondary route for commuter traffic 
(through trips) traveling between Highway 99W and Scholls-Sherwood Road and Roy Rogers Road, avoiding 
the intersection signals along the Highway 99W route. 
 
Elwert Road's physical characteristics consist of two 11-foot paved lanes, a straight horizontal alignment, and 
a vertical alignment consisting of rolling hills that include acute vertical sags and crests, which result in poor 
vertical sight distances, and intersection sight distances. Access points onto Elwert Road include several 
private driveways and seven street intersections (both local and collector). The intersecting streets and their 
proposed classifications are listed below. 
  • Kruger Road – Collector   • Haide Road – Local 
  • Orchard Hill Road – Local   • Handley Road – Collector 
  • Edy Road – Collector    • Conzelmann Road – Local 
  • Schroeder Road – Local   • Lebeau Road - Local 
 
The City's TSP and Washington County's TSPs identify the future build-out condition of Elwert Road as a 3-lane 
arterial, including sidewalks and bike lanes on both sides of the road.  Both Edy and Chapman roads are 
classified as collectors within Washington County TSP. Edy Road, within the current City boundary, is also 
designated a collector street within the City's TSP.  
 
Given the terrain, the presence of significant natural areas, and the current parcelization of the area, there 
are likely to be significant costs and challenges with constructing and connecting roadways within the study 
area. 
 
  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 186 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

6 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Opportunities and Constraints in Sherwood West  
 
Elwert Road 
Two options for the design of Elwert were included in the 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan. The City Engineer 
provided a Transportation Options Alternative Analysis Report that is included in the appendices of the 2016 
Preliminary Concept Plan and is described below.  
 
SW Elwert Road is classified as an arterial road with a future 3-lane configuration with; two 12-foot travel 
lanes, a 14-foot center turn lane, two 6-foot bike lanes, two 5-foot wide planter strips, two 8-foot wide 
sidewalks, and two 1-foot clear areas behind the sidewalks to the right of way line in both the City's and 
Washington County's Transportation System Plans (TSPs). The overall right-of-way width required with this 
cross section is 78 feet. 
 
Transportation Alternative Analysis Report  – Defining Options for SW Elwert Road   
The major limiting condition for the transportation options analysis is the phasing break between three areas. 
These areas include: 

• Elwert between Highway 99W and SW Handley (West District) 
• Elwert between SE Handley and SW Conzelman Rd (West and North Districts); and 
• Elwert between SW Conzelman Rd and the SW Lebeau/Scholls-Sherwood Intersection (North District)  

 
Two options were analyzed with respect to constructability, construction costs, and environmental impacts.  
 
Option 1  
Option 1 consists of realigning SW Elwert Road and SW Edy Road. The realignment would cross two Chicken 
Creek tributary streams at the narrowest points in order to reduce or eliminate wetland mitigation issues. The 
realignment follows the existing terrain, eliminates the need for excessive fills, and minimizes impacts to the 
wetlands within the SW Elwert Road and SW Edy Road intersection. Option 1 will require the construction of 
structural bridging and the acquisition of right-of-way to accommodate the realignment of SW Elwert Road.  
 
The realignment of SW Elwert Road will include the construction of roundabouts at major intersections, such 
as with SW Edy Road. The combination of roundabouts and curved alignments would likely discourage freight 
traffic usage of the road and reduce speeds of commuter traffic while still allowing significant local residential 
and commuter traffic flow.  
 
Construction of this option will also allow the existing SW Elwert Road and SW Edy Road alignments and 
intersection to remain in use until construction of the realigned roadway is nearly complete. The 2016 
Preliminary Concept Plan estimated this option to be the least costly and have less impacts to the environment 
however, additional analysis is needed to review the two options.  
 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 187 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

7 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Option 2  
Option 2 consists of correcting the vertical alignment of the SW Edy Road and SW Elwert Road intersection to 
meet ASSHTO design standards. Specifically, raising the road elevation to reduce the adverse vertical curves 
and meeting stopping sight distances at intersections. This means raising the road approximately 10 to 20 feet 
(15 foot average) in elevation. The impacts from the intersection along SW Elwert Road from this action extend 
for approximately 2,050 feet, and approximately 790 feet along SW Edy Road.  
 
By raising the road along this length, impacts to the existing right-of-way and adjacent wetlands occur due to 
the need for fill with a 2:1 slope ratio. It is estimated that an additional 20 to 40 feet (30-foot average) of right-
of-way would be required to account for fill slope. The standard wetland/vegetated corridor mitigation 
requirement is approximately 2:1 (Clean Water Service, R&O 07-20, Table 3-2).  
 
Additionally, the existing culvert crossing would most likely need to be updated to meet future Clean Water 
Services (CWS), Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), and 
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) requirements. Reconstruction of SW Elwert Road would 
require the closure of the roadway to through traffic until roadway construction completion. This would have 
a definite negative impact on local and commuter traffic during the expected 1 to 2-year construction cycle. 
 
The 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan estimated this option as the most expensive financially due to mitigating 
environmental impacts to the Chicken Creek corridor environment and impact on local and commuter traffic 
during construction. However, as stated above a more detailed analysis is needed on review the two options.  
 
Highway 99W 
Highway 99W is a state-designated freight corridor and limited-access highway and is identified as a principal 
arterial in Washington County and the City of Sherwood TSPs. Access to Highway 99W would be coordinated 
with the Oregon Department of Transportation. The intersection of Highway 99W with SW Chapman and SW 
Brookman roads is planned as a future signalized intersection with pedestrian and bicycle enhancements.  
 
A Grade Separated Crossing over Highway 99W  
An alternative crossing study between the Brookman Area and Sherwood West was recently completed and 
will require additional study. The preferred crossing approach is a grade-separated crossing to serve local 
access (no interchanges from Highway 99W) between the Brookman and Sherwood West areas. The proposed 
location would be north of Highway 99W and the SW Chapman and SW Brookman intersection. Access to an 
overcrossing over Highway 99W would be from a local street connection from Old Highway 99W in Brookman 
to a new street in Sherwood West crossing over Highway 99W.  
 
The Kruger/Elwert/Sunset Boulevard/Highway 99W intersection  
This intersection was recently reconstructed with a roundabout. This is intended to alleviate a current 
condition of inadequate stacking distance and restricted traffic by-pass flow off Highway 99W towards Scholls-
Sherwood Road. 
 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 188 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

8 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Scholls-Sherwood Road 
Scholls-Sherwood is designated as an arterial within the Washington County TSP. According to Washington 
County, rural arterials serve a mix of rural-to-urban and farm-to-market traffic. In some cases rural arterials, 
especially in rural/urban fringe areas, accommodate significant amounts of urban-to-urban through-traffic 
during peak commuting time periods. This is not the intended function of the rural arterial designation and is 
often the result of congestion on urban arterials. Rather, arterials are intended to provide freight movement 
in support of principal arterials. Arterials have strong access control for cross streets and driveways. Scholls-
Sherwood Road will need to be improved to urban standards on the south side and along Roy Rogers Road.  
There are two intersections along Scholls-Sherwood Road within the study area. The intersection with Elwert 
Road will require additional study, reconfiguration, and possible signalization as Sherwood West is developed. 
The intersection of Roy Rogers Road was recently reconfigured and signalized as a Washington County 
transportation improvement. Per the City's current TSP standards for arterial roads, new access should be 
spaced between 600 to 1,000 feet apart. 
 
Remaining Streets within Sherwood West 
The remaining transportation network will be local neighborhood streets. While local streets are not intended 
to serve through traffic, the aggregate effect of local street design can impact the effectiveness of the arterial 
and collector system when local trips are forced onto the arterial street network due to a lack of adequate 
local street connectivity. 

Implications for Transportation Facilities Phasing  
Given the terrain, the presence of significant natural areas, and the current parcelization of the area, there 
are likely to be significant costs and challenges with constructing and connecting roadways within Sherwood 
West. The finance of urban services is a significant conversation in all urban boundary expansion areas. The 
City may want to develop specific policies focusing on infrastructure financing and the feasibility and timing 
of the extension of public facilities, including implementing financing strategies for transportation systems in 
Sherwood West.  

We have heard from Sherwood stakeholders that new development should pay for its own infrastructure. 
Development-derived tools include system development charges and Washington County's transportation 
development tax (TDT). Other tools may need to be considered to support transportation improvements, such 
as new taxing districts, Local Improvement Districts (LIDs), county funding sources, and supplemental system 
development charges.  

See Figure 4: Washington County Street Classification Map 

See Figure 5: City of Sherwood Street Classification Map 

  

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 189 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

9 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

PHASING AND NEXT STEPS 
Considering the capability of extending existing public facilities and constructing needed new infrastructure 
to serve the Sherwood West area, the West and Southwest Districts are the most logical for development to 
occur first. However, diversifying the tax base by creating a better employment-to-population ratio is a critical 
goal of the City. The North District is best suited for employment land needs, but serving this area with the 
appropriate infrastructure will be challenging. This district will need additional infrastructure analysis. With 
this economic development goal in mind, the City should initiate infrastructure planning in this area as soon 
as possible. 

The City may want to consider new annexation policies based on a phasing plan for development within 
Sherwood West. The annexation policies could consider priority areas to provide an orderly and efficient 
transition from rural to urban land uses to ensure public infrastructure needs are met to provide homes and 
jobs in Sherwood West.   

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 190 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

10 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Figure 1: City of Sherwood Existing Water System Map  

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 191 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

11 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Figure 2: City of Sherwood Existing 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 192 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

12 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Figure 3: City of Sherwood Existing Storm Water System Map  

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 193 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

13 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Figure 4. Washington County Street Classification Map 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 194 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

14 Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis  │ PAGE  

Figure 5. City of Sherwood Street Classification Map  

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 195 of 205



SHERWOOD WEST CONCEPT PLAN 

Preliminary Infrastructure 
Funding Strategy

APPENDIX O 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 196 of 205



610 SW Alder Street, Suite 1200, Portland, Oregon 97205 | 503.222.1600 

Sherwood West Concept Plan 

Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy 
Date March 10, 2023 

To Kate Rogers and Darci Rudzinski, MIG|APG 

From Ellen Bini, Leland Consulting Group  
Chris Zahas, AICP, Leland Consulting Group 

CC Erika Palmer, City of Sherwood 

 

Introduction 
This Infrastructure Funding Strategy memorandum accompanies the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan Re-Look 
by providing a high-level estimate of infrastructure costs and potential tools for funding the development of priority 
districts in the Sherwood West area. It builds upon a preliminary exploration of infrastructure costs and funding tools 
that were developed during the 2016 Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan. 

This memorandum is organized as follows: 

• Infrastructure Funding Gap Analysis. We present a high-level summary of likely infrastructure costs required to 
make the various subdistricts of Sherwood West developable and compare them to the system development 
charges (SDCs) and other development impact fees that would be generated by development in Sherwood 
West to help pay for such infrastructure. This calculation identifies funding gaps that will need to be addressed 
for Sherwood West to build out. The types of infrastructure evaluated in this memorandum include water, 
sanitary sewer, storm water, and transportation.  

• Funding Toolkit and Strategy. To address the anticipated funding gaps, 
the memo identifies potential funding tools and strategies that could 
supplement the baseline SDC revenues to make development feasible. 
This memo builds upon the tools discussed in the 2016 Sherwood West 
Preliminary Concept Plan and recommends those that have the most 
promise for filling any funding shortfalls.  

In all steps of this analysis and throughout this memorandum, the focus is on 
regional infrastructure necessary to provide access or utility service to 
development parcels. For the most part, this means major arterials, collectors 
and trunk utility lines that will serve multiple parcels within Sherwood West. 
Roads and infrastructure internal to development sites is not considered here 
and is assumed to be a developer cost. 

Catalyst Projects 
Based on City priorities and existing infrastructure availability, it is anticipated 
that two of the four districts in the current concept planning process—North 
and West—will develop first. Because infrastructure costs were provided by the 
City for sectors (“A” through “F,” aligned with the 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan 
Phasing boundaries), the following analysis aggregates costs for sectors “C” and 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 197 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 2 

“D” as the North district, and “A,” “B,” and “E” for the West/Southwest districts (Southwest included with West because 
sector “E” spans both West and Southwest). Appendix B includes the map that engineering used to put together the 
estimates for the Sectors “A” through “F.” Through public investment and private development, attention in these 
districts will help lay the foundation for the long-term evolution of Sherwood West. The analysis, therefore, takes a close 
look at the infrastructure that will help these two areas serve as catalysts for subsequent development elsewhere in 
Sherwood West. 

• North District. The North District is best suited for employment uses that support the City’s economic 
development goals, and the concept plan accordingly shows a future focus on mixed employment uses in this 
area. Serving this area with appropriate infrastructure will be a challenge—requiring additional infrastructure 
analysis. Below is a list of projects that collectively account for over 70% of associated “hard” costs (or those not 
including design, construction, and land acquisition) for infrastructure serving this area. Transportation and 
water projects have the highest projected costs for this district, with the Elwert Road and Scholls-Sherwood 
improvements collectively accounting for 30% of costs, followed by 22% of costs attributed to water 
improvements along Elwert, Roy Rogers, and Scholls-Sherwood roads. Storm water improvements along Elwert 
Road account for 16% of costs, and a sewer trunk line extension accounts for an estimated 5%. It is expected 
that a large proportion of transportation project costs will be paid by developers on a project-by-project basis, 
though the City will need to plan for capital projects serving the area (e.g., the Elwert and Scholls-Sherwood 
intersection). 

Table 1. North District Catalyst Project Cost Estimates 

Project Type Cost % of North District Costs 

Elwert Road  Street $7,432,500 24% 
Elwert Road  Storm $4,955,000 16% 
Elwert Road  Water $2,973,000 10% 
Roy Rogers Water $1,836,000 6% 

Scholls-Sherwood  Street $1,830,000 6% 
Scholls-Sherwood  Water $1,830,000 6% 
Trunk Line Sewer $1,650,000 5% 
Total  $22,506,500 73% 

 

• West/Southwest Districts. Development of the West District has already begun with the new high school, 
finished in 2021. In the current concept plan, this district is expected to be developed with a mixture of housing 
types and employment uses adjacent to Highway 99W. According to an infrastructure and phasing analysis 
prepared by City staff, this area can more readily accommodate most needed infrastructure improvements with 
existing water and sewer infrastructure currently being planned and constructed by Clean Water Services—but 
road construction and financing will pose significant costs and challenges throughout Sherwood West given the 
terrain, the presence of significant natural areas, and the current parcelization of the area. This finding is 
reflected in the list of major projects below, 39% of which are transportation-related, followed by 23% for water 
and 10% for storm water improvements.  

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 198 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 3 

Table 2. West/Southwest District Catalyst Project Cost Estimates 

Project Type Cost % of West/Southwest District Costs 

New Collector (2-lane) in "A" Street $5,910,000 11% 
New Collector (2-lane) in "B" Street $4,692,000 9% 
Elwert in "A" Street $4,500,000 8% 

Pump facility in "A" Water $4,500,000 8% 
Finish Loop in "E" Water $3,440,000 6% 
Highway 99 in "B" Water $2,520,000 5% 
Elwert/Edy Intersection in "A" Street $2,400,000 4% 
New Collector (2-lane) in "A" Storm $1,970,000 4% 
New Collector in "A" Water $1,970,000 4% 
Chapman Road in "E" Street $1,950,000 4% 
Elwert in "A" Storm $1,800,000 3% 
Chapman Road in "B" Street $1,695,000 3% 
Total  $37,347,000 69% 

Infrastructure Funding Gap Analysis 

Methodology  
The table below compares infrastructure costs and revenue scenarios to calculate the funding surplus (positive amounts) 
or gap (negative amounts) that would be generated through development fees. Some notes on the methodology used 
are included below, with a detailed account of the methodology found in Appendix A: 

• Revenues. The primary revenues that will be generated by development in Sherwood West and used to fund 
infrastructure are system development charges (SDCs) and Washington County’s Transportation Development 
Tax. Some additional funds may be available from other public agencies and other local funding tools, 
described briefly at the end of this memorandum. All revenues shown are based on a full build out of the area, 
and the land use programs developed during the current Sherwood West concept planning effort—with low 
and high scenarios for the housing estimates. The low housing scenario signifies 0% middle housing (2-4 
plexes, townhomes, and cottage clusters) built in areas designated for single-family homes, and the high 
scenario signifies 20% middle housing built in those areas. This analysis does not take into account the timing 
of infrastructure costs or revenues. Additionally, low and high scenarios for sewer revenue generation for Mixed 
Employment and Commercial development were included given the uncertainty over the scale of development. 

• Costs. Not included are costs internal to development projects, such as site preparation and construction, that 
will be paid by private developers. The City will likely also have additional costs not covered here in the 
development of public spaces such as parks design and development. Infrastructure costs for water, sanitary 
sewer, storm water, and transportation facilities were provided by the City engineering team. Low and high 
sewer flow count estimates for Mixed Employment and Commercial uses were also provided by the City 
engineering team. 

 

 
 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 199 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 4 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 200 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 5 

Findings 
Across all four scenarios, revenues generated under a full buildout of Sherwood West are sufficient to cover estimated 
infrastructure costs for sewer, parks, and transportation, but not water and storm infrastructure. Parks show a surplus 
across all scenarios because the cost of parks were not included in this analysis. Sewer and transportation show a 
surplus due to the inclusion of funding mechanisms in addition to City SDCs:  

• Clean Water Services (CWS) Regional Connection Charge (RCC). Clean Water Services is a “water resources 
management utility” providing sewer and surface water management in Washington County.1 This analysis 
assumes RCC revenue will be available for funding infrastructure expansion in Sherwood West. 

• County Transportation Development Tax (TDT). The TDT, passed by Washington County voters in 2008, is a 
one-time charge on development (like an SDC) that funds transportation capital improvements designed to 
accommodate growth. A list of eligible projects is maintained by the County and are “generally limited to 
improvements on major roads (arterials and collectors) and selected transit capital projects.”2 

It is unusual to have a surplus on transportation infrastructure but that is the case here due to the sizeable TDT revenues 
and the fact that cost estimates assume no Chicken Creek bridge—which would represent a significant expense and cut 
into the transportation surplus found by this analysis. The calculation of storm water revenues assumed no CWS 
Regional Storm Drainage Improvement Charges were collected due to credits given for water detention and water 
quality projects, per City guidance. With an additional 45% reduction in assumed City storm water SDC collection (due 
to participation in water quality projects), the largest shortfall across all infrastructure categories—$46,529,398—is found 
for stormwater under both low housing scenarios.  

This is a preliminary analysis and should be revisited as the City conducts additional infrastructure planning, as 
development is implemented, and as other aspects of development in Sherwood West change—including significant 
changes to costs and timing of development. 

Funding Toolkit and Strategy 

Recommended Funding Strategies 
LCG recommendations for supplementing existing baseline funding are informed by recent development experience in 
the region and review of existing resources, including the Phasing and Funding Strategy prepared by ECONorthwest for 
the Preliminary Concept Plan in 2016 and the 2020 Washington County Infrastructure Funding Plan Toolkit (which 
provides guidance on funding transportation infrastructure in urban reserve areas specifically).  

Supplemental SDC. Based on recent development experience in the region, especially Frog Pont West in 
Wilsonville, LCG recommends focusing first on Supplemental SDCs to meet any funding gaps. Supplemental SDCs 
are essentially additional SDCs for a sub-area of the City, paid by developers. By using the SDC tool, costs can be 
shared across multiple developers over time. As with standard SDCs, developers can be credited and/or reimbursed 
for oversized infrastructure that they construct that benefits other developers and/or the city as a whole. As with 
any development cost, the costs of supplemental SDCs will ultimately get passed on to homebuyers and 
commercial and residential tenants in the form of higher housing costs and rents. The next steps to implementing a 

 

1 Clean Water Services “About Us”, https://cleanwaterservices.org/about/who-where/.  
2 Washington County Department of Land Use and Transportation, Transportation Development Tax Annual Reports 
2009–Present. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 201 of 205

https://cleanwaterservices.org/about/who-where/


www.lelandconsulting.com Page 6 

supplemental SDC would involve the following, which should be managed by City staff with the support of a 
municipal finance consultant: 

• Ongoing refinement of project engineering and costs; 
• Outreach to property owners and developers to refine development projections and phasing and to 

negotiate the specifics of a potential fee; 
• Financial modeling of a potential fee, including identification of specific projects that would be included in 

the fee and exploration of scenarios that might vary the fee in different parts of Sherwood West; 
• Engagement of the Sherwood City Council and Planning Commission; 
• Development of a final proposal for adoption. 

Regional Sources. In addition to a supplemental SDC and other tools mentioned above, securing “outside” funding 
sources for needed infrastructure can help reduce costs on a dollar-for-dollar basis. Therefore, the City should seek 
to leverage additional existing funding through other government sources, including: 

• Major Streets Transportation Improvement Program (MSTIP). MSTIP is a county-wide road improvement 
program funded by countywide property taxes. The 2023-2028 System of Countywide Interest Map 
identifies Elwert Road as an “eligible arterial/principal,” and may receive funding through MSTIP as a major 
road. There is MSTIP funding for SW Roy Rogers Road, but not currently for the portion adjacent to 
Sherwood West. 

• Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP). MTIP, overseen by Oregon Metro, “records 
how all federal transportation money is spent in the Portland metropolitan area” and monitors significant 
state and locally funded projects with an impact on air quality. MTIP follows a four-year construction 
schedule and is updated every two to three years. Sherwood West projects may be eligible for the next 
round of MTIP funds. 

• Regional Flexible Funding. Regional flexible funding for transportation projects, administered by Oregon 
Metro, provides “federal funding for investments in sidewalks, trails, and roadways in communities across 
the region.” Regional funds not already allocated for ongoing commitments may be applied for by regional 
jurisdictions through a project selection process. Projects for the 2025-2027 cycle were selected in October 
2022, but the City can plan to submit a project proposal for the next funding cycle—which to be successful, 
will need to demonstrate alignment with regional investment priorities.   

State Funding Sources. Business Oregon operates industrial and employment land readiness programs that may 
have the potential to fund infrastructure development in Sherwood West, particularly in the North District. 

• Regionally Significant Industrial Sites Program (RSIS). RSIS is “a profit sharing economic development tool 
that offers state income tax reimbursements for approved industrial site readiness activities,” and can cover 
activities such as transportation and infrastructure improvements. Local governments can apply if they own 
or act as a sponsor for privately-owned industrially zoned sites.  

• Emerging Opportunities. Finally, the City should watch the state legislature, as state resources may 
become available to support industrial site readiness and best position the state for federal funding via new 
legislation, such as the CHIPS Act and Inflation Reduction Act. 

Additional funding strategies 
Additionally, the four funding tools identified as preferred in the Preliminary Concept Plan could also be considered, but 
would be a lower priority than supplemental SDCs, regional, and state sources: 

• Local Improvement District (LID). “An LID is a special assessment district where property owners are assessed a 
fee to pay for capital improvements, such as streetscape enhancements, underground utilities, or shared open 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 202 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 7 

space.”3 With LIDs, landowners within the district are assessed a fee based on the proportional benefits they 
receive from the district, established at inception. LIDs typically require the approval of 60 percent of the 
affected property owners in the district. Owners benefit from paying costs over time and the City’s access to a 
lower interest rate. LIDs would have much the same impact as a supplemental SDC, therefore we recommend 
focusing on a supplemental SDC as the primary tool before considering using LIDs.  

• Utility fees: Utility fees for regional infrastructure are much less common in Oregon and, while allowed, would 
be relatively unique and less familiar to developers than a supplemental SDC. A utility fee also would be paid by 
end users (homeowners and tenants) and could therefore create a timing issue where revenues aren’t realized 
until after the infrastructure is built.  

• Property Tax (GO) Bonds: While citywide general obligation bonds backed by a temporary increase in property 
tax rates are a legal option for consideration, the need for a public vote and the fact that all city residents would 
bear the funding burden limits the appropriateness of this tool to infrastructure projects that have a citywide 
benefit. Given the need for a public vote and the greater ease of implementing other tools, we do not 
recommend GO bonds as a funding tool for Sherwood West. 

Urban Renewal was also considered in the previous Phasing and Funding Strategy, but not as a preferred tool. 
Nevertheless, it could potentially be used with some caveats as discussed here. Through tax increment financing, urban 
renewal can help pay for infrastructure through the increase in property taxes that occur in the urban renewal area over 
time. Urban renewal is typically implemented in existing areas of a city where revitalization is desired or there is a need 
to address specific infrastructure deficiencies that are barriers to new investment, and its use in new undeveloped areas 
of the city may face political challenges in implementation. There are also strict limits on how much of a city can be 
within an urban renewal district, both by taxable value and geographically. This would need to be considered since 
Sherwood already has two existing urban renewal areas.    

Conclusion 
Key findings of this preliminary infrastructure funding strategy analysis include: 

• Development envisioned for the focus areas of this analysis include employment uses in the North and a mix of 
housing (including middle housing intermixed with low and medium-density single family development) and 
employment uses along Highway 99W in the West/Southwest. 

• Several infrastructure projects are catalytic to making development possible in these areas. For both the North 
and West/Southwest districts, transportation projects are projected as the highest-cost, including the extension 
of Elwert Road for both areas, Scholls-Sherwood Road in the North, and a new 2-lane collector in the 
West/Southwest. Additional catalytic projects include extending water and storm improvements along Elwert 
Road in the North and expanding water service in the West/Southwest. 

• Preliminary analysis shows a shortfall for water and storm and surplus for transportation, sewer, and parks when 
regional connection charge revenues to Clean Water Services and the Washington County TDT are included. 

• Of all the potential funding strategies, a supplemental SDC would be easiest to implement to cover the gap, 
though the City should also aggressively seek outside funding from regional, state and federal programs to 
reduce the overall cost. 

• Next steps involve continued refinement of projects and costs and financial modeling and discussions with 
developers on a potential supplemental fee. 

  

 

3 ECONorthwest, Preliminary Concept Plan Phasing and Funding Strategy. 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 203 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 8 

Appendix A: Methodology 
The following assumptions were made for the Sherwood West Infrastructure Funding Strategy and Action Plan revenue 
gap analysis: 

Development Programming  
• To match development programming by Concept Plan “district,” costs were summed as follows: 

o North ("C" & "D") 
o West/Southwest ("A," "B," "E") 
o Far West ("F") 

• Mixed Use treated as Commercial, with no additional estimates for housing. 

Revenue Calculation  
• FAR of 0.35 was applied to programming acreage for non-residential land uses, and multifamily for water SDC 

revenue calculation when calculating connection charges for water, sewer, and park revenues.  
• For sewer SDCs: 

o For City SDC calculation, an EDU is equivalent to 150 gallons per day. Low/high flow counts for Mixed 
Employment and Commercial were provided by the City and used to generate a low and high-sewer 
revenue scenario. 

o For CWS SDC calculation, an EDU is equivalent to 16 “fixture units.” Low/high flow counts for Mixed 
Employment and Commercial were provided by the City and used to generate a low and high-sewer 
revenue scenario. 

• For stormwater SDCs: 
o The CWS Regional Storm Drainage Improvement Charge was not tracked because most users have 

these charges waived because their projects provide water quality and water detention services.  
o As with the CWS Regional Storm Drainage Improvement Charge, it is expected that many users will 

receive a 45% discount for designs that support water quality (a discount for water detention is not 
available for the City’s SDC). For this reason, in the calculation of the City of Sherwood’s stormwater 
SDC, only 55% of the charge was included. For this SDC, one equivalent service unit (ESU) of 2,640 feet 
is equivalent to one single-family residence. For other uses, calculations were area based, after 
removing 10% of land area as estimated non-pervious surface (for Multifamily, Mixed Employment, 
and Commercial/Mixed Use/Hospitality uses).  

• For City of Sherwood transportation SDCs, fees associated with the following non-residential “Type” were used: 
o Mixed Employment: “General Light Commercial” 
o Commercial, Mixed Use, Hospitality: “Specialty Retail” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 204 of 205



www.lelandconsulting.com Page 9 

Appendix B: Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan Phasing 
 

 

Resolution 2023-060, EXH 2 
July 18, 2023, Page 205 of 205



Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC)

December 20, 2023

Sherwood West Concept Plan

Eric Rutledge, Community Development Director

Erika Palmer, Planning Manager 



Sherwood West Concept Plan (Re-Look) 

2

• Introduction

• Planning and Engagement Process

• Vision and Goals 

• Existing Conditions

• Land Use Alternatives

• Accepted Concept Plan 

Sherwood West Concept Plan

Stella Olsen Park by Dave Gilmore



3

CONCEPT PLAN INTRODUCTION  

Sherwood West Concept Plan



The Role of the Concept Plan 

4Sherwood West Concept Plan



Sherwood West

5

Sherwood 
West

Metro Urban Reserve Area 5B

• 1,291 acres

• 126 properties 

• 110 properties owners 

• 9.8 acres (avg property size) 

• 2016 Preliminary Concept Plan  

Sherwood West Concept Plan

Brookman Addition

TEA



Why a Re-Look?  

6

Shift in priorities
• Creating a more diversified tax base
• Adoption of 2040 Comprehensive Plan
• Updated housing and employment plans

Changing conditions 
• New High School 
• Continued growth
• Need for both employment and residential 

land

Changing regulations
• House Bill 2001
• Residential Design Standards 

Sherwood West Concept Plan



Why a Re-Look? 

7



Why a Re-Look? 

8



Employment Land Uses 

9Sherwood West Concept Plan

2018 Urban Growth Report Appendix 8: 
Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory 

• 8,600 net buildable acres of industrial 
employment land inside UGB 

• No available and unencumbered Tier 1 
industrial sites in region greater than 
50-acres

• Three available and unencumbered Tier 
1 industrial sites in region between 25 – 
50 acres

• Challenge of moving Tier 2 and 3 sites of 
this size to market (brownfield, gravel 
pits, etc.)



Sherwood West Concept Plan 10

PLANNING & ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

Guided by the Community Advisory Committee (CAC)



Community Engagement Timeline 

11Sherwood West Concept Plan



Community Engagement Activities 

12

✓ Community Advisory Committee Meetings – total of 14
✓ Public Testimony at CAC Meetings
✓ CAC Interested Parties Email Subscription 
✓ Project Website
✓ Social Media (Facebook, Twitter, Next Door)
✓ Sherwood Utility Billing Email Listing Notices
✓ Sherwood Archer Newsletter
✓ Project Video
✓ Property Owner Mailings
✓ Online Surveys
✓ Coffee Klatches with HOA’s
✓ Community Pop-Up Events
✓ Cedar Creek Trail Grand Opening
✓ Community Open Houses
✓ Virtual Open House
✓ Technical Advisory Committee Meetings – total of 12
✓ Metro Home Builders Association Presentation 
✓ Sherwood West Economic Development Stakeholder Interviews
✓ Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) Presentation

Sherwood West Concept Plan



Sherwood West Concept Plan 13

EXISTING CONDITIONS



Sherwood West Existing Conditions

14Sherwood West Concept Plan

Sherwood West

Brookman Addition

Sherwood



Sherwood West Existing Conditions

15

Open Space and Natural Resources

• Chicken Creek 

• Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 

• Riparian and Upland Habitat 

Concept Plan 

• Parks within 10-min walk 

• Regional trail to wildlife refuge 

• Two Community Parks 

Sherwood West Concept Plan



Sherwood West Existing Conditions 

16

Transportation 

• Highway 99W

• SW Elwert Rd.

Concept Plan 

• Multi-modal, micro mobility 

• Highway 99W Pedestrian Bridge
 
• Transit ready 

Sherwood West Concept Plan



Sherwood West Concept Plan 17

LAND USE ALTERNATIVES

Guided by the Community Advisory Committee (CAC)



Land Use Alternatives 

18Sherwood West Concept Plan

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 Alternative 3



Land Use Alternatives 

19Sherwood West Concept Plan

What we heard 

• Design of Elwert Rd. is important

• Preserve natural features

• Plan for parks and trails

• Support the variety of housing (cottage clusters) 

• Support employment in north district 

• Support mix of uses near Highway 99

• Concern with the north/south connector at far west end 



Sherwood West Concept Plan 20

Recommended and 
Accepted Concept Plan

• Diverse land uses 
• Connected transportation system 
• Ample parks, trails, open space



Residential Land Uses

21Sherwood West Concept Plan

• Residential low 

• Residential medium 

• Residential medium-high 

• Middle housing 

• Cottage cluster 

• Multi-family 



Residential Building Types 

22Sherwood West Concept Plan



Housing Estimates 

23Sherwood West Concept Plan



Employment Land Uses

24Sherwood West Concept Plan

North District 

• 250 gross acres 

• Flat terrain, large parcels, and good transportation access to 
SW Roy Rogers Road / Tualatin-Sherwood Rd. 

• Mixed Employment: office, light industrial, and flex space 
uses 

• Targeted industries: advanced manufacturing, clean tech, 
apparel and outdoor 



Employment Land Uses – Hospitality Zone

25Sherwood West Concept Plan

South District 

• 75 gross acres

• Hospitality zone that serves as a destination. Focus on wine 
and specialty agriculture.

• Lodging, tasting rooms, restaurants, event space, small retail 
shops. 

Hawk’s View Winery



Employment Estimates 

26Sherwood West Concept Plan



Transportation Network

27Sherwood West Concept Plan



Park and Trail Network

28Sherwood West Concept Plan

• Centered around Chicken Creek Greenway 

• Connection to regional Ice Age Tonquin Trail 

• Connection to Tualatin River National 
Wildlife Refuge 

• Two Community Parks



Chicken Creek Greenway 

29Sherwood West Concept Plan



Sherwood West Concept Plan 30

Recommended and 
Accepted Concept Plan

• Diverse land uses 
• Connected transportation system 
• Ample parks, trails, open space



Sherwood West Concept Plan 31

IMPLEMENTATION



Concept Plan Implementation  

32

• UGB Expansion Request to Metro – April 5, 2024 

• Comprehensive Planning and Future Zoning 

• Natural Resource Protection

• Custom Residential Zoning

• Hospitality Zoning

• Master Planning or “Village Planning”

• Future Annexation Policies/Strategy/Phasing 

• Infrastructure Plan and Funding Strategy 

• Continued refinement of project costs/financial modeling

• Supplemental SDC methodology 

• Master Plans (TSP, water, sewer, etc.)

• Continued Community Engagement

Sherwood West Concept Plan
Stella Olsen Park 
by Dave Gilmore



Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC)

December 13, 2023

Sherwood West Concept Plan

Eric Rutledge, Community Development Director

Erika Palmer, Planning Manager 



 
 
 
 
Date: December 13, 2023 
To: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) 
From: Glen Hamburg, Associate Regional Planner 
Subject: CFEC-Required Amendments to UGMFP Title 6 for Regional and Town Centers 

 
PURPOSE   
Provide background to, and an overview of, a state requirement to amend Title 6, Centers, Corridors, 
Station Communities, and Main Streets, of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan in 
order to require local adoption of boundaries for regional and town centers 

 
BACKGROUND 
The ‘2040 Growth Concept’, adopted by the Metro Council in 19951, is the long-range vision for 
development of our region’s urban form. The ‘2040 Growth Concept Map’ (Attachment A) is the 
geographic expression of that vision. Both the 2040 Growth Concept and Map are now incorporated 
in the Regional Framework Plan (RFP) adopted by the Metro Council in 19972 and are the unifying 
bases for the RFP’s various regional policies, such as those concerning land use. RFP policies are 
implemented by Metro’s functional plans, including the Urban Growth Management Functional Plan 
(UGMFP), which has certain requirements and recommendations for cities’ and counties’ 
comprehensive plans and land use regulations. 
 
The 2040 Growth Concept’s underlying philosophy is to “preserve our access to nature and build 
better communities for the people who live here today and who will live here in the future”. In support 
of this philosophy, the Growth Concept foresees numerous walkable, higher-density, mixed-use 
centers of employment, housing, cultural and recreational activities, and transit service across the 
region, with those centers helping to grow the economy, provide affordable housing, and promote 
vibrant and distinctive communities that reduce the need for sprawl and minimize transportation 
costs and contributions to climate change.  
 
There are three types of ‘centers’ envisaged in the 2040 Growth Concept: 
 

1. The Central City, which includes areas such as Downtown Portland, Old Town/Chinatown, 
the Pearl, Goose Hollow, South Waterfront, the Lloyd District, Lower Albina, and the Central 
Eastside, is the region’s business and cultural hub, indeed the primary center for finance, 
commerce, government, retail, tourism, arts, and entertainment with the most intensive 
development of housing and employment. 

 
2. Regional centers, serving hundreds of thousands of people in major urban areas outside 

the Central City and surround high-quality transit service, multi-modal street networks, and 
nodes of regional through-routes. Regional centers are typically characterized by two- to 
four-story employment and housing development, larger commercial uses, healthcare 

 
1 Ordinance No. 95-625A 
2 Ordinance No. 97-715B 



facilities, and local government services. There are eight regional centers in the 2040 
Growth Concept: 
 
 Downtown Oregon City and Clackamas Regional Center, both serving Clackamas 

County 
 Gateway, serving central Multnomah County 
 Downtown Gresham, serving eastern Multnomah County 
 Downtown Hillsboro and Tanasbourne/AmberGlen, both serving western 

Washington County 
 Downtown Beaverton and Washington Square, both serving eastern Washington 

County 
 

3. Town centers, which are smaller than regional centers and serve populations of tens of 
thousands of people. They offer more locally-focused retail uses, like restaurants, cafes, 
brewpubs, child care facilities, cinemas, and dry cleaners and public amenities like libraries 
and community halls. Town centers are typified by one- to three-story buildings for 
employment and housing, as well as a strong sense of community identity.  

 
There are 32 town centers in the 2040 Growth Concept, which vary greatly in 
character across the region: 

  
 Aloha 
 Bethany 
 Cedar Mill 
 Cornelius 
 Damascus 
 Fairview 
 Forest Grove 
 Gladstone 
 Happy Valley 
 Hillsdale 
 Hollywood 
 King City 
 Lake Grove 
 Lake Oswego 
 Lents 
 Milwaukie 

 

 Murray/Scholls 
 Orenco 
 Pleasant Valley 
 Raleigh Hills 
 Rockwood 
 Sherwood 
 St. Johns 
 Sunset Transit 
 Tigard 
 Troutdale 
 Tualatin 
 West Linn – Bolton 
 West Linn – Willamette 
 West Portland 
 Wilsonville 
 Wood Village 

 
 
CURRENT APPROACH 
Existing RFP policies recognize that the success of the 2040 Growth Concept depends in part on the 
success of these centers serving as hubs of urban life in the region. RFP policies encourage the 
development of employment and housing opportunities, along with as transportation system 
improvements, in centers in partnership with cities, counties, and other stakeholders.  
 
However, the UGMFP does not currently mandate that cities and counties take specific actions (e.g., 
local regulatory strategies) to develop their centers in accordance with the vision of the 2040 
Growth Concept. Rather, Title 6 of the UGMFP has employed an incentive approach, tying eligibility 



for optional regional investments3 in centers to: local adoption of defined center boundaries; 
assessment of the center’s physical and market conditions and of barriers to and ways to encourage 
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly, and transit-supportive development; and a local plan of actions and 
investments that will be taken to enhance centers consistent with the 2040 Growth Concept. To be 
sure, these measures only have to be taken when pursuing a regional investment in the center. 

Nonetheless, roughly three-quarters of the centers in the 2040 Growth Concept already have locally 
adopted geographic boundaries that either originate from a time when the UGMFP did require such 
boundaries or were otherwise adopted by local choice. Many jurisdictions have also adopted land 
use policies and implementing regulations applicable to their centers that, while not necessarily 
required by the UGMFP, encourage development and activation of centers consistent with the 2040 
vision. Less than a dozen 2040 centers lack locally adopted boundaries today. 

NEW STATE REQUIREMENTS 
Over the last couple years, Oregon’s Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) has 
updated certain Oregon Administrative Rules (OARs) as part of the state’s Climate Friendly and 
Equitable Communities (CFEC) program. CFEC aims to reduce greenhouse gas pollution and 
improve social equity in transportation services and community health, safety, and livability, in part 
by facilitating denser, transit-oriented development, active transportation, and the “greening” of 
Oregon’s urban spaces.  

To those ends, CFEC includes measures intended to accelerate the development and transformation 
of Metro’s centers in ways that are consistent with the 2040 Growth Concept and RFP policies. 
Metro will continue to defer to Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) on the 
specifics of those state measures, but they generally have obligations for cities and counties 
concerning the following in and near centers for which they have planning jurisdiction: 

 Motor vehicle parking management (e.g., minimum off-street parking requirements, parking
maximums, etc.);

 Provision of public bicycle parking;
 Design of streets to prioritize pedestrian, bicycle, and transit systems;
 Enhanced pedestrian crossings near transit stops;
 Improvements to tree canopies; and
 Reporting on housing production.

Implementing CFEC measures for centers necessitates defining a geographic area where those 
measures apply. OAR 660-012-0012(4)(d) therefore requires Metro to amend UGMFP Title 6 by the 
end of 2024 to include a mandate that cities and counties adopt boundaries of the regional and 
town centers for which they have land use planning authority and for which they have adopted 
urban land use designations. Cities and counties in the region then have until the end of 2025 to 
adopt those center boundaries. The locally adopted boundaries must be in the general location of 
the center as depicted on the 2040 Growth Concept Map.  

3 UGMFP Section 3.07.610 defines a “regional investment” as an investment in a new high-capacity transit line 
or an investment that is so designated in a grant or funding program administered by Metro or subject to 
Metro’s approval. 



DRAFT AMENDMENTS 
Attachment B is an early working draft of amendments to UGMFP Title 6 intended to comply with 
CFEC requirements, specifically OAR 660-012-0012(4)(d). Over the next year, Metro staff will 
continue to have dialogue with staff of cities and counties, DLCD, and other stakeholders to refine 
this draft before submitting a formal proposal of amendments for review by MTAC, MPAC, and 
ultimately the Metro Council to be considered for adoption by the Metro Council with the 2024 
Urban Growth Report. 
 
Consistent with CFEC requirements, the draft amendments would only require adoption of 
boundaries for centers with urban land use designations; they would not require adoption of 
boundaries for any center on the 2040 Growth Concept Map that still has only rural land use plan 
designations in the comprehensive plan of the responsible jurisdiction. 
 
The 2040 Growth Concept Map has conceptual depictions of centers that sometimes span county 
and/or city boundaries. However, CFEC and the draft amendments do not require multiple 
jurisdictions to adopt boundaries for portions of the same center. CFEC and the draft amendments 
only require that one jurisdiction adopt boundaries for each center with an urban land use plan 
designation.  
 
While CFEC specifically mandates that Metro require local adoption of boundaries for regional and 
town centers, Metro staff supports applying the Title 6 boundary adoption requirement to the 
Central City as well, with the same expectation for all centers in the 2040 Growth Concept that have 
been planned for urban uses. The draft Title 6 amendments therefore would require adoption of 
boundaries for all centers, including the Central City. 
 
Metro staff also see it as useful to identify a timeframe for cities and counties to report their 
adopted boundaries to Metro so that Metro can reflect those boundaries in an updated 2040 
Growth Concept Map and other relevant maps. The draft amendments say that, by February 1, 
2026, cities and counties shall identify to Metro the boundaries of each center that they have 
adopted as of December 31, 2025. The draft amendments also require that cities and counties 
notify Metro of any new or revised Center boundaries within 31 days of adopting those new or 
revised Center boundaries after December 31, 2025.  
 
Finally, the draft amendments propose a number of minor, non-substantive amendments to Title 6 
that would clarify existing provisions, address formatting discrepancies, update citations, and 
correct typographic errors. 
 
Metro staff welcome any feedback on these draft Title 6 amendments. 



Attachment A



Metro UGMFP Discussion Draft Amendments December 13, 2023 

Title 6: Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets 

3.07.610 Purpose 

The Regional Framework Plan (RFP) identifies three types of Centers – the Central City, 
Regional Centers and Town Centers,  – Corridors, Main Streets and Station Communities 
throughout the region on the 2040 Growth Concept Map and recognizes them as the 
principal centers of urban life in the region. Pursuant to OAR 660-012-0012(4)(d), cities 
and counties must define the boundaries of Centers for areas that have urban land use 
designations in their comprehensive plans. To enhance the intended role of the Centers, 
Corridors, Main Streets and Station Communities in the region, Title 6 also calls for 
voluntary actions and investments by cities and counties, complemented by regional 
investments, to enhance this role. A “regional investment” is: an investment in a new high-
capacity transit line; or a designated a regional investment in a grant or funding program 
that is either administered by Metro or subject to Metro’s approval. [Ord. 97-715B, Sec. 1. Ord. 
98-721A, Sec. 1. Ord. 02-969B, Sec. 7. Ord. 10-1244B, Sec. 5.]

3.07.615 Adoption of Boundaries for Centers 

(a) By December 31, 2025, each city and county shall adopt boundaries for all Centers
identified on the 2040 Growth Concept Map for which the city or county has 
adopted urban land use designations in their comprehensive plan, unless another 
city or county has already adopted a boundary for the portion of the Center within 
its jurisdiction.  

(b) Each city and county shall adopt boundaries for any other Center identified on
Metro’s 2040 Growth Concept Map when the city or county designates the area of 
that Center for urban land uses in their comprehensive plan, unless portions of the 
Center have boundaries already adopted by another city or county with planning 
jurisdiction for the Center. 

(c) Identified boundaries for Centers that are adopted pursuant to Section 3.07.615
shall be located in the general area of the Center as identified on the 2040 Growth 
Concept Map. 

(d) By February 1, 2026, cities and counties shall identify to Metro the boundaries of
each Center that they have adopted pursuant to Section 3.07.615 as of December 31, 
2025. After December 31, 2025, cities and counties shall notify Metro of any new or 
revised Center boundaries within 31 days of adopting those new or revised Center 
boundaries.  

3.07.620 Actions and Investments in Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and 
Main Streets 

(a) In order to be eligible for a regional investment in a Center, Corridor, Station
Community or Main Street, or a portion thereof, a city or county shall take the
following actions:

Attachment B



Metro UGMFP Discussion Draft Amendments December 13, 2023 

(1) Establish a boundary for the Center, Corridor, Station Community or Main
Street, or portion thereof, pursuant to subsection Subsection 3.07.620(b);

(2) Perform an assessment of the Center, Corridor, Station Community or Main
Street, or portion thereof, pursuant to subsection Subsection 3.07.620(c);
and

(3) Adopt a plan of actions and investments to enhance the Center, Corridor,
Station Community or Main Street, or portion thereof, pursuant to
subSubsection 3.07.620(d).

(b) The boundary of a Center, Corridor, Station Community or Main Street, or portion
thereof, shall:

(1) Be consistent with the general location shown in the RFP 2040 Growth
Concept Map except, for a proposed new Station Community, be consistent
with Metro’s land use final order for a light rail transit project;

(2) For a Corridor with existing high-capacity transit service, include at least
those segments of the Corridor that pass through a Regional Center or Town
Center;

(3) For a Corridor designated for future high-capacity transit in the RTP, include
the area identified during the system expansion planning process in the RTP;
and

(4) Be adopted and may be revised by the city council or county board following
notice of the proposed boundary action to the Oregon Department of
Transportation and to Metro in the manner set forth in subsection
Subsection 3.07.820(a) of section 3.07.820 of this chapter.

(c) An assessment of a Center, Corridor, Station Community or Main Street, or portion
thereof, shall analyze the following:

(1) Physical and market conditions in the area;

(2) Physical and regulatory barriers to mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly and
transit-supportive development in the area;

(3) The city or county development code that applies to the area to determine
how the code might be revised to encourage mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly
and transit-supportive development;

(4) Existing and potential incentives to encourage mixed-use pedestrian-friendly
and transit-supportive development in the area; and

(5) For Corridors and Station Communities in areas shown as Industrial Area or
Regionally Significant Industrial Area under Title 4 of this chapter, barriers
to a mix and intensity of uses sufficient to support public transportation at
the level prescribed in the RTP.

(d) A plan of actions and investments to enhance the Center, Corridor, Station
Community or Main Street shall consider the assessment completed under
subsection Subsection 3.07.620(c) and include at least the following elements:

Attachment B



 

Metro UGMFP Discussion Draft Amendments December 13, 2023 

(1) Actions to eliminate, overcome or reduce regulatory and other barriers to 
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly and transit-supportive development; 

(2) Revisions to its comprehensive plan and land use regulations, if necessary, to 
allow: 

(A) In Regional Centers, Town Centers, Station Communities and Main 
Streets, the mix and intensity of uses specified in section Section 
3.07.640; and 

(B) In Corridors and those Station Communities in areas shown as 
Industrial Area or Regionally Significant Industrial Area in Title 4 of 
this chapter, a mix and intensity of uses sufficient to support public 
transportation at the level prescribed in the RTP; 

(3) Public investments and incentives to support mixed-use pedestrian-
friendly and transit-supportive development; and 

(4) A plan to achieve the non-SOV mode share targets, adopted by the city or 
county pursuant to subsections Subsections 3.08.230(a) and (b) of the RTFP, 
that includes: 

(A) The transportation system designs for streets, transit, bicycles and 
pedestrians consistent with Title 1 of the RTFP;  

(B) A transportation system or demand management plan consistent with 
section Section 3.08.160 of the RTFP; and 

(C) A parking management program for the Center, Corridor, Station 
Community or Main Street, or portion thereof, consistent with section 
Section 3.08.410 of the RTFP. 

(e) A city or county that has completed all or some of the requirements of subsections 
Subsections 3.07.620(b), (c), and (d) may seek recognition of that compliance from 
Metro by written request to the COO. 

(f) Compliance with the requirements of this section is not a prerequisite to:  

(1) Investments in Centers, Corridors, Station Communities or Main Streets that 
are not regional investments; or 

(2) Investments in areas other than Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and 
Main Streets. [Ord. 97-715B, Sec. 1. Ord. 98-721A, Sec. 1. Ord. 02-969B, Sec. 7. Ord. 10-
1244B, Sec. 5.] 

 

3.07.630  Eligibility Actions for Lower Mobility Standards and Trip Generation Rates 

(a) A city or county is eligible to use the higher volume-to-capacity standards in Table 7 
of the 1999 Oregon Highway Plan when considering an amendment to its 
comprehensive plan or land use regulations in a Center, Corridor, Station 
Community or Main Street, or portion thereof, if it has taken the following actions: 

Attachment B



Metro UGMFP Discussion Draft Amendments December 13, 2023 

(1) Established a boundary pursuant to subsection (b) of Subsection
3.07.620(b); and

(2) Adopted land use regulations to allow the mix and intensity of uses specified
in section Section 3.07.640.

(b) A city or county is eligible for an automatic reduction of 30 percent below the
vehicular trip generation rates reported by the Institute of Traffic Engineers when
analyzing the traffic impacts, pursuant to OAR 660-012-0060, of a plan amendment
in a Center, Corridor, Main Street or Station Community, or portion thereof, if it has
taken the following actions:

(1) Established a boundary pursuant to subsection (b) of Subsection
3.07.620(b);

(2) Revised its comprehensive plan and land use regulations, if necessary, to
allow the mix and intensity of uses specified in section Section 3.07.640 and
to prohibit new auto-dependent uses that rely principally on auto trips, such
as gas stations, car washes and auto sales lots; and

(3) Adopted a plan to achieve the non-SOV mode share targets adopted by the
city or county pursuant to subsections Subsections 3.08.230 (a) and (b)of the
RTFP, that includes:

(A) Transportation system designs for streets, transit, bicycles and
pedestrians consistent with Title 1 of the RTFP;

(B) A transportation system or demand management plan consistent with
section Section 3.08.160 of the RTFP; and

(c) (C) A parking management program for the Center, Corridor, Station
Community or Main Street, or portion thereof, consistent with section
3.08.410 of the RTFP. [Ord. 97-715B, Sec. 1. Ord. 98-721A, Sec. 1. Ord. 02-969B,
Sec. 7. Ord. 10-1244B, Sec. 5.]

3.07.640 Activity Levels for Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main 
Streets 

(a) A Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets need a critical number
of residents and workers to be vibrant and successful. The following average
number of residents and workers per acre is recommended for each:

(1) Central City - 250 persons

(2) Regional Centers - 60 persons

(3) Station Communities - 45 persons

(4) Corridors - 45 persons

(5) Town Centers - 40 persons

(6) Main Streets - 39 persons

Attachment B



 

Metro UGMFP Discussion Draft Amendments December 13, 2023 

(b) Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets need a mix of uses to be 
vibrant and walkable. The following mix of uses is recommended for each: 

(1) The amenities identified in the most current version of the State of the 
Centers: Investing in Our Communities, such as grocery stores and 
restaurants;  

(2) Institutional uses, including schools, colleges, universities, hospitals, medical 
offices and facilities; 

(3) Civic uses, including government offices open to and serving the general 
public, libraries, city halls and public spaces. 

(c) Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets need a mix of housings 
types to be vibrant and successful. The following mix of housing types is 
recommended for each: 

(1) The types of housing listed in theidentified as “needed housing” statute,in 
ORS 197.303(1)(a)-(e); 

(2) The types of housing identified in the city’s or county’s housing need analysis 
done completed pursuant to ORS 197.296 or statewide Statewide planning 
Planning Goal 10 (Housing); and  

(3) Accessory dwellings pursuant to section Section 3.07.120 of this chapter. [Ord. 
97-715B, Sec. 1. Ord. 98-721A, Sec. 1. Ord. 02-969B, Sec. 7. Ord. 10-1244B, Sec. 5. Ord. 15-
1357.] 

 

3.07.650 Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets Map 

(a) The 2040 Growth Concept Map’s depiction of Centers, Corridors, Station 
Communities and Main Streets Map is incorporated in this title as the “Title 6 
Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets Map,” and is Metro’s 
official depiction of their which depicts the boundaries of those areas. The map 
shows the boundaries established pursuant to this title.  

(b) A city or county may revise the boundary of a Center, Corridor, Station Community 
or Main Street so long as the boundary is consistent with the general location on the 
2040 Growth Concept Map in the RFP and the revision is made consistent with all 
other requirements of this title. The city or county shall provide notice of its 
proposed revision as prescribed in subsection Subsection (b) of section 3.07.620(b). 

(c) The COO shall revise the Title 6 Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main 
Streets Map, as well as the 2040 Growth Concept Map and any other relevant maps, 
by order to conform the such maps to establishment or revision of a boundary 
under this title. [Ord. 02-969B, Sec. 7; Ord. 10-1244B, Sec. 5; Ord. 11-1264B, Sec. 1.] 

Title 6 Centers, Corridors, Station Communities and Main Streets Map as of April 1, 
2021 [COO Order 12-073. Ord. 14-1336. COO Order 21-001.] 

 

Attachment B



December 20, 2023
MTAC: CFEC and 2040 Centers



2040 Growth Concept

 Long-range vision of 
regional urban form

 Growth Concept Map 
depicts that form

 Now part of the RFP

 Advanced by UGMFP



2040 Growth Concept

Three types of centers:

 Central City

 Regional Centers (8)

 Town Centers (32)





Changes under CFEC

Currently:

 Incentive approach to 
centers

 Center boundaries not 
generally required

On the horizon:

 UGMFP requirement for 
boundaries of urban-
planned centers

 General location in 
Growth Concept Map

 Boundaries adopted 
locally by end of 2025



UGMFP Amendments

 Will address CFEC requirements

 Boundaries for Central City, as well as Regional and 
Town Centers

 One jurisdiction per center is sufficient

 Timeframe for reporting to Metro

 Minor, non-substantive “clean up” amendments



Process Ahead

Early 2024

Mid 2024

Dec 31, 2024

Dec 31, 2025
State deadline for 
cities/counties to adopt 
center boundaries

State deadline for Metro 
Council to amend Title 6 
to require center 
boundary adoptionMPAC

Metro staff will return 
to MTAC with 
proposed Title 6 
amendments



Questions, comments, 
or suggestions?



 
Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting. 



EPA Climate Pollution 
Reduction Grant (CPRG) 
Metro Technical Advisory Committee
December 20, 2023



2 

What are the CPRG planning grants?
The CPRG grants are non-competitive, 4-year planning grants 
that fund states and metropolitan areas* to create plans and 
identify strategies that: 

• Significantly reduce greenhouse gases (GHGs) and offer 
other co-benefits

• Can be readily implemented by agency partners
• Are aligned with federal and state climate funding sources

* The Portland-Vancouver metropolitan statistical area (MSA) 
includes Clackamas, Clark, Columbia, Multnomah, Skamania, 
Washington and Yamhill counties. 



3 

CPRG planning grant boundaries

Source: County of Clark, WA, Oregon Metro, Oregon State Parks, WA State Parks GIS, ESRI, 
HERE, Garmin, FAO, NOAA, USGS, Bureau of Land Management, EPA, NPS



4 

Other federal 
climate funds: $???

CPRG 
implementa-
tion grants: 

$4.3b
(due Apr 1st   

2024)

Two rounds of planning, two rounds of 
funding

Priority CAP 
(now-Mar ‘24)

• Focus on emissions 
and actions where 
public agencies are 
poised to achieve 
significant GHG 
reductions (we are 
here) 

Comprehensive 
CAP (Apr ‘24-

Aug ’25)

• Cover all relevant 
GHG emissions and 
actions

Status report 
(Sep ‘25 – Aug 

’27)

• Provide updates on 
GHG emissions and 
PCAP/CCAP 
implementation 
actions



5 

CPRG Implementation Grants: 
The Basics

• Total funding available: $4.3b
• Individual grant amount: $2m-500m
• Number of awards expected: 30-115
• EPA expects 50-70% of grants to be <$10m 
• Match required: none
• Grant period: 5 years
• Eligible applicants: states, municipalities, and tribes
• Projects must be included in a PCAP to be eligible for 

CPRG implementation grants. 



6 

The PCAP and CPRG implementation 
grants are related, but distinct

PCAP (led by Metro) 
identifies actions that can 

significantly reduce GHG emissions 
and that agency partners are ready 

to implement.

Implementation grants 
(applications led by Metro 

and agency partners)
fund actions identified 

within a PCAP that perform 
well w/r/t EPA’s criteria, 
have clear work plans, 

advance local and regional 
priorities, and that agency 
partners have capacity to 

lead. 



7 

What actions belong in the PCAP?
The PCAP will be an action-driven plan that reviews 
potential projects and highlights those that best align 
with EPA’s implementation funding criteria. 
It will focus on projects that:
• Are focused on reducing GHGs
• Can reduce GHG emissions within 5 years
• Are documented in existing plans and included public 

engagement
• Are detailed enough for us to understand potential GHG 

reductions, costs, and work plans
• Can be led by public agencies
• Have a clear lead applicant with the capacity to develop 

an application



8 

What is EPA looking for? 
The notice of funding opportunity (NOFO) mentions the 
following evaluation criteria: 
• Significantly reduce GHG emissions in a cost-effective 

manner (60 points)
• Have a clear, well-thought-out work plan (45) 
• Have reasonable, well-documented budgets (45)
• Benefit people living in federally-designated Low Income 

and Disadvantaged communities (35) 
• Have a sound plan to track implementation and 

performance (30) 
• Are led by agencies with a track record of successfully 

managing EPA grants (30) 
• Provide quality jobs (5) 



9 

Coordination is critical

In addition to the Portland-Vancouver region, Oregon, Washington, 
and the Affiliated Tribes of Northwest Indians have received 
planning grants. Any projects identified in these PCAPs are also 
eligible for implementation grants.



10 

Partner agency surveys: lots of great 
ideas, limited capacity to apply



Adrienne DeDona, JLA

PCAP Engagement 
Overview



12 

About the Climate Partners’ Forum 

The Climate Partners’ Forum is a group of self-nominated 
technical staff from agencies across the MSA who help to 
steer the CPRG planning grant.

These forum members…
• review deliverables and provide feedback at key points
• are typically lead climate staff in their organization
• have expertise in different GHG emissions sectors and strategies 

(e.g., energy, buildings, transportation)
• may join or leave the Forum at any time and may invite other 

staff within their agency to participate



13 

Climate Partners’ Forum Members

City of Beaverton
Clackamas County
Clark County
Clark County DPH
Columbia County
City of Gresham
City of Hillsboro
City of Lake Oswego
City of Milwaukie
Metro
Multnomah County
ODOT
Oregon DEQ
Oregon DOE

Port of Columbia County
Port of Vancouver
Portland (BPS, PWB, PBOT, BES)
Portland Public Schools
SW Washington Regional Transportation Council
Skamania County
SW Clean Air
Tualatin Hills Parks & Recreation District
City of Tigard
TriMet
City of Tualatin
City of Vancouver
Washington County



14 

• Guide the process of identifying high-priority, 
implementation-ready greenhouse gas reduction strategies 
to include in the Priority Climate Action Plan (PCAP).

• Help to ensure the PCAP strategies align with the region's 
priorities and planning efforts, are implementation-ready, 
and have the appropriate level of detail. 

Climate Partners' Forum: 
Purpose



15 

• Held two of three forum meetings in October and November.

• Surveyed partners to assess for implementation readiness.
o Capacity and groundwork are bigger challenges than political support.
o Partners see many climate-related needs and opportunities and have 

limited capacity to address them.
o Nine agencies have capacity to lead and complete grant applications.
o Over 40 unique organizations were suggested for additional engagement.

• Solicited written feedback on proposed PCAP strategies.

Climate Partners' Forum: 
Process



16 

• Overall feedback has been positive.
o Support for screening process and criteria
o Support for PCAP Strategies

• Equity has been a reoccurring theme: any strategy included in the 
PCAP will go above and beyond the EPA requirement for equity in 
terms of the benefit to overburdened and vulnerable 
populations. 

• Some proposed PCAP strategies need further definition in order 
to align with partner agencies priorities and plans.

Climate Partners' Forum: 
What we are hearing



Tracy Lunsford,  Parametrix

Screening Process and 
Results



18 

• Readiness: implementation ready 

• GHG reductions: likelihood of significant GHG 
reductions within 5 years

• Local agency authority: authority, resources 
and experience to lead implementation

• Scalability: can it benefit multiple agencies or 
communities within the MSA?

• Co-Benefits: health, air quality, equity, etc.

Initial screening criteria



19 

Summary Table



20 

Screening Results



21 

Screening Results



22 

Next Steps
PCAP: Jan/ Feb Engagement

Group OR side engagement WA side engagement
Regional technical 
transportation and land 
use committees 

MTAC and TPAC  RTAC 

State-level CPRG leads DEQ and other state 
partners

WA Commerce and other state 
partners 

Equity coalitions Getting There Together Fourth Plain Forward

Energy efficiency program 
implementers 

Green Workforce

Energy Trust of Oregon

Worksystems 

TBD (we will ask WA commerce and 
RTC for recommendations)

 



23 

Next Steps



24 

Discussion questions

• What questions do you have about the CPRG grant 
and Metro’s approach to leading it?

• Do you have questions or feedback on the screening 
criteria or actions that we are recommending that the 
PCAP focus on? 

• Who should we consider engaging in developing 
these climate plans? 



eliot.rose@oregonmetro.gov



26 

Screening Results - parking lot



27 

Next steps
• Early December: Metro team releases detailed screening 

results 
• Early December: Draft Oregon state PCAP available for 

review
• 12/11: Oregon Global Warming Commission discusses draft 

Oregon PCAP
• December: Metro CPRG updates at transportation and land 

use technical committees
• December-January: Additional engagement with non-agency 

partners (e.g., CBOs, utilities, trade organizations, subject 
matter experts etc.) 

• TBD: Draft Washington state PCAP available for review

Reach out if you have questions! eliot.rose@oregonmetro.gov 

mailto:eliot.rose@oregonmetro.gov


28 

PCAP: 5-month timeline
mid-Oct ‘23: 
Build menu of 
potential 
implementation 
actions

Oct-Nov: Screen 
potential 
actions, identify 
scope, methods 
& engagements

mid-Nov: 
Provide 
feedback on 
screening

Nov ‘23-Jan ‘24: 
Outreach and 
analysis to 
complete initial 
draft of PCAP

mid-Jan: 
Provide 
feedback on 
initial draft of 
PCAP

3/1/24: Final 
PCAP

Climate partners’ forum Metro / consultant work Key deliverable

Jan-Feb: 
Present draft 
PCAP to Council 
/ JPACT / MPAC

2/1/24: Draft 
PCAP

4/1/24: CPRG 
implementation 
grant 
applications 
due

We are here



Technical Memorandum – Draft Screening Results for PCAP Strategies 

    
  6 December  5, 2023  

Table 1: Screening results for potential PCAP strategies 

Category Strategy 

Re
ad

in
es

s 

Qu
an

tif
ia

bl
e 

GH
G 

re
du

ct
io

ns
 

Co
st

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

Sc
al

ab
ili

ty
 

Al
ig

ne
d 

w
/ 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 

He
al

th
 

Sa
fe

ty
 

 Ai
r q

ua
lit

y 

Re
si

lie
nc

e 

Qu
al

ity
 Jo

bs
 

To
ta

l s
co

re
 

3. Make transit 
convenient, frequent, 
accessible, and 
affordable 

3a. Implement high-capacity transit across the metro 
area, including the Metro High Capacity Transit 
Strategy, C-Tran High Capacity Transit Routes, and 
other high-priority regional transit expansions 

High High High Med Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 15 

3. Make transit 
convenient, frequent, 
accessible, and 
affordable 

3b. Redesign streets and infrastructure to reduce 
delays for transit vehicles (e.g., on regional Enhanced 
Transit and Transit Priority corridors) 

High High High Med Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 15 

4. Make biking, walking 
and active 
transportation safe and 
convenient 

4a. Improve multimodal access to transit stations High High High High Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes No 15 

6. Improve existing 
building energy 
efficiency 

6a. Support weatherization and efficiency upgrades in 
existing residential buildings, providing incentives for 
common energy efficiency measures. Consider 
retrofits of other publicly-owned buildings in cases 
where emissions reductions are significant and well-
documented.  

High High High Med Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 15 

4. Make biking, walking 
and active 
transportation safe and 
convenient 

4b. Complete key gaps in the regional active 
transportation network identified through regional 
transportation plans, prioritizing high-demand areas, 
transit station walksheds, regional centers, high injury 
corridors 

High High Med Med Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 14 

4. Make biking, walking 
and active 
transportation safe and 
convenient 

4c. Expand Regional Safe Routes to School programs High High Med Med Med High Yes Yes Yes Yes No 12 



Technical Memorandum – Draft Screening Results for PCAP Strategies 

    
  7 December  5, 2023  

Category Strategy 

Re
ad

in
es

s 

Qu
an

tif
ia

bl
e 

GH
G 

re
du

ct
io

ns
 

Co
st

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

Sc
al

ab
ili

ty
 

Al
ig

ne
d 

w
/ 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 

He
al

th
 

Sa
fe

ty
 

 Ai
r q

ua
lit

y 

Re
si

lie
nc

e 

Qu
al

ity
 Jo

bs
 

To
ta

l s
co

re
 

9. Expansion of 
anaerobic digestion and 
composting 

9a. Expand the availability of residential composting 
programs by expanding requirements to offer these 
programs in the Metro region 

High High Med Med Med High Yes No No No Yes 12 

5. Use technology to 
actively manage the 
transportation system 

5a. Expand the use of intelligent transportation 
systems High High Med High Med Low No Yes Yes Yes No 11 

5. Use technology to 
actively manage the 
transportation system 

5b. Expand use of parking pricing (including 
implementation of Oregon CFEC requirements) High High High High Med Low No No Yes Yes Yes 11 

7. Support community-
wide adoption of 
renewable electricity 

7a. Implement green tariffs to fund community-wide 
renewable electricity usage with options to opt-out 
and assistance for low-income residents. 

Med High High High Med Low No No Yes Yes Yes 11 

9. Expansion of 
anaerobic digestion and 
composting 

9b. Expand anaerobic digestion capacity by investing 
in new facilities and/or better coordinating the use of 
existing facilities 

High High Med Med Med High No No No No Yes 11 

2. Fuel switching for 
agency operational use 

2a. Support the electrification of school bus and 
transit fleet and the installation of fast charging 
equipment 

High High Med Med Med Med Yes No Yes Yes No 10 

5. Use technology to 
actively manage the 
transportation system 

5c. Implement regional congestion pricing Med High High High Med Low No No Yes Yes Yes 10 

8. Expand food waste 
reduction  

8a. Expand food recovery and distribution programs, 
particularly food waste reduction education programs 
for residential, commercial and food production 
sectors. 

High High Med Med Med Low Yes No No No Yes 10 



Technical Memorandum – Draft Screening Results for PCAP Strategies 

    
  8 December  5, 2023  

Category Strategy 

Re
ad

in
es

s 

Qu
an

tif
ia

bl
e 

GH
G 

re
du

ct
io

ns
 

Co
st

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

Sc
al

ab
ili

ty
 

Al
ig

ne
d 

w
/ 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 

He
al

th
 

Sa
fe

ty
 

 Ai
r q

ua
lit

y 

Re
si

lie
nc

e 

Qu
al

ity
 Jo

bs
 

To
ta

l s
co

re
 

4. Make biking, walking 
and active 
transportation safe and 
convenient 

4d. Expand regional transportation demand 
management programs (e.g., Metro Regional Travel 
Options program, Get There SW WA) 

High High Med Low Med Med Yes No Yes Yes No 9 

6. Improve existing 
building energy 
efficiency 

6b. Implement building energy scoring for commercial 
and residential buildings, with performance targets 
for new construction and major renovations 

High Med Med Med Med Med No No No No Yes 9 

1. Support EV transition 
through charging 
infrastructure 

1a. Fund/incentivize charging in existing multifamily 
residential developments Med High Med Med Low Low No No Yes Yes Yes 8 

1. Support EV transition 
through charging 
infrastructure 

1b. Change zoning regulations to require pre-wiring or 
charging at new commercial and residential 
developments 

Med Low Med Med Med Low No No Yes Yes Yes 7 

1. Support EV transition 
through charging 
infrastructure 

1c. Install community charging on public land/streets Med Med Med Med Low Low No No Yes Yes Yes 7 

3. Make transit 
convenient, frequent, 
accessible, and 
affordable 

3c. Reduce fares for people who rely on transit (i.e., 
decrease costs of low-income fare / youth transit 
passes) 

High Med Med Low Low High Yes No No No No 7 

1. Support EV transition 
through charging 
infrastructure 

1d. Educate consumers about the benefits of 
electrification and alternative fuels High Low Low Low Low Low No No No No No 2 


	MTAC agenda December 20, 2023 with notice.pdf
	MTAC Work Program 2024, as of December 8, 2023
	MTAC 2024 Meeting Schedule
	MTAC meeting minutes from November 15, 2023
	City of Sherwood Draft Sherwood West Concept Plan
	City of Sherwood Resolution 2023-060
	Sherwood West Concept Plan
	Appendix A: Future Development Timeline
	Appendix B: Housing Policy Implications Memo
	Appendix C: Public Engagement Plan
	Appendix D: Open House #1, Online, Summary
	Appendix E: Open House #2 and Survey Summary
	Appendix F: Development Trends and Implications Memo
	Appendix G: Economic Opportunities Memo
	Appendix H: Transportation Issues Memo
	Appendix I: Plan Concepts
	Appendix J: Alternatives Evaluation Memo
	Appendix K: Developer Tour Summary
	Appendix L: Transportation Impact Analysis
	Appendix M: Housing Memo
	Appendix N: Infrastructure and Phasing Analysis
	Appendix O: Preliminary Infrastructure Funding Strategy

	Presentation: Sherwood West Concept Plan
	12.13.2023 MTAC Memo on Prospective Title 6 Amendments
	Presentation: CFEC and 2040 Centers
	Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting
	Presentation: EPA Climate Pollution Reduction Grant (CPRG)
	Draft Screening Results for PCAP Strategies



